SPORTS CARDIOLOGY

DEVELOPMENTS IN CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINE

Recent volumes

Maseri A, Marchesi C, Chierchia S, Trivella MG, eds: Coronary care units. 1981. ISBN 90-247-2456-2.

Morganroth J, Moore EN, Dreifus LS, Michelson EL, eds: The evaluation of new antiarrhythmic drugs. 1981. ISBN 90-247-2474-0.

Alboni P: Intraventricular conduction disturbances. 1981. ISBN 90-247-2484-X.

Rijsterborgh H, ed: Echocardiology. 1981. ISBN 90-247-2491-0.

Wagner GS, ed: Myocardial infarction: Measurement and intervention. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2513-5.

Meltzer RS, Roelandt J, eds: Contrast echocardiography. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2531-3.

Amery A, Fagard R, Lijnen R, Staessen J, eds: Hypertensive cardiovascular disease; pathophysiology and treatment. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2534-8.

Bouman LN, Jongsma HJ, eds: Cardiac rate and rhythm. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2626-3.

Morganroth J, Moore EN, eds: The evaluation of beta blocker and calcium antagonist drugs. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2642-5.

Rosenbaum MB, ed: Frontiers of cardiac electrophysiology. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2663-8.

Roelandt J, Hugenholtz PG, eds: Long-term ambulatory electrocardiography. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2664-8.

Adgey AAJ, ed: Acute phase of ischemic heart disease and myocardial infarction. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2675-1.

Hanrath P, Bleifeld W, Souquet, J. eds: Cardiovascular diagnosis by ultrasound. Transesophageal, computerized, contrast, Doppler echocardiography. 1982. ISBN 90-247-2692-1.

Roelandt J, ed: The practice of M-mode and two-dimensional echocardiography. 1983. ISBN 90-247-2745-6.

Meyer J, Schweizer P, Erbel R, eds: Advances in noninvasive cardiology. 1983. ISBN 0-89838-576-8.

Morganroth J, Moore EN, eds: Sudden cardiac death and congestive heart failure: Diagnosis and treatment. 1983. ISBN 0-89838-580-6.

Perry HM, ed: Lifelong management of hypertension. 1983. ISBN 0-89838-582-2.

Jaffe EA, ed: Biology of endothelial cells. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-587-3.

Surawicz B, Reddy CP, Prystowsky EN, eds: Tachycardias. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-588-1.

Spencer MP, ed: Cardiac Doppler diagnosis. 1983. ISBN 0-89838-591-1.

Villarreal H, Sambhi MP, eds: Topics in pathophysiology of hypertension. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-595-4.

Messerli FH, ed: Cardiovascular disease in the elderly. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-596-2.

Simoons ML, Reiber JHC, eds: Nuclear imaging in clinical cardiology. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-599-7.

Ter Keurs HEDJ, Schipperheyn JJ, eds: Cardiac left ventricular hypertrophy. 1983. ISBN 0-89838-612-8.

Sperelakis N, ed: Physiology and pathophysiology of the heart. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-615-2.

Messerli FH, ed: Kidney in essential hypertension. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-616-0.

Sambhi MP, ed: Fundamental fault in hypertension. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-638-1.

Marchesi C, ed: Ambulatory monitoring: Cardiovascular system and allied applications. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-642-X.

Kupper W, MacAlpin RN, Bleifeld W, eds: Coronary tone in ischemic heart disease. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-646-2. Sperelakis N, Caulfield JB, eds: Calcium antagonists: Mechanisms of action on cardiac muscle and vascular smooth

muscle. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-655-1.

Godfraind T, Herman AS, Wellens D, eds: Calcium entry blockers in cardiovascular and cerebral dysfunctions. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-658-6.

Morganroth J, Moore EN, eds: Interventions in the acute phase of myocardial infarction. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-659-4.

Abel FL, Newman WH, eds: Functional aspects of the normal, hypertrophied, and failing heart. 1984. ISBN 0-89838-665-9.

Sideman S, Beyar R, eds: Simulation and imaging of the cardiac system. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-687-X.

Van der Wall E, Lie KI, eds: Recent views on hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-694-2.

Beamish RE, Singal PK, Dhalla NS, eds: Stress and heart disease. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-709-4.

Beamish RE, Panagio V, Dhalla NS, eds: Pathogenesis of stress-induced heart disease. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-710-8.

Morganroth J, Moore EN, eds: Cardiac arrhythmias. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-716-7.

Mathes E, ed: Secondary prevention in coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-736-1.

Lowell Stone H, Weglicki WB, eds: Pathology of cardiovascular injury. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-743-4.

Meyer J, Erbel R, Rupprecht HJ, eds: Improvement of myocardial perfusion. 1985. ISBN 0-89838-748-5.

Reiber JHC, Serruys PW, Slager CJ: Quantitative coronary and left ventricular cineangiography. 1986. ISBN 0-89838-760-4.

Fagard RH, Bekaert IE, eds: Sports cardiology. 1986. ISBN 0-89838-782-5.

Rejber JHC, Serruys PW, eds: State of the art in quantitative coronary arteriography. 1986. ISBN 0-89838-804-x.

SPORTS CARDIOLOGY

Exercise in health and cardiovascular disease

edited by

R.H. FAGARD

Hypertension and Cardiac Rehabilitation Unit Department of Internal Medicine and Institute of Physical Education University of Leuven, Belgium

I.E. BEKAERT

Department of Cardiology and Cardiac Rehabilitation General Hospital Sint Jozef Turnhout, Belgium

1986 MARTINUS NIJHOFF PUBLISHERS a member of the KLUWER ACADEMIC PUBLISHERS GROUP DORDRECHT / BOSTON / LANCASTER

Distributors

for the United States and Canada: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 190 Old Derby Street, Hingham, MA 02043, USA

for the UK and Ireland: Kluwer Academic Publishers, MTP Press Limited, Falcon House, Queen Square, Lancaster LA1 1RN, UK

for all other countries: Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Distribution Center, P.O. Box 322, 3300 AH Dordrecht, The Netherlands

Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data

ISBN-13: 978-0-89838-782-7 DOI: 10.1007/978-94-009-4257-8 e-ISBN-13: 978-94-009-4257-8

Copyright

© 1986 by Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht.

Reprint of the original edition 1986

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publishers,

Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, P.O. Box 163, 3300 AD Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Foreword

Participation in athletics at both the recreational and competitive levels has grown enormously over the last decade, and now involves a substantial segment of the population of many countries, particularly those in Europe and North America. This change in the life-style of many individuals has been accompanied by the desire and necessity on the part of physicians to define the consequences of chronic athletic training and competition to the participant. Coincident with the growth of public interest in sporting competition has been the evolution and development of new non-invasive technologies in cardiology (such as M-mode and two-dimensional echocardiography and radionuclide angiography) which have permitted investigators to study directly and more precisely the morphology and function of the heart and cardiovascular system. Hence, over the past several years our knowledge has been greatly enhanced with regard to the features of the normal 'athlete heart' and the relationship of athletic conditioning to preexistent cardiovascular disease, as well as the causes of sudden death in athletes.

The present treatise on 'Sports cardiology: Exercise in Health and Cardiovascular Disease' is an impressive reference document which is also timely. It fulfills an important role in summarizing most of the available data that has been accumulated over the last 10 years in a large number of athletes participating in a variety of different sports. Drs. I. Bekaert and R. Fagard have assembled 29 impressive contributions from more than 75 respected investigators from different parts of the world; these chapters constitute the essence of the International Conference on 'Sports cardiology' held in Knokke, Belgium in May 1985.

This is a comprehensive book with broad scope. It begins with two chapters which describe in detail the 'athlete heart', including its significance, morphologic and functional features, and historical perspective. These contributions are followed by chapters describing the electrocardiographic, echocardiographic, and radionuclide angiographic findings in athletes. Also included are several chapters concerned with the impact of exercise programs on athletes, including those with or those without underlying cardiovascular disease. The final two chapters are devoted to the very important issue of sudden death in athletes and describe those cardiovascular diseases known to be responsible for sudden catastrophes on the athletic field, in youthful and in older athletes.

Preface

In May 1985 the Belgian working group on sports cardiology organized an international symposium in Knokke. Several years had passed since the last larger meeting on the topic was held in Rome in 1978. The program in Knokke comprised lectures by invited speakers and oral and poster presentations selected from the response to the call for abstracts. Because more and more physicians and health counsellors are confronted with exercise-related problems, and the research in the field is rapidly expanding, it was felt useful to publish a book based on material from the symposium. However, contributions were selected and additional authors invited, so that the book would be more than the mere proceedings of the meeting and cover four important topics in the field of sports cardiology. A major first chapter is devoted to the structure and the function of the heart of athletes, some parts directed to familiarize the practising physician with athlete's heart, others meant for the researcher in the field. A brief second chapter relates the benefit of physical activity for the healthy subject and discusses aspects of the screening process. The third chapter covers exercise for the patient with cardiovascular disease, mainly coronary heart disease, Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern, hypertension and congenital heart disease. Finally the rare but dramatic event of exercise-related sudden death is reviewed.

Any book is open to criticisms and the editors are aware of some. The book is certainly not complete, but topics on which only personal opinions can be given, without hard data, were not included. Since the book has been written by several authors, some contradictions in facts and opinions do occur. The editors have not tried to reconcile divergent views and leave the role of referee to time and future research.

We express our gratitude to all authors and welcome any criticism or suggestions which may be helpful in a future edition.

> R.H. Fagard I.E. Bekaert

Contents

Foreword by B.J. Maron	V
Preface	VII
Contributors	XIII
Chapter I Athlete's heart	
The athlete's heart: an overview Bekaert I.	3
The athlete's heart: a 100-year long discussion Rost R.	12
§1. Electrocardiography in athletes	
Rhythm and conduction abnormalities Campbell R.	23
Bradycardia, ventricular pauses and sports Ector H., Bourgois J., Verlinden M., Hermans L., Vanden Eynde E., Fagard R., De Geest H.	33
Repolarization abnormalities Zeppilli P., Aspromonte N.	41
Effects of intensive physical conditioning on cardiovascular parameters in high level athletes	
Herman T., Rousseau M., Brohet C.	46
Electrocardiograms of endurance athletes Fagard R., Bekaert I.	54

Х

§2. Echocardiography in athletes

Echocardiographic evaluation of the heart of athletes: cross-sectional and longitudinal observations	
Fagard R.	61
Left ventricular function in athletes: analysis of relaxation Gillebert T., Rademakers F., Brutsaert D.	70
Aerobic exercise and cardiac size: an echocardiographic study of Rotter- dam marathon runners Roelandt J., Verdouw P., Rijsterborgh H., Hartog J.	85
The windsurfer's heart Meloni L., Bonomo P., Cherchi A.	92
An investigation of athlete's heart by chest X-ray, electrocardiography and echocardiography Reinke A., Rost R.	97
§3. Radionuclide scintigraphy in athletes	
Value of radionuclide angiography at rest and during exercise in the assess- ment of cardiac function in athletes De Landsheere C., Rigo P.	105
Abnormal electrocardiographic exercise test in middle-aged athletes: cor- relation with exercise myocardial perfusion scintigraphy Di Pasquale G., Pinelli G., Manini G., Dondi M., Corbelli C., Tencati R., Lolli G.	112
Myocardial scintigraphy and cardiospecific creatine kinase responses in female and male athletes after streneous exercise Ohman M., Teo K., Johnson A., Collins P., Horgan J.	119
§4. Athlete's bradycardia	
Carotid baroreceptor control of heart rate and physical fitness Fiocchi R., Fagard R., Vanhees L., Bielen E., Amery A.	129
Beta-adrenoceptor changes in exercise and physical training Ohman M., Kelly J.	136

Chapter II Exercise in healthy subjects

Primary prevention of coronary heart disease by physical activity De Backer G., Kornitzer M., Sobolski J., Dramaix M., Degre S., Denolin H.	145
Exertional risk factors in apparently healthy males: an interim report Davies B., Ashton W.D., Rowlands D.J.	151
Chapter III Exercise in cardiovascular disease	
The role of physical activity in post-infarct patients De Backer G.	161
The organization and implementation of a cardiac rehabilitation program in a district general hospital Dugmore D., Bone M., Kubik M.	167
Correlates of the effect of physical training in cardiac patients Vanhees L., Fagard R., Grauwels R., De Geest H., Amery A.	175
Coronary collaterals: protective effects during physical training? Wolf R., Lichtlen P.	181
Follow-up study in 25 asymptomatic sportsmen with Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern	
Maciel L., Costa O., Oliveira A., Sepulveda F., Espiga Macedo M., Falcão de Freitas A.	188
Sports and hypertension Fagard R., Staessen J., Vanhees L., Amery A.	195
Exercise and sports in congenital heart disease Van der Hauwaert L.	205
The evaluation of exercise performance in children after surgical correction of congenital heart disease Matthys D., Devloo-Blancquaert A.	214
Matthys D., Devido-Dianequaett A.	214

XII

Chapter IV Exercise and sudden death

Sudden death and sports Pool J.	223
Sudden death and vigorous exercise Northcote R.	228
Index	241

Contributors

Amery, A.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Ashton, W.D.

AMI Physiometrics, The Human Performance Laboratory, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Salford, Salford M5 4WT, Lancashire, United Kingdom

Aspromonte, N.

Department of Internal Medicine, Sports Medicine Laboratory, Catholic University of Sacred Heart, Largo Gemelli 8, 00168 Roma, Italy

Bekaert, I.

Department of Cardiology and Cardiac Rehabilitation, General Hospital St. Jozef, Steenweg op Merksplas 44, 2300 Turnhout, Belgium

Bielen, E.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, University Hospital Pellenberg, Weligerveld 1, 3041 Pellenberg, Belgium

Bone, M.

Russells Hall Hospital, Dudley DY 1 2HQ, United Kingdom

Bonomo, P.

Institute of Internal Medicine, Cattedra of Cardiology, University of Cagliari, Via San Giorgio 12, 09100 Cagliari, Italy

Bourgois, J.

Institute of Physical Education, University of Leuven, Tervuursevest 101, 3030 Heverlee, Belgium

XIV

Brohet, C.

University of Louvain, UCL-FYCP 5550, Avenue Hippocrate 55, 1200 Brussels, Belgium

Brutsaert, D.

University of Antwerp U.I.A., University Hospital, Wilrijkstraat 10, 2520 Edegem, Belgium

Campbell, R.

Department of Cardiology, Freeman Hospital, Freeman Road, Newcastle Upon Tyne NE7 7DN, United Kingdom

Cherchi, A.

Institute of Internal Medicine, Cattedra of Cardiology, University of Cagliari, Via San Giorgio 12, 09100 Cagliari, Italy

Collins, P.

Department of Biochemistry, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, St. Stephen's Green, Dublin 2, Republic of Ireland

Corbelli, C.

Department of Nuclear Medicine, S. Orsola Malpighi Hospital, Via Albertoni 15, 40138 Bologna, Italy

Costa, O.

Centro de Medicina Desportiva do Porto, Rua Antonio Pinto Machado 32, 4000 Porto, Portugal

Davies, B.

AMI Physiometrics, The Human Performance Laboratory, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Salford, Salford M5 4WT, Lancashire, United Kingdom

De Backer, G.

Department of Hygiene and Social Medicine, University Hospital, De Pintelaan 185, 9000 Gent, Belgium

De Geest, H.

Department of Cardiology, University of Leuven, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Degre, S.

Service de Cardiologie, Cliniques Universitaires de Bruxelles, Hôpital Erasme, Route de Lennik 808, 1070 Brussels, Belgium

Denolin, H.

Service de Cardiologie, Hôpital Universitaire St. Pierre, Rue Haute, 1000 Brussels, Belgium

De Landsheere, C.

University of Liège, Institute of Medicine, Boulevard de la Constitution 66, 4020 Liège, Belgium

Devloo-Blancquaert, A.

Pediatric Clinic 'C. Hooft', University Hospital, De Pintelaan 185, 9000 Gent, Belgium

Di Pasquale, G.

Department of Cardiology, Bellaria Hospital, Via Altura 3, 40139 Bologna, Italy

Dondi, M.

Department of Nuclear Medicine, S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, Via Albertoni 15, 40138 Bologna, Italy

Dramaix, M.

Campus Erasme, Ecole de Santé Publique 590, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Route de Lennik 808, 1070 Brussels, Belgium

Dugmore, D.

Russells Hall Hospital, Dudley Health Authority, Dudley, West Midlands, DY 1 2HQ Great Britain

Ector, H.

Department of Cardiology, University of Leuven, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Espiga Macedo, M.

Centro de Medicina Desportiva do Porto, Rua Antonio Pinto Machado 32, 4000 Porto, Portugal

Fagard, R.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, University Hospital Pellenberg, Weligerveld 1, 3041 Pellenberg, Belgium

XVI

Falcão de Freitas, A.

Centro de Medicina Desportiva do Porto, Rua Antonio Pinto Machado 32, 4000 Porto, Portugal

Fiocchi, R.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Gillebert, T.

University of Antwerp UIA, University Hospital, Wilrijkstraat 10, 2520 Edegem, Belgium

Grauwels, R.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Hartog, J.

Thoraxcenter, Academic Hospital Rotterdam-Dijkzigt, Erasmus University, PO Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Herman, T.

University of Louvain, UCL-FYCP 5550, Avenue Hippocrate 55, 1200 Brussels, Belgium

Hermans, L.

Department of Cardiology, University of Leuven, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Horgan, J.

Department of Cardiology, Saint Laurence's Hospital, North Brunswick Street, Dublin 7, Republic of Ireland

Johnson, A.

Department of Biochemistry, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, St. Stephen's Green, Dublin 2, Republic of Ireland

Kelly, J.

Department of Clinical Pharmacology, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, St. Stephen's Green, Dublin 2, Republic of Ireland

Kornitzer, M.

Campus Erasme, Ecole de Santé Publique 590, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Route de Lennik 808, 1070 Brussels, Belgium

Kubik, M.

Russells Hall Hospital, Dudley DY1 2HQ, United Kingdom

Lichtlen, P.

Medizinische Hochschule Hannover, Abteilung für Kardiologie, Konstanty-Gutschow-Strasse 8, 3000 Hannover 61, Federal Republic of Germany

Lolli, G.

Department of Cardiology, Bellaria Hospital, Via Altura 3, 40139 Bologna, Italy

Maciel, L.

Centro de Medicina Desportiva do Porto, Rua Antonio Pinto Machado 32, 4000 Porto, Portugal

Manini, G.

Department of Cardiology, Bellaria Hospital, Via Altura 3, 40139/Bologna, Italy

Maron, B.

Cardiology Branch, National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MA 20205, U.S.A.

Matthys, D.

Pediatric Clinic 'C. Hooft', University Hospital, De Pintelaan 185, 9000 Gent, Belgium

Meloni, L.

Institute of Internal Medicine, Cattedra of Cardiology, University of Cagliari, Via San Giorgio 12, 09100 Cagliari, Italy

Northcote, R.

Department of Medical Cardiology, The Victoria Infirmary, Langside Road, Glasgow G42 9TY, United Kingdom

Ohman, M.

Department of Cardiology, Saint Laurence's Hospital, North Brunswick Street, Dublin 7, Republic of Ireland

Oliveira, A.

Centro de Medicino Desportiva do Porto, Rua Antonio Pinto Machado 32, 4000 Porto, Portugal

XVIII

Pinelli, G.

Department of Cardiology, Bellaria Hospital, Via Altura 3, 40139 Bologna, Italy

Pool, J.

Thoraxcentrum Bd 320, Erasmus University Rotterdam, P.O. Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Rademakers, F.

University of Antwerp U.I.A., University Hospital, Wilrijkstraat 10, 2520 Edegem, Belgium

Reinke, A.

Institute of Sportsmedicine, University of Dortmund, FB16 PO 500500, D 4600 Dortmund 50, Federal Republic of Germany

Rigo, P.

University of Liège, Institute of Medicine, Boulevard de la Constitution 66, 4020 Liège, Belgium

Rijsterborgh, H.

Thoraxcenter, Academic Hospital Rotterdam-Dijkzigt, Erasmus University, PO Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Roelandt, J.

Thoraxcenter, Academic Hospital Rotterdam-Dijkzigt, Erasmus University, PO Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Rost, R.

Institute of Sportsmedicine, University of Dortmund, FB16 PO 500500, D 4600 Dortmund 50, Federal Republic of Germany

Rousseau, M.

University of Louvain, UCL-FYCP 5550, Avenue Hippocrate 55, 1200 Brussels, Belgium

Rowlands, D.J.

Consultant Cardiologist, Department of Cardiology, Manchester Royal Infirmary, Manchester, United Kingdom

Sepulveda, F.

Centro de Medicina Desportiva do Porto, Rua Antonio Pinto Machado 32, 4000 Porto, Portugal

Sobolski, J.

Service de Cardiologie, Cliniques Universitaires de Bruxelles, Hôpital Erasme, Route de Lennik 808, 1070 Brussels, Belgium

Staessen, J.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Tencati, R.

Department of Cardiology, Bellaria Hospital, Via Altura 3, 40139 Bologna, Italy

Teo, K.

Department of Cardiology, Saint Laurence's Hospital, North Brunswick Street, Dublin 7, Republic of Ireland

Vanden Eynde, E.

Institute of Physical Education, University of Leuven, Tervuursevest 101, 3030 Heverlee, Belgium

Van der Hauwaert, L.

Department of Pediatric Cardiology, University of Leuven, University Hospital Gasthuisberg, Herestraat 49, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Vanhees, L.

Hypertension and Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Unit, University of Leuven, University Hospital Pellenberg, Weligerveld 1, 3041 Pellenberg, Belgium

Verdouw, P.

Thoraxcenter, Academic Hospital Rotterdam-Dijkzigt, Erasmus University, PO Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Verlinden, M.

Institute of Physical Education, University of Leuven, Tervuursevest 101, 3030 Heverlee, Belgium

Wolf, P.

Herz-Kreislauf-Klinik Bevensen, Römstedter Strasse 25, 3118 Bad Bevensen, Federal Republic of Germany

Zeppilli, P.

Department of Internal Medicine, Sports Medicine Laboratory, Catholic University of Sacred Heart, Largo Gemelli 8, 00168 Roma, Italy

CHAPTER I

ATHLETE'S HEART

The athlete's heart: an overview

I. BEKAERT

The majority of the cardiovascular changes or abnormalities that occur during vigorous sports activity in response to severe strain should be considered physiological adaptations. However, it is not always easy to distinguish between the physiological and pathological characteristics of certain abnormalities. The effects of sports activities or exercise training on the heart depend not only upon the frequency, but also the type of sports activity [1, 4, 13].

In general, two main types of sports can be distinguished – 'endurance' sports and 'strength' sports. 'Endurance' sports, e.g., road cycling and long-distance running, evolve an aerobic metabolism; oxygen transport mechanisms are stimulated in this kind of sport, and cardiac output is substantially increased [27]. The heart is subjected to a volume load, causing eccentric hypertrophy and an increase in end-diastolic volume [1, 4, 13]. The typical 'strength' sports, such as wrestling, shot-putting, etc., are anaerobic and demand great physical strength. They are characterized by an increase in the arterial blood pressure and mainly a pressure load on the heart, producing concentric hypertrophy and thickening of the ventricular walls without an increase in end-diastolic volume [1, 13].

In recent studies, however, there has been a lot of controversy over these two forms of adaptation, since increased wall thickness may also be observed in topclass athletes (albeit at a later stage) who engage primarily in 'endurance' sports.

End-diastolic volume, maximal stroke volume and maximal cardiac output are closely correlated. The maximum oxygen transport capacity of the cardiovascular system is determined by the maximal cardiac output. Cardiac adaptation can therefore contribute to the high oxygen uptake values found in athletes who participate in endurance sports [1]. Maximum oxygen uptake is further determined by peripheral oxygen extraction capacity; significant adaptations may also occur at this level during endurance training [1]. Moreover, physical performance or maximum oxygen uptake is mainly genetically determined, and can be increased only by about 20 to 30% by training [1].

Endurance training is associated with increased vagal tone and decreased sympathetic tone; this explains why both resting heart rate and heart rate during submaximal exercise are low in well-conditioned endurance athletes. This training bradycardia has as its corollary more efficient heart function, since myocardial oxygen uptake is determined primarily by the heart rate [1, 4, 13].

Cardiologists are confronted daily with patients asking whether they may continue to practise their favourite sports or elderly patients who still wish to engage in sports. The abnormalities which the cardiologist may observe during physical examination or on the resting – or exercise – ECG may be pre-existing phenomena and, hence, unrelated to physical conditioning. But they may also result from intense physical activity, in which case they should be considered normal variants. A differential diagnosis revealing possible underlying cardiac disease is therefore often difficult to make in such cases.

The most frequent alterations that should be considered normal include:

a) *upon physical examination:* the occurrence of systolic murmurs in the third left intercostal space and a third and/or fourth heart sound [32]. The anthropomorphic examination reveals a low body fat content.

b) on the ECG (Figure 1) one may find frequent sinus bradycardia, mainly resulting from increased vagal and decreased sympathetic tone in response to endurance work. Furthermore, signs of left ventricular hypertrophy and/or associated right ventricular hypertrophy may be observed [23, 35, 39, 40]. Other normal variants are: conduction disturbances, such as signs of incomplete right bundle branch block, as well as first-degree atrioventricular block, second-degree AV block and even third-degree AV block, the latter being rather rare (these atrioventricular conduction disturbances usually disappear during exercise or on specific autonomous reflexes or pharmacological tests [8, 19, 29, 44]; repolarization abnormalities, which may take the form of typical signs of increased vagal tone with ST segment elevation and enlarged T waves, especially in the precordial leads. Unusual patterns are occasionally observed during repolarization. Besides enlarged T waves, flat biphasic or negative T waves may also be seen, usually disappearing during exercise. Most of these are not pathological, but rather indicate good training conditioning. However, they may also reflect a pathological condition or pericarditis [11, 45]. Rhythm disturbances such as sinus bradyarrhythmias as well as sinus arrests of less than two seconds may occur. Extreme bradycardias of less than 40 beats/min may occasionally occur, even with episodes of junctional or ventricular escape rhythm. Ventricular extrasystolae may also appear on the resting ECG; they will usually disappear during exercise [29, 40]. If these ventricular extrasystolae persist or increase during exercise they should be considered potentially pathological and further examination will be required to exclude the possibility of underlying cardiac disease, e.g., cardiomyopathy, mitral valve prolapse or coronary heart disease [29, 40, 42].

c) on exercise stress testing: the physical work capacity is usually evaluated by a bicycle ergometer or treadmill exercise test. The maximal oxygen consumption level is one of the main indices for evaluating endurance capacity level. Measurement of the respiratory parameters, however, requires a maximal exercise test





Figure 1. A typical electrocardiogram of a professional cyclist with sinus bradycardia, incomplete right bundle branch block, J point and ST segment elevation and biphasic T waves.

and a wide range of sophisticated equipment [1]. It is usually not possible for a general practitioner of sports medicine to determine oxygen consumption levels. He will therefor determine the physical work capacity (PWC) by recording heart rate. The usual parameter for PWC evaluation is PWC 170 (Physical Work Capacity 170), corresponding to the work load necessary to increase heart rate to 170 beats/min during a standardized bicycle ergometer exercise test [1]. The highest maximum oxygen intake and PWC 170 values are found in well-trained



Figure 2. An X-ray examination of a professional cyclist with global enlargement of the heart and a prominent pulmonary arch.

endurance athletes (professional cyclists, cross-country skiers, distance runners), whereas in athletes engaged in strength sports they do not differ very much from the values found in active healthy control subjects [4].

d) on radiologic examination (Figure 2): Frontal and lateral chest X-rays provide an overall view of heart size and configuration. Globularly increased cardiac size is frequently observed in athletes, especially in those engaged in endurance sports. The cardiothoracic ratio is usually 0.50 or greater. These findings used to give rise to a lot of controversy, and physicians have more than once advised athletes to stop their athletic careers because they presented a significantly increased cardiac silhouette. However, enlarged hearts in athletes have now become commonly recognized and are considered a physiological adaptation.

Total heart volume may be calculated from the chest roentgenogram by the

method of Musshof and Reindell [31]. Mean heart volume is 700 to 800 ml in a sedentary population and 1,100 ml in endurance-trained athletes [15]. Top-class athletes (professional cyclists, cross-country skiers, etc.) frequently have heart volumes of 1,400 ml, and exceptional cases of volumes of 1,800 ml have even been described.

e) on echocardiographic examination: Echocardiography is one of the major techniques for cardiac examination. The echocardiogram allows visualization of the internal cardiac structure and specific study of left ventricular function. The diameters of the left ventricle and wall thickness can be measured during precise phases of the cardiac cycle, and the corresponding volumes and ventricular mass can be estimated from these dimensions.

The use of echocardiography has entirely changed and expanded our insights into the athlete's heart, and has suggested that the heart responds differently to different types of sports. Endurance athletes, such as runners, were thought to develop ventricular dilatation or increased LV diameter rather than hypertrophy or increased ventricular wall thickness, whereas athletes engaged in sports with a large isometric component, e.g., wrestlers and shot-putters, were said to develop hypertrophy but not dilatation [22, 32, 33, 43]. However, the controversy over these two forms of adaptation is still great since increased wall thickness may also be seen (albeit at a later stage) in top-class athletes who devote themselves to 'endurance' sports [3, 5–7, 24, 28]. This suggests that the pattern of LV hypertrophy in athletes is not as specific as was previously thought (Figure 3).

A lot of investigations look at correlations between heart size and PWC. Studies in healthy subjects show good correlation between total heart volume measured with a radiological method and the different parameters of maximal aerobic performance level [1]. We also found good correlations among maximal oxygen consumption, the peak oxygen pulse, and the echocardiographically measured left ventricular dimensions, as illustrated in Figure 4 [3, 26].

Such correlations are very important in distinguishing between physiological and pathological cardiac enlargement, since pathological enlargement, unlike physiological, healthy cardiac hypertrophy, is not accompanied by a corresponding increase in maximal oxygen uptake, and consequently may even lead to sudden death.

It is very important for the prevention of sudden cardiac death in athletes to have precise criteria for contraindicating athletic activity. The number of sudden deaths is greater than suggested by the statistics [2, 9, 12, 16–18, 20, 21, 24, 25, 34, 36–38]. The most frequent cause of sudden death in young, healthy subjects under 35 years of age is cardiomyopathy, especially hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and asymmetric septal hypertrophy in particular [18–24]. In sportsmen over the age of 35 the most frequent cause is, of course, coronary heart disease.

Other known causes of sudden death may be myocarditis, unrecognized valvu-



Figure 3. An echocardiogram of a profession cyclist with enlargement of the left ventricular diameters (end-diastolic and end-systolic) and increased thickness of the left ventricular walls. Abbreviations: IVS: interventricular septum; LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter; LVSD: left ventricular end-systolic diameter; PW: left ventricular posterior wall; RV: right ventricle.

lar heart disease, such as aortic valvular stenosis and mitral valve prolapse, congenital anomalies of the coronary arteries, etc. [2, 12, 16, 17, 20, 21, 25, 38, 41]. Regular sports activity improves the quality of life, although no significant effect is seen on morbidity and mortality in high-risk patients, such as those suffering from coronary heart disease. Nevertheless, vigorous exercise may have a negative effect and even lead to sudden death, especially in untrained individuals [36–38]. The long-term effects of sports activities are still the subject of continual, heated debate.

References

- 1. Astrand PO, Rodahl K: Textbook of Work Physiology. New York, McGraw Hill, 1970
- 2. Arsigny D, Niquet G: Morts subites au cours du sport. Médecine du Sport 51: 367, 1977
- 3. Bekaert I, Pannier JL, Van de Weghe C, Van Durme JP, Clement DI, Pannier R: Noninvasive evaluation of cardiac function in professional cyclists. Brit Heart J 45: 213, 1981



Figure 4. Relationship between total left ventricular diameter on echocardiography and maximal oxygen consumption. The lines indicate the regression equation, the 95% confidence limit of the regression and the 95% confidence limit of the observations. The symbols identify medical students (O), active middle-aged subjects (\blacktriangle) and professional cyclists (\spadesuit) .

- Berg A, Keul J: Körperliche Aktivität bei Gesunden und Koronarkranken. Forum Galenus Mannheim, Verlag Gerhard Witzstrock, Baden-Baden/Cologne, New York, 1980
- De Maria AN, Neumann A, Lee G, Fowler W, Mason DT: Alterations in ventricular mass and performance induced by exercise training in man evaluated by echocardiography. Circulation 59: 237, 1978
- Fagard R, Aubert A, Lysens R, Staessen J, Vanhees L, Amery A: Noninvasive assessment of seasonal variations in cardiac structure and function in cyclists. Circulation 67: 896, 1983
- Fagard R, Aubert A, Staessen J, Vanden Eynde E, Vanhees L, Amery A: Cardiac structure and function in cyclists and runners: comparative echocardiographic study. Brit Heart J 52: 124, 1984
- Fenici R, Caselli G, Zeppilli P, Piovano G: High degree AV block in 17 well-trained endurance athletes. Proceedings of the International Conference on Sports Cardiology, Rome, 1978. Aulo Gaggi, Bologna, 1980, p 523
- Gibbons LW, Cooper KH, Meyer BM, Ellison RC: The acute cardiac risk of strenuous exercise. J Am Med Ass 244: 1799, 1980

- Gilbert CA, Nutter DO, Felner JM, Perkins JV, Heymsfield SB, Schlant RC: Echocardiographic study of cardiac dimensions and function in the endurance-trained athlete. Am J Cardiol 40: 528, 1977
- 11. Hanne-Paparo N, Wendkos MH, Brunner D: T wave abnormalities in the electrocardiogram of top-ranking athletes without demonstrable organic heart disease. Am Heart J 81: 743, 1971
- Haskell WL: Cardiovascular complications during exercise training of cardiac patients. Circulation 57: 920, 1978
- 13. Hollman W: Höchst- und Dauerleistungsfähigkeit des Sportlers. Munich, J.A. Barth, 1963
- Ikäheimo MJ: Palatsi IJ, Takkunen JT: Noninvasive evaluation of the athletic heart: sprinters versus endurance runners. Am J Cardiol 44: 24, 1979
- 15. Israel S, Weber J: Probleme der Langzeitausdauer im Sport. Leipzig, J.A. Barth, 1972
- 16. Jokl E, Melzer L: On exercise and cardiac death. University Park Press, Baltimore, 1971, p 5
- 17. Koplan JF: Cardiovascular deaths while running. J Am Med Ass 242: 2578, 1979
- Maron BJ, Roberts WC, McAllister HA, Rosing DR, Epstein SE: Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation 62: 218, 1980
- 19. Meytes I, Kaplinsky E, Yahini JH, Hanne-Paparo N, Neufeld HN: Wenckebach AV block: a frequent feature following heavy physical training. Am Heart J 90: 426, 1975
- Michel JM, Gauthier J, Brandt C, Schneider R: Infarctus du myocarde d'effort chez le jeune sportif. Médecine du Sport 53: 181, 1979
- 21. Morales AR, Romanelli R, Boucek RJ: The mural left anterior descending coronary artery, strenous exercise and sudden death. Circulation 62: 230, 1980
- Morganroth J, Maron BJ, Henry WL, Epstein SE: Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med 82: 521, 1975
- Nakamoto K: Electrocardiograms of 25 marathon runners before and after 100-meter dash. Jap Circulat J 33: 105, 1969
- Noakes TD, Rose AG, Opie LH: Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy associated with sudden death during marathon racing. Brit Heart J 41: 624, 1979
- 25. Opie LH: Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1: 263, 1975
- Pannier JL, Bekaert I, Pannier R: Echocardiographic and radiographic study of cardiac dimensions in relation to aerobic work capacity. J Sport Med 22: 165, 1982
- 27. Pannier JL: Zuurstoftransport bij inspanning. T Geneesk 31: 956, 1975
- Parker BM, Londeree BR, Cupp GV, Dubiel JP: The noninvasive cardiac evaluation of longdistance runners. Chest 73: 376, 1978
- 29. Plas F, Leclerc J: Troubles de la conductibilité et de l'excitabilité cardiaques provoqués par la pratique sportive. Méd Éduc Phys Sport 3: 133, 1980.
- Raskoff WJ, Goldman S, Cohn K: The 'athletic heart'; prevalence and physiological significance of left ventricular enlargement in distance runners. J Am Med Ass 236: 158, 1976
- Reindell H, König K, Roskamm H: Funktionsdiagnostik des gesunden und kranken Herzens. George Thieme Verlag, Stuttgart, 1967
- 32. Roeske WR, O'Rourke RA, Klein A, Leopold G, Karliner JS: Noninvasive evaluation of ventricular hypertrophy in professional athletes. Circulation 53: 286, 1976
- 33. Rost R, Schneider KW, Stegemann N: A comparative echocardiographical examination of the hearts of highly trained athletes and untrained persons. J Sport Med 15: 305, 1975
- Siscovick DS, Weiss NS, Fletcher RH, Lasky T: The incidence of primary cardiac arrest during vigorous exercise. N Eng J Med 311: 874, 1984
- Smith WG, Cullen KJ, Thorburn IO: Electrocardiograms of marathon runners in 1962 Commonwealth Games. Brit Heart J 26: 469, 1964
- 36. Thompson PD, Mitchell JM: Exercise and sudden cardiac death. Protection or provocation? N Eng J Med 311: 914, 1984
- Thompson PD, Stern MP, Williams P, Duncan K, Haskell WL, Wood PD: Death during jogging or running: A study of 18 cases. J Am Med Ass 242: 1265, 1979

10

- 38. Tunstall-Pedoe D: Exercise and sudden death. Brit J Sport Med 12: 215, 1979
- 39. Van Ganse W, Versee L, Eylenbosch W, Vuylsteek K: The electrocardiogram of athletes: comparison with untrained subjects. Brit Heart J 32: 160, 1970
- 40. Venerando A: Electrocardiography in sports medicine. J Sport Med 19: 107, 1979
- Vuori I, Mäkäräinen M, Jässeläinen A: Sudden death and physical activity. Cardiology 73: 287, 1978
- 42. Zaca F, Lubich T, Abate G, Pagbarant PL, Cremonesi A, Guelfi P, Guelfi G, Venerando A: Ventricular extrasystole provoked by exercise in athletes. Proceedings of the International Conference on Sports Cardiology, Rome, 1978. Aulo Gaggi, Bologna, 1980, p 687
- Zeldis SM, Morganroth J, Rubler S: Cardiac hypertrophy in response to dynamic conditioning in female athletes. J Appl Physiol 44: 849, 1978
- 44. Zeppilli P, Fenice R, Sassara M, Pirrami MM, Caselli G: Wenckebach second-degree A-V block in top-ranking athletes: an old problem revisited. Am Heart J 100: 281, 1980
- 45. Zeppilli P, Pirrami MM, Sassara M, Fenici R: T wave abnormalities in top-ranking athletes: effects of isoproterenol, atropine, and physical exercise. Am Heart J 100: 213, 1980

Athlete's heart: a 100-year long discussion

R. Rost

Summary

For nearly 100 years there has been a debate concerning the significance of the athlete's heart (AH), whether this is a case of physiological hypertrophy or a pathological phenomenon. We here summarize some of the most important data from the clinical, epidemiological and anatomical literature, clearly demonstrating that AH must be considered to be a physiological phenomenon. Nevertheless, in view of the increasing intensity of training and the participation of new age groups such as prepubescent children and the elderly in top-level endurance sports, a fresh discussion of these old questions is required. Furthermore, any answers will be modified by the use of new diagnostic methods. In our own studies, we have found that the limits of physiological cardiac hypertrophy are not exceeded. On the other hand, the possibility that training may accentuate preexisting subclinical damage cannot be excluded. This may be the case in the elderly or in the presence of a genetic predisposition to pathological hypertrophy such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. We discuss some of the interesting questions pertaining to this subject, whether historically unanswered or arising from the application of new diagnostic techniques in modern top-athletics.

Introduction

A number of factors have recently led to a renewal of the discussion of athlete's heart (AH) assessment, in particular the introduction of non-invasive techniques such as echocardiography, Holter monitoring, computerized axial tomography, myocardial scintigraphy, etc. These methods are particularly well-suited for examination of healthy athletes in whom invasive techniques are clearly inappropriate. A second reason for the increased interest in the effects of cardiac training originates in the expected beneficial effects of physical exercise in cardiac patients, particularly on the basis of our experience with the athletic population. A third reason could be found in the increasing intensity of training and the participation of new age groups such as prepubescent children and the elderly in top-level competition sports, allowing new possibilities for physiological adaptation, as well as introducing new risks.

Discussion of AH has been underway for some 100 years, a fact which often appears to be forgotten in the modern literature on this topic. AH was first described by Henschen [4] at the end of the last century, and the answer to some of the questions considered unsolved by some modern authors are to be found in the published documentation of nearly one century of research on this subject. A short historical review of the evolution of this discussion would therefore seem useful.

The major question is whether AH can be considered to be a physiological or a pathological entity. After nearly one hundred years of research, we can confirm the statement by Henschen that 'an enlarged heart is something good if it is able to perform an enlarged work over a long period'. Nevertheless, this opinion has been subject to continuous debate. The idea that AH constitutes a cardiac illness can be readily understood in view of the size, physiological properties and clinical abnormalities encountered. The physiologist observes cardiac enlargement in animal models of heart failure and regards this as a sign of overload, while the physician is confronted with cardiac enlargement primarily in the case of congestive heart disease where this enlargement is generally an important diagnostic factor. Furthermore, improved diagnostic facilities do not necessarily improve the quality of assessment. Henschen's ingenious interpretation was based on findings by percussion; he used only his fingers and his brain. Later investigators came to false interpretations in spite of sophisticated technical measures, as illustrated by the subsequent examples.

Moritz was the first to use X-ray studies in his investigation of AH [10]. He refused to accept the classification of AH as a purely physiological entity, and sought to fit it into his model of cardiac enlargement by acute overload (tonogen dilation) and cardiac failure (myogen dilation). Along with Dietlen [2], he feared that 'continuous and heavy work in sports might result in more rapid wear on the cardiovascular system'.

The widespread belief that professional athletes do not live long has been based on this notion. According to a survey by Roskamm *et al.* [12] this opinion was widespread in the 19th century English literature. Nevertheless, results of epidemiological studies summarized by these authors do not support such a hypothesis. The most striking misinterpretation is found in the standard textbook of cardiology, edited by Friedberg, in which AH is considered to be, among other things, the consequence of syphilitic heart disease. These older notions concerning AH have been replaced by more modern arguments in the literature, and Keren [6] concluded that 'Sudden death . . . appears to be more frequent among sportsmen. This seems to be due to the changes which constitute the so-called AH'; there is no proof of this assertion.

All of these misgivings about AH are summarized in the American literature under the term of 'athlete's heart syndrome'. According to the author's medical dictionary, a syndrome means a 'group of signs of a disease which appear simultaneously'.

Literature results

At present, it would seem useful to discuss some of the major findings of previous studies. It would of course be interesting to have available anatomical data on apparently healthy athletes, and there are several pathological-anatomical studies of sudden death during sports activities where underlying disease can be demonstrated. Nevertheless, these cannot be considered to be representative of a healthy athletic population, since there is a striking lack of data on athletes who died of causes unrelated to the cardiovascular system. Today, we still depend upon the anatomical data of Kirch [7], even if these data are unsatisfactory in view of the enormous difference between the intensity of training of top-ranked athletes in his time and at present. Nevertheless, some of these conclusions are still valid.

Made public in two lectures in 1935 and 1936, Kirch's findings concerned 35 athletes who died suddenly during or independently of physical activity, most of them in accidents. Kirch pointed out that physical training clearly resulted in cardiac hypertrophy, while some pathologists previously considered cardiac enlargement to simply constitute part of an overall muscular training, Kirch found that there was a doubling in heart size by comparison with the normal range. He considered that these hearts were healthy, and that hypertrophy could spontaneously resolve after the cessation of training.

There is a second important conclusion which can be drawn from these findings, e.g. the preponderance of right ventricular hypertrophy unrelated to the specific type of sport. For this reason, the term 'harmonious hypertrophy' introduced by Linzbach [8] cannot be defined as a symmetric enlargement of all chambers as has frequently been the case. This term implies an exact correspondence between the physiologically hypertrophied cardiac muscle and the normal heart. On the contrary, according to Linzbach a pathological hypertrophy results from a 'structural dilation' (= Gefügedilatation), the precondition of heart failure. This structural modification will occur if the 'critical heart weight' of 500 g is exceeded, which is never the case in AH.

From these findings, we can conclude that physiological hypertrophy always remains within reasonable limits. While unlike some other authors, Linzbach did not exclude the possibility of myocardial hyperplasia, he did stress the fact that it was never found in physiological hypertrophy; in the pathological entity, there may be a loss of this physiological limitation with a risk of deterioration in the myocardial blood supply due to unrestricted hypertrophy. The current development of athletic activity seems to substantiate the existence of this physiological limit to cardiac enlargement; despite increased training, radiological studies show that the hearts of athletes are currently no larger than those observed by Reindell *et al.* [11] in the 1950s. Therefore, the limits of cardiac adaptation during training appear to be rapidly attained, and further improvements in performance are probably due primarily to metabolic and peripheral vascular adaptations.



Figure 1. Cardiac volume (HV: left side) and maximal oxygen uptake (VO2: right side) in top athletes.

Clinical studies of AH were previously based particularly upon radiological studies. For quantitative assessment of AH, Reindell introduced into sports medicine the radiological measurement of cardiac volume first described by the Scandinavian authors. His studies showed both absolute and relative (weight-related) cardiac enlargement, particularly in endurance athletes whose hearts were up to twice the size of those of untrained subjects. To differentiate between these physiologically large hearts and the diseased, Reindell compared the size of the heart with its functional capacity, combining radiological studies with spiroergometric measurement of maximal oxygen uptake (introduced into sports medicine by Hollmann [5]). Reindell postulated that the heart can be considered to be healthy only when it is able to transport a quantity of oxygen corresponding to its enlargement, confirming the remarks by Henschen (Figure 1).

Electrocardiography (ECG) has not proved to be a useful tool in the noninvasive assessment of myocardial hypertrophy. There is wide agreement in the literature that electrocardiographic indices of hypertrophy are poorly correlated with anatomical findings. Our own results on this subject are presented in the paper by Reinke, in this volume. Nevertheless, ECG clearly shows the effects of increased vagal tone in AH with bradycardia, substitutional rhythms, atrioventricular (AV) conduction abnormalities, etc. The range considered to be 'normal' on the ECG has been considerably widened by the introduction of Holter monitoring. Phenomena such as Mobitz type II AV block or third-degree functional AV block, previously considered to be entirely pathological, are now regularly reported in healthy athletes. Repetitive premature beats may also occur in athletes, however these may be present in untrained subjects as well. According to our experience, there is no higher incidence of such arrhythmias in athletes, and therefore, no increased risk of sudden death, as concluded by Keren [6].

The introduction of echocardiography has given a new impetus to the discussion of AH, and athletes constitute particularly good subjects for this technique.

Sports medicine depends solely on non-invasive methods, and since our first presentation of echocardiographic results for athletes participating in the Munich Olympic Games [15], a large number of new studies have been published.

Concerning the morphological aspects of AH, Morganroth *et al.* [9] recently suggested that some form of cardiac adaptation may also occur in strength athletes in whom he found a 'pure concentric hypertrophy' in contrast to the 'pure dilation' seen in endurance athletes. Nevertheless, at least in its absolute form this cannot be accepted from the theoretical standpoint; due to the increased myocardial wall strain predicted from Laplace's law, dilation must be accompanied by hypertrophy, even in endurance athletes; this would result in eccentric hypertrophy.

Published opinions concerning the effects of isometric training on cardiac hypertrophy are not unanimous. Our own results did not confirm a predominantly concentric hypertrophy after strength training. A recent study by Dickhuth [1] using two-dimensional echocardiography yielded similar conclusions. One possible source of error may be incorporation of papillary muscles into the septal echo. While, of course, concentric hypertrophy can be found in athletes, it is not restricted to strength athletes. Generally speaking, highly controversial changes such as the preponderance of concentric hypertrophy after isometric training are not of major significance.

Questions open to discussion

In summary, we may conclude that AH is a product of physiological hypertrophy and can be considered to be a normal adaptive phenomenon. What questions remain open for discussion? Three of the most relevant will be discussed below:

1) Is there a genetic predisposition that favours the development of AH, and if so, what form does it take? Do the large hearts of top-level athletes constitute genetic exceptions, or can all hearts reach the same size in training?

This question is of major importance, and if congenital factors are involved, then future Olympic champions could be selected on the basis of large heart size, while children with hearts of only normal size could be discouraged from becoming involved in top-level endurance sports.

The possibility of a purely congenital abnormality can be excluded since cardiac enlargement of this type has never been described in untrained healthy subjects. Conversely, even if training does play an important role, the exact importance of genetic factors, possibly decisive, remains open and can be answered only by long-term longitudinal and cross-sectional studies of athletic populations. This is not a realistic prospect since it would obviously be impossible to investigate all persons beginning to practise sports in order to obtain baseline data on later champions.



Figure 2. Results of a cross-sectional and longitudinal study in young competitive swimmers, compared to an age-matched group of untrained children. Each group comprised 6 girls and 6 boys, aged between 8 and 10 years. All children were re-examined one year after the first study. There was a significant increase in cardiac volume (HV) in the trained children, with the difference increasing after a further year of training. In this same study, we found the same difference with regard to performance capacity and echocardiographic evaluation of cardiac hypertrophy [14].

2) Should we expect previously unseen effects of training on the heart since new age groups, both young children and the elderly, are now engaged in endurance sports. While there are no data currently available to enable us to predict the effect of marathon running on the hearts of 70-year old persons, we do have some results available in children. Prepubescent children are currently involved in endurance sports, in particular in swimming, and this poses some interesting questions. Are the effects of training on the cardiovascular system already seen at this age? Can training at this age lead to a major increase in cardiac volume in view of the greater elasticity of children's hearts? Does an early beginning of training pose any particular cardiac risks?



Figure 3. Changes in weight-related cardiac volume (HV/kg) in competitive swimmers, beginning training very early. Each line combines the individual values for one subject [14].

In order to answer these questions, we have carried out both longitudinal and cross-sectional studies in young swimmers over a period of 12 years. Some of these children later went on to win Olympic medals. Our findings have clearly demonstrated that in this age group, development of AH is already seen (Figure 2). Nevertheless, the limits of physiological hypertrophy are respected, and the hearts of these children reached their maximal weight-related size at puberty (Figure 3); cardiac size did not exceed that of swimmers beginning training at a later age. No evidence for development of cardiac damage due to intensive training was found over this long period of observation [14].

3) Even if AH does result from physiological hypertrophy, the question arises as to whether training may lead to clinical symptoms due to accentuation of minor damage or genetic predisposition which have remained subclinical. As noted above, elderly persons are now beginning to train more intensively, and increased vagal tone may cause problems in conjunction with a slight sick sinus syndrome or AV block. In such cases, endurance training could eventually necessitate implantation of a pacemaker, and we have observed some cases supporting this hypothesis. Another question is whether initially physiological hypertrophy could eventually lead to pathological hypertrophy in case of a genetic predisposition to hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM). It is sometimes rather difficult to distinguish between clinical signs of AH and HCM, since electrocardiographic changes in repolarization as well as echocardiographic patterns of hypertrophy may be similar in both types. This question is currently not answerable, and further research on this age-old debate will be required to answer these new suspicions.

References

- 1. Dickhuth H: Congress of the German Sports Medical Association. Berlin, 1984 (in press)
- 2. Dietlen H, Moritz F: Über das Verhalten des Herzens nach langdauerndem und anstrengendem Radfahren. Münch Med Wschr 55: 9, 1908
- 3. Friedberg C: Erkrankungen des Herzens (2nd Ed). Thieme, Stuttgart, 1972
- Henschen S: Skidlauf und Skidwettlauf. Eine medizinische Sportstudie. Mitteilungen der Medizinische Klinik Upsala. Fischer Verlag, Jena, 1899
- 5. Hollmann W: Der Arbeits- und Trainingseinfluß auf Kreislauf und Atmung. Steinkopff, Darmstadt, 1959
- 6. Keren G, Shoenfeld Y: Sudden death and physical exertion. J Sport Med 21: 90, 1981
- 7. Kirch E: Herzkräftigung und echte Herzhypertrophie durch Sport. Z Kreisl-Forsch 28: 893, 1936
- Linzbach A: Struktur und Funktion des gesunden und kranken Herzens. In: Klepzig H (ed) Die Funktionsdiagnostik des Herzens. Springer, Berlin. Göttingen, Heidelberg, 1958, p 94
- 9. Morganroth J, Maron B, Henry W, Epstein S: Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med 82: 521, 1975
- 10. Moritz F: Über orthodiagraphische Untersuchungen am Herzen. Münch Med Wschr 49: 1, 1902
- 11. Reindell H, Klepzig H, Steim H, Musshoff K, Roskamm H, Schildge E: Herz-, Kreislauferkrankungen und Sport. Barth, München, 1960
- Roskamm H, Reindell H, Weisleder H, Kessler G, Aletter K: Zur Frage der Spätschäden nach intensivem Hochleistungssport. Med Welt 41: 2170, 1964
- Rost R, Hollmann W: Athlete's heart A review of its historical assessment and new aspects. Int J Sport Med 4: 147, 1983
- Rost R, Gerhardus H, Schmidt K: Auswirkungen eines Hochleistungstrainings im Schwimmsport mit Beginn im Kindesalter auf das Herz-Kreislauf-System. Med Welt 36: 65, 1985
- Rost R, Schneider KW, Stegmann N: Vergleichende Echokardiographische Untersuchungen am Herzen des Leistungssportler und des Nichttrainierten. Med Welt 23: 1088, 1972

§1. ELECTROCARDIOGRAPHY IN ATHLETES
Rhythm and conduction abnormalities

R. CAMPBELL

Summary

Athletic training produces marked adaptations in the structure and function of the heart. The main electrocardiographic (ECG) manifestations of these changes are bradycardia (reflecting an increased stroke volume and high vagal tone), atrioventricular (AV) conduction disorders (reflecting high vagal tone) and ventricular hypertrophy. The frequency of ECG abnormalities may vary according to the type of athletic pursuit.

In one study, the minimum nocturnal heart rate range of athletes was 24–48 beats/min (33–63 beats/min controls). Sinus pauses (R-R >2.0 sec) have been observed in up to 37% of athletes (<6% in normal population). Up to 23% of athletes show resting Wenckebach AV block (<10% in normal population) with up to 9% showing a Mobitz type II pattern (<1% in normal population). Junctional escape rhythms are common as are ventricular ectopic beats but ventricular tachycardia and other serious arrhythmias are rare. ECG criteria for left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) are of low sensitivity and specificity and include a high proportion of young normal subjects. Electrocardiographic evidence of LVH has been reported in up to 80% of athletes when voltage criteria are employed.

Although athletes show more 'physiological' rhythm and conduction disturbances than similar age-matched but less well-trained controls, pathological abnormalities are extremely rare.

Introduction

Cardiac rhythm and conduction abnormalities would seem unlikely findings in athletes. Yet not infrequently, ECG disturbances are present, some being identical to those considered pathological in other populations. Individuals who are physically trained can achieve a greater cardiac output for any given pulse rate than comparable, but unfit individuals. The increased stroke volume by which this is accomplished is the consequence of ventricular dilatation and hypertrophy. At rest, an appropriate cardiac output is maintained by a low heart rate in the setting of high vagal tone.

f athletes.
s 0
studie
in
features
Electrocardiographic
Ι.
Table

Study	Population	Age	c	Tech	Heart rate	rate	Sinus	lst AVB	2nd AVB		CHB	AVD	VEBs	VT
					Mean	Range			Wencke- bach	Mobitz II				
Smith et al 1964 Marathon	Marathon	-	21	ECG	56	38-78		1	1	1		1	1	1
[18] runners Van Ganse et al. Athletes	runners Athletes	<u>27</u>	30	ECG	53	44-75	I	I	1	I	1	1	1	I
1970 [21]	(cyclist) Control	22	30	ECG	11	53-98	I	I	1	I	I	I	I	I
Meytes <i>et al.</i> 1975 [13]	Athletes	1	126	ECG	I	1	I	1	%6	2%	I	1	1	1
Roeske <i>et al.</i> 1976 [15]	Athletes	11-16	C ₽	ECG	I	I			/00) 				
-	Control	1	10	ECG	1	ſ	I	I	%0	1		1 1	1 1	1 1
Roskoff et al.	Marathon	18-72	30	ECG	52	38-66	I	I	2	I	I	I	1	1
1976 [17]	runners	(<u>38</u>)												
Parker <i>et al.</i> 1978 [14]	Long distance runners	<u>26</u>	12	ECG	50	39-58	l	I	ł	I	1	I	I	I
•	Normal control	<u>29</u>	12	ECG	61	45-77	1	1	ſ	I	I	I	I	1
Ikaheimo et al.	Athletes	$\frac{24}{24}$	10	ECG	59	52-70	I	10%	1	I	1	I	I	1
[8]	(sprinters) Athletes	<u>29</u>	12	ECG	55	40-100	I	8%	I	I	I	I	I	1
	(endurance) Control	25	13	ECG	74	56-96	I	%0	1	I	I	I	I	1

Table I. Electroc	Table 1. Electrocardiographic features in studies of athletes (cont.).	tures in st	udies of	athletes (c	ont.).									
Study	Population	Age	=	Tech	Heart rate	ate	Sinus	lst AVB	2nd AVB		CHB	AVD	VEBs	VT
					Mean	Range			Wencke- bach	Mobitz II				
Talan et al. [20] Endurance	Endurance	19-28	20	DCG	73	34-164 95%	95% (~1 75	I	40%	I	I	I	70%	
	Immers	(17)			47 47	31-114	sec)							
Viitasalo <i>et al</i>	Athletes	1	35	DCG	sleep 38		37%	37%	23%	%6	I	20%	I	0%0
1982 [23]			2)	sleep/		(>2							
					min 124	> 24-164	sec)							
					awake/									
		;	;		max		100	, e .	, o ,	200		200		/0/
	Control	23	35	DCG	42	_	%9 (~)	14%	6%0	0%0	I	0%0	1	0%0
					sleep/		7<)							
							(cas							
					137	33-168								
					awake/									
					тах									
Abbreviations: DCG = Dy block; VEBs = Ventrieular Right bundle branch block.	Abbreviations: DCG = Dynamic electrocardiogram (24-h Holter recording); TECH = Technique; AVB = Atrioventrieular Block; CHB = Complete heart block; VEBs = Ventricular ectopic beats; VT = Ventricular tachycardia; AVD = Atrioventricular dissociation; LVH = Left ventricular hypertrophy; RBBB = Right bundle branch block.	: electroca ic beats; V	rrdiogran /T = Vet	n (24-h He ntricular ta	olter reco ichycardia	rding); T 1; AVD =	ECH = T Atrioven	echnique tricular o	AVB = A	trioventri LVH = L	cular Blo eft ventri	ck; CHB cular hyp	= Compl ertrophy;	ctc hcart RBBB =

ECG features of LVH (with attendant delay in transventricular conduction), sinus bradycardia, sinus arrhythmia, sinus pauses, first- and second-degree AV block, and junctional escape rhythms might all be expected to be common in athletes and should perhaps be considered 'physiological'.

Investigation of the incidence of ECG abnormalities in athletes is seriously hampered by the paucity of published evidence, by the highly selected nature of those investigated, by the variability of definitions and techniques and by the difficulty of selecting appropriate 'control' or comparison populations.

Heart rate

Several comparative studies have confirmed that the resting heart rate of trained athletes is significantly lower than that of age-, sex- and weight-matched controls (Table 1) [8, 14, 15, 21, 23]. Peak heart rates in athletes and controls are similar [8, 23] but the augmented stroke volume of athletes means that the latter can achieve a much greater cardiac output.

Sinus pauses

There is no generally agreed normal value for sinus pauses and in published studies different definitions have been used. Talan *et al.* [20] found sinus pauses in 95% of 20 athletes investigated, but their definition of greater than 1.75 sec is not particularly demanding (equivalent to a heart rate of 34 beats/min). Viitasalo *et al.* [23] using a more stringent definition of greater than 2 sec found sinus pauses in 37% of athletes and in only 6% of normal controls.

First-degree AV block

First-degree AV block has been noted in about 40% of athletes [20, 23] and in 0.65–14% of normal 'controls' [2, 3, 5, 7, 23]. The wide variation in the latter values is probably attributable both to variations in the technique for ECG recording (the standard ECG or dynamic electrocardiography) and to the level of fitness in the chosen subjects. An 8% incidence of first-degree heart block was found by Brodsky *et al.* [2] in fit medical students and a 14% incidence by Viitasalo *et al.* [23] in fit medical students and Army conscripts.

Second-degree AV block

Viitasalo et al. [23] found a high frequency of both Wenckebach and Mobitz type

II AV block in athletes when compared with controls (23% vs. 6% and 9% vs. 0% respectively). Other workers have found Wenckebach block in 2–9% [13, 15] and Mobitz block in 2% [13] of athletes. Corresponding figures for normal populations range from 0–6% for Wenckebach block [2, 3, 5, 7, 23] and 1% for Mobitz block [3].

Complete heart block and AV dissociation

Complete heart block has not been detected in any study of athletes or normal control populations (Tables 1 and 2). Viitasalo *et al.* [23] observed a 21% incidence of AV dissociation in athletes and 0% in controls. Clarke *et al.* [3] described a junctional escape rhythm in 9% of dynamic electrocardiogram recordings (DCG; 24 hour Holter) from a normal population.

Ventricular arrhythmias

The proportion of athletes with ventricular ectopic beats on 24-h DCG tapes has been described as 20% [20] and 70% [23]. The figures for comparable normal populations range from 0%-73% [1, 2, 3, 9, 10, 22, 23]. Ventricular tachycardia has not been seen in athletes DCG recordings, but has occurred in 0–6% of normal subjects [1, 2, 3, 9, 10, 22, 23].

Left ventricular hypertrophy

In over 70% of trained athletes, voltage criteria for left ventricular hypertrophy (SV1 plus RV5 or RV6 >35 mV) are satisfied [17, 18, 24]. Using the Romhilt and Estes point scoring system [16], left ventricular hypertrophy will be diagnosed in approximately one third of athletes and rarely in normal control populations [14, 15, 17] (Table 3).

Right bundle branch block

The reported incidence of right bundle branch block (partial or complete) has varied widely in published series. This feature was not seen by Parker *et al.* [14] in their study of 12 long-distance runners. By contrast, Ikaheimo *et al.* [8] reported a 70% incidence in sprinters and 33% incidence in endurance runners. In this latter study, right bundle branch block was not seen in any of the 13 control subjects contrasting with the report of Van Ganse *et al.* [21] who found a 20% incidence of the phenomenon in their control population.

						-								
Study	Population	Agc	с	Tech	Heart rate	ate	Sinus Dauses	lst AVB	2nd AVB		CHB	AVD	VEBs	ΓΛ
					Mean	Range	_		Wencke- bach	Mobitz II				
Graybiel <i>et al.</i> 1944 [5]	Aircrew		1000	ECG	1	I	I	1.1%	%0	I	1	E	1	1
Hiss/Lamb 1962 Asymptomatic [7] Aircrew	Asymptomatic Aircrew		122043	ECG	I	I	I	0.65%	0.003%	I	I	ŀ	I	I
Clarke <i>et al.</i> 1976 [3]	Normal population	16-65	86	DCG	I	I	I	1%	2%	1%	%0	%6	73%	2%
Brodsky <i>et al.</i> 1977 [2]	Normal male students	23-27	50	DCG	I	I	4% (>2 sec)	8%	6%	ī	I	I	50%	2%
Viitasalo <i>et al.</i> 1979 [22]	Active normals 49	<u>49</u>	15	$15 \left\{ \frac{\text{ECG}}{\text{DCG}} \right\}$		1		I	I	1	I	I	47%	%0
	Sedentary normals	48	15 (IS (ETT)	164 peak	1	I	1	1	I	I	I	73%	0%0
Barrett <i>et al.</i> 1981 [1]	Normal aircrew		I	DCG	- 1	1	I	1	1	1	1	I	0.7%	0.003%
Kostis <i>et al.</i> 1981 Normal [9]. 1982 [10] populat	Normal population	<u>49</u>	101	DCG	99 max	35-180	1	I	1	I	I	I	39%	%0
Sobotka <i>et al.</i> [19]	Normal female 22–28 population	22-28	50	DCG		I	0%0	1	I	I	I	1	I	I

Table 2. Electrocardiographic features in studies of non-athletic but normal populations.

28

Abbreviations: see Table 1.

T_{ch}

Study	Population	Age	c	LVH voltage	LVH Romhilt/ Estes [20]	Partial/Complete Right bundle branch block
Smith et al. 1964 [18] Decebert at al. 1076 [17]	Marathon runners	- - -	21	76%	I	24%
NUSAULI <i>et al.</i> , 1970 [17]		<u>38</u>	30	80%	0%0	I
Roeske et al. 1976 [15]	Athletes	21-31	42	80%	25%o	43%
	Normal controls	I	10	I	I	I
Parker <i>et al.</i> 1978 [14]	Long distance runners	<u>26</u>	12	I	33%	0%0
	Normal controls	<u>26</u>	12	I	%0	I
Ikaheimo et al. 1979 [8]	Athletes sprinters	<u>24</u>	10	I	58%	70%
	Athletes endurance	<u>29</u>	12	I	30%	33%
	Normal controls	<u>29</u>	13	I	0%0	0%0
Zeppilli et al. [24]	Athletes (selected with					
	ST/T changes)	<u>26</u>	8	75%	I	I
Van Ganse et al. [21]	Athletes (cyclists)	<u>22</u>	30	I	I	27%
	Normal controls	<u>77</u>	30	I		20%

Abbreviations: see Table 1.

Sudden death

Sudden death is rare in athletes, but its occurrence attracts substantial attention. There is no evidence to suggest, that the 'athletic heart' is more prone to develop life-threatening arrhythmias than the untrained heart. Indeed the converse may be true. In most published evidence, death in athletes can be attributed to the presence of overt or occult underlying cardiac disease [4, 11]. Maron *et al.* [11] found cardiovascular abnormalities in 97% of their investigated incidents.

Can vagotonia be pathological?

Resting high vagal tone is a feature of well-trained athletes. Its ECG manifestations may resemble some pathological situations. However, in athletes, symptoms are rare and sinus node and AV node function is normal on exercise. Notwithstanding, occasional situations have been reported when vagotonia has appeared responsible for symptomatic arrhythmic events [6, 12] and permanent pacing has been necessary. These circumstances are extremely rare.

Conclusion

The majority of ECG 'abnormalities' seen in athletes are physiological and carry no prognostic significance. Peak heart rates in athletes are similar to those of less fit controls, but the latter do not achieve comparable cardiac outputs. Ventricular ectopic beat activity is seen not uncommonly in normal populations and in athletes and is usually of very low frequency. Serious ventricular arrhythmias are rare in athletes. Electrocardiographic features of left ventricular hypertrophy are common in those who are athletically trained, but are also normal in young populations, the incidence varying widely according to the diagnostic criteria used. Right bundle branch block of either partial or complete forms appears frequently in athletes, but is rare and there is almost always evidence of underlying cardiovascular abnormalities.

Acknowledgement

I should like to acknowledge the invaluable assistance of Miss C. Cunningham in the preparation of this manuscript.

References

- Barrett PA, Peter CT, Swan HJC, Singh BN, Mandel WJ: The frequency and prognostic significance of electrocardiographic abnormalities in clinically normal individuals. Progr Cardiovasc Dis 23: 299, 1981
- Brodsky M, Wu D, Denes P, Kanakis C, Rosen KM: Arrhythmias documented by 24 hour continuous electrocardiographic monitoring in 50 male medical students without apparent heart disease. Am J Cardiol 39: 390, 1977
- 3. Clarke JM, Hamer J, Shelton JR, Taylor S, Venning GR: The rhythm of the normal human heart. Lancet 2: 508, 1976
- 4. Furlanello F, Bettini R, Cozzi F, Del Favero A, Disertori M, Vergara G, Durante GB, Guarnerio M, Inama G, Thiene G: Ventricular arrhythmias and sudden death in athletes. Ann NY Acad Sci 253, 1984
- Graybiel A, McFarland RA, Gates DC, Webster FA: Analysis of the electrocardiogram obtained from 1000 healthy aviators. Am Heart J 27: 524, 1944
- Grossman M: Second degree heart block with Wenckebach phenomenon; its occurrence over a period of several years in a young healthy adult. Am Heart J 56: 607, 1958
- 7. Hiss RG, Lamb LE: Electrocardiographic findings in 122043 individuals. Circulation 25: 947, 1962
- Ikaheimo MJ, Palatsi IT, Takkunen JT: Noninvasive evaluation of the athletic heart: sprinters versus endurance runners. Am J Cardiol 44: 24, 1979
- Kostis JB, McCrone K, Moreyra AE, Gotzoyannis S, Aglitz NM, Natarajan N, Kuo PT: Premature ventricular complexes in the absence of identifiable heart disease. Circulation 63: 1351, 1981
- 10. Kostis JB, Moreyra AE, Amendo MT, Di Pietro J, Cosgrove N, Kuo PT: The effect of age on heart rate in subjects free of heart disease. Circulation 65: 141, 1982
- 11. Maron BJ, Roberts WC, McAllister HA, Rosing DR, Epstein SE: Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation 62: 218, 1980
- Massie B, Scheinman MM, Peters R, Desai J, Hirschfeld D, O'Young J: Clinical and electrophysiologic findings in patients with paroxysmal slowing of the sinus rate and apparent Mobitz type II atrioventricular block. Circulation 65: 305, 1978
- Meytes I, Kaplinsky E, Yahini J, Hanne-Paparo N, Neufeld H: Wenckebach A-V block: A frequent feature following heavy physical training. Am Heart J 90: 426, 1975
- Parker BM, Londeree BR, Cupp GV, Dubiel JB: The noninvasive cardiac evaluation in longdistance runners. Chest 73: 376, 1978
- Roeske WR, O'Rourke RA, Klein A, Leopold G, Karliner JS: Noninvasive evaluation of ventricular hypertrophy in professional athletes. Circulation 53: 286, 1976
- Romhilt DW, Estes EH: Point score system for the ECG diagnosis of LVH. Am Heart J 75: 752, 1968
- Roskoff WJ, Goldman S, Cohn K: The 'athletic heart'. Prevalance and physiological significance of left ventricular enlargement in distance runners. J Am Med Ass 236: 158, 1976
- Smith WG, Cullen KJ, Thorburn IO: Electrocardiograms of marathon runners in 1962 Commonwealth Games. Brit Heart J 26: 469, 1964
- Sobotka PA, Mayer JH, Bauernfeind RA, Kanakis C, Rosen KM: Arrhythmias documented by 24 hour continuous ambulatory electrocardiographic monitoring in young women without apparent heart disease. Am Heart J 101: 753, 1981
- 20. Talan D, Bauernfeind R, Kanakis C, Ashley W, Rosen K: Ambulatory monitoring in twenty competitive endurance runners. Circulation 62 (suppl III): 267, 1980
- Van Ganse W, Versee L, Eylenbosch W, Vuylsteek K: The electrocardiogram of athletes. Comparison with untrained subjects. Brit Heart J 32: 160, 1970
- Viitasalo MT, Kala R, Eisalo A, Halonen PI: Ventricular arrhythmias during exercise testing, jogging and sedentary life. Chest 76: 21, 1979

- 23. Viitasalo MT, Kala R, Eisalo A: Ambulatory electrocardiographic recording in endurance athletes. Brit Heart J 47: 213, 1982
- 24. Zeppilli P, Pirrami MM, Sassara M, Fenici R: T wave abnormalities in top-ranking athletes: effects of isoproterenol, atropine, and physical exercise. Am Heart J 100: 213, 1980

Bradycardia, ventricular pauses and sports

H. ECTOR, J. BOURGOIS, M. VERLINDEN, L. HERMANS, E. VANDEN EYNDE, R. FAGARD and H. DE GEEST

Summary

Thirty-seven top-ranking athletes underwent 24-h Holter monitoring. Pauses longer than 2 sec occurred in 19% and resulted from sinus arrest. The longest pause lasted 2.5 sec. Second-degree atrioventricular block was noted in 13%.

Introduction

There is a need for establishing normal limits for a mean 24-h heart rate, minimal heart rate trends and pauses in highly trained athletes. Occasional case reports may create confusion in the evaluation of rhythm abnormalities in the individual athlete. We have studied a first group of 25 athletes in November 1981 (group A) and a second group of 12 long-distance runners in December 1982 – January 1983 (group B).

Some of the results here discussed have been partially reported elsewhere [5].

Methods

Twenty-five male athletes were investigated in November 1981 (group A). Age ranged between 17 and 34 years, and there were 21 long-distance runners, one 400-meter runner and 3 cyclists. Six belonged to the top international class, 7 to the top Belgian class and 12 others were well-trained athletes who won regional competitions. All athletes had been following an intensive training schedule for at least 4 years.

All subjects underwent 24-h Holter monitoring. They had electrodes and monitors attached to them in the dressing room of their respective clubs. Most had previously refused to have the recorder mounted in the hospital. History taking and physical examination were performed by a cardiologist. An additional survey of their athletic activities and performance was made.

Twelve other male long-distance runners (ages between 19 and 40 years) underwent 24-h Holter monitoring in December 1982 and January 1983 (group B). Two athletes were in the top international class, six in the top Belgian class

and four were well-trained runners. Besides medical history and physical examination, this group agreed to have a 12-lead ECG, exercise testing and an M-mode echocardiogram. A detailed survey of athletic performance activities was made.

Holter technique

All 24-h Holter recordings were made with two independent bipolar leads. We used a semi-automatic Oxford Medilog analyzer. The recording and analysis system incorporate a synclock mechanism, which, by providing and processing a reference time signal, ensured that variations in tape speed did not produce artefacts of rhythm or rate.

The Oxford Medilog analyzer yields a visual display of the heart rhythm on a 40-sec memory oscilloscope. Abnormalities are printed out on paper. Slowest heart rates were determined for noctural and diurnal periods and were calculated between 3 consecutive heart beats on a print-out. Strips containing abrupt pauses, were not considered for calculation of this frequency. Pauses were calculated in seconds.

The following features were required to meet criteria for ventricular pauses: (i) an RR interval of 2 sec or more; (ii) an abrupt change in RR interval. Regular RR intervals of 2 sec and more during a slow stable heart rhythm were not classified as pauses, i.e. in individuals with heart rates of 30/min or less.

Results

Results of Holter monitoring are presented in Table 1 (group A) and in Table 2 (group B). Summing data for both groups we have a total of 37 athletes.

Group B underwent an extensive non-invasive cardiologic investigation. Group A had been very reluctant to undergo investigational procedures. A simple medical history and clinical examination, with special attention to coronary heart disease risk factors, was performed and would have been sufficient to detect cardiovascular disease [9]. In none of the 37 athletes was there any evidence of structural heart disease.

Diurnal sinus bradycardia (<50/min) was present in 24/37 (64.9%) athletes, with nocturnal bradycardia in 33/37 (89.2%). Heart rates below 40/min occurred by day in 10/37 (27%) subjects and at night in 25/37 (67.6%). Heart rates below 30/min were seen only at night in 4/37 individuals (10.8%).

We found pauses of 2 sec in 19 athletes (51%) and pauses longer than 2 sec in 7 (19%). All pauses longer than 2 sec resulted from sinus arrest. The longest pause lasted 2.5 sec.

First-degree atrioventricular block (AVB) was noted in 6 athletes (16%) and second-degree AVB in 5 (13%). Athlete 2A (athlete No. 2 of group A) had 18

Athlete no.	Age	Slowest	Slowest heart rate	SVPC (1)	VPC (2)	Pauses of 2 seconds	lds	Pauses >2 sec (3) AV block	AV block	
		Day	Night		Ĵ	Number/24 h	Etiology (3)		lst	2nd (4)
	21°	35	32	I	4	10	S	Ι	I	I
2	29°	09	55	1	1	7	AV	I	PR 0.34	18 MI
3	29°	09	32	7	1	1	S	I	I	t
4	30°	44	37	235	I	I	I	I	Ι	I
5	26°	50	35	9	I	1	AV	I	I	10 MI
9	22°	40	42	П	I	1	I	I	I	I
7	24°	45	32	8	I	15	S	1/2.4/S (5)	I	I
8	22°	44	32	12	I	1	S	I	I	I
6	19°	45	34	1	I	I	1	1	I	I
0	24°	50	28	I	I	5	S	1/2.3/S (5)	I	I
1	25°	50	32	I	I	14	13 S + 1 AV	1/2.2/S (5)	I	1 M2
12	21°	50	41	I	11	3	S	I	I	I.
13	21°	50	37	I	I	I	I	I	I	I
14	19°	43	45	I	I	I	I	1	I	I
15	20°	40	45	T	I	I	I	I	I	I
16	17°	50	32	4	I	I	I	Ι	I	1
17	23°	39	32	T	I	I	I	I	I	I
18	21*	50	60	I	I	1	1	I	I	1
19	18°	37	40	_	I	I	I	I	I	I
20	34°	41	45	T	I	I	1	I	1	I
21	19°	45	36	I	I	-	S	1/2.5/S (5)	I	I
22	27°	09	33	I	I	I	I	I	I	I
23	18^{+}	47	34	I	I	I	I	1	I	1
24	21+	60	50	1	I	6	AV	I	I	6 MI
25	22+	45	40	I	I	2	S	1	I.	1 -
Number of athletes with abnormality	s with al	bnormality		11	4	12		4	-	4
 ^o Long-distance runner * 400 m runner 		1) SPVC: su	praventricula	ar prematu	re contractions	(1) SPVC: supraventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours	Jurs			
Cyclict		3) S. nauses	caused by si	nus arrest .	or sino-atr	ial block; AV: paus	(3) S: pauses caused by sinus arrest or sino-atrial block: AV: pauses caused by AV block	ick		

1 תחוב ז. תכאחוא טו 11טווכו וווטוווטוווא ווו בא ווומור מתוורנואי צוטמף בא

Athlete no.	Age	Slowest	Slowest heart rate	SVPC	VPC	Pauses of 2 seconds	spu	Pauses >2 sec (3) AV block	AV block	
		Day	Night	Ē	(-)	Number/24 h	Etiology (3)		lst	2nd (4)
-	20	32	28	3	6	5	S	9/2.36/S (5)	1	
2	21	35	34	I	8	1	s		PR 0 24	I
3	24	50	37	I	2	1	1	1		1
4	25	40	28	5	1	1	S	9/2.28/S (5)	PR 0.24	1
5	26	40	40	3	1 + VT					
					(9)	1	1	1	1	1
9	40	36	32	65	5	1	1	I	PR 0.32	I
7	19	33	33	1	I	1	S	I		1
8	24	41	33	1	I	1	S	1	I	1
6	31	34	34	ı	I	I	-	I	PR 0 36	1
10	24	38	29	I	17 + 2C					
					(2)	1	S	1/2.12/S (5)	I	I
11	31	38	35	36	5 + VT			~		
					(8)	1	I	1	I	I
12	30	70	70	ı	2	1	AV	I	PR 0.48	6 M1
Number of athletes with abnormality	lletes with ab.	normality		7	6	7		3	5	-
 SPVC: supraventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours VPC: ventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours S: pauses caused by sinus arrest or sino-atrial block; AV: pauses c Number of episodes of Möbitz 1 (M1) and Möbitz II (M2) AV blo Sifist number = number of pauses > 2 seconds; second number = 1 On eVPC and one run of 3 VPC at 10/min VPC and one run of 4 VPC at 137/min 	raventricular ricular prema aused by sinu episodes of M er = number of md one run of 1 2 couplets o	premature of ture contraction is arrest or s Möbitz I (M Möbitz I (M J PPC at of VPC at 135,	contractions, ctions, numb sino-atrial bk il) and Möbi 2 seconds; s 110/min	, number/2, eer/24 hour: ock; AV: p tz II (M2) , econd num	4 hours s auses cause AV block, i ther = lengt	 (1) SPVC: supraventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours (2) VPC: ventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours (3) St. pauses caused by sinus arrest or sino-atrial block; AV: pauses caused by AV block (4) Number of episodes of Möbitz I (M1) and Möbitz II (M2) AV block, number/24 hours (5) first number = number of pauses > 2 seconds; second number = length of longest pause (6) One VPC and one run of 3 VPC at 110/min (7) 17 VPC and cone run of 4 VPC 	 (1) SPVC: supraventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours (2) VPC: ventricular premature contractions, number/24 hours (3) Sr pouses caused by sinus arrest or sino-atrial block; AV: pauses caused by AV block (4) Number of episodes of Möbitz II (M1) and Möbitz II (M2) AV block, number/24 hours (5) first number of episodes of Pauses > 2 seconds; second number = length of longest pause in seconds; S or AV = etiology of pause (6) One VPC and one run of 3 VPC at 110/min (7) 17 VPC and 2 couplets of VPC 	= etiology of pause		

Table 2. Results of Holter monitoring in 12 male long-distance runners: group B.

episodes of AV Wenckebach and a PR interval of 0.34 sec. Athlete 5A had 10 blocked P waves in 24 hours and complained of minor dizziness. Athlete 11A had one blocked P wave and in athlete 24A we noted 6 sequences of AV Wenckebach. Athlete 12B (athlete No. 12 of group B) had 6 episodes of AV Wenckebach and a PR interval of 0.48 sec.

Supraventricular premature contractions occurred in 18 subjects (49%). They were frequent in 3 individuals (235/24 h in 4A; 65 in 6B; 36 in 11B).

Ventricular premature contractions (VPC) were present in 13 men (35%). Ventricular tachycardia or couplets were seen in 3 athletes (5B, 10B, 11B). In athlete 5B we found one run of 3 consecutive VPC at a rate of 110/min. Athlete 10B had 17 VPC/24 h and 2 couplets of VPC. In athlete 11B there was a run of 4 VPC at a rate of 135/min.

Discussion

In order to establish normal limits for a mean 24-h heart rate, minimal heart rate trends and pauses, 24-h ambulatory ECG recordings from 260 healthy subject 40–79 years of age were analyzed by Bjerregaard [3].

A total of 77 subjects (30%) had a pause (RR interval \geq 1500 msec), but in only 12 (5%) did the pause exceed 1750 msec with the longest pause measuring 2040 msec. In 12 subjects the longest pause was caused by sinus arrest, and in nine cases a blocked atrial premature beat was thought to be present. Wenckebach AV block was seen in only two subjects.

Brodsky *et al.* [4] reported results of Holter monitoring in 50 male medical students. Fourteen subjects (28%) had sinus pauses of more than 1.75 sec. Only 2 subjects had pauses longer than 2 sec and the longest pause was 2.06 sec. Transient nocturnal type-1 second-degree AV block was noted in 3 subjects (6%). One subject had 17 episodes of second-degree AV block (type 1), 16 during sleep and 1 while awake. Pauses reached a maximum of 2.44 sec. Another subject had one episode of second-degree AV block (type 1) that occurred during sleep with a pause of 2.12 sec. One episode of second-degree AV block (type 1) occurred in one other student during sleep with a pause of 2.68 sec. Of 28 subjects (56%) having premature beats, only 1 (2%) had more than 100 such beats (141) in 24 hours. Of 25 patients (50%) having premature ventricular contractions, only 1 (2%) had more than 50 such contractions (86) in 24 hours.

Hanne-Paparo *et al.* [7] performed Holter monitoring in 32 athletes. Only one subject had intermittent type-1 second-degree AV block. The longest pause in this study was reported to be 1.68 sec.

Talan *et al.* [16] reported 24-h ECG recordings in 20 male long-distance runners. Compared with untrained males of similar age, the runners had slower heart rates, longer sinus pauses, and a higher prevalence of AV block. Runners and untrained males did not differ with respect to prevalence of ventricular

premature beats, R on T phenomena, ventricular couplets, or ventricular tachycardia. In only 2 runners was the longest waking sinus pause longer than 2 sec, in one case 2.55 sec. In seven runners the longest sleeping pause was longer than 2 sec and in two runners longer than 2.5 sec, the longest being 2.8 sec. Eight runners had one or more episodes of type-1 (Wenckebach) second-degree AV block.

Viitasalo *et al.* [17] obtained Holter data from 33 highly trained endurance athletes. Second-degree Wenckebach type block was observed in 8 athletes and second-degree block with Mobitz II-like pattern in three. Thirteen athletes had PP intervals exceeding 2 sec. The longest PP interval among athletes was 2.76 sec and among controls 2.6 sec.

Considering the maximal length of pauses reported by the authors quoted, we find 2040 msec [3], 2060 msec [4], 1680 msec [7], 2810 msec [16], 2760 msec [17] and 2500 msec (our data, group 2). Figures from a hospital population are quite different [6]. While 253 out of 2350 Holter recordings (10.7%) demonstrated pauses of 2 sec or more, 53 patients had ventricular asystole of 3 sec or longer.

Vasovagal syncope is a relatively frequent occurrence in young adults [2, 10, 15]. Sapire *et al.* [12] implanted pacemakers in 4 children with vasovagal syncope.

Increased vagal tone in highly trained athletes is described in subjects with firstand second-degree AV block at rest and syncope after exercise [11, 13]. In the patients treated by Rasmussen *et al.* [11], cerebral attacks due to excessive vagal tone were eliminated by considerable reduction of training activities. Among 126 top athletes, in whom an ECG was obtained during a random survey, Meytes *et al.* [8] found first-degree AV block in 11 subjects and Wenckebach's phenomenon in three. The heart block was found to be present only during seasons of intensive training and could not be demonstrated a few weeks after training had been reduced in intensity or stopped.

Ector *et al.* [5] reported 16 athletic patients, examined because of syncope, Stokes-Adams attacks, or both. This life-threatening condition required pacemaker implantation in 7 patients and 8 of the 9 other subjects became asymptomatic after stopping heavy physical training.

Young *et al.* [18] described his experience with 16 young patients, 6 female and 10 male. Known onset of Wenckebach and varying first-degree block was between 6 months and 17 years of age. Of eight patients followed up for 5 to 18 years, five have fixed complete heart block and three first-degree block. Of eight followed for 1 to 4 years, two have fixed complete heart block. He suggests the occurrence of Wenckeback block in 7 of 16 children and adolescents before the development of fixed complete heart block may be a phase in the natural history of the development of idiopathic heart block.

The normal athlete does usually not suffer from any discomfort, correlated with bradycardia and/or pauses. We believe that there is no reason for warnings against competitive sports. Sport per se is neither a life-threatening nor life-saving occupation. Recent literature, case reports and rumors tend to be somewhat mythical [1]. In our athletes we found only minor abnormalities. This is in agreement with the experience of others [7, 17]. With respect to life expectancy we refer to Schnohr's study on longevity and causes of death in male athletic champions [14]. Information was obtained about 297 (96.7%) of 307 male athletic champions born in Denmark between 1880 and 1910. Mortality among the athletes was compared with the mortality in the general Danish male population. The ratio of observed to expected deaths was 0.61 in the life period from 25 to 49 years, 1.08 from 50 to 64 years, and 1.02 from 65 to 80 years. The male athletic champions had a significantly lower mortality than the general population before the age of 50 years; after 50 years of age the mortality was the same. The causes of death were the same as in the general population.

Occasional dramatic events during athletic activities should not mislead the clinician who must carefully evaluate differences between 'athletic patients' and normal athletes.

References

- 1. Anonymous: Sudden death and sport (Editorial). Lancet 2: 1286, 1983
- 2. Benedict RB, Evans JM: Second-degree heart block and Wenckebach phenomenon associated with anxiety. Am Heart J 43: 626, 1952
- 3. Bjerregaard P: Mean 24 hour heart rate, minimal heart rate and pauses in healthy subjects 40–79 years of age. Eur Heart J 4: 44, 1983
- Brodsky M, Wu D, Denes P, Kanakis C, Rosen KM: Arrhythmias documented by 24 hour continuous electrocardiographic monitoring in 50 male medical students without apparent heart disease. Am J Cardiol 39: 390, 1977
- 5. Ector H, Bourgois J, Verlinden M, Hermans L, Vanden Eynde E, Fagard R, De Geest H: Bradycardia, ventricular pauses, syncope and sports. Lancet 2: 591, 1984
- Ector H, Rolies L, De Geest H: Dynamic electrocardiography and ventricular pauses of 3 seconds and more: etiology and therapeutic implications. Pace, Pacing and Clinical Electrophysiology 6: 548, 1983
- 7. Hanne-Paparo N, Kellermann JJ: Long-term Holter ECG monitoring of athletes. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 13: 294, 1981
- Meytes I, Kaplinsky E, Yahini JH, Hanne-Paparo N, Neufeld HN: Wenckebach A-V block: a frequent feature following heavy physical training. Am Heart J 90: 426, 1975
- 9. Northcote RJ, Ballantyne D: Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1: 113, 1984
- 10. Ogata H, Iinuma N, Nagashima K, Akabane T: Vasovagal reactions in blood donors. Transfusion 20: 679, 1979
- Rasmussen V, Hauso S, Skagen K: Cerebral attacks due to excessive vagal tone in heavily trained persons. Acta Med Scand 204: 401, 1978
- 12. Sapire DW, Casta A, Safley W, O'Riordan AC, Balsara RK: Vasovagal syncope in children requiring pacemaker implantation. Am Heart J 106: 1406, 1983
- Schlesinger Z: Life-threatening 'vagal reaction' to physical fitness test. J Am Med Ass 226: 1119, 1973
- 14. Schnohr P: Longevity and cause of death in male athletic champions. Lancet 2: 1364, 1971
- Sledge WH: Antecedent psychological factors in the onset of vasovagal syncope. Psychosom Med 40: 568, 1978

- Talan DA, Bauernfeind RA, Ashley WW, Kanakis CJr, Rosen KM: Twentyfour hour continuous ECG recordings in long-distance runners. Chest 82: 19, 1982
- 17. Viitasalo MT, Kala R, Eisalo A: Ambulatory electrocardiographic recording in endurance athletes. Brit Heart J 47: 213, 1982
- 18. Young D, Eisenberg R, Fish B, Fisher JD: Wenckebach atrioventricular block (Mobitz type 1) in children and adolescents. Am J of Cardiol 40: 393, 1977

Repolarization abnormalities

P. ZEPPILLI and N. ASPROMONTE

Introduction

Repolarization abnormalities (RA) have long represented a major problem for sports physicians. Since these ECG changes are usually observed in young, asymptomatic and well-trained athletes in the absence of any signs of ischaemic heart disease, they have been termed pseudo-ischaemic repolarization disorders.

Several classifications of RA have been proposed. Plas differentiated minor from major repolarization abnormalities and hypothesized that changes in the shape of the T wave and in polarity could be related to the degree of training [14]. Russian authors, first Butschenko [1] and Dembo [2] and more recently Dziak et al. [4] considered them to be an unequivocal expression of myocardial damage caused by overtraining of the heart, the so-call 'myocardial dystrophia'. In 1978, Strauzenberg et al. [16] proposed a clinical-electrocardiographic classification in which RA were divided into three categories, according to their response to exercise and/or vagolytic drugs. The first category, characterized by increasing RA during exercise, was considered to be an expression of cardiocirculatory asthenia due to infections, toxic reactions and overtraining. Type II abnormalities are identified by resolution or at least tendency to normalization with exercise or vagolytic drugs, and were considered to be benign phenomena attributable to the reversible vagotonic prevalence in athletes. Type III abnormalities were identified by their persistence on exercise and/or after administration of vagolytic drugs, and were considered to indicate an irreversible vagotonic prevalence.

Strauzenberg *et al.* were the first to attempt to provide a clinical framework for this problem based on the exercise stress test. Unfortunately, a major factor impeding this classification was the lack of routine echocardiographic investigation in the athletes examined. With the advent of widespread utilization of modern non-invasive diagnostic techniques, mainly echocardiography and nuclear imaging procedures, there has been a radical change in the diagnostic and prognostic approach to this problem.

Etiopathogenesis of repolarization abnormalities in athletes

From the theoretical standpoint, RA in untrained subjects can be correlated with

several types of condition: cardiac, including myocardial ischaemia, myocarditis or pericarditis, cardiomyopathy and mitral valve prolapse; neurogenic, including neurocirculatory asthenia, hyperkinetic heart syndrome, long QT syndrome, etc.; and miscellaneous, including electrolyte imbalances, drugs, hypoxia, endocrine disorders, etc. Nevertheless, many of these conditions are incompatible with physical exertion and are thus not seen in athletes, while others are very rare and can be easily excluded by simple clinical examination.

In 1982, in collaboration with the Sports Medicine Institute of Rome, we carried out a retrospective analysis of the etiopathogenic spectrum of RA in 98 athletes competing in various sports at different levels [22]. The athlete group was comprised both of subjects with RA detected during a routine survey and subjects referred for RA evaluation. The workup routinely included exercise testing, one-and two-dimensional echocardiography, and whenever appropriate, myocardial scintigraphy and/or invasive procedures such as coronary arteriography. Fifty-two athletes were free of demonstrable heart disease and were considered normal, however 6 of them (11.5%) had septal hypertrophy with a septal/free wall ratio greater than 1.3. Two athletes, one with septal hypertrophy and the other with a positive ECG stress test, were subjected to coronary angiography and ventriculography, negative in both cases. Thirty-seven had mitral valve prolapse (MVP), 5 with signs of hyperkinetic heart syndrome; 3 had hyperkinetic syndrome alone, 3 had non-obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) and 2 had suspected HCM; finally, one had moderate aortic stenosis.

MVP thus appears to be the most frequent condition associated with RA in athletes. In the majority of cases, ECG changes are represented by flat/negative T waves in the inferolateral leads with or without ST depression. RA usually increase in the orthostatic position and with hyperventilation, disappearing after administration of beta-blockers. In most cases they are normalized by exercise, but in agreement with observations by Engel *et al.* [5], in our study MVP was the most frequent cause of positive ECG stress tests in athletes.

HCM is an infrequent cause of RA in athletes [9, 11], however due to the important role of this disease in precipitating sudden death, it is essential that it be properly identified [10]. In the last 2 years, the apical variant [18] was the most frequent form of HCM seen in our laboratory [13, 22]. This is probably due to a more favourable clinical course of this form, and to a better exercise tolerance which allowed the affected athletes to engage in sports activity despite the disease. Fortunately, many subjects with apical HCM present very typical RA characterized by a giant negative T wave in precordial leads, facilitating identification of this disorder.

Echocardiography, in particular two-dimensional echocardiography, has thus allowed great advances in this field while posing new problems in interpretation. In our 1982 survey, 11.5% of athletes with RA and apparently normal hearts showed isolated septal hypertrophy. This correlation was also noted by Maron in 4 of 8 athletes examined [9]. Some of our athletes with RA and septal hypertro-

phy developed progressive septal or diffuse hypertrophy which remained unchanged after short detraining periods. Complete regression of echocardiographic and electrocardiographic findings suggestive of HCM after a 4-year detraining period has been noted by Oakley *et al.* [12] in an Olympic walker, and was seen in one of our patients [13]. Finally, in one patient with RA and 'very probable' HCM, after a 3-month detraining period we saw only minor changes in the electrocardiogram, despite a significant reduction in ST-T wave abnormalities and QRS voltages [22]. It thus appears that RA are secondary to cardiac hypertrophy in some athletes.

Along these lines, we note that Spirito *et al.* [15] found hypertrophy to be the most frequent cause of false-positive exercise ECG studies in athletes. It is reasonable to assume that some athletes may be prone to development of 'inadequate' septal or diffuse cardiac hypertrophy in response to training. A possible explanation for this phenomenon could be found in an asymmetrical distribution of myocardial beta-receptors prevailing in the interventricular septum and/or in an atypical beta-receptor response to training stimuli [3, 12, 17]. Another important factor may be the geometric arrangement of myocardial fibers [8]. Finally, it is also possible that training significantly influences the morphological and electrophysiological characteristics of HCM.

Pathophysiological mechanisms of repolarization abnormalities in athletes

In spite of these hypotheses, the vast majority of athletes with RA show no evidence of organic heart disease. In this group, repolarization is normalized by exercise or administration of beta-mimetic agents such as isoproterenol [19, 21]. Several pathophysiological mechanisms for 'idiopathic' RA have been proposed, some of which imply a close relationship between repolarization changes and the intensity of training [1, 2, 4, 16]. In our opinion, however, the well-documented spontaneous variability of such ECG abnormalities renders this hypothesis implausible. The possibility of myocardial damage or metabolic changes due to overtraining remain hypothetical [1, 2, 4]. A possibility of a pathogenic role of infectious foci has been stressed by some authors [16], but has never been acceptably demonstrated. A familial predisposition has also been proposed [6]. At present, a neuroadrenergic mechanism seems to be the most acceptable [20]. This hypothesis fits well with the spontaneous long-term changes in the repolarization phase, with the marked instantaneous variability in the ST-T wave in response to different stages and types of exercise, and with the possibility of pharmacologic reduction of similar RA with beta-stimulating or beta-blocking agents [21].

Prognostic evaluation of repolarization abnormalities in athletes

I shall briefly consider this point in terms of possible differential aspects of benign and pathological RA (Table 1). The former imply the absence of any organic heart disease demonstratable with non-invasive investigations, usually with marked spontaneous or induced variability, resolving with exercise and compatible with excellent physical performance. The latter are associated with organic heart disease, and sometimes with impaired or inadequate cardiovascular performance, are stable, and remain unchanged or worsen with exercise. It should be emphasized that there are still many cases where it is very difficult to define the frontier between the physiological and pathological RA. In such cases, a detraining period may be of some help to the cardiologist. In our experience, invasive procedures such as coronary arteriography are rarely warranted in asymptomatic athletes with RA, even if they are sometimes mandatory, at least in our country, due to medico-legal factors.

References

- 1. Butschenko LA: Das Ruhe und Belastungs EKG bei Sportlern. J.A. Barth, Leipzig, 1967
- Dargie HJ, Goodwin JF: Catecholamines, cardiomyopathies, and cardiac function. Progress in Cardiology. Lea & Febiger, 1982, pp 93–106
- Dziak VN, Dziak GV: Hypertrophy and Dystrophia of myocard in sportsmen. Abstract Book. World Scientific Congress 'Sport in Modern Society', Tblisi, 1980, p 87
- Engel PJ, Alpert BL, Hickman JR: The nature and prevalence of the abnormal exercise electrocardiogram in mitral valve prolapse. Am Heart J 98: 716, 1979
- Giuliano G, Fragola P, Capria A, Galante A, Pierangeli L, Cannata D: Anomalie aspecifiche della ripolarizzazione ventricolare. G Ital Cardiol 8: 968, 1978
- 7. Guazzi MD, Magrini F, Olivari MT, Polese A, Fiorentini C: Influences of the adrenergic nervous system on the repolarization phase of the ECG. Angiology 29: 617, 1978

Table 1. Differential aspects of benign and pathological repolarization abnormalities in athletes.

 NO SYMPTOMS 	 – cardiac SYMPTOMS 	
 variable ST-T changes 	- fixed ST-T changes	
 normalization on effort 	- worsening on effort	
- excellent physical performance	 inadequate/deteriorated physical 	
(not absolute!)	performance	
– NO HEART DISEASE	– HEART DISEASE	
\diamond	(non-invasive evaluation)	Ċ
FOLLOW-UP	RESTRICTION from sport	

- 8. Hutchins GM, Bulkley BH: Catenoid shape of the interventricular septum: possible cause of idiopathic hypertrophic subaortic stenosis. Circulation 58: 392, 1978
- 9. Maron BJ: Electrocardiogram in the trained athlete. In: Maron BJ, Epstein SE (eds) The Athlete: risks of injury and sudden death. New York, 1981
- Maron BJ, Roberts WC, McAllister HA, Rosin DR, Epstein SE: Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation 62: 218, 1980
- 11. Minamitami K, Miyagawa M, Kondo M, Kitamura K: The electrocardiogram of professional cyclists. In: Lubich T, Venerando A (eds) Sports Cardiology. Aulo Gaggi, Bologna, 1980, p 315
- Oakley DG, Oakley CM: Significance of abnormal electrocardiograms in highly trained athletes. Am J Cardiol 50: 985, 1982
- 13. Perna GP, Fanelli R, Villella A, Lanna P, Russo P, Zeppilli P: Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and inadequate septal hypertrophy in athletes. Int J Sport Cardiol 1: 96, 1984
- 14. Plas F: Guide de Cardiologie du Sport. Baillere JB, Paris, 1976
- Spirito P, Maron BJ, Bonow RO, Epstein SE: Prevalence and significance of an abnormal S-T segment response to exercise in a young athletic population. Am J Cardiol 51: 1663, 1983
- 16. Strauzenberg SE, Olsen G: The occurrence of electrocardiographical abnormalities in athletes. An expression of cardiovascular adaptation or a sign of myocardial lesion. In: Lubich T, Venerando A (eds) Sport Cardiology. Aulo Gaggi, Bologna, 1980, p 415
- 17. Tarazi RC: The heart in hypertension. N Eng J Med 312 (5): 308, 1985
- Yamaguchi H, Ishimura T, Nishiyama S, Nagasaki F, Takatsu F, Matsumoto S: Hypertrophic nonobstructive cardiomyopathy with giant negative T waves (apical hypertrophy). Ventriculographic and echocardiographic feature in 30 patients. Am J Cardiol 44: 401, 1979
- 19. Zeppilli P, Pirrami MM, Sassara M, Fenici R: T wave abnormalities in top-ranking athletes: effects of isoproterenol, atropine and physical exercise. Am Heart J 100: 213, 1980
- Zeppilli P, Pirrami MM, Sassara M, Fenici R: Ventricular repolarization disturbances in athletes: standardization of terminology, etiopathogenetic spectrum and pathophysiological mechanisms. J Sport Med 21: 322, 1981
- Zeppilli P, Sassara M, Pirrami MM, Caputi ML, Fenici R: Physiological and pharmacological tests in the electrocardiographic investigation of athletes; a modern approach to an old problem. J Sport Med 23: 240, 1983
- Zeppilli P, Pelliccia A, Pirrami MM, Cecchetti M, Sassara M, Venerando A: Etiopathogenetic and clinical spectrum of ventricular repolarisation disturbances in athletes. Int J Sport Cardiol 1: 41, 1984

Effects of intensive physical conditioning on cardiovascular parameters of high-level athletes

T. HERMAN, M. ROUSSEAU and C. BROHET

Summary

The potential effect of short-duration intensive training on cardiac function was investigated in 18 endurance athletes, 9 marathon runners and 9 cross-country skiers. Electrovectorcardiogram, M-mode echocardiogram, maximal exercise testing and a 24-h Holter ECG were performed before and at the end of a 3-month span of intensive training. Among the cardiac parameters studied, the only statistically significant changes were, in skiers: prolongation of PR interval, increase in QRS duration, decrease in left maximal spatial voltage, increase in physical capacity and, in runners: increase in left posterior wall thickness over left ventricular (LV) diastolic diameter. However, most indices of left ventricular mass and function already exceeded the upper limits of normal at the first examination, especially in runners. The absence of clinically significant modification after intensive training indicates that these parameters reflect structural changes which cannot be further modified by short-term conditioning.

Introduction

Regular physical training such as that practiced by top-level athletes is associated with well-known modifications of cardiac anatomy and function [3, 9]. As compared with non-athletes, indices of left ventricular mass and function are modified. Athletes, especially endurance athletes, have an increased cardiothoracic ratio on chest X-ray, higher voltages on the electrocardiogram, higher left ventricular wall thickness and cavity dimensions on the echocardiogram. These changes are proportional to the duration of sports practice and they are not highly dependent on the type of sport. By definition, athletes have an increased physical capacity demonstrated by higher maximal workload with higher oxygen consumption (\dot{VO}_2 max) during maximal exercise testing. They have a lower resting heart rate and a much higher maximal systolic ejection volume than untrained subjects. What remained to be investigated was the potential effect of shortduration intensive training on cardiac parameters in well-conditioned athletes. To this end, we performed a series of cardiac tests in 18 endurance athletes before and at the end of a 3-month span of intensive training as preparation for national and international sport contests. The purpose of this study was to see whether this intensive short-term specific training could significantly modify cardiac parameters and, therefore, contribute to a further increase in physical performances.

Methods

Study population

We studied 18 young endurance athletes divided into 2 groups according to the type of sport. Group 1 consisted of 9 marathon runners and group 2 of 9 cross-country skiers. Table 1 shows that there were no significant differences between the two groups in terms of age, height and weight. All these subjects were top-level athletes who had undergone specific training for an average of 8 years. The runners were able to finish a marathon race in an average of 2:35, whereas the average time for the skiers was 1:40 for 30 km and 2:35 for 50 km.

Cardiac tests

Non-invasive tests were used in each athlete to study various cardiac parameters which generally differ from those of untrained normal subjects [10]. Each test was performed twice, the first test before intensive training and the second at the end of the 3-month period of specific training or 8 days before the sport contest.

Electrovectorcardiogram (ECG-VCG)

The standard 12-lead ECG was recorded by means of a 3-channel automatic electrocardiograph and analyzed visually. The Frank VCG was recorded on digital magnetic tape and automatically analyzed by the Louvain VCG computer program [1].

Echocardiogram (ECHO)

The M-mode ECHO was recorded using an IREX system. The tracings were manually marked in accordance with the AHA recommendations and quantitative parameters were calculated by means of a computer program.

	GROUP 1		GROUP 2	
	9 MARAT Mean	HON RUNNERS Range	9 CROSS-0 Mean	COUNTRY SKIERS Range
Age (years)	28.4	(23–41)	29.0	(20-52)
Height (cm)	168.6	(163-180)	177.6	(169–182)
Weight (kg)	63	(51-75)	70	(64-90)

Table 1. Characteristics of the study population.

Maximal exercise-test (MAX test)

The MAX test was performed on a bicyle ergometer with increments of 20 Watts each min and with a pedaling rate of 60 cycles/min. The Frank orthogonal XYZ leads were continuously recorded and displayed. At the end of each min, at rest, during exercise and during the first 5 min of the recovery, a digitized sample of the ECG was recorded for further computerized analysis; blood pressure was also monitored during the test. At the end of the test, the \dot{VO}_2 max was measured by the gas exchange method. The \dot{VO}_2 max, from which the physical capacity is derived, can also be computed by means of a normalized protocol.

Holter ECG-monitoring (HOLTER)

The 24-h Holter ambulatory ECG was obtained in each subject using an Avionics[®] system with examination of the tapes by a cardiologist. A training session was included for each recording and special care was taken for proper electrode and cable placement and skin preparation in order to avoid as much interference by muscle noise as possible.

Statistical analysis

Within-subject differences between the two series of examination (before and after training) were analysed by means of a paired Student's t-test. Differences between the two groups of athletes during each series of examination were analysed by means of an unpaired Student's t-test. Values are means \pm SD.

Results

Table 2 shows the values of ECG-VCG parameters in the two test series for each group of subjects. Only statistically significant differences (p<0.05) are indicated.

The PQ interval, which indicates the duration of atrioventricular conduction, was slightly increased (from 160 to 169 msec) in test 2 only in skiers. The PQ interval was larger in runners than in skiers, especially in test 1, but the difference was not significant.

The QRS duration was not modified in runners whereas in skiers, it increased from a mean of 979 msec to 100 msec after training (p<0.05). In test 2, the difference between the skiers and the runners (100 vs. 92 msec) became significant (p \approx 0.03). Values for all athletes fell within the normal range for this parameter (80 to 116 msec), however in many cases they were at the upper limit of normalcy.

The QTc interval, or QT interval corrected for heart rate, indicates the duration of ventricular depolarization + repolarization. The mean value of this parameter was at the upper normal limit in both tests in runners whereas it was lower in

skiers (NS). There was a slight increase in runners from test 1 to test 2 (NS). Individual values in skiers showed an increase in QTc in test 2 in 5 subjects with a decrease in 4 others. The mean value of QTc was higher in runners than in skiers, especially in test 1 (426 vs. 401 msec, $p\approx0.06$).

The left maximal spatial voltage of QRS indicates the magnitude of potentials generated by the depolarization of the left ventricular free wall, independent of heart position and thoracic morphology. The mean value of this parameter was higher in runners than in skiers but the difference was significant only in test 2 (2.59 vs. 2.02 mV). The modification after training was different in the two groups of athletes: it slightly increased in runners (2.54 to 2.59 mV, NS) whereas it showed a significant decrease in skiers (2.17 to 2.02 mV, p = 0.03). As compared with the normal values for their age and sex [7], several athletes, especially the runners (5 out of 9 subjects), exceeded the upper normal limit for this parameter.

The mean QRS vector represents the integral of the voltages and duration of individual vectors of the whole ventricular depolarization. Its value is expressed in mV sec or μ V msec. Again, the mean value in both tests was higher in runners than in skiers, but the difference was significant (p<0.02) only in test 2 (55 vs. 46 mV sec). This value showed a slight increase after training in runners (51 to 55) whereas there was a slight decrease in skiers (47 to 46). Average values for the two groups were within normal limits however some individuals exceeded

	MARATHO	N RUNNERS	S	KIERS
	Test 1	Test 2	Test 1	Test 2
PQ interval (msec)	174 ± 27	172 ± 25	160 ± 29	\leftrightarrow 169 ± 32
			р	< 0.01
QRS duration (msec)	95 ± 12	92 ± 10	97 ± 5	\leftrightarrow 100 ± 6
			р	< 0.05
			р	≥0.03
QTc interval (msec)	426 ± 40	431 ± 31	401 ± 28	411 ± 31
Left max spatial voltage of QRS (mV)	2.54 ± 0.64	2.59 ± 0.56	2.17 ± 0.4	$\leftrightarrow 2.02 \pm 0.42$
			р	= 0.03
			р	= 0.04
Mean QRS vector (mV · sec)	51 ± 17	55 ± 19	47 ± 5	46 ± 11
		Management of the	p	0<0.02
Max spatial T vector (mV)	0.67 ± 0.26	0.67 ± 0.17	0.65 ± 0.13	0.71 ± 0.22
Heart rate (beats/min)	57 ± 13	59 ± 12	63 ± 10	61 ± 10

Table 2. Electrovectorcardiographic parameters.

Test 1 = before the training period.

Test 2 = at peak physical conditioning.

the upper boundary. For instance, a 25-year old runner had a mean spatial QRS magnitude of 86 mV \cdot sec while the upper normal limite was 66 mV \cdot sec.

The maximal spatial T vector represents the magnitude of potentials generated by the ventricular repolarization. There was no intra-individual difference, nor was there a difference between the two groups. The mean values were within normal limits for this age group however the upper limit was exceeded in 5 cases.

The resting heart rate was not significantly modified from test 1 to test 2 in either group of athletes. The runners had a slightly lower heart rate at rest than did the skiers (NS). Table 3 shows the results of the 24-h Holter monitoring.

The mean heart rate over the 24 hours remained the same in runners after training whereas it decreased in skiers; this difference was not significant. In test 1, the mean heart rate was lower in runners than in the skiers but the difference decreased in test 2.

The minimum hourly heart rate was unchanged and equivalent in the two groups and in the two tests.

The maximal hourly heart rate increased from 133 to 142 beats/min in the runners whereas it decreased from 136 to 122 beats/min in the skiers. After training, the runners reached a higher maximal heart rate than the skiers but the difference was not significant.

The echocardiographic (ECHO) parameters studied included: septal and left posterior wall systolic thickening, left ventricular (LV) mass and LV mass index, ratio of LV posterior wall thickness/end-diastolic LV diameter, end-diastolic LV diameter, end-systolic LV diameter, LV fractional shortening and the ratio of left atrial/aorta diameters. Among these parameters, only the ratio of left ventricular wall thickness/LV diastolic diameter was different in test 1 between the two groups of athletes; 0.15 ± 0.02 in the runners and 0.17 ± 0.08 in the skiers ($p\simeq 0.02$). In test 2, this ratio increased only in runners (from 0.15 ± 0.02 to 0.17 ± 0.08 , p<0.04), and the difference between the two groups was thus abolished in test 2. In general, all indices of left ventricular mass and function, already above the upper normal limit in test 1 in most athletes, were not further modified in test 2 after intensive training.

	MARATH RUNNER		SKIERS	
	Test 1	Test 2	Test 1	Test 2
Mean Heart Rate (beats/min)				
– over 24 hours –	66 ± 6	67 ± 6	73 ± 5	69 ± 7
Minimal Heart Rate (beats/min)				
– per hour –	49 ± 2	48 ± 5	50 ± 7	49 ± 3
Maximal Heart Rate (beats/min)				
– per hour –	133 ± 21	142 ± 23	136 ± 11	122 ± 22

Table 3. Holter-ECG.

The maximal exercise test revealed a similar maximal workload and maximal heart rate at peak exercise in the two testing series. The runners had a lower maximal heart rate than the skiers in the two tests $(174 \pm 9 \text{ vs}. 183 \pm 15 \text{ in test } 1 \text{ and } 172 \pm 10 \text{ vs}. 181 \pm 13 \text{ in test } 2)$ but the difference was not significant. A 35-year old skier could reach a maximal heart rate of 200/min. Another 25-year old skier reached a maximal workload of 440 Watts. A slight and non-significant increase of $\dot{V}O_2$ max was found in the two groups between test 1 and test 2 (4.22 \pm 0.57 to 4.33 ± 0.451 /min in runners and 4.13 ± 0.45 to 4.28 ± 0.9 in skiers). In runners, the physical capacity, measured as a percentage of the normal value, was $139 \pm 21\%$ and $141 \pm 17\%$ in tests 1 and 2 respectively. Corresponding figures in skiers were 135 ± 17 and 142 ± 20 in tests 1 and 2, respectively (p=0.03).

Discussion

Among the numerous cardiac parameters studied, relatively few showed significant changes before and after this short-term physical training.

Among ECG-VCG parameters only the increase in the PQ interval, the QRS duration and the decrease in left maximal spatial voltage in skiers were statistically significant. There was no intra-individual difference for the other parameters. Marathon runners generally had higher values for the PQ and QTc intervals and the left maximal and mean ORS spatial vectors than skiers. Conversely, resting heart rate and QRS duration were lower in runners than in skiers. On the average, the two groups of athletes were close to the upper normal limit for most parameters, and only the mean left maximal spatial ORS vector was clearly outside the upper limit of normal. In some individuals however, some parameters were outside normal limits. These 'abnormalities' were more frequent in runners than in skiers. For instance, the QTc interval was prolonged in 78% of the runners and in 67% of the skiers. The left maximal spatial QRS vector exceeded the upper normal limit in 56% of the runners but in none of the skiers. There was a minor right ventricular conduction delay in 33% and 22% of the runners and skiers. respectively. Other abnormalities seen in runners and absent in skiers were: anterior displacement of QRS loop (44%), T loop modification (44%), various rhythm disturbances (e.g. ectopic atrial rhythm) (22%) and 'pseudo-necrosis' Q waves (22%). A completely normal ECG was found in 56% of the skiers and in only 11% of the runners. Various electrovectorcardiographic abnormalities in athletes have been underscored by several previous studies [2, 4, 6, 9]. The most frequent features (i.e. high voltages, prolonged QTc interval and minor right ventricular conduction delay) are probably related to the increased left ventricular wall thickness. It is interesting to note that some of the other features (anterior shift of QRS, posterior shift of the T loop and Q waves) have been described in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy.

The 24-h Holter ECG showed no significant change in mean heart rate or minimum and maximum hourly heart rate in the two testing series. Among special features, we observed: first-degree AV block in one runner and three skiers, second-degree AV block (Mobitz type-I) in one skier and one runner, sinus pause or SA block in one runner (3.6 sec at night), sinus bradycardia <40 beats/min in two skiers (29 beats/min in one subject at night), atrioventricular junctional rhythm in three runners, premature ventricular complexes, isolated in one and repetitive in one other runner and isolated premature atrial complexes in one runner. The J point-ST segment was elevated in 78% of the cases, both in runners and skiers (maximum 0.4 mV), which could represent non-specific ST-T changes. These findings are in accordance with previous results of Holter ECG monitoring of athletes [5, 8]. One subject showed a more impressive ventricular arrhythmia (numerous PVCs). The same subject had an ECG-VCG suggestive of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, but without typical features on the echocardiogram.

The ECHO parameters and the results of the MAX test were not significantly altered before and after physical training in the two groups of athletes. In both groups, the percentage of systolic thickening of the septum and LV posterior wall and the left ventricular mass indices exceeded upper normal limits. After 3 months of intensive physical training, there was no statistically significant increase of these indices of left ventricular function and of left ventricular thickness and cavity dimensions. Similarly, the maximal workload, maximal heart rate and the \dot{VO}_2 max were not significantly increased after the training period. While an increase in the level of physical capacity was seen only in skiers, capacity was already very high at the time of the first examination and, therefore, it was difficult for this short training period to further enhance physical performances.

Conclusions

This 3-month period of intensive training in top-level endurance athletes had no marked influence on most of the cardiac parameters studied. These parameters probably reflect structural changes in cardiac anatomy and function which have developed over the years, due to regular conditioning, and which cannot be further modified by a short-term intensive training.

A practical consequence of our findings is that one cannot rely on these noninvasive cardiac tests to monitor the training of athletes and to decide whether this training is well-adapted and appropriate for a given athlete. This observation is in accordance with recent studies which have questioned both the reliability of the distinction between 'endurance' and 'resistance' heart and the wisdom of using cardiac tests such as ECG or VCG to judge the level of training – overtraining or undertraining – in individual athletes.

On the other hand, the fact that several ECG, VCG and ECHO parameters

were outside of normal limits in athletes implies that caution is required for the interpretation of diagnostic significance of these procedures in case of development of functional symptoms in these subjects. False-positive diagnoses of left and right ventricular hypertrophy, of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and even of coronary artery disease could be made if one is unaware of these characteristics of the 'athletic heart syndrome'. Further studies are required for evaluation of changes in these cardiac parameters during the full lifespans of athletes, in relation with the possible advent of organic cardiovascular disease.

References

- Brohet C, Derwael-Barchy C, Fesler R, Brasseur L: Computer-assisted interpretation of orthogonal electrocardiograms and vectorcardiograms by the Louvain system. Acta Cardiol suppl XXVI: 19, 1981
- 2. Chignon JC, Distel R: Critères vectocardiographiques d'hypertrophie ventriculaire dans une population de sportifs de compétition. Arch Mal Coeur 74: 1099, 1981
- DeMaria AN, Neumann A, Lee G, Fowler W, Mason DT: Alterations in ventricular mass and performance induced by exercise training in man evaluated by echocardiography. Circulation 57: 237, 1978
- Distel R, Chignon JC, Karatchentzeff: Courbe de module du vectocardiogramme spatial ventriculaire et hypertrophie cardiaque chez les sportifs. Mises à Jour Cardiol 11: 45, 1982
- Hanne-Paparo N, Kellermann JJ: Long-term Holter ECG monitoring of athletes. Med Sci Sport 13: 294, 1981
- Oakley DG, Oakley CM: Significance of abnormal electrocardiograms in highly trained athletes. Am J Cardiol 50: 985, 1982
- Pipberger HV, Goldman MJ, Littman D, Murphy GP, Cosma J, Snyder JR: Correlations of the orthogonal electrocardiogram and vectorcardiogram with constitutional variables in 518 normal men. Circulation 35: 536, 1967
- 8. Talan DA, Bauerfeind RA, Ashley WW, Kanakis C, Rosen K: Twenty-four hour continuous ECG recordings in long-distance runners. Chest 82: 19, 1982
- 9. Roeske WR, O'Rourke R, Klein A, Leopold G, Karliner JS: Non-invasive evaluation of ventricular hypertrophy in professional athletes. Circulation 53: 286, 1976
- 10. Zoneraich S, Zoneraich O, Rhee JJ, Jordan D, Appel J: Evaluating the endurance athlete's heart. A non-invasive graphic study. Angiology 30: 223, 1979

Electrocardiograms of endurance athletes





Figure 1. Sinus bradycardia. Lead II. Regular sinus rhythm at a rate below 50 per min (35/min).

Figure 2. Non-phasic sinus arrhythmia. Lead V1. Irregular sinus rhythm at a rate less than 100 per min, in which the cycle lengths vary by 10 percent or more; the heart rate bears no relation to the respiratory cycle.



Figure 3. Sinus arrest; atrial escape beat. Leads V_1 , V_2 . The sinoatrial node fails to initiate an impulse at the expected time after three normal beats; the sinus pause is terminated by one escape beat of an ectopic atrial pacemaker, after which sinus rhythm resumes. The duration of the pause is 2.84 sec.



Figure 4. Sinus arrest; AV junctional escape beat. Leads I, II, III. After two normal beats a sinus impulse fails to appear and an AV junctional escape beat occurs.



Figure 5. Sinus arrest; atrial escape rhythm; first-degree AV block. Lead II. After three sinus beats with first-degree AV block (PR>0.20 sec), a sinus impulse fails to appear; during the pause, two atrial escape beats occur, after which sinus rhythm resumes.



Figure 6. Coronary sinus rhythm. Leads I, II, III. The P waves are inverted in leads II and III (and in aV_F); the PR interval is 0.12 sec or more (0.18 sec).

A

Figure 7. Wandering pacemaker. Leads I, II, III. The pacemaker shifts from beat to beat. The form of the P wave and the duration of the PR interval vary. The heart rate is less than 100 per minute. The 6th beat is probably a supraventicular premature beat.

Λ Λ	N
	/
a da ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang an	
a sen de la constanta de la con En el la constanta de la constan	
A A A A A	Λ

Figure 8. Atrioventricular dissociation. Leads I, II. The first and last beat are normal sinus beats. In the others different pacemakers control the atria and ventricles, so that they beat independently: the atria are under the control of the SA node, the ventricles under the control of a pacemaker in the AV junction (note the slightly different QRS complex from the sinus beat); the P waves are of normal contour and bear no fixed temporal relationship to the QRS complexes; the ventricular rhythm is regular and approximately equal to the atrial rate so that the AV node is refractory when sinus impulses reach the node.



Figure 9. Second-degree AV block, Mobitz type I (Wenckebach type). Holter monitoring. There is progressive prolongation of the PR interval in successive beats until a ventricular complex drops out (after the 6th P wave).



Figure 10. Blocked P wave. Lead II. A ventricular beat is dropped after the 6th P wave. The dropped ventricular beat is preceded by beats with a constant but prolonged PR interval (0.44 sec). The PR interval following the ventricular pause is shorter, prolongs from the 1st to the 3rd beat after the pause and then remains constant at 0.36 sec.



Figure 11. Right precordial leads V_1 - V_3 in athletes. Note the variable QRS pattern in lead V_1 . The ST-T segments show variable combinations of ST elevation (with upward concavity to convexity). and upright, diphasic or inverted T waves.



Figure 12. Left precordial leads $V_4 - V_6$ in athletes. Note the high R wave in some athletes and the variable pattern of the ST-T segment.

§2. ECHOCARDIOGRAPHY IN ATHLETES
Echocardiographic evaluation of the heart of athletes: cross-sectional and longitudinal observations

R. FAGARD

Summary

Dynamic endurance training is associated with an increased left ventricular internal diameter and a more or less proportional increase in wall thickness. An isometric component in the sports activity will increase the ratio of wall thickness to internal radius, provided the activity is of sufficiently long duration. Left ventricular structure varies with the training state. Finally, although some significant differences in left ventricular function are observed in athletes compared with non-athletes and among athletes according to the training period, there is no evidence of any detrimental effect of training on left ventricular function.

Introduction

Echocardiography was introduced in the study of the hearts of athletes more than a decade ago and numerous studies have been published since then. What have we learned from these reports? Two types of observations will be covered in the present survey, with emphasis on the left ventricle (LV): 1) cross-sectional comparison of the hearts of athletes and non-athletic control subjects, and 2) the effects of training and detraining on the athlete's heart.

What might we expect? Figure 1 is a working diagram. At birth the human left ventricle has a certain internal diameter and there is a certain proportionality between left ventricular wall thickness (h) and the internal radius (R). As the child grows R increases in parallel with the volume load on the heart, and the h/R ratio appears to remain fairly constant from birth to adulthood. Dynamic endurance training, e.g. long-distance running, creates a further volume load on the heart like that of aortic or mitral insufficiency. This can be considered an extension of the normal growth process and therefore should lead to a further increase in left ventricular internal diameter with a proportional increase in wall thickness, thus keeping systolic left ventricular wall stress constant [7]. This type of hypertrophy is called eccentric left ventricular hypertrophy. On the other hand, strength training, such as weight lifting, raises blood pressure, at least during the activity. In accordance with findings in hypertrophy, i.e., unchanged



Figure 1. Left ventricular hypertrophy in sports: working diagram. See text for explanation.

LV internal radius and increased wall thickness. Sports such as cycling which involve both dynamic endurance and strength efforts could have the dual effect of augmenting LV internal radius and disproportionately increasing wall thickness, so that the h/R ratio also increases. Do the facts confirm these theoretical considerations and expectations?



Figure 2. End-diastolic left ventricular internal diameter (LVIDd) and posterior wall thickness (LVPWTd) in runners (ordinate) and control subjects (abscissa). Each point represents the average for a group of athletes and controls.

Cross-sectional comparison of athletes' and non-athletes' hearts

A. Left ventricular structure

1. Long-distance runners

Figure 2 summarizes data on end-diastolic left ventricular internal diameter (LVIDd) and posterior wall thickness (LVPWTd) in 16 groups of runners and control subjects culled from 14 studies [5, 6, 8–10, 12–19, 21]. Each point represents an average, with the value for athletes on the ordinate and the value for the controls on the abscissa. This graphic arrangement has the advantage of not only comparing the athletes with the controls, but also taking the differences in methodology among the various investigations into consideration. The wide range of values observed in the controls, for instance, strongly suggests such differences.

All the studies but one [6] found a larger LVIDd in the athletes, so it would seem fair to conclude that the LVIDd of runners is greater than that of non-athletes, consistent with the theoretical expectations. Also, the LV posterior wall was significantly thicker in the runners than in the controls in most of the studies. The important variable, however, is the ratio of wall thickness to internal radius (h/R). Unfortunately, only two studies reported on this ratio. Fagard *et al.* [5] reported a mean value of 0.41 in runners, which was not significantly different from that of control subjects (0.37), whereas Sugishita *et al.* [18] calculated an inverse ratio (R/h) of 2.6 in runners versus 2.7 in non-athletes (NS). Finally, the ratio of septal thickness to posterior wall thickness did not, on average, vary significantly from 1.



Figure 3. End-diastolic left ventricular internal diameter (LVIDd) and posterior wall thickness (LVPWTd) and the ratio of wall thickness to LV internal radius (h/R) in strength-trained athletes (ordinate) and control subjects (abscissa). Each point represents the average for a group of athletes and controls. The h/R data indicated by O were calculated using the averages of LVID and wall thickness from the various studies. Abbreviations: j: judokas; l: weightlifters; s: shotputters; w: wrestlers.

The observations in long-distance runners do, therefore, reflect the development of eccentric LV hypertrophy. The increase in LV wall thickness, which is proportional to the enlarged LV internal diameter, together with unchanged blood pressure [3], results in similar systolic LV meridional wall stress in runners and non-athletes alike [5]. It has been suggested that the development of eccentric hypertrophy in cardiac patients with volume overload on the heart, such as is engendered by aortic or mitral insufficiency, serves to keep systolic wall stress constant [7].

Other cardiac dimensions are not discussed in detail in the present survey, but runners usually also present increased left atrial and right ventricular diameters.

2. Strength-trained athletes

Figure 3 summarizes the observations for 9 groups of strength-trained athletes from 7 studies, i.e., 5 groups of weight lifters [10, 11, 16, 17], 2 groups of shotputters [12, unpublished personal observations], 1 group of wrestlers [12], and 1 of judokas [18]. The results are more variable. LVIDd in athletes and control subjects was identical in most studies, but some investigators found a significant 10% difference between athletes and controls. In some studies LVPWTd was not significantly different in the strength-trained athletes and controls, but in others the posterior wall was significantly thicker – by up to 50%. The h/R ratio was elevated in judokas [18], similar in shot-putters and controls (personal observations), and not reported in the other studies. Figure 3 includes a summary of the observed or calculated h/R ratios in these various groups of athletes. In most studies the average ratio of septal thickness to posterior wall thickness was close to 1; the findings of Menapace *et al.* [11], who reported a significantly elevated ratio, were the exception.

It may be concluded that, despite theoretical expectations, concentric hypertrophy, i.e., unchanged LV internal diameter and increased wall thickness, is not a consistent finding. However, there are various reasons for these discrepancies. First, the athletes studied (weight lifters, shot-putters and wrestlers) were engaged in different sports. Moreover, it should be noted that the data are not consistent even within a given sport. Second, the athletes' training programs were mixed. So-called 'strength-trained athletes' may also run, but few studies gave exact details of the athletes' activities. For example, resting heart rate was lower in the wrestlers and in one group of weight lifters than in the control groups [10, 12, 18]. Finally, static isometric activity is of variable but often brief duration. Therefore the stimulus for hypertrophic development, i.e., the increase in blood pressure, is usually of short duration and does not necessarily lead to thickening of the wall, in contrast to the continuous pressure load in aortic stenosis and hypertension.

It thus follows that one should expect an increased ratio of wall thickness to internal radius when the isometric activity is of sufficiently long duration. Cyclists, for example, whose training and performance consist of mainly isotonic work by the legs but isometric work by the arms and upper body for many hours a day during the competitive season, should present an increased internal diameter and a higher h/R ratio. This is what Fagard *et al.* [5] observed in highly competitive Belgian cyclists. LVIDd averaged 55.2 mm in cyclists and 49.5 mm in controls, LVPWTd was 12.7 and 9.8 mm, respectively, and h/R, 0.45 and 0.39 (p<0.05). Figure 4 is an example of the echocardiogram of a cyclist.

3. Conclusions

From the cross-sectional observations in athletes and controls it can be concluded that dynamic endurance training leads to eccentric LV hypertrophy and that an isometric component in the athletic activity may cause a disproportionate increase in LV wall thickness when the stimulus is of sufficiently long duration. It is unlikely that mere strength training, involving only brief bursts of isometric activity, causes cardiac adaptations.

B. Left ventricular function

Figure 5 summarizes the reported data on fractional shortening of the LV internal diameter (\triangle LVID) or ejection fraction (EF) in runners, strength-trained athletes and control subjects. Most of the values obtained for athletes were similar to those for control subjects [5, 9, 11, 13, 18, 19, 21], but some studies reported a



Figure 4. The M-mode echocardiogram of a cyclist. Abbreviations: IVS: interventricular septum; PW: posterior wall; LVIDd: left ventricular internal diameter at end-diastole; LVIDs: left ventricular internal diameter at end-systole.



Figure 5. Fractional shortening of left ventricular internal diameter (\triangle LVID) or ejection fraction (EF) in runners, strength-trained athletes (ordinate) and control subjects (abscissa). Each point represents the average for a group of athletes and controls.



Figure 6. End-diastolic left ventricular internal diameter (LVIDd) and posterior wall thickness (LVPWTd) in athletes during training (ordinate) and before training or after detraining (abscissa). Each point represents the average results of a group of athletes. Abbreviations: c: cyclists; o: oarsmen; r: runners; sk: cross-country skiers; sw: swimmers.

slightly higher [8, 14] or a slightly lower [6, 18] value in runners. However, these values were still within normal limits. Also, investigations of other LV functional indices, such as the peak velocity of change of the LVID and the displacement of the LV posterior wall endocardium during systole and during relaxation, yielded no significant differences in runners compared with controls [5]. One should therefore not be concerned about the possible detrimental effects of dynamic endurance or strength training on left ventricular function.

Training and detraining of athletes

Four studies reported on the hearts of six groups of athletes – cross-country skiers [1], cyclists [4], swimmers [2], runners [2], and two groups of oarsmen [20] – before and during training or after detraining. Maximal oxygen uptake was found to be 8–15% higher, on average, during the training period. As shown in Figure 6, LVIDd was significantly larger during training than in the rest period in the runners, swimmers and oarsmen but not in the cyclists and cross-country skiers; the LV posterior wall was thicker during training in all groups except one group of oarsmen. LV mass or cross-sectional wall area increased significantly with the shift from the resting to the competitive season [2, 4], and was associated with significant electrocardiographic voltage changes when the latter were studied [4, 20].

These studies strongly suggest that training per se has an effect on left ventricu-

lar structure. The diversity of the sports activities in which the athletes participated does not allow further conclusions about the type of adaptation involved. The data do indicate that cardiac adaptations to training are reversible, but they cannot, of course, reveal whether such adaptations are completely reversible. Also, it is still not known if the athletes' hearts differed from those of control subjects before training began.

Left ventricular function as assessed by fractional shortening of the LV internal diameter or the ejection fraction was unaffected by training in the oarsmen, swimmers and runners but slightly lower in the rest period (or higher during training?) in cyclists and cross-country skiers.

Acknowledgement

We gratefully acknowledge the secretarial assistance of R. Nuyts.

References

- Bienmüller H, Ebner H, Hilpert P: Echokardiographische Untersuchungen vor und während des Trainings von Hochleistungssportlern (Skilangläufer). Z Kardiol 71: 754, 1982
- 2. Ehsani AA, Hagberg JM, Hickson RC: Rapid changes in left ventricular dimensions and mass in response to physical conditioning and deconditioning. Am J Cardiol 42: 52, 1978
- 3. Fagard R: Habitual physical activity, training, and blood pressure in normo- and hypertension. Int J Sport Med 2: 57, 1985
- 4. Fagard R, Aubert A, Lysens R, Staessen J, Vanhees L, Amery A: Noninvasive assessment of seasonal variations in cardiac structure and function in cyclists. Circulation 67: 896, 1983
- Fagard R, Aubert A, Staessen J, Vanden Eynde E, Vanhees L, Amery A: Cardiac structure and function in cyclists and runners. Comperative echocardiographic study. Brit Heart J 52: 124, 1984
- Gilbert CA, Nutter DO, Fellner JM, Perkins JV, Heymsfield SB, Schlant RC: Echocardiographic study of cardiac dimensions and function in the endurance-trained athlete. Am J Cardiol 40: 528, 1977
- 7. Grossman W, Jones D, McLaurin LP: Wall stress and patterns of hypertrophy in the human left ventricle. J Clin Invest 56: 56, 1975
- Ikäheimo MJ, Palatsi IJ, Takkunen JT: Noninvasive evaluation of the athletic heart: sprinters versus endurance runners. Am J Cardiol 44: 24, 1979
- 9. Keul J, Dickhuth H-H, Lehmann M: Effect of static and dynamic exercise on heart volume, contractility, and left ventricular dimensions. Circulation Research, 48 (Suppl 1): I-163, 1981
- Longhurst JC, Kelly AR, Gonyea WJ, Mitchell JH: Echocardiographic left ventricular masses in distance runners and weight lifters. J appl Physiol 48: 154, 1980
- Menapace FJ, Hammer WJ, Ritzer TF, Kessler KM, Warner HF, Spann JF, Bove AA: Left ventricular size in competitive weight lifters: an echocardiographic study. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 14: 72, 1982
- Morganroth J, Maron BJ, Henry WL, Epstein SE: Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med 82: 521, 1975
- Mumford M, Prakash R: Electrocardiographic and echocardiographic characteristics of long distance runners. Comparison of left ventricular function with age- and sex-matched controls. Am J Sport Med 9: 23, 1981

- Parker BM, Londeree BR, Cupp GV, Dubiel JP: The noninvasive cardiac evaluation of longdistance runners. Chest 73: 376, 1978
- Paulsen W, Boughner DR, Ko P, Cunningham DA, Persaud JA: Left ventricular function in marathon runners: echocardiographic assessment. J appl Physiol 51: 881, 1981
- 16. Rost R: The athlete's heart. Eur Heart J 3 (suppl. A): 193, 1982
- Snoeckx LHEH, Abeling HFM, Lambregts JAC, Schmitz JJF, Verstappen FTJ, Reneman RS: Echocardiographic dimensions in athletes in relation to their training programs. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 14: 428, 1982
- Sugishita Y, Koseki S, Matsuda M, Yamaguchi T, Ito I: Myocardial mechanics of athletic hearts in comparison with diseased hearts. Am Heart J 105: 273, 1983
- Underwood RH, Schwade JL: Noninvasive analysis of cardiac function of elite distance runners. Echocardiography, vectorcardiography, and cardiac intervals. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 297, 1977
- 20. Wieling W, Borghols EAM, Hollander AP, Danner SA, Dunning AJ: Echocardiographic dimensions and maximal oxygen uptake in oarsmen during training. Brit Heart J 46: 190, 1981
- 21. Zoneraich S, Rhee JJ, Zoneraich O, Jordan D, Appel J: Assessment of cardiac function in marathon runners by graphic noninvasive techniques. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 900, 1977

Left ventricular function in athletes: analysis of relaxation

T. GILLEBERT, F. RADEMAKERS and D. BRUTSAERT

Summary

Hypertrophy of the left ventricle (LV) is induced by overload and modulated by neurohumoral factors. Different types of overload will induce different adaptational mechanisms at the structural and at the biochemical level. As a consequence the athlete's LV can be distinguished from the pathological LV in its contraction and relaxation properties. Relaxation of the human LV is determined by loading conditions and by dissipation of activation (inactivation). These two determinants are modulated by spatial and temporal non-uniformity. From the analysis of LV relaxation marked differences can be observed in the mechanisms underlying impaired LV function in pathological hypertrophy and the supranormal LV function in athlete's hypertrophy. A faster relaxation is a teleologic adaptation to training since it allows more complete and earlier LV filling at rapid heart rates, favouring both an increase in stroke volume and a decrease in LV filling pressures during exercise. Cardiac adaptation to training include hypertrophy, enhanced contractility as well as enhanced relaxation.

When a load is *acutely* imposed on the left ventricle (LV), pump function is maintained by increased contractility and heart rate, and by enhanced coordination of myocardial activity (uniformity) [1]. If these mechanisms fail, LV filling pressure rises and myocardial performance will increase according to the Frank-Starling relationship, independently of changes in contractility.

In the presence of a *chronic* load, pump function is maintained by adaptive mechanisms at the structural and at the biochemical level. These mechanisms will be analysed for their consequences on LV relaxation.

A. Triple control of relaxation in the intact left ventricle

In analogy to the performance during contraction, relaxation of the intact heart is governed by the continuous interplay of the sensitivity of the contractile system to the prevailing load (*load dependence*) and the dissipating activation (*inactiva-tion*). This double control of relaxation is modulated by the regional and temporal



Figure 1. Triple control of relaxation in the human left ventricle. CL: contraction loading; RL: relaxation loading. Note the two load clamps, superponed on the pressure tracing: the early clamp (CL) delays pressure fall, where the late clamp (RL) induces an premature onset of pressure fall.

non-uniform distribution of loading conditions and activation front [6–9] (Figure 1).

A.1. Control by load

The primary stimulus for developing hypertrophy both in pathological circumstances and in the athlete's heart is the load to which the muscle in the LV wall is subjected throughout the cardiac cycle. After development of hypertrophy the resulting loading conditions are important determinants of relaxation.

In analysing loading conditions we must consider not only loading levels but also load shifts, or systolic loading profiles. As the real load imposed on the muscle in the LV wall cannot be measured directly, it has been customary to calculate meridional or circumferential wall stress to evaluate it. Wall stress in its simpliest form for a spherical LV (Laplace's law) gives $T = P \times r/2 h$ where T =average wall stress; P = transmural pressure, h = wall thickness and r = internal radius. Similarly as in isolated cardiac muscle, the effects on relaxation of early and late systolic loading must be clearly distinguished. This distinction has led to the concepts of contraction loading (CL) and relaxation loading (RL). A load clamp imposed on the LV before or during early ejection (CL) will delay the onset of relaxation: this reflects the ability of muscle fibers to adapt to new loading conditions. The same load clamp imposed during the second half of ejection will have opposite effects and cause a premature onset of relaxation [6, 19, 35] (Figure 1). The onset of relaxation starts when load dependence and the characteristic effects of load alterations (RL) on subsequent pressure fall and LV filling becomes apparent: load dependence requires the presence of calcium sequestering membranes and load will predominate over activation when myoplasmatic calcium has been reduced to sufficiently low levels by the pumping action of these calcium sequestering membranes [8].

Contraction loading is determined by preload and afterload: while preload is manifested as the precontraction – or end-diastolic – wall stress, afterload (which is determined in a complex way by geometry and dynamics of the left ventricle interacting with aortic impedance) should be measured as wall stress in the first part of ejection, i.e. prior to the transition zone where relaxation loading becomes predominant. Interpretation of afterload indices such as mean ejection stress and end-ejection stress is subject to caution, these indices being measured at least in part during early relaxation. The same criticism should be applied to ejection fraction and pressure-volume relationship as indices of the contraction performance of the LV [8].

Relaxation loading encompasses restoring forces at the level of the cardiac fiber, configurational deformation of the LV, arterial impedance after the transition zone between CL and RL, coronary filling after aortic valve closure and wall stress at (or after) mitral valve opening [6].

The transition of CL to RL must be taken into account when the effects on relaxation of pressure or volume loading during ejection are interpreted. Shifts in load from late to early ejection will tend to delay the onset of relaxation, while shifts from early to late ejection will induce premature relaxation. Unaltered relaxation velocity for instance with increase in loading during ejection could result from equal effects on CL and RL simultaneously. Shifts in load can be induced by neurohumoral or pharmacological alterations of arterial impedance, thereby affecting timing and amplitude of reflected waves in late ejection. Moreover, the transition zone may be displaced in some conditions, as e.g. through neurohumoral adjustments and the exact range in time has as yet not been

delineated in the intact heart. This could account for conflicting data resulting from pharmacological interventions. Shifts in the transition zone could also be relevant when comparing acute versus chronic load alterations [8].

Systolic time intervals are helpful in evaluating *timing* of relaxation as a function of loading conditions. For the *rate* of relaxation we must keep in mind the sequence that comprises an isovolumic pressure drop followed by an increase in volume. The isovolumic phase will be evaluated by pressure-derived indices, where peak (–) dP/dt describes an earlier phase than tau (time constant of pressure decay after peak (–) dP/dt); some information about pressure decay can also be derived from intervals, but their interpretation is subject to many pitfalls. The final and perhaps the major hemodynamic event of relaxation, i.e. the rapid filling of the left ventricle, will be measured after mitral valve opening by means of volume-derived indices. An earlier onset of relaxation as following a load clamp in the relaxation phase, does not necessarily imply an accelerated rate of relaxation and the effects on pressure decay have to be differentiated from the effects on LV filling.

A.2. Control by inactivation

Inactivation is mainly determined by the rate and capacity by which intracellular calcium is being pumped by the *sarcoplasmatic reticulum* (SR) and by the detachment rate of actomyosin *crossbridges* which is related to ATP hydrolysis. Both aspects are profoundly influenced by *hypoxia* [12] and can be modulated by biochemical adaptative mechanisms as myosine isoenzyme shifts or changes in the calcium reuptake capacity of the SR.

A.3. Control by non-uniformity

The complex shape of the left ventricle and the complex spreading of electrical depolarization and repolarization makes non-uniformity an obligatory additional determinant of relaxation in the intact heart. This non-uniform activity results in an additional control of energy transfer to haemodynamic activity. Any alteration of this coordinated activity will induce decreased hydrodynamic efficiency and hence contraction and relaxation disturbances [1].

B. Relaxation of the hypertrophied left ventricle

B.1. Pathological hypertrophy: e.g. aortic stenosis

B.1.1. Determinants of relaxation

a. Control by load

- Geometrical adaptation:

Hypertrophy is obtained by enlargement of myocardial cells and hyperplasia of both muscular and non-muscular intra-cellular components. Stimuli which trigger hypertrophy include increased tension generated by the myocardial fibers (after-load), increased end-diastolic wall stress (preload) and neurohumoral factors such as increased catecholamines or discharge of cardiac sympathetic nerves, activation of the renin-angiotensin system and increased levels of thyroxine and growth hormone [36]. In chronic *pressure* overload (e.g. hypertension, aortic stenosis, coarctation) increased systolic wall stress is the primary stimulus that causes parallel addition of new myofibrils, resulting in a ventricle with a normal or even reduced cavity but with a thickened wall [22]. According to Laplace's law the reduced radius-to-wall-thickness ratio normalises wall stress, enabling the left ventricle to eject a normal stroke volume against a high resistance. The desired adaptive response is achieved when the LV functions normally per unit of ventricular mass so that cardiac reserve is reestablished and further overload, as imposed by exercise can be handled normally.

- Loading conditions (Figure 2)

- CL: Preload and afterload as estimated from end-diastolic and peak systolic wall stress are either normal or increased. Hence contraction loading will tend to be elevated [17].

- RL: Relaxation loading, as the major driving force for LV filling is profoundly affected. Coronary vessel growth can not keep pace with increased muscle mass. This will result in an impeded filling of the coronary reservoir and hence in the inability of early coronary filling to stretch myocardial fibers as in normal circumstances (Figure 6 in ref. 6). The increased wall thickness with an almost unchanged cavity will severely reduce wall stress at and after mitral valve opening, even in the presence of elevated filling pressures.

– Passive behaviour of the LV in diastole will also be modified: wall stress is reduced by increased wall thickness and the pressure-volume relation will be shifted to the left [24], causing the ventricle to equilibrate at lower mid-diastolic volumes. This modified passive behaviour can explain the lower amplitude of the LV filling during the rapid filling period, and will also partially account for lower peak filling rates: as we know from papillary muscle experiments, peak filling rates are closely related to the extent of filling [20].

74



Figure 2. Triple control of relaxation applied to pathological hypertrophy e.g. aortic stenosis.

b. Control by inactivation

- Contractile proteins: ATPase activity related to contractile protein (actin and myosin) interaction has been studied in several animal species, but most extensively in the rat [40]. When the heart of an adult rat is subjected to a major *pressure* overload, ATPase activity consistently decreases. When the mechanical overload is removed, ATPase activity recovers. These changes result from isoenzyme shifts from one form of myosin (V1) with a high ATPase activity to another form of myosin (V3) with a lower activity [33, 44].

These findings are not consistently found in *volume* overload: moderate volume overload without increase in systolic wall stress, as induced by aortocaval fistula or atrial septum defect will not result in myosine isoenzyme shifts, in contrast to severe overload with heart failure and in contrast to aortic insufficiency [33].

These data cannot simply be extrapolated to human pathology or athletes: human LV myocardium has both V1 and V3 isoforms but the V1 isoform content is only 6% [34]. Thus there is limited potential for transformation to a greater V3 content with mechanical overload in man.

- Sarcoplasmatic reticulum: Hypertrophy due to significant pressure overload has been associated with depressed SR function resulting in a decreased binding or reuptake of calcium [42], hence in a delayed inactivation and in a blunted load dependence [8, 12].

The *mechanical behaviour* of isolated non-hypoxic papillary muscle of the rat is altered as a consequence of these and maybe other mechanisms: contraction

velocity, measured as the maximum velocity of unloaded shortening (V max), is depressed without changes in maximum tension development [3]; relaxation is slowed both in isometric and isotonic contractions but load dependence is preserved [28].

- Hypoxia: The coronary circulation in aortic stenosis is characterized by a reduced vasodilator capacity and by a critical blood supply to the subendocardial layers of the myocardium: these findings are linked to ischaemia in several clinical studies [2, 31]. Ischaemia can alter relaxation since for a given set of loadings, relaxation is delayed and slowed by hypoxia and load dependence disappears [12].

c. Control by non-uniformity

Spatial and temporal non-uniformity of loading and inactivation may help to explain impaired relaxation in hypertrophy. Changed geometry, regional variations of wall thickness, interstitial fibrosis, loss of myocardial contractile elements and of normal intercellular connections will undoubtly increase non-uniformity in the hypertrophied ventricular wall. That non-uniformity accompanies impaired relaxation in aortic stenosis is confirmed by echocardiographic studies: the onset of mitral valve opening is delayed with respect to the minimum cavity dimension and significant dimension changes occur in this interval [16, 23]. As these dimension changes of the LV but are explained by a change in cavity shape, hence by incoordinate relaxation.

B.1.2. Cardiac function and parameters of relaxation

In severe chronic overload, myocardial function eventually fails both during contraction and relaxation, leading to pump failure and extracardial compensation mechanisms. These extracardiac compensation mechanisms will further increase cardiovascular overload, thereby closing the vicious circle of heart failure (Figure 5, left). When an impaired pump function (e.g. decreased ejection fraction) is present in severe aortic stenosis it can be caused by excessive wall stress (inadequately normalized by the hypertrophy), intrinsically depressed contractility or both [10].

Severe relaxation abnormalities are however the hall-mark of concentric hypertrophy and they occur at an earlier stage of the disease than does impairment of contractility [7, 17, 37]. Subnormal LV filling velocities can even precede the development of a pathological increase in LV mass [26]. The filling profile in concentric hypertrophy has a rapid filling phase where both the amplitude of filling and the peak velocity of filling are diminished in comparison to normal subjects [4, 16, 18, 23]. This impaired relaxation is compensated by a vigorous atrial kick that can convey more than 40% of the total filling volume [4, 18] (Figure 3). Accordingly, heart failure in concentric hypertrophy can be merely a problem of relaxation and filling rather than of contraction abnormalities. This



Figure 3. Volume-derived indices of LV function in a normal subject and in a subject with concentric hypertrophy.

2D-echo images are enhanced by averaging 8 cardiac cycles. The averaged cardiac cycle has an increased signal to noise ratio, which allows more accurate endocardial recognition (46). This digitized cardiac cycle is transferred to a computer memory where automatic endocardial edge detection is performed every 20 ms, followed by measurement of various parameters and plotting of a LV area-time and flow-area curve (phase-plane). The phase-plane curve displays the relative area-change (dA-dt) or flow on the vertical axis (contraction above zero) and the relative area (A) on the horizontal axis (100% = largest ventricular volume: 0% = smallest ventricular volume). Note that the curve is independent of absolute magnitude of area and of ejection fraction (EFA). A further normalization is performed to facilitate inter-comparison of flow-area curves so that the peak area-change in the heart cycle occurs at the very bottom or top of the figure. The heart cycle is read clockwise.

The upper panel shows the curves of a normal 24-year old volunteer with a maximal filling rate which is higher than the maximal ejection rate: the ratio of peak +dA/dt on peak -dA/dt is 0.61. A limited LV filling follows atrial contraction. The lower panel shows the curves of a 59-year old female patient with LV hypertrophy due to arterial hypertension. Contraction is vigorous, but both extent and rate of LV filling during rapid filling period are compromized. Striking in the phase-plane curve are the important contribution of atrial systole to LV filling (45%) and the high peak rate of LV filling during atrial systole. This augmented atrial kick results in maintaining pump function during contraction (unchanged EFA and first third EFA) despite a severely impaired relaxation. Modified after Brutsaert DL *et al* [8].

type of failure requires a specific therapeutic approach aimed at enhancing relaxation rather than stimulating contractility.

B.2. The athlete's heart: e.g. cyclists

B.2.1. Determinants of relaxation

a. Control by load

- Geometrical adaptation:

The effects of *endurance training* (dynamic/isotonic training) on LV morphology have been compared to those of sustained chronic volume overload, but in contrast to pathological hypertrophy, cardiac overload in athletes is intermittent. In chronic *volume* overload increased diastolic wall stress will lead to addition of new sarcomeres in series, fiber elongation and LV enlargement. This LV enlargement will lead to increased systolic wall stress even in the presence of an unchanged systolic pressure (Laplace's law), thereby stimulating addition of new myofibrils and secondary wall thickening [22]. The LV has a nearly normal radius-to-wall-thickness ratio and is able to increase stroke volume by the normal function of an increased number of sarcomeres.

Consistent findings in dynamically trained athletes, as opposed to non-athletes, are an increase in LV end-diastolic diameter and a proportional increase in wall thickness [25]. These changes are considered appropriate compensations for the sustained increases in cardiac output during competition and training. In addition heart rate is lowered: this effect has been attributed to an increase in vagal tone and to a decrease in resting sympathetic tone; an intrinsic cardiac component to bradycardia has also been suggested [25]. It remains to be seen to what extent low heart rate in se will perpetuate stimuli for hypertrophy as it is associated with a larger end-diastolic volume and wall stress. In this context, it is well-known that crushing the AV node has been a classical model for experimental hypertrophy in dogs [5].

The effects of *strength training* (static/isometric training) have been compared to those of chronic pressure overload, but for various reasons some disagreement exists concerning the interpretation of the available data. Most studies indicate that weight lifters and wrestlers have normal or increased LV end-diastolic diameter. As these athletes tend to be heavy, the dimensions could be corrected for weight or body surface area: when corrected, standard values are usually obtained. Increase in wall thickness is also present in all strength-trained athletes and the increase in LV mass seems to be related to the level of training. However after correction for lean body mass, athletes do not differ from non-athletic controls in left ventricular mass [25]. As the radius-to-wall thickness ratio is reduced by strength-training [27] and as this cannot be explained by an increase in lean body mass, LV growth has to be considered parallel to muscle growth and

not as the mere consequence of muscle growth.

- Loading conditions: (Figure 4)

Loading variations in physiological hypertrophy can be subtle and comparison between athletes and non-athletes is influenced by the various changes that occur, as e.g. the low resting heart rate. Rather than discussing relaxation parameters and loading determinants in general, we reviewed some recent data by Fagard and coworkers [15] who compared cyclists in the competitive season (CS) to the same cyclists in the resting season (RS).

- CL: Preload and afterload are decreased in the CS and increased in the RS, mainly due to a regression of wall thickening in the RS.

- RL: Late ejection impedance, external restoring forces and wall stress after mitral valve opening show some differences that cancel one another and are probably of no significance. In contrast to pathological hypertrophy, several animal studies indicate that training promotes myocardial vascular growth. This increased vascularisation seems proportional to myocardial growth and should be able to normalize oxygen consumption in the hypertrophied myocardial cell [43]. These data suggest the preservation of a normal stretching of the myocardial fibers by early filling of the coronary vascular bed.

- One study analysed passive diastolic behaviour in trained greyhounds: given the LV dilatation, the pressure-volume relation is shifted to the right but despite the increase in mass, LV stiffness was not different from untrained dogs [11].



Figure 4. Triple control of relaxation applied to the athlete's heart e.g. cyclists in the competitive season (CS). Data derived from Fagard and coworkers [15].

b. Control by inactivation

- Contractile proteins: Physiologic loads such as chronic exercise, which result in marked LV hypertrophy in the rat, may increase contractile performance and myosin ATPase activity as a result of a shift to even a greater predominance of the V1 myosin isoenzyme [39]. Moreover physical training is able to revert a shift to a predominance of V3, induced by hypertension [41]. These data suggest that the effects of hypertension and the effects of physical training are mediated through different mechanisms and that the stimulus induced by repeated swimming can counteract that induced by hypertension.

- Sarcoplasmatic reticulum: A possible role for the SR in regulating myocardial intracellular calcium concentrations in trained hearts has been investigated in several rat conditioning models, indicating an enhanced SR activity and an enhanced calcium reuptake [30, 42, 43]. This enhanced SR activity has also been associated with faster relaxation in isolated perfused hearts from swim-trained male and female rats [43]. It is interesting to note that mild pressure overload can result in an increased ATPase activity and in an increased calcium reuptake by SR, findings that are similar to those induced by training [29, 47].

- The *mechanical behaviour* of papillary muscle of trained rats is not impaired as in pathological hypertrophy: several studies show an increase in isometric force development and an increase in shortening velocity. Moreover ventricular relaxation is enhanced in swim-trained rats [43].

- In the presence of a well-adapted coronary circulation [43], *hypoxia* will not occur in contrast to pathological hypertrophy.

c. Control by non-uniformity

Factors contributing to non-uniformity in pathological hypertrophy are among others: configurational changes of the left ventricle, regional changes in wall thickness, gross alterations in cellular morphology, loss of intercellular connections and interstitial fibrosis. These is at present no evidence however that these changes can be induced even by strenuous training.

B.2.2. Cardiac function and parameters of relaxation

In athletes, cardiovascular function is adapted to high performances: training increases maximal cardiac output as evaluated from maximal oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$ max). Where sedentary middle aged men have a $\dot{V}O_2$ max of 30 ml/kg/min, endurance runners can develop values as high as 85 ml/kg/min. Since heart rate at $\dot{V}O_2$ max is not increased in trained athletes, increased cardiac output is due to increased stroke volume. Increased stroke volume is obtained by geometrical adaptation (increased number of sarcomeres) and by an increased contractility. Moreover a faster relaxation is an additional adaptation to exercise, allowing more complete ventricular filling at rapid heart rates: enhanced relaxation will favour stroke volume and will limit exercise dyspnoea.

The few studies where the rapid filling phase of the cardiac cycle was analysed

at rest consistently indicated normal or slightly supranormal rates of LV filling in competitive swimmers, word-class power lifters [13], ultra-endurance triathletes [14], distance runners [21, 32] and cyclists [15]. The methods used were either M-mode echocardiography [13, 14, 15, 32], radionuclides [21], or Doppler [14]. A single study analysed the rapid filling phase during (moderate) exercise: even when normalized for end-diastolic dimensions, both peak filling rate and early filling volume of the left ventricle were frankly increased in distance runners as compared to non-athletes [32].

A third heart sound is frequently found in endurance-trained athletes. Van de Werf *et al.* [45] showed that the third heart sound is related to deceleration of flow at the end of the rapid filling phase and is associated with a higher and steeper rapid filling wave on the ventricular pressure tracing. A third heart sound occurs either following increased filling rates or when a (sub)normal LV inflow is decelerated by an impaired relaxation. The presence of a third heart sound in athletes is the signature of a high filling rate in the absence of any relaxation disturbances, and can be judged as an index of good training.

C. Conclusion (Figure 5)

Sustained chronic overload of the heart stimulates changes that lead to growth or hypertrophy. This growth is adaptational and tends to neutralize overload. When overload is rapidly evolving or severe, hypertrophy cannot compensate. Moreover hypertrophy is characterized by structural and ultrastructural changes that induce failure of myocardial function, both during contraction and relaxation. Myocardial failure and pump failure will be followed by extracardiac compensation mechanisms that will result in additional overload, closing the vicious circle of heart failure (left circle).

The athlete's heart is a physiological adaptation to intermittent overload that stimulates similar but limited growth. At rest loading levels tend to be low, due to the presence of hypertrophy and due to neurohumoral adaptational mechanisms. Low heart rate will somewhat counteract this underloading at rest. The athlete's heart is characterised by an adapted geometry, an increased contractile performance and also by an increased relaxation capacity, determining the cardiac aspects of increased exercise tolerance induced by training. Why training can promote hypertrophy without dysfunction, in contrast to pathological hypertrophy is still largely unknown, as indicated by the question mark in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Adaptations to Cardiac Overload (see conclusion).

References

- Antwerp-La Jolla Research Conferences on Cardiac Function. Non-uniformity of contraction and relaxation and its pharmacological implications. Organizing committee: Brutsaert DL, Ross JJr. Antwerp, July 2–4, 1984
- Bertrand M, Lablanche J, Tilmant P, Thieuleux F, Delforge M, Garré A: Coronary sinus blood flow at rest and during isometric exercise in patients with aortic valve disease. Am J Cardiol 47: 199, 1981
- Bing O, Matsushita S, Fanburg B, Levine H: Mechanical properties of rat cardiac muscle during experimental hypertrophy. Circulation Res 28: 234, 1975
- 4. Bonow R, Frederick T, Bacharach S: Atrial systole and left ventricular filling in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: effect of verapamil. Am J Cardiol 51: 1386, 1983
- Brutsaert D: Influence of different stimulation frequencies on the cardiac output at rest and during moderate exercise in dogs with chronic atrioventricular heart block. Acta Cardiol 20: 469, 1965
- Brutsaert D, Housmans P, Goethals M: Dual Control of Relaxation. Its role in the Ventricular Function in the Mammalian Heart. Circulation Res 47: 637, 1980
- 7. Brutsaert D, Rademakers F, Sys S: Triple Control of Relaxation: implications in cardiac disease. Circulation 69: 190, 1984
- 8. Brutsaert D, Rademakers F, Sys S, Gillebert T, Housmans P: Analysis of Relaxation in the Evaluation of Ventricular Function of the Heart. Prog Cardiovusc Dis 28 (2): 143, 1985
- Brutsaert D, Rademakers F, Sys S, Gillebert T, Housmans P: Ventricular Relaxation. In: Gaasch W, Levine H (eds) The Ventricle. Martinus Nyhoff Publishers. Dordrecht 1985, p 000
- 10. Carabello B, Grossman W, Gunther S: Ejection performance in AS. Circulation 65: 639, 1982
- Carew T, Covell J: Left Ventricular Function in Exercise-induced Hypertrophy in Dogs. Am J Cardiol 42: 82, 1978
- Chuck L, Goethals M, Parmley W, Brutsaert D: Load-insensitive relaxation caused by hypoxia in mammalian cardiac muscle. Circulation Res 48: 797, 1981
- 13. Colan S, Borow K, Sanders S: Diastolic function in athletes with physiologic hypertrophy. Circulation 70 (2): 304, 1984
- Douglas P, Hiller W, O'Toole M, Priest C, Reichek N: Effects of maximal aerobic conditioning on left ventricular structure and function: the triathlete heart. J Am College Cardiol 5: 539, 1985

- Fagard R, Aubert A, Lysens R, Staessen J, Vanhees L, Amery A: Noninvasive assessment of seasonal variations in cardiac structure and function in cyclists. Circulation 67: 896, 1983
- Gibson D, Traill A, Hall R, Brown D: Echocardiographic features of secondary left ventricular hypertrophy. Brit Heart J 41: 54, 1979
- Gillebert T, Rademakers F, Brutsaert D: La fonction du ventricule gauche au cours des valvulopathies acquises. Analyse de la relaxation. In: Acar J (ed) Les Cardiopathies Valvulaires acquises. Flammarion Medecine-Sciences, 1985, p 198
- Gillebert T, Sys S, Van Ocken E, Claes V, Brutsaert D: Echocardiographic analysis of left ventricular function in concentric hypertrophy. In: Lancee C (ed) Abstracts of the 6th symposium on echocardiology (Rotterdam June 1985). Ultrasonoor Bulletin, 1985, p 100
- Goethals M, Kersschot I, Claes V, Hermans C, Jageneau A, Brutsaert D: Influence of abrupt pressure increments on left ventricular relaxation. Am J Cardiol 45: 392, 1980
- 20. Goethals M, Housmans P, Brutsaert D: Loading determinants of relaxation in cat papillary muscle. Am J Physiol 242: H303, 1982
- Granger C, Karimeddini M, Smith V, Shapiro H, Katz A, Riba A: Rapid ventricular filling in left ventricular hypertrophy: 1. Physiologic Hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol 5: 862, 1985
- Grossman W, Jones D, Mc Laurin L: Wall stress and patterns of hypertrophy in the human left ventricle. J Clin Invest 56: 56, 1975
- Hanrath P, Mathey D, Siegert R, Bleigeld W: Left ventricular relaxation and filling pattern in different forms of left ventricular hypertrophy: an echocardiographic study. Am J Cardiol 45: 15, 1980
- 24. Hess O, Schneider J, Koch R, Bamert C, Grimm J, Krayenbuehl H: Diastolic function and myocardial structure in patients with myocardial hypertrophy. Circulation 63: 360, 1981
- Huston T, Puffer J, MacMillan Rodney W: The athletic heart syndrome. N Eng J Med 313: 24, 1985
- 26. Inouye I, Massie B, Loge D: Abnormal LV filling: an early finding in mild to moderate systemic hypertension. Am J Cardiol 53: 120, 1984
- 27. Keul J, Dickhuth H, Simon G, Lehmann M: Effect of static and dynamic exercise on heart volume, contractility, and left ventricular dimensions. Circulation Res 48: 162, 1981
- Lecarpentier Y, Martin J, Gastineau P, Hatt P: Load dependence of mammalian heart relaxation during cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. Am J Physiol 242: H855, 1982
- Limas C, Sper S, Kahlon J: Enhanced calcium transport by sarcoplasmic reticulum in mild cardiac hypertrophy. J Molec Cell Cardiol 12: 1103, 1980
- Malhotra A, Penpargkul S, Schaible T, Scheuer J: Contractile proteins and sarcoplasmic reticulum in physiologic cardiac hypertrophy. Am J Physiol 241: H263, 1981
- 31. Marcus M, Doty D, Loren F, Hiratzka F, Wright C, Eastham C: A mechanism for angina pectoris in patients with aortic stenosis and normal coronary arteries. N Eng J Med 307: 1362, 1982
- Matsuda M, Sugishita Y, Koseki S, Ito I, Akatsuka T, Takamatsu K: Effect of exercise on left ventricular diastolic filling in athletes and nonathletes. J Appl Physiol 55 (2): 323, 1983
- Mercadier J, Lompré A, Wisnewsky C, Samuel J, Bercovici J, Swynghedauw B, Schwartz K: Myosin Isoenzymic changes in several models of rat cardiac hypertrophy. Circulation Res 49: 525, 1981
- 34. Mercadier J, Bouveret P, Gorza L, Schiaffino S, Clark W, Zak R, Swynghedauw B, Schwartz K: Myosin isoenzymes in normal an hypertrophied human ventricular myocardium. Circulation Res 53: 52, 1983
- 35. Noble M: The contribution of blood momentum to left ventricular ejection in the dog. Circulation Res 23: 663, 1968
- 36. Oparil S: Pathogenesis of ventricular hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol 5: 57B, 1985
- Paulus W, Brutsaert D: Relaxation abnormalities in cardiac hypertrophy. Eur Heart J 3 (suppl A): 133, 1982
- Penpargkul S, Repke D, Katz A, Scheuer J: Effect of physical training on calcium transport by rat cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum. Circulation Res 40: 134, 1977

- 39. Rupp H: The adaptative changes in the isoenzyme pattern of myosin from hypertrophied rat myocardium as a result of pressure overload and physical training. Basic Res in Cardiol 76: 79, 1981
- 40. Scheuer J, Bhan A: Adenosine triphosphatase activity and physiological function. Circulation Res 45: 1, 1979
- Scheuer J, Malhotra A, Hirsch C, Capasso J, Schaible T: Physiologic cardiac hypertrophy corrects contractile protein abnormalities associated with pathologic hypertrophy in rats. J Clin Invest 70: 1300, 1982
- 42. Scheuer J: Alterations in sarcoplasmatic reticulum in cardiac hypertrophy. In: Tarazi R, Dunbar J (eds) Perspectives in cardiovascular diseases. Raven Press, New York, 1983, 8: 111
- Schaible T, Scheuer J: Cardiac adaptations to chronic exercise. Prog cardiovasc dis 27 (5): 297, 1985
- 44. Swynghedauw B, Schwartz K, Apstein S: Decreased contractility after myocardial hypertrophy: cardiac failure or successful adaptation. Am J Cardiol 54: 437, 1984
- 45. Van de Werf F, Boel A, Geboers J, Minten J, Willems J, De Geest H, Kesteloot H: Diastolic properties of the left ventricle in normal adults and in patients with third heart sound. Circulation 69: 1070, 1984
- 46. Van Ocken E, Claes V, Schenkels P: A preprocessing unit of echocardiographic images. In: Computers in Cardiology. Aachen, 1983
- 47. Wikman-Coffelt J, Fenner C, Coffelt R, Salel A, Kamiyama T, Mason D: Chronological effects of mild pressure overload on myosin ATPase activity in the canine right ventricle. J Molec Cell Cardiol 7: 219, 1975

Aerobic exercise and cardiac size: an echocardiographic study of Rotterdam marathon runners

J. ROELANDT, P. VERDOUW, H. RIJSTERBORGH and J. HARTOG

Introduction

Several studies have suggested that endurance exercise such as marathon training leads to left ventricular enlargement. However, the reported increase in dimension as assessed by echocardiography, which is the most accurate method for such an analysis, is rather moderate [1–13, 15, 16]. Moreover, most of these studies include only a small number of athletes compared with non-athletic or even inactive controls. This may introduce some bias as such control groups do not necessarily represent a cross-section of the normal population. In addition, determinants other than training causing differences in cardiac dimensions such as length, weight and heart rate are not always taken into consideration. Recently, regression equations have been evaluated which take these variables into account and therefore allow the calculation of corrected reference values [14]. These equations are based on data collected in 609 normal active subjects. In this study we have studied 52 marathon runners by M-mode echocardiography and compared their cardiac dimensions with those of the controls.

Study group

The marathon runners

During February 1984, we studied 52 runners, who were preparing for the Stad Rotterdam marathon to be held on April 20th, 1984. A large number were members of a local track team. All visited the training sessions regularly and therefore we can say that they participated in a training program which was primarily based on aerobic exercise. None of them had any resting ECG abnormalities, which would have militated against participating in endurance exercise. Most of them had an exercise ECG (ergometry) as part of a medical checkup in the last 6 months. Some of the vital characteristics of the runners are shown in Table 1. One runner presented himself with a tachycardia (125 beats/min) due to overtraining. A few had blood pressure readings which were borderline normal and repeated measurements confirmed this. From the best performance times of previous marathons it is clear that none of them was an elite-class runner, but also that none was a so-called jogger (slowest marathon performance time 3:30).

The reference group and statistical methods

Studies [14] dealing with reference ranges for M-mode echocardiographic measurements have shown the influence of the person's attributes such as weight, height and age on the M-mode measurements. Therefore, when comparing echocardiographic measurements of different patient groups, care must be taken to match the mean values of the attributes of the respective groups.

A statistical model for reference ranges of M-mode echocardiographic measurements has been reported taking into account the person's age, weight, height, sex and RR interval [14]. In this model the estimate M of the measurement is given by the formula:

$\hat{M} = A \cdot (age)^{B} \cdot (height)^{C} \cdot (weight)^{D} \cdot (RR interval)^{E} \cdot (sex)^{F}$

For every M-mode measurement of a cardiac structure the constant A and the exponents B to F were determined by statistical analysis of measurements taken in 609 normal individuals. The estimate of a specific measurement can be obtained by entering the appropriate values of A to F into the equation. The advantage of the application of this statistical model is that differences in measurements, caused by differences in attributes, are reduced and the remaining variability may be explained by intersubject variability and the variability of the measurement itself. The residual value of the measurements, being the difference between the estimate calculated by the equation, and the actual measurement, is expected to be independent of a person's attributes. In order to compare the

		Mean	Range
Age	(year)	36	22–51
Length	(cm)	178	165-194
Weight	(kg)	70	56-85
Heartrate	(b/min)	85	50-180
Arterial blood pressure			
systolic	(mmHg)	128	100-150
diastolic	(mmHg)	81	65-110
Vital capacity	(1)	5.4	3.1-6.8
Forced expiratory volume (1 sec)	(1)	4.4	2.7-6.1
Peak expiratory force	(l/sec)	10.8	6.3-15.0
Training	(km/week)	85	50-180
Duration	(year)	3	1-20
Marathon time	(h, min)	2:54	2:25-3:20

Table 1. Characteristics and	performance of	of 52	marathon	runners.
------------------------------	----------------	-------	----------	----------



Figure 1. Graph showing the 90% confidence region (ellipse) for the residual values (see text) of enddiastolic and end-systolic left ventricular dimensions in a normal population. The values of each individual marathon runner are represented by open circles. There is no difference between normals and marathon runners.

measurements in a group of patients with the reference ranges of normal individuals one has to compare the means of the residual values in the respective groups using an unpaired t-test. Application of the statistical model provides for more unbiased results in the comparison of measurements in different groups, in cases where the attributes of the individuals of the groups do not match perfectly.

Another application of the model is the definition of reference ranges for a combination of two measurements and the comparison of the same combination of measurements in a different group. In Figure 1 the 90% confidence region has been drawn for the residual values of left ventricular dimension at end-diastole versus end-systole as measured in a group of normal individuals. The squeezed shape of the ellipse represents the fact that the combination of a large end-diastolic dimension of the left ventricle and a small left ventricular dimension at end-systole is unlikely to be found in a normal individual. This fact may be overlooked easily, when the measurements are compared separately.

Results

For reasons of simplicity the thickness of the interventricular septum (IVS) and



Figure 2. Graph showing the 90% confidence interval (P_s-P_{9s}) of interventricular septal (IVS) (upper panel) and left ventricular posterior wall (LVPW) thickness (lower panel) relative to weight derived from a normal population (see text). The individual values of the marathon runners are indicated by open circles.

that of the left ventricular posterior wall (LVPW) of the marathon runners have been plotted as a function of their weight only (Figure 2). The percentile lines in Figure 2 are based on the analysis of 303 normal male subjects weighing 15–120 kg, but only the region between 50 kg and 90 kg is shown here. The data demonstrate that these measurements lay mostly between the 5 and 95 percentile lines of the control group. A similar plot is shown for the end-diastolic and end-systolic left ventricular internal diameter (LVID) (Figure 3). Again the end-diastolic readings are within the normal limits although a larger number of data points are located above the 50th percentile. For the end-systolic value, this is definitely the case. If one calculates end-diastolic and end-systolic volume from these data one will notice that end-diastolic volume is akin, but end-systolic volume larger than that of the control group. Consequently stroke volume is less than normal, and when one combines this finding with the bradycardia, a lower cardiac output is observed.



Figure 3. Graph showing the 90% confidence interval (P_5 - P_{95}) of the end-diastolic (upper panel) – LVID (ED) – and end-systolic (lower panel) – LVID (ES) – dimensions relative to weight derived from a normal population (see text). Open circles represent individual values of marathon runners.

It must be emphasized that this presentation of the data is very simplistic as it does not correct for heart rate. Corrections for all these factors would bring the characterization of the echocardiographic dimensions of the athletes closer to that of the control group. Figure 1 shows the residual individual values of measurements for end-diastole versus end-systole of the 52 athletes plotted against the 90% confidence region of the controls.

Discussion

Our study represented a well-trained group of athletes following predominantly aerobic training. None of them was a champion runner and there was no reason to suspect them from taking anabolic steroids or stimulants. The left ventricular end-diastolic dimensions were not significantly different from the reference group but most of them fell above the 50th percentile which may result from an initial selection process. It would be hard to believe that individuals with smaller hearts would persist as long-distance runners. The end-systolic dimensions of the marathon runners clustered between the 50th and 95th percentiles indicating a slightly lower ejection fraction and hence a lower stroke volume. This is at variance with other studies reporting an elevated cardiac output and is most likely the result of a more optimal peripheral oxygen utilization. It is unlikely indeed that a trained heart would work less effectively at rest. Obviously the central and peripheral haemodynamic adjustments resulting from intensive aerobic training such as an increase of central blood volume, a decrease in heart rate, etc. and together, may account for the small increase in cardiac size as observed in most studies.

Another factor is that the lean body mass rather than weight should be considered. In fact, we must accept that for the same weight the dimension would shift to the right and fall within the normal distribution. This shift will not influence the absolute stroke volume. This factor may be a limitation of defining matched controls.

Conclusion

From our results we conclude that a high level of aerobic training does not lead to an increased cardiac size. The fact that they fall above the 50th percentile range may be a result of both a selection process and haemodynamic adjustments. When in addition there is a genetic factor which causes already a large heart above the 95th percentile range prior to the selection process, the haemodynamic adjustments may lead to an enlarged heart. Such a constellation of factors may result in the cardiac performance required to become a top athlete. The proof of this hypothesis will be difficult to obtain as it requires longitudinal rather than cross-sectional studies of athletes and normal subjects. Of course, the effect of anabolic steroids and stimulants so commonly used by the professional and top athletes must also be considered when interpreting such studies.

References

- 1. Bennett DH, Evans DW, Rai MV: Echocardiographic left ventricular dimensions in pressure and volume overload. Their use in assessing aortic stenosis. Brit Heart J 37: 971, 1975
- 2. Fortuin MJ, Hood WP Jr, Graige E: Evaluation of left ventricular function by echocardiography. Circulation 46: 26, 1972
- Gilbert C, Nutter D, Felmer JM, Perkins JV, Heynsfield SB, Schlant RC: The endurance athlete: cardiac structure and function. Circulation 52 (suppl II): 450, 1975
- 4. Gray KE, Barrit DW, Ross FG: Echocardiographic assessment of severity of aortic regurgitation. Brit Heart J 37: 558, 1975

- Ikaheimo MJ, Palatsi IJ, Takkunen JT: Noninvasive evaluation of the athletic heart: sprinters versus endurance runners. Am J Cardiol 44: 24, 1979
- Laurenceau JL, Turcat J, Dumesnil JG: Etude échocardiographique du coeur d'athlete. In: Broustet JP (ed) Cardiologie Sportive. Masson, Paris, 1978, p 29
- Morganroth J, Maron BJ, Henry WL, Epstein SE: Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med 82: 521, 1975
- 8. Morganroth J, Maron BJ: The athlete's heart syndrome: a new perspective. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 931, 1977
- Nishimura T, Yamada Y, Kawai C: Echocardiographic evaluation of long-term effects of exercise on left ventricular hypertrophy and function in professional bicyclists. Circulation 61: 832, 1980
- Nutter DO, Gilbert CA, Heynsfield S, Perkins J, Schlant A: Cardiac hypertrophy of the endurance athlete. Physiologist 18: 336, 1975
- Parker BM, Landerer BR, Cupp GV, Dubiel JP: The noninvasive cardiac evaluation of long distance runners. Chest 73: 376, 1978
- Roeske WR, O'Rourke RA, Klein A, Leopold G, Karlina J: Noninvasive evaluation of ventricular hypertrophy in professional athlete's. Circulation 53: 286, 1976
- Underwood RH, Schwade JL: Noninvasive analysis of cardiac function of elite distance runners echocardiography, vectorcardiography and cardiac intervals. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 297, 1975
- Voogd PJ, Rijsterborgh H, Lubsen J, Arntzenius AC, Monsjou LK. Godijn EH: Reference ranges of echocardiographic measurements in the Dutch population. Eur Heart J 5: 762, 1984
- Zeldis SM, Morganroth J, Rabler S: Cardiac hypertrophy in response to dynamic conditioning in female athlete's. J Appl Physiol 44: 849, 1978
- Zoneraich S, Rhee JJ, Zoneraich O, Jordan W. Appel J: Assessment of cardiac function in marathon runners by graphic noninvasive techniques. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 900, 1977

The windsurfer's heart

L. MELONI, P. BONOMO and A. CHERCHI

Summary

To assess the adaptive response of the left ventricle (LV) to windsurfing, M-mode echocardiography was performed in 15 male windsurfers, aged 17 to 30 years. Fifteen untrained male subjects, matched for age, height and weight were used as controls.

Athletes showed a significant increase in LV end-diastolic dimension, posterior wall and septal thickness, with a greater estimated LV mass and cross-sectional area. In addition, the ratio of wall thickness to radius was significantly greater in athletes than in controls, suggesting an inappropriate wall thickness.

The present study thus shows that LV hypertrophy occurs in a selected group of windsurfers. The increase in wall thickness appears to be disproportional to LV enlargement, presumably because of a prevalent isometric work component during windsurfing. Finally, our data support the increasing evidence that classification in eccentric or concentric hypertrophy is too restrictive, indicating that a mixed hypertrophy may occur in athletes.

Introduction

Physiological left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy is a well-known adaptive response to exercise in trained athletes [1, 4, 6-10]. Although cardiac adaptation to different types of physical training has been extensively investigated, at present no data is available regarding athletes engaged in windsurfing, a new Olympic sport. The present study was designed for echocardiographic assessment of the morphologic adaptation of the LV in a selected group of windsurfers.

Methods

Fifteen male windsurfers, aged 17 to 30 years (mean age: 23.4 years) were studied. All had been engaged in windsurfing for at least three years. The average training program included 10 hours weekly practice, and at the time of the study, all were at the height of training.

Fifteen males, matched for age, height, weight and body surface area, with no history or clinical findings suggestive of cardiovascular disease served as controls. Although they were not involved in competition sports, all were physically active.

M-mode echocardiograms were obtained with an Organon-Teknika echocardiograph coupled with a Honeywell fiber optic recorder, using a 2.25 MHz transducer, \emptyset 12 mm, focused to 7.5 cm, at a chart rate of 50 mm/sec.

Echocardiograms were recorded with the subject in the partial left lateral position by placing the transducer in the standard parasternal position.

The following mean values were determined by averaging at least five cardiac cycles:

- LV end-diastolic dimension (LVIDd), measured at the peak of the R wave of the electrocardiogram from left septal to posterior wall endocardium;

- LV end-systolic dimensions (LVIDs), taken as the smallest vertical distance between left septal and posterior wall endocardium, at end-systole;

- Posterior wall thickness (PWT), measured at end-diastole from the leading edge of the epicardium to the leading edge of the endocardium;

Interventricular septal thickness (IVST), measured at end-diastole from the leading edge of the right septal echo to the leading edge of the left septal echo;
LV fractional shortening (FS), calculated as: FS = (LVIDd-LVIDs)/LVIDd %;
LV relative wall thickness, expressed as end-diastolic thickness/radius ratio: h/R, where R is LVIDd/2 and h is (PWT + IVST)/2 at. end-diastole;

- LV myocardial mass (LVM), calculated as: $LVM = 1.05 \times [(IVST + PWT + LVIDd)^3 - (LVIDd)^3];$

- Cross-sectional area (CSA) of the LV muscle mass, calculated according to the formula: $CSA = \pi [(LVIDd/2) + Th]^2 - \pi (LVIDd/2)^2$. LVM and CSA were divided by the body surface area.

An unpaired t-test was used to test the significance of differences between the athlete group and controls. All results are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

	Windsurfers $(N = 15)$	Controls $(N = 15)$
Age (yr)	23.4 ± 4.1	24.4 ± 1.9
Height (cm)	172.4 ± 6.5	171.4 ± 5.3
Weight (kg)	65.0 ± 6.4	65.6 ± 4.1
BSA (m ²)	1.79 ± 0.11	1.79 ± 0.07
HR (b/min)	62.8 ± 4.2	66.3 ± 7.1
SBP (mmHg)	120.4 ± 8.8	121.1 ± 9.2
DBP (mmHg)	69.2 ± 7.9	74.3 ± 6.7

Table 1. Clinical data in windsurfers and controls. Values are mean \pm SD.

BSA = body surface area; HR = heart rate; SBP = systolic blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure.

Results

Clinical and echocardiographic data are presented in Tables 1, 2 and 3.

LVIDd was significantly greater in athletes $(52 \pm 3.8 \text{ mm})$ than in the controls $(48.5 \pm 3.9 \text{ mm}, \text{ p} < 0.05)$.

LVIDs $(32.2 \pm 4.2 \text{ mm})$ and FS (37.4 ± 5.5) were not significantly different from control values $(30.2 \pm 3.4 \text{ mm} \text{ and } 37.4 \pm 4.1, \text{ respectively})$.

LVPWT and IVST were both significantly increased $(9.1 \pm 1.1 \text{ mm} \text{ and } 11.6 \pm 1.4 \text{ mm})$ above normal values $(7.5 \pm 0.9 \text{ mm}, \text{ p} < 0.001 \text{ and } 9.0 \pm 1.2 \text{ mm}, \text{ p} < 0.001$, respectively).

Thickness/radius ratio was significantly higher in athletes (0.40 ± 0.05) than in the controls $(0.33 \pm 0.03, p < 0.001)$.

Estimated LV mass $(143.9 \pm 23.6 \text{ g/m}^2)$ and CSA $(11.5 \pm 1.4 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2)$ were both increased above the normal valves $(95.9 \pm 22.2 \text{ g/m}^2, \text{ p} < 0.001 \text{ and } 8.3 \pm 1.5 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2, \text{ p} < 0.001, \text{ respectively}).$

Case (no.)	LVIDd (mm)	LVIDs (mm)	FS (%)	PWT (mm)	IVST (mm)	Mass (g/m ²)	CSA (cm ² /m ²)	h/R
1	59.6	39.1	34	10.2	10.9	164.8	12.9	0.38
2	51.0	28.6	44	10.0	14.7	162.1	12.5	0.48
3	54.8	31.1	43	10.0	13.0	123.3	10.5	0.44
4	47.3	33.8	28	8.6	12.3	178.6	13.3	0.42
5	47.5	30.8	35	10.1	11.1	126.6	10.7	0.44
6	52.0	30.6	41	10.0	11.3	168.3	13.2	0.40
7	51.3	34.2	32	9.3	11.0	130.3	10.5	0.39
8	52.5	33.2	36	8.2	10.6	126.3	10.1	0.35
9	53.6	31.1	42	7.3	9.4	123.1	9.8	0.31
10	54.0	30.3	43	6.8	10.3	126.2	10.1	0.32
11	49.6	31.4	36	7.9	13.4	127.5	10.4	0.43
12	59.6	44.0	26	9.0	11.0	180.7	12.9	0.33
13	49.0	29.0	40	9.4	10.0	119.4	10.0	0.39
14	47.3	28.1	39	9.3	12.6	129.4	11.9	0.49
15	51.0	29.0	43	10.3	13.1	172.4	13.4	0.45
Mean	52.0	32.2	37.4	9.1	11.6	143.9	11.5	0.40
SD	3.8	4.2	5.5	1.1	1.4	23.6	1.4	0.05

Table 2. Left ventricular echocardiographic data in windsurfers.

LVIDd = end-diastolic left ventricular dimension; LVIDs = end-systolic left ventricular dimension; FS = fractional shortening; PWT = posterior wall thickness; IVST = interventricular septal thickness; Mass = left ventricular mass; CSA = cross-sectional area; h/R = end-diastolic wall thickness/ radius ratio.

Discussion

Cardiac adaptation in trained athletes has been extensively investigated by means of echocardiography. It is generally believed that two different types of LV hypertrophy develop as the result of different types of physical training: athletes who perform dynamic exercise, such as long-distance runners, show left ventricular enlargement with a proportional increase in wall thickness (eccentric hypertrophy), whereas the increase of wall thickness with a normal-sized left ventricle (concentric hypertrophy) is found in strength athletes such as weight lifters, wrestlers and throwers [7, 8]. Nevertheless, this classification is subject to controversy, and while there is general agreement about the presence of eccentric hypertrophy in endurance athletes [4, 6–10], reports on LV adaptation to strength training are less consistent. Concentric hypertrophy in strength athletes was initially emphasized by some authors [7], but others failed to show any change in LV cavity and wall thickness compared to endurance athletes after normalization of values for body surface area [9].

Furthermore, it is apparent that the classification of hypertrophy as eccentric or concentric which is derived from physiopathologic concepts [5], is not easily employable since athletes rarely perform exclusively isotonic or isometric exercise [1, 3]. A mixed eccentric-concentric hypertrophy has recently been described in cyclists, in whom isotonic exercise is combined with isometric work of the arms [1].

Windsurfing is a special situation with a predominantly isometric muscular strain required during races lasting at least 40 minutes.

The present study provides an M-mode echocardiographic demonstration that left ventricular hypertrophy develops as an adaptive mechanism in a selected group of windsurfers. Calculated LV mass and cross sectional area were significantly larger in athletes than in controls in relation to both LV end-diastolic

	Windsurfers $(N = 15)$	Controls $(N = 15)$	
LVIDd (mm)	52.0±3.8*	48.5 ± 3.9	
LVIDs (mm)	32.2 ± 4.2	30.2 ± 3.4	
FS (%)	37.4 ± 5.5	37.4 ± 4.1	
VST (mm)	$11.6 \pm 1.4^{**}$	9.0 ± 1.1	
PWT (mm)	$9.1 \pm 1.1^{*}$ *	7.5 ± 0.9	
Aass (g)	257.7 ± 44.2* *	171.7 ± 38.2	
Mass (g/m ²)	143.9 ± 23.6* *	95.9 ± 22.2	
CSA (cm ²)	20.6 ± 2.9* *	14.8 ± 2.4	
$CSA (cm^2/m^2)$	11.5 ± 1.4 **	8.3 ± 1.5	
/R	$0.40 \pm 0.05^{**}$	0.33 ± 0.03	

Table 3. Left ventricular echocardiographic data in windsurfers and controls. Values are mean \pm SD.

* p<0.05, ** p<0.001 vs. controls. Abbreviations are as in Table 2.

enlargement and wall thickness increase, with no significant change in LV fractional shortening.

Furthermore, we calculated the h/R ratio [2], an index of LV hypertrophy that reflects the mutual adaptation between wall thickness and ventricular dimension, in an attempt to identify the type of LV hypertrophy. This ratio was found significantly greater in windsurfers than in controls, resulting in an inappropriate wall thickness and suggesting a predominant pressure overload during windsurfing.

Thus, as the increased LV end-diastolic dimension was associated with a disproportional increase in wall thickness, a mixed type of LV hypertrophy was apparent.

In conclusion, adaptive cardiac changes in windsurfers are characterized by an increase in LV wall thickness and end-diastolic dimension. Increase in wall thickness appears to be disproportional to LV enlargement, presumably because of the prevalent isometric work component during windsurfing. Finally, our data support the increasing evidence that classification in eccentric or concentric hypertrophy is too restrictive, indicating that a mixed LV hypertrophy may occur in athletes.

References

- 1. Fagard R, Aubert A, Staessen J, Vanden Eynde E, Vanhees L, Amery A: Cardiac structure and function in cyclists and runners. Comparative echocardiographic study. Brit Heart J 52: 124, 1984
- 2. Gaasch WH: Left ventricular radius to wall thickness ratio. Am J Cardiol 43: 1189, 1979
- 3. Graettinger WF: The cardiovascular response to chronic physical exertion and exercise training: an echocardiographic review. Am Heart J 108: 1014, 1984
- Gilbert CA, Nutter DO, Felner JM, Perkins JV, Heymsfield SB, Schlant RC: Echocardiographic study of cardiac dimensions and function in the endurance-trained athlete. Am J Cardiol 40: 528, 1977
- 5. Grossman W, Jones D, McLaurin LP: Wall stress and patterns of hypertrophy in the human left ventricle. J Clin Invest 56: 56, 1975
- 6. Ikaheimo MJ, Palatsi IJ, Takkunen JT: Noninvasive evaluation of the athletic heart: sprinters versus endurance runners. Am J Cardiol 44: 24, 1979
- 7. Keul J, Dickhuth HH, Lehmann M, Staiger J: The athlete's heart: haemodynamics and structure. Int J Sport Med 3: 33, 1982
- Morganroth J, Maron BJ, Henry WL, Epstein SE: Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med 82: 521, 1975
- 9. Shapiro LM: Physiological left ventricular hypertrophy. Brit Heart J 52: 130, 1984
- Sugishita Y, Koseki S, Matsuda M, Yamaguchi T, Ito I: Myocardial mechanics of athletic hearts in comparison with diseased hearts. Am Heart J 105: 273, 1983
An investigation of athlete's heart by chest X-ray, electrocardiography and echocardiography

A. REINKE & R. ROST

Summary

The heart of 184 athletes, involved in different types of sports, were studied by chest X-ray, electrocardiography and echocardiography. Highly significant correlations were found between the radiologic heart volume and echocardiographic dimensions. However, the electrocardiographic parameters correlated poorly with heart volume and with the echocardiographic data. Therefore the degree of physiological cardiac hypertrophy in athletes cannot be evaluated by ECG. Furthermore, no clear differences could be demonstrated by echocardiography between endurance- and strength-trained athletes.

Introduction

Besides the two usual non-invasive methods to evaluate athlete's heart – chest X-ray and electrocardiography – echocardiography has been introduced in sport medicine [7]. As there are many studies on the relationships between the results from X-ray and ECG [2, 5, 9] and only a few comparisons between X-ray and echocardiographic data [3, 8], a detailed comparisons of the three methods was undertaken.

Methods

The investigations were performed in 184 athletes, 66 females and 118 males. They were involved in different kinds of sports and all were members of German national teams. The X-ray heart volume (HV) has been measured by the usual biplane radiological method. ECG indices of Sokolow-Lyon were calculated for the estimation of right ventricular hypertrophy ($RV_1 + SV_5$), and of left ventricular enlargement ($SV_1 + RV_5$). M-mode echocardiography was used to determine the left ventricular internal diameter (LVID), the septal (IVST) and the posterior wall thickness (LVPWT), and the sum of these measurements, i.e. left ventricular total diameter (LVTD); only results at end-diastole are reported. Lean body mass was determined by a caliper method [1].

Results and discussion

The absolute radiological heart volumes and HV corrected for body weight are summarized in Table 1, both for men and for women, involved in different kinds of sports. The indices of Sokolow-Lyon, for both sexes, are listed in Table 2, and

Table 1. Absolute heart volume (HV) and heart volume corrected for body weight (HV/kg) in men and women involved in different kinds of sports. Values are means \pm standard deviation.

			Control group	Canoe	Games	Swim- ming	Long- distance running	Cycling	Rowing	Strength- training
Men	HV	Ā	696	943	923	860	971	1012	1131	999
	(ml)	s	95	61	152	214	163	158	135	103
	HV/kg	x	10.40	13.39	12.29	14.12	14.08	14.63	12.88	10.30
	(ml/kg)	S	1.66	1.63	1.38	1.97	1.97	2.37	0.80	1.24
Women	HV	x	619	623	547	697	686			
	(ml)	s	117	106	74	122	106			
	HV/kg	x	10.39	10.47	11.15	12.05	12.90			
	(ml/kg)	s	1.15	1.23	1.29	1.69	1.41			

Table 2. Indices of Sokolow and Lyon, $RV_5 + SV_1$ for left ventricular hypertrophy and $RV_1 \pm SV_5$ for right ventricular hypertrophy, in men and women involved in different kinds of sports. Values are means \pm standard deviation.

			Control group	Canoe	Games	Swim- ming	Long- distance running		Rowing	Strength- training
Men	$RV_5 +$									
	SV_1	x	2.75	2.92	3.70	3.06	3.28	3.66	3.19	3.21
	(mV)	s	0.86	0.54	1.30	0.71	1.22	1.00	0.64	0.92
	$RV_1 +$									
	SV_5	x	0.49	0.64	0.67	0.66	0.68	0.80	0.55	0.62
	(mV)	s	0.28	0.13	0.32	0.30	0.31	0.32	0.32	0.26
Women	$RV_5 +$									
	SV ₁	x	2.01	1.81	2.35	2.25	2.54			
	(mV)	s	0.70	0.51	0.78	0.70	0.85			
	$RV_1 +$									
	SV ₅	x	0.31	0.31	0.44	0.37	0.42			
	(mV)	s	0.11	0.10	0.19	0.16	0.20			

the echocardiographic parameters of the male athletes are shown in Table 3. We found an enlargement of the left ventricular internal diameter and of the septal and LV posterior wall thickness, and also of heart volume, both absolutely and when related to body weight, in typically endurance-trained athletes such as cyclists and long-distance runners. These results are to be considered as a consequence of the training. Entirely similar adjustments were found in strength-trained athletes but only for the absolute values of heart volume, not after correction for body weight. The cardiac enlargement in strength-trained athletes is regarded as a consequence of the increased body mass.

Therefore we could not confirm the findings of Morganroth *et al.* [6], who considered the cardiac hypertrophy of endurance-trained athletes as only dilatation and of strength-trained athletes as pure concentric hypertrophy. Similarly we could not find a predominant thickening of the septum in power-trained athletes, as was described by Dickhuth *et al.* [4].

Furthermore we performed regression analysis (Pearson) to compare the results from chest X-ray, echocardiography and electrocardiography. As shown in Table 4, highly significant correlations were found between the radiological heart volume, and respectively the echocardiographic left ventricular internal diameter and the total diameter, both for men and for women. Taking both sexes together the correlation coefficients were 0.75 for LVIDd and 0.81 for LVTDd. The r values were lower but still significant for the LV posterior wall thickness.

On the other hand the correlations between the electrocardiographic Sokolow-

		Control group	Canoe	Games	Swim- ming	Long- distance running	Cycling	Rowing	Strength- training
LVID									
(cm)	x	4.83	5.39	5.48	5.19	5.59	5.71	5.96	5.83
	s	0.36	0.26	0.45	0.67	0.41	0.40	0.30	0.27
LVPWI									
(cm)	x	0.93	1.00	1.10	0.98	1.02	1.15	1.10	1.05
	s	0.11	0.09	0.13	0.16	0.10	0.10	0.08	0.10
IVST									
(cm)	Ā	0.93	1.06	1.08	1.03	1.02	1.12	1.14	1.12
	s	0.12	0.11	0.15	0.15	0.10	0.18	0.12	0.14
LVTD									
(cm)	x	6.69	7.45	7.66	7.21	7.63	7.97	8.21	8.00
	s	0.43	0.33	0.61	0.87	0.48	0.55	0.41	0.34

Table 3. Left ventricular internal diameter (LVID), left ventricular posterior wall thickness (LVPWT), interventricular septal thickness (IVST) and LV total diameter (LVTD) in male athletes. Values are means \pm standard deviation.

Lyon index for left ventricular hypertrophy and radiological heart volume were of borderline significance for the sexes separately and the correlation coefficient was only 0.45, though highly significant ($P \le 0.001$), when both sexes were considered together. These rather low correlations can be explained by factors, such as differences in body mass and fat content. Similarly we found poor correlations between the echo- and electrocardiographic variables. The relation between the Sokolow-Lyon index and the left ventricular total diameter, given in Table 5, is only 0.41 ($P \le 0.001$) for the two sexes combined, and is even not significant in the women.

In conclusion, when one considers the three most important non-invasive techniques to study athlete's heart, the degree of physiological cardiac hypertrophy cannot be evaluated by ECG. In contrast there are highly significant correla-

Parameter	Regression equation	r	р
y: HV	o^{*} y = 245.0 × - 399.1	.70	≤.001
x : LVID	$Q = 117.7 \times + 81.9$.58	≤.001
	0^{*} Q y = 284.7 × - 662.6	.75	≤.001
y: HV	o^* y = 661.9 × + 262.0	.53	≤.001
x: LVPWT	$Q = 164.1 \times + 517.3$.26	.036
	$\bigcirc \bigcirc \heartsuit \bigcirc \qquad y = 865.9 \times - \qquad 9.4$.64	≤.001
y: HV	$O' \qquad y = 189.5 \times -491.8$.75	≤.001
x : LVTD	$Q = 101.1 \times - 18.7$.60	≤.001
	0° Q $y = 220.3 \times -761.3$.81	≤.001

Table 4. Results of regression analysis relatingheart volume (HV) to left ventricular internal diameter (LVID), LV posterior wall thickness (LVPWT) and LV total diameter (LVTD), for men and women separately and combined.

Table 5. Results of regression analysis relating $RV_5 + SV_1$ to heart volume, left ventricular internal diameter (LVID) and LV total diameter (LVTD).

Parameter	Regression equation	r	р
$ \frac{\mathbf{y}: \mathbf{RV}_5 + \mathbf{SV}_1}{\mathbf{x}: \mathbf{HV}} $	$ \begin{array}{l} $.20 .24	.033 .053
$y: \mathbf{RV}_5 + \mathbf{SV}_1$ $x: LVID$	$\bigcirc^{\circ} \heartsuit \qquad y = 0.0024 \times + 0.90$ $\bigcirc^{\circ} \qquad y = .4181 \times + 1.026$ $\heartsuit \qquad y =5175 \times + 4.708$ $\bigcirc^{\circ} \heartsuit \qquad y = .6448 \times514$.45 .24 10 .35	≤.001 .008 .411 ≤.001
$y: \mathbf{RV}_5 + \mathbf{SV}_1$ $x: \mathbf{LVTD}$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$.27 06 .41	.003 .651 ≤.001

100

tions between radiologic and echocardiographic data. An advantage of the radiological evaluation of heart volume is that it is three-dimensional, with a smaller miscalculation in comparison to the one-dimensional M-mode echocardiographic technique. Advantages of the echocardiographic evaluation are the absence of the X-ray load as well as the possibility to differentiate between dilatation and hypertrophy. In our hands the latter technique does not show a different adjustment of the heart, i.e. left ventricular hypertrophy or dilatation, in response to different kinds of sports.

References

- 1. Brozek J, Keys A: The evaluation of leanness-fatness in man: norms and interrelationship. Brit J Nutr 5: 194, 1951
- Butschenko L, Neumann G, Jacob W: Die EKG-Hypertrophiekriterien bei physiologisch vergrößerten Herzen. Das Deutsche Gesundheitswesen 24: 1951, 1970
- Dickhut, H, Simon G, Keul J: Echocardiographische und röntgenologische Herzgrößen-Bestimmung. Dtsche Z Sportmed 30: 343, 1979
- 4. Dickhuth H, Simon G, Kindermann W, Wildberg A, Keul J: Echokardiographische Untersuchungen bei Sportlern verschiedener Sportarten und Untrainierten. Z Kardiol 68: 449, 1979
- 5. Gibbons L, Cooper K, Martin R, Pollock M: Medical examination and electrocardiographic analysis of elite distance runners. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 283, 1978
- 6. Morganroth J, Maron B, Henry W, Epstein S: Comparative left ventricular dimensions in trained athletes. Ann Intern Med 82: 521, 1975
- 7. Rost R, Schneider K, Stegemann N: Vergleichende echokardiographische Untersuchungen am Herzen des Leistungssportlers und Nichttrainierten. Med Welt 23: 1088, 1972
- Simon G, Staiger J, Wehinger A, Kindermann W, Keul J: Echokardiographische Größen des linken Ventrikels, Herzvolumen und Sauerstoffaufnahme. Med Klinik 73: 1457, 1978
- 9. Ziegler E, Israel S, Stolz I: Das Vorkommen und die Bedeutung elektrokardiographischer Zeichen der Rechtsherzhypertrophie bei Sportlern. Medizin und Sport 4: 116, 120, 1971

§3. RADIONUCLIDE SCINTIGRAPHY IN ATHLETES

Value of radionuclide angiography at rest and during exercise in the assessment of cardiac function in athletes

C. DE LANDSHEERE and P. RIGO

Summary

The cardiac function of athletes and untrained subjects differs at rest and during exercise. The assessment of differences between the two groups and the evaluation of progressive cardiac changes in individuals subjected to physical training represents a fascinating but difficult enterprise, mainly because of limitations in the reproducibility of results during exercise. Among the non-invasive techniques, radionuclide angiography provides most reproducible data and allows investigation of changes in end-diastolic and end-systolic volumes, stroke volume, ejection fraction, cardiac output, ejection rate and diastolic filling rates.

Rerych *et al.* [16] have studied the effect of conditioning in 18 athletes. At maximal exercise, cardiac output was higher after training due to a 19% increase in end-diastolic volume; the heart rate and left ventricular ejection fraction remained constant. In these athletes, the LV ejection fraction rose by 22% from rest to maximal exercise due to increased end-diastolic and decreased end-systolic volumes. By contrast, post-myocardial infarction patients differed from athletes by an exercise-induced increase in end-systolic volume [6].

Further studies using gated equilibrium or single-pass radionuclide angiography in athletes are needed to evaluate changes in cardiac function related to the variety of training programs available.

Introduction

Physical training of athletes causes adaptation of the cardiovascular system, the skeletal musculature and respiratory function. Among these adaptations, the assessment of changes in cardiac function during exercise represents a fascinating but difficult enterprise: invasive methods such as catheterization are difficult to use during exercise and are not likely to be repeated; non-invasive methods are limited either by technical aspects of data acquisition or by the approximations used in the expression of results. Among non-invasive techniques, echocardiography and radionuclide cineangiography have been chosen by the majority of workers. Echocardiography has the advantage of investigating regional function by measuring the thickness of the myocardial walls in end-diastole and end-

systole [5, 7, 20]. Unfortunately, this measurement requires precise definition of wall structure which may not be possible, for instance due to chest configuration. In addition, the reproducibility of measurements taken during exercise is poor.

On the other hand, acquisition of data with radionuclide cineangiography is barely affected by chest anatomy. This technique relies on the proportionality between radioactivity counts and ventricular volumes in selected regions of interest. As demonstrated by several investigators [9, 12, 15, 18, 22, 24] reproducibility of results with radionuclide angiography is better than with echocardiography. Repeated studies can be performed at rest, during several intensities of exercise and during recovery.

Methods

In the equilibrium technique, erythrocytes are labeled with technetium 99m (half-life: 6 hours; peak energy: 140 Kev); various labeling modalities can be used: in vivo, in vitro or semi in vivo-in vitro. We used the in vivo technique with administration of stannous chloride (0.03 ml/kg) followed 20 min later by injection of 25 mCi technetium 99m. Using this method, the required labelling stability can be obtained for several hours. Data are collected in a 35-degree left anterior oblique projection with a 10-degree cranio-caudal angulation of the camera, at rest, during exercise (with a 3-min stepwise increase in intensity) and during recovery. Acquisition takes place during the last 2 min of each stage. Enddiastolic and end-systolic volumes, stroke volume, ejection fraction and cardiac output are routinely evaluated. Filling and ejection rates can also be calculated from the ventricular volume curves. The ratio of left to right ventricular stroke volumes is commonly used to evaluate cardiac shunts or valvular regurgitation. Phase images are recorded to investigate conduction abnormalities such as bundle-branch block or Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, and to evaluate the regional sequence of contraction and the effects of asynergy.

In the single-pass technique, the need for repeated studies at rest, during exercise and after recovery requires several bolus injections of ultra-short lived isotopes. Among those available, iridium-191m produced from the osmium-191-iridium-191m generator probably has the most advantageous physical characteristics [13]. By comparison with the gated equilibrium technique, the single-pass technique [12] requires collection of a larger number of counts over a shorter period of time. This has most frequently been performed with multicrystal cameras, however these imaging devices have inferior energy discrimination and poorer spatial resolution than single-crystal cameras.

Results

Most workers [3, 8, 10, 11, 14, 17, 23] have used radionuclide cineangiography for the diagnosis of coronary artery disease. The evaluation of wall motion abnormalities, especially during exercise, has improved the selection of patients for physical training. Some authors [4, 6, 21, 23] have studied cardiac function in ischaemic patients (especially left ventricular ejection fraction) before and after physical training, without finding a significant effect of training on cardiac parameters. On the other hand, the number of radionuclide studies in athletes is limited [1, 16].

Rerych *et al.* [16] studied 18 normal athletes before and after a six-month period of intensive training for competition swimming (group selected at random from the North Carolina State University Swimming Team). This team was comprised of 12 males and 6 females, with a mean age of 19 years. Data were recorded with a multicrystal gamma camera. The detector of the instrument was positioned directly anterior to the precordium with the subject sitting erect on a bicycle ergometer.

Results are summarized in Table 1. The mean heart rates achieved at the end of exercise were 185 ± 10 SD and 181 ± 4 beats/min, respectively before and after training, i.e. 91% of the maximal predicted heart rate. At the end of the training program from rest to maximal exercise Rerych *et al.* [16] observed an 18% increase in end-diastolic volume and a 56% decrease in end-systolic volume, leading to a 35% increase in stroke volume and a 22% increase in the left ventricular ejection fraction. The mean effect of training was a significant increase in end-diastolic volume, both at rest and during exercise, along with an increase in stroke volume in both conditions leading to an increase in cardiac output, significant only during exercise (from 22.5 ± 5.7 to 32.1 ± 8.7 l/min). The

	Before training		After training		
	Rest	Exercise	Rest	Exercise	
Hearts rate (beats/min)	74 ± 11	185 ± 10	61 ± 7	181 ± 4	
Mean blood pressure (mmHg)	93 ± 8	114 ± 7	83 ± 6	104 ± 8	
Cardiac output (l/min)	6.9 ± 1.1	25.5 ± 5.7	6.7 ± 1.1	32.1 ± 8.7	
L.V. ejection fraction (%)	73 ± 6	87 ± 4	67 ± 4	86 ± 5	
End-diastolic volume (ml)	133 ± 35	167 ± 40	167 ± 40	204 ± 39	
End-systolic volume (ml)	38 ± 16	22 ± 7	57 ± 21	25 ± 10	
Stroke volume (ml)	98 ± 22	146 ± 28	112 ± 26	172 ± 43	

Table I. Cardiac function at rest and during maximal exercise in the sitting position on a bicycle ergometer (from Rerych et al., 1980 [16])

(Values are means \pm SD)

greatest cardiac output was reached at extreme exertion by an Olympic silver medalist: 56.61/min. The mean ejection fraction decreased at rest from the beginning to the end of the training program (73 ± 6 to $67 \pm 7\%$ p = 0.0006) but there was no significant change in the mean ejection fraction during maximal exercise. The total blood volume was also shown to be higher after training.

In summary, these data show the haemodynamic importance of the increase in end-diastolic volume measured at rest and during maximal exercise, after training. This adaptation appears to be the primary mechanism for the observed increase in cardiac output during maximal exercise after training in athletes studied in the sitting position.

Bar-Shlomo et al. [1] compared 18 normal sedentary controls and 9 endurancetrained athletes (7 males and 2 females; mean age: 19 years). Each athlete had been in intensive training for at least 3 years before the investigation. Unlike the previous report, subjects were studied in the supine position using a bicycle ergometer. The study primarily considered changes from rest to exercise in athletes and normal untrained subjects. Athletes achieved a mean maximal heart rate of 175 ± 11 beats/min whereas control subjects reached 154 ± 19 beats/min. From rest to exercise, the left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction (EF) increased significantly, as shown in Table 2; nevertheless, there was only a slight and nonsignificant rise in the EF of athletes by comparison with controls. Bar-Shlomo et al. [1] did not consider end-diastolic volumes in absolute terms, but rather, chose to compare changes between complete rest and exercise. During exercise they found a significant 24% increase in end-diastolic volume in normals, whereas there was no significant change in athletes. Both groups showed a significant decrease in end-systolic volume from rest to exercise, respectively 36% in athletes and 19% in controls. The authors concluded that athletes differ from normals by a more complete emptying of their ventricles at end-systole and by the absence of end-diastolic volume increase during peak exercise.

	Control subjects		Athletes	
	Rest	Exercise	Rest	Exercise
Heart rate (beats/min)	70 ± 10	154 ± 19	65 ± 11	175 ± 11
Mean systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	122 ± 15	192 ± 34	113 ± 13	205 ± 22
LV ejection fraction (%)	65 ± 6	77 ± 8	65 ± 10	80 ± 6
End-diastolic volume (%)	100	124 ± 9	100	NS
End-systolic volume (%)	100	81 ± 7	100	64 ± 15

Table 2. Cardiac function at rest and during peak exercise in athletes and control subjects (from Bar-Shlomo *et al.*, 1982 [1]).

(Values are means \pm SD)

Discussion

While the results of Rerych *et al.* [16] and Bar-Shlomo *et al.* [1] may initially appear contradictory, differences between the two studies could be partially accounted for by differences in the position of the subjects during exercise and long-term versus acute modalities of the studies.

Athletes, untrained normal subjects and coronary patients appear to have different patterns of adaptation to exercise. Moreover, in a given group of postmyocardial infarction patients, differences can be seen depending on the functional importance and sometimes the location of the infarction [6]. Therefore, a great disparity is observed between the different groups of subjects studied at rest and during exercise. To facilitate comparison of studies by different laboratories there is a need for uniform investigation techniques to be adopted. Exercise in the sitting position is closer to real-life situations, and the choice between equilibrium and single-pass techniques will depend on local facilities. Further studies are needed, for instance in different groups of athletes, in order to more precisely evaluate the differences in cardiac adaptation between individuals participating in a variety of training programs.

Further studies could also be carried out to analyse possible changes in left ventricular filling patterns associated with training and resultant cardiac hypertrophy. Radionuclide angiography could be a useful tool for such studies. Recently, Spirito *et al.* [19] have compared the evaluation of diastolic function by a Doppler echocardiographic technique and by radionuclide angiography; they investigated early and late diastole, showing a good concordance between flowvelocity decay time and isovolumic relaxation time along with flow velocity decay time and the measurement of the rapid filling phase for the estimation of early diastolic indices. For the study of late diastole, the authors again found a good correlation between the integral of the flow-velocity peak due to atrial contraction and the percentage of left ventricular filling during atrial systole, estimated from radionuclide angiographic measures.

References

- 1. Bar-Schlomo BZ, Druck MN, Morch JE, Jablonsky G, Hilton JD, Feiglin DHI, McLauglin PR: Left ventricular function in trained and untrained healthy subjects. Circulation 65: 484, 1982
- Bevegard S, Holmgren A, Johnsson B: Circulatory studies in well-trained athletes at rest and during heavy exercise, with special reference to stroke volume and the influence of body position. Acta Physiol Scand 57: 26, 1963
- Borer JS, Kent KM, Bacharach SL, Green MV, Rosing DR, Sleides SF, Epstein SE, Johnston GS: Sensitivity, specificity and predictive accuracy of radio-nuclide cineangiography during exercise in patients with coronary artery disease: comparison with exercise electrocardiography. Circulation 60: 572, 1979
- 4. Cobb FR, William RS, McEwan P, Jones RH, Coleman RE, Wallace AG: Effect of exercise

training on ventricular function in patients with recent myocardial infarction. Circulation 66: 100, 1982

- Crawford MH, White DH, Amon WK: Echocardiographic evaluation of left ventricular size and performance during handgrip and supine and upright bicycle exercise. Circulation 58: 1188, 1979
- 6. De Landsheere C: Evaluation de la fonction cardiaque par cineangiographie isotopique en début et en fin de réadaptation. In: Readaptation cardiaque après infarctus du myocarde, méthodes de sélection et d'évaluation. Thèse de doctorat en Sciences Cliniques, 1983, p 67
- DeMaria AN, Neumann A, Lee G, Fowler W, Mason DT: Alterations in ventricular mass and performance induced by exercise training in man evaluated by echocardiography. Circulation 57: 237, 1978
- Freeman MR, Berman DS, Staniloff H, Elkayam U, Maddahi J, Swan HJC, Forrester J: Comparison of upright and supine bicycle exercise in the detection and evaluation of extent of coronary artery disease by equilibrium radionuclide ventriculography. Am Heart J 102: 182, 1981
- Hecht HS, Josephson MA, Hopkins JM, Singh BN: Reproducibility of equilibrium radionuclide ventriculography in patients with coronary artery disease: response of left ventricular fraction and regional wall motion to supine bicycle exercise. Am Heart J 104: 567, 1982
- Iskandrian AS, Hakki AH, Kane SA, Segal BL: Quantitative radionuclide angiography in assessment of hemodynamic changes during upright exercise: observations in normal subjects, patients with coronary artery disease and patients with aortic regurgitation. Am J Cardiol 48: 239, 1981
- Jones RH, McEwan P, Newman GE, Port S, Rerych SK, Scholz PM, Upton MT, Peter CA, Austin EH, Leong KH, Gibbons RJ, Cobb FR, Coleman RE, Sabiston DC Jr: Accuracy of diagnosis of coronary artery disease by radionuclide measurement of left ventricular function during rest and exercise. Circulation 64: 586, 1981
- Kaul S, Boucher CA, Okada RD, Newell JB, Strauss HW, Pohost GM: Sources of variability in the radionucilde angiographic assessment of ejection fractions: a comparison of first-pass and gated equilibrium technique. Am J Cardiol 53: 823, 1984
- 13. Lacy JL, Verani MS, Packard A, Bollir C, O'Brien G, Ball ME, Novoa M, Chodosh A, Treves S, Roberts R: Minute to minute assessment of left ventricular function with a new multiwire camera and an ultra-short lived isotope, Ir-191m. J Am College Cardiol 5: 388, 1985
- 14. Mancini GBJ, Slutski RA, Norris SL, Bhargava V, Asburn WL, Higgins CB: Radionuclide analysis of peak filling rate, filling fraction and time to peak filling rate: response to supine bicycle exercise in normal subjects and patients with coronary disease. Am J Cardiol 51: 43, 1983
- Marshall RC, Berger HJ, Reduto LA, Gottschalk A, Zaret BL: Variability in sequential measures of left ventricular performance assessed with radionuclide angiocardiography. Am J Cardiol 41: 531, 1978
- Rerych SK, Scholz PM, Sabiston DC Jr, Jones RH: Effects of exercise training on left ventricular function in normal subjects: a longitudinal study by radionuclide angiography. Am J Cardiol 45: 244, 1980
- Slutsky R, Karliner J, Ricci D, Schuler G, Pfisterer M, Peterson K, Ashburn W: Response of left ventricular volume to exercise in man assessed by radionuclide equilibrium angiography. Circulation 60: 565, 1979
- Sorenson SG, Ritchie JL, Caldwell JH, Hamilton GW, Kennedy JW: Serial exercise radionuclide angiography. Validation of count-derived changes in cardiac output and quantitation of maximal exercise ventricular volume change after nitroglycerin and propanolol in normal men. Circulation 61: 600, 1980
- Spirito P, Maron BJ, Crawford-Green C, O'Bonow R: Assessment of left ventricular diastolic function: a comparative analysis of Doppler echocardiographic and radionuclide angiographic techniques. J Am College Cardiol 5: 427, 1985
- Stein RA, Michielli D, Fox EL, Krasnow N: Continuous ventricular dimensions in man during supine exercise and recovery. An echocardiograpic study. Am J Cardiol 41: 655, 1978

- Tubau J, Witzum K, Froelicher V, Jensen D, Atwood E, McKirnan MD, Reynolds J, Ashburn W: Noninvasive assessment of changes in myocardial perfusion and ventricular performance following exercise training. Am Heart J 104: 238, 1982
- 22. Upton MT, Rerych SK, Newman GE, Bounous EP Jr, Jones RH: The reproducibility of radionuclide angiographic measurements of left ventricular function in normal subjects at rest and during exercise. Circulation 62: 126, 1982
- Verani MS, Hartung GH, Hoepfel-Harris J, Welton DE, Pratt CM, Miller RR: Effects of exercise training on left ventricular performance and myocardial perfusion in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 47: 797, 1981
- 24. Wackers FS, Berger HJ, Johnstone DE, Goldman L, Reduto LA, Langou RA, Gottschalk A, Zaret BL: Multiple gated cardiac blood pool imaging for left ventricular ejection fraction: validation of the technique and assessment of variability. Am J Cardiol 43: 1159, 1979
- Weiss JL, Weisfeld ML, Mason SJ, Garrison JB, Livengood SV, Fortuin NJ: Evidence of Frank-Starling effect in man during severe semisupine exercise. Circulation 59: 655, 1979

Abnormal electrocardiographic exercise test in middle-aged athletes: correlation with exercise myocardial perfusion scintigraphy

Summary

Use of exercise testing in the field of sports medicine for fitness evaluation, may disclose ischaemic responses to exercise. In such cases difficult problems of clinical clarification arise and further tests are required owing to the poor predictive value of exercise testing in asymptomatic subjects.

An exercise thallium-201 myocardial scintigraphy was thus performed in 16 sportsmen, aged 27–54 years, who exhibited a positive exercise test during a cardiological fitness evaluation. Eleven patients had a normal scan and 5 a reversible perfusion defect; in one case a non-reversible defect was also evident. Of these 5 patients, a high probability of coronary artery disease was found in 3 cases, while an early congestive cardiomyopathy was detected in 2 young subjects by means of echocardiography and exercise radionuclide angiocardiography.

Our data demonstrate the value of exercise thallium-201 myocardial scintigraphy to clarify the meaning of a positive exercise test in asymptomatic subjects evaluated for cardiological fitness for sport activity.

Introduction

Electrocardiographic abnormalities in athletes pose a diagnostic challenge to the cardiologist and medico-legal problems of clarification may also arise [10]. The most common electrocardiographic findings are sinus bradycardia, increased QRS amplitude, atrioventricular and right intraventricular conduction defects, and ventricular repolarization abnormalities [5]. Ventricular repolarization abnormalities are usually pseudo-ischaemic and several etiopathogenetic hypotheses have been proposed to account for the high incidence of such abnormalities in athletes [9].

Exercise testing is the most important preliminary diagnostic study for the evaluation of ventricular repolarization abnormalities; the normalization of ST-T wave abnormalities during exercise is generally considered to indicate benign disorders. Conversely, the persistence of ST-T abnormalities during exercise testing or their onset in subjects with a normal resting ECG pose problems in interpretation and must be clarified by further investigations.

112

G. DI PASQUALE, G. PINELLI, G. MANINI, M. DONDI, C. CORBELLI, R. TENCATI and G. LOLLI

Ischaemic ventricular repolarization abnormalities rarely occur in athletes during exercise testing. Nevertheless, the increasing frequency of sport activity among older subjects has led to an increased incidence of positive exercise tests in asymptomatic sportsmen. Owing to the poor predictive value of exercise testing in such patient groups, presenting a low prevalence of coronary artery disease, many tests have been proposed to separate true-positive from false-positive responses: hyperventilation, potassium, pharmacological tests with beta-blockers, atropine, isoproterenol and dopamine [11]. The diagnostic reliability of these tests is still controversial.

In recent years a significant improvement in the clarification of the electrocardiographic responses to exercise has been offered by exercise myocardial perfusion scintigraphy with thallium-201. The technique has proved to be more sensitive and more specific than its electrocardiographic counterpart [2–4, 7]. A thallium-201 perfusion defect appearing during exercise and reversing after 4 hours suggests an area of transient myocardial ischaemia.

This study was undertaken to assess the diagnostic value of exercise thallium scintigraphy in subjects who exhibited a positive exercise test at a cardiological fitness evaluation.

Methods

The study included 16 male subjects aged 25–54 years (mean age 37.6 years) practising competitive sports. Nine subjects had no coronary risk factors, while only one risk factor was present in 7 (smoking of more than 10 cigarettes per day in 6 and mild arterial hypertension in 1). The resting ECG was normal in 7 cases, with ventricular repolarization abnormalities present in the remaining 9. Resting 12-lead electrocardiograms were recorded in the lying and standing position and during 60 sec of hyperventilation. A maximal exercise test was performed on a motorized treadmill, according to the Bruce protocol, while the ECG was continuously monitored and recorded with a multichannel system (Exer Stress Avionics Model 3000). The CM lead system was used to record the precordial leads. Complete ECG and blood pressure were recorded at 1 min intervals during exercise and recovery. The criterion for a positive exercise test was an ST segment depression of at least 1.5 mm, measured at 0.08 sec from the J point. In all cases also M-mode and two-dimensional echocardiography was performed using an ATL MK 300 IC system according to standard techniques.

All patients underwent exercise thallium-201 myocardial scintigraphy within 1 month of the exercise test. Exercise was performed in the supine position by means of a variable-load bicycle. Upon development of an ST segment depression of at least 1.5 mm, 2 mCi of thallium-201 were injected into an antecubital vein and the patient was then requested to continue exercise for 60 to 90 sec more. Each patient underwent imaging in the supine position under a Pho Gamma V

scintillation camera, 2 to 5 min after thallium injection; in case of perfusion defects, a redistribution scan was performed 4 hours later.

Using a medium-sensitivity, parallel-hole collimator, we obtained images in the following sequences: 45° and 60° left anterior oblique, anterior and left lateral projections, collecting a total of 500 K counts per image. Images were stored in a computer (Digital Equipment Co PDP 11/34) for subsequent image processing and semi-quantitative analysis, performed by interpolative background subtraction, according to Goris, and for elaboration of circumferential profiles. All studies were interpreted independently by two experienced observers; processed images and semi-quantitative data were used for the final interpretation.

Results

In all cases a horizontal or downsloping (9 subjects) or upsloping (7 subjects) ST segment depression of at least 2 mm occurred during the exercise test. The test was stopped in 14 patients for exhaustion and in 2 for ST segment depression >3 mm; in one case, frequent and repetitive ventricular beats were observed during exercise.

The exercise thallium-201 myocardial imaging was normal in 11 patients, and abnormal in 5. A single perfusion defect was found in 2 subjects with 2 defects in the remaining 3. Out of the 8 perfusion defects, 7 were completely reversible and only one was persistent. We observed 2 posterolateral and apical defects and one defect involving the anterolateral, inferior, septal and apical-inferior segments (Table 1). A normal scan was considered to indicate the absence of significant coronary artery disease and the exercise test was therefore judged as false

Scintigraphy			Number of subjects
Normal scan			11
Reversible T	1-201 perfusion de	fects	5
Segments	anterolateral	1	
	apical	1	
	inferior	1	
	septal	1	
	apical-inferior	1	
	posterolateral	2	
Non reversit	ole Tl-201 perfusio	n defect (apical)	1*

Table 1. Results of exercise Thallium-201 myocardial perfusion scintigraphy in 16 sportsmen with positive exercise test.

* Subject with reversible posterolateral perfusion defect

114



Figure 1. Exercise testing and myocardial scintigraphy of a 35-year old soccer player. Resting ECG shows ventricular repolarization abnormalities. Exercise ECG shows a 2 mm horizontal ST segment depression in leads V4-V6 with recovery within 4 min. The exercise scintiscans in the anterior (ANT), lateral (LAT) and left anterior oblique (LAO) 45° and 60° views reveal homogeneous radioactivity.

positive (Figure 1). Of the 5 patients with an abnormal scan, a high probability of coronary artery disease was considered in 3 cases (Figure 2), while an early congestive cardiomyopathy was suggested in 2 young athletes by both exercise radionuclide angiocardiography and echocardiography showing indices of poor left ventricular function. The former study was performed using the equilibrium gated blood pool technique at rest and during bicycle exercise, with a 45° left anterior oblique projection. Angiocardiography showed areas of segmental hypokinesia while the left ventricular ejection fraction failed to increase from the resting value of 56% and 50% during exercise. Two-dimensional echocardiography confirmed moderate left ventricular enlargement and hypokinesia in both subjects.

There was no relationship between the results of the exercise thallium-201 myocardial scintigraphy and the configuration or the magnitude of the ST segments depression.



Figure 2. Exercise testing and myocardial scintigraphy in a 46-year old cyclist. The resting ECG is normal. Exercise ECG shows a 1.5 mm horizontal ST segment depression in leads V4-V6 with incomplete recovery within 4 min. An inferior perfusion defect is seen in the scintiscan performed after exercise in the anterior (ANT) view: the 4-h redistribution image is normal.

Discussion

The extension of exercise testing to the field of sports medicine for evaluation of fitness may disclose ischaemic responses to exercise. In such cases difficult problems of clinical clarification arise owing to the poor predictive value of exercise testing in asymptomatic subjects.

Two considerations should be taken into account when evaluating a positive exercise test in asymptomatic athletes. First of all, a high working capacity is not a reliable index of pseudo-ischaemic ST-T abnormalities since it is well-known that some patients with single-vessel coronary artery disease show excellent physical performance. Secondly, a high incidence of false-positive exercise tests in asymptomatic subjects without coronary risk factors has been widely reported in the literature [6]. According to Bayes, the low predictive value of the exercise test is a function of the low pre-test likelihood of coronary artery disease [8]. In view of these considerations, there is a need to clarify the meaning of an abnormal exercise test in asymptomatic subjects studied for fitness evaluation. Owing to its high sensitivity and specificity, exercise thallium myocardial scintigraphy renders

obsolete the pharmacological tests which were previously used to detect falsepositive exercise tests. A normal myocardial perfusion imaging virtually excludes the possibility of significant coronary artery disease, thus obviating the need for coronary angiography [4, 7]. On the other hand, the detection of a reversible perfusion defect makes the presence of coronary artery disease very likely if other cardiac abnormalities can be excluded. An abnormal thallium-201 image may in fact be present in patients with bundle branch block, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, mitral valve prolapse and abnormally elevated left ventricular end-diastolic pressure [1]. Moreover, when echocardiography and radionuclide angiocardiography are employed in conjunction with myocardial perfusion imaging, some forms of cardiomyopathy may be detected at an early stage. The relevance of these non-invasive techniques was clear in 2 of the 5 patients with abnormal thallium-201 scans in whom, in view of their young age, the presence of coronary artery disease was deemed unlikely. The proper utilization of exercise thallium-201 myocardial perfusion scintigraphy, also in combination with other noninvasive techniques, allows us to limit the indications for coronary angiography to those patients with definite thallium-201 reversible image defects.

One limitation of our study was the fact that the 3 middle-aged subjects with positive thallium myocardial imaging did not undergo coronary angiography. Nevertheless, in all 3 cases the perfusion defect involved only one or two segments. For this reason multivessel coronary artery disease, which would have required coronary angiography even in asymptomatic subjects, was very unlikely.

In conclusion, our study demonstrates the value of exercise myocardial perfusion scintigraphy to clarify the meaning of a positive exercise test in athletes. Furthermore the utility of employing a combination of non-invasive cardiological techniques for a correct diagnosis is emphasized.

References

- Berger BC, Abramowitz R, Park CH, Desai AG, Madsen MT, Chung EK, Brest AN: Abnormal Thallium-201 scans in patients with chest pain and angiographically normal coronary arteries. Am J Cardiol 52: 365, 1983
- Botvinick EH, Taradash MR, Shames DM, Parmley WW: Thallium-201 myocardial perfusion scintigraphy for the clinical clarification of normal, abnormal and equivocal electrocardiographic stress tests. Am J Cardiol 41: 43, 1978
- Caralis DG, Bailey I, Kennedy HL, Pitt B: Thallium-201 myocardial imaging in evaluation of asymptomatic individuals with ischaemic ST segment depression on exercise electrocardiogram. Br Heart J 42: 562, 1979
- 4. Guiney RE, Pohost GM, McKusick KA, Beller GA: Differentiation of false- from true-positive ECG response to exercise stress by thallium-201 perfusion imaging. Chest 80: 4, 1981
- Lichtman J, O'Rourke RA, Klein A, Karliner JS: Electrocardiogram of the athlete. Alteration simulating those of organic heart disease. Arch Intern Med 132: 763, 1973
- McHenry PK: The actual prevalence of false positive ST segment responses to exercise in clinically normal subjects remains undefined. Circulation 55: 683, 1977

- 7. Patterson RE, Horowitz SF, Eng C, Rudin A, Meller J, Halgash DA, Pichard AD, Goldsmith SJ, Herman MV, Gorlin R: Can exercise electrocardiography and thallium-201 myocardial imaging exclude the diagnosis of coronary heart disease? Bayesian analysis of the clinical limits of exclusion and indications for coronary angiography. Am J Cardiol 49: 1127, 1982
- Rifkin RD, Hood Jr WB: Bayesian analysis of electrocardiographic exercise stress testing. N Engl J Med 297: 681, 1977
- Taggart P, Carruthers M, Joseph S, Kelly HB, Marcomichelakis J, Noble D, O'Neill G, Sommerville W: Electrocardiographic changes resembling myocardial ischaemia in asymptomatic men with normal coronary arteriograms. Br Heart J 41: 214, 1979
- Van Ganse W, Versee L, Eylenbosch W, Vuylsteek K: The electrocardiogram of athletes. Comparison with untrained subjects. Br Heart J 32: 160, 1970
- 11. Zeppilli P, Pirrami MM, Sassara M, Fenici R: T wave abnormalities in top-ranking athletes: effects of isoproterenol, atropine and physical exercise. Am Heart J 100: 213, 1980

Myocardial scintigraphy and cardiospecific creatine kinase responses in female and male athletes after strenuous exercise

M. OHMAN, K. TEO, A. JOHNSON, P. COLLINS and J. HORGAN

Summary

Serum estimations of total creatine kinase (CK) and CK-MB form the most widely used serum determinants of myocardial infarction. We studied 12 female and 15 male athletes 3 days before, and one hour, 24 hours and 96 hours after a marathon race. The males were heavier (p<0.01) and trained more intensively (p<0.001). Serum estimations of total CK and CK-MB were performed. Mean (\pm SEM) CK and CK-MB became maximally elevated 24 hours after the race. In females CK was 1128 \pm 339 IU/1 and CK-MB was 13 \pm 3 IU/1. In males CK was 1399 \pm 348 IU/1 and CK-MB was 28 \pm 6 IU/1. There was no statistical difference between female and male enzymatic response. Technetium-99m pyrophosphate scintigraphy was normal in both sexes before and after the race. There was no correlation between the weight of the athlete and the maximum CK levels recorded, but the CK-MB response was higher in the well-trained athlete (r = 0.51, p<0.01). These data suggest that highly trained athletes of either sex are more likely to display false-positive indicators of myocardial infarction using CK-MB measurements.

Introduction

We have previously shown that strenuous exercise, such as marathon running, is associated with elevated total creatine kinase (CK) and CK-MB levels mimicking those seen in myocardial infarction (MI) [8, 9]. As estimations of total CK and CK-MB form the most widely used serum determinants of MI [6] a non-cardiac source for this liberation of CK-MB was suggested by normal infarct-avid scintigraphy and normal levels of alpha₁-acid glycoprotein. Similar findings have been reported by others [10].

Recently Apple *et al.* studied the CK-MB content of gastrocnemius muscle in long-distance runners and non-running controls [1]. They found a significantly higher CK-MB content in the muscle biopsy from the runners compared to the sedentary subjects. A spectrum of serum levels of CK-MB exists from mild abnormalities after recreational exercise in unselected volunteers [5] to sharp elevations in marathon runners after competition [8, 9, 10]. Therefore, it would

appear that fitter athletes may exhibit a higher CK-MB response following strenuous exercise. This hypothesis was tested by pooling the data from our two previous studies on cardiospecific creatine kinase responses in male and female athletes.

Methods

The study protocols for the two trials were identical [8, 9]. Twelve female runners (aged 21–38 years) and 15 male runners (aged 25–53 years), with no history of cardiovascular disease, were selected prior to the 1981 and 1982 Dublin City Marathons.

Pre-race evaluations were carried out within 3 days before the marathon race. Evaluation consisted of complete physical examination, resting supine 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG), chest radiography and Technetium-99m pyrophosphate myocardial scintigraphy. Venous blood was taken from the antecubital vein for estimation of serum enzyme activities. Blood was immediately refrigerated at 4° C, centrifuged and assayed within 24 hours. Total creatine kinase was measured at 25° C by optimized spectrometric method (Boehringer-Mannheim GmbH Diagnostica). The MB fraction was obtained by an ion exchange chromatographic method modified according to Mercer [8]. Technetium-99m pyrophosphate myocardial scintigraphy was performed 40 to 45 minutes after the intravenous administration of 15mCi Technetium-99m stannous pyrophosphate [8]. The images were obtained using a Phocan scanner and reproduced on a film. Repeat scintiscans were taken 48 to 96 hours after the race, this time being the optimal time to detect any myocardial damage sustained during the race [3].

Repeat evaluations were done one and 24 hours after the race, consisting of physical examination, 12-lead electrocardiograms and blood estimations. Final evaluations were done at 96 hours after the race.

Differences between values before and after the race were analysed by paired t-tests. Comparison between groups was by unpaired t-tests. Tests of regression analysis were performed.

Results

The mean \pm SD weights of the males were 66.2 ± 6.6 kg and 58.9 ± 5.8 kg in the females (p<0.01). The mean average weekly training distances in males were 134 \pm 37 km. This was significantly longer (p<0.001) when compared to the females (mean 83 ± 26 km). All 27 subjects completed the marathon race. Their finishing times varied from 2 h and 23 min to 5 h and 28 min. No abnormality was noted on physical examination and chest X-rays were normal. The mean (\pm SEM) total CK and CK-MB responses in the 15 males are shown in Figure 1. Both total



Figure 1. Activities of total creatine kinase (CK) and CK-MB, and percentage of CK-MB before and serially after marathon race in 15 male athletes. Values are means \pm SEM. Significance of difference from value before race: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001. Reprinted with kind permission from British Medical Journal.



Figure 2. Activities of total creatine kinase (CK) and CK-MB, before and serially after marathon race in 12 female athletes. Values are means \pm SEM. Levels of significance of difference from values before race. Reprinted with kind permission from Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness.



Figure 3. Correlation of weekly training distance and maximum CK-MB response 24 hours after marathon race. n = 27; Correlation coefficient r = 0.51; p < 0.01. (F = females, M = males).

CK and CK-MB became maximally elevated 24 hours after the race at 1399 ± 348 IU/1 and 27.7 ± 5.9 IU/1 respectively. One and 96 hours after the race 2 and 5 subjects, respectively, showed CK-MB percentages equal to or greater than 5% of total CK value (1 hour: 5.4%, 10.6%; 96 hours: 5.2%, 5.0%, 5.1%, 5.1% and 6.0%), though the means of these percentages were all within the normal range. The mean total CK and CK-MB responses in the 12 females are shown in Figure 2. Similar to the males, both total CK and CK-MB became maximally elevated 24 hours after the race at 1128 ± 339 IU/1 and 13.0 ± 3.0 IU/1 respectively. None of the females had a CK-MB level greater than 5% of total CK. There was no statistical difference between males and females in the maximal response of either total CK or CK-MB.

There was no correlation between the weight of the athlete and maximal total CK response (r = 0.28), but the CK-MB response was higher in the well-trained athlete (r = 0.51, p<0.01) (Figure 3).

Technetium-99m pyrophosphate scintiscans were normal before and after the race in all 27 athletes and showed no uptake patterns indicative of myocardial damage or angina pectoris.

Discussion

The male athletes weighed more and trained more per week compared to their female counterparts. A similar response in total CK and CK-MB to exercise was seen in both sexes. Six of the males showed CK-MB levels greater than 5% of total CK. This being considered to indicate myocardium as the source of this

isoenzyme [10], we utilised infarct-avid scintigraphy to exclude the heart as the source. The diagnostic specificity and sensitivity of Technetium-99m pyrophosphate scintigraphy approaches that of measuring CK-MB in suspected MI [3, 10]. Therefore, an alternative source for the elevated CK-MB levels must be sought. Apple *et al.* suggested the most likely origin of such CK-MB to be skeletal muscle fibre, by demonstrating 7% CK-MB activity in active gastrocnemius muscle in long-distance runners, compared to 1% in non-running controls [1]. Our findings lend support to this contention since the fitter the athlete the higher the serum CK-MB. Furthermore, the weight of the athlete appears to have no influence on the extent of exertional rhabdomyolysis. Conversely, Kettunen *et al.* observed no difference in the CK-MB content of quadriceps femoris muscle between icehockey players and non-athletes [4]. The reason for this discrepancy remains unclear but may reflect differences in the relative activity of the muscle groups studied.

The evaluation of suspected myocardial injury in the trained individual is difficult because a wide variety of ECG changes, many of which mimic ischaemia, have been reported in this situation [2, 7]. The demonstration of elevated total CK and CK-MB after strenuous exercise renders them also to be an unreliable indicator of myocardial injury [8, 9, 10]. This study suggests that ancillary diagnostic techniques are required in the diagnosis of MI in highly trained athletes, as they are more likely to display false-positive indicators of MI using CK-MB measurements.

Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank The Research Committee of The Royal College of Surgeons for financial support.

References

- 1. Apple FS, Rogers MA, Sherman WM, Costill DL, Hagerman FC, Ivy JL: Profile of creatine kinase isoenzymes in skeletal muscles of marathon runners. Clin Chem 30: 413, 1984
- Balady GJ, Cadigan JB, Ryan TJ: Electrocardiogram of the athlete: an analysis of 289 professional football players. Am J Cardiol 53: 1339, 1984
- 3. Berger H, Zaret B: Nuclear cardiology. N Eng J Med 305: 799, 1981
- 4. Kettunen P, Kala R, Rehunen S: Creatine kinase and its isoenzyme in skeletal muscles of athletes. Lancet 2: 611, 1982
- 5. LaPorta MA, Linde HW, Bruce DL, Fitzsimons EJ: Elevation of creatine phosphokinase in young men after recreational exercise. J Am Med Ass 239: 2685, 1978
- Lott JA: Serum enzyme determinations in the diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction: an update. Human Pathol 15: 706, 1984
- Oakley DG, Oakley CM: Significance of abnormal electrocardiograms in highly trained athletes. Am J Cardiol 50: 985, 1982

- Ohman EM, Teo KK, Johnson AH, Collins PB, Dowsett DG, Ennis JT, Horgan JH: Abnormal cardiac enzyme responses after strenuous exercise: alternative diagnostic aids. Brit Med J 285: 1523, 1982
- Ohman EM, Teo KK. Johnson AH. Collins PB, Dowsett DP, Ennis JT. Horgan JH: Cardiospecific creatine kinase after strenuous exercise in female athletes. J Sport Med 24: 270, 1984
- Siegel AJ, Silverman LM, Holman L: Elevated creatine kinase MB isoenzyme levels in marathon runners. J Am Med Ass 246: 2049, 1981

§4. ATHLETE'S BRADYCARDIA

Carotid baroreceptor control of heart rate and physical fitness

R. FIOCCHI, R. FAGARD, L. VANHEES, E. BIELEN and A. AMERY

Summary

The carotid sinus baroreceptor reflex control of heart rate was studied in 12 endurance runners, 12 matched controls and in 24 cycling tourists using a variable negative pressure applied through a neck chamber. Baroreflex sensitivity was expressed as the slope of the linear relationship between the strength of the stimulus and the maximal lengthening of the RR interval on the electrocardiogram. Baroreflex sensitivity averaged 6.8 ± 1.1 (SEM) msec/mm Hg in controls, 10.3 ± 1.8 in runners and 7.3 ± 0.8 msec/mm Hg in cycling tourists. No significant differences were observed between the three groups. In single and multiple regression analysis, no significant relationship was found between carotid baroreflex sensitivity and age, blood pressure, resting heart rate, peak oxygen uptake and characteristics of training.

Our results suggest that the so-defined sensitivity of the carotid baroreflex control of heart rate is not influenced by the level of physical fitness. If the training-induced bradycardia is due to a change in the efferent arm of the baroreflex control of heart rate, these alterations do not markedly influence the responsiveness of the system.

Introduction

The mechanism by which physical training reduces heart rate have been extensively investigated in animals and in man. Training increases the parasympathetic and/or reduces the sympathetic output to the heart, and there are arguments that training decreases intrinsic heart rate [5, 9] and also the sensitivity of the sinoatrial node to acetylcholine [3]. These effects modify the efferent arm of the baroreceptor reflex control of heart rate, and therefore, the input/output relationship of the system might be altered. For instance, physical training has been shown to increase baroreceptor sensitivity in a group of post-myocardial infarction dogs [1].

In the present study we altered the carotid baroreceptor input to the heart in athletes and non-athletes, by applying negative pressure to the neck through a neck chamber. The output, heart rate, was measured to determine whether or not there is an effect of physical training on the sensitivity of the carotid baroreceptor reflex control of heart rate.

Methods

Subjects

Twelve male endurance runners (athletes), aged 20 to 41 years, were studied. They had been running for an average of 6.2 years (range 2–11). As revealed by questionnaire they covered an average of 5780 km in the previous year (range 3300–7500 km). At the time of the investigation they ran 120 km/week (range 20–200 km). Twelve male normal volunteers (controls), matched for age and anthropometric characteristics were studied; they were not involved in competitive sports but moderate recreational sports were not a criterion for exclusion. In addition, we studied 24 male cycling tourists, who were 16 to 60 years old and had been involved in their sport for 7.9 years (range 2–18). They had covered an average of 3890 km in the year before the investigation at an average speed of 26 km/h. At the time of the study they had regained their cycling activities since 13 weeks (range 0–34 weeks) after the last winter resting period, and had covered 1780 km on average. None of the subjects was taking medication.

Experimental protocol

All experiments were performed in the morning, in an air-conditioned laboratory where room temperature was stabilized at 18–22° C. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure and pulse rate were measured after five minutes rest in the sitting position. The routine 12-lead electrocardiogram showed sinus rhythm in all subjects except in one athlete who presented a sinus coronarius rhythm and was therefore withdrawn from the study.

Baroreceptor test

The carotid baroreceptors were stimulated in the seated subjects by the application of a negative pressure to the neck through a neck chamber, as described by Eckberg *et al.* [4]. The neck chamber consisted of an elliptical piece of lead rimmed with sponge rubber and moulded to fit with the subject's mandible, neck, clavicle and sternum. A hole with a diameter of 5 cm in the front part of the neck chamber was connected with a thick wall tube with a length of about 3 meters. At the distal end of the tube a manually operated valve connected a continuously rotating vacuum pump either with the ambient air or with the neck chamber. The power of the vacuum pump was controlled by a speed-regulating rheostat.

130

Another 3–4 mm hole in the neck chamber was connected through a plastic tube with a pressure transducer (Bentley Trantec Mod. 400). A reference lead from the electrocardiogram (ECG) and the neck chamber pressure were recorded on a Mingograph 81 polygraph at a chart speed of 25 mm/sec. Neck chamber suction was initiated abruptly (the rate of 95% pressure change was -300 to -1000 mm Hg/sec). The equipment was positioned so that the subject could not anticipate the stimulus.

The subjects were first familiarized with the negative pressure and instructed to continue breathing regularly throughout the period of neck suction. Thereafter, 8 stimuli of 15 to 20 seconds duration were delivered in a random sequence in the range between -10 and -50 mm Hg. At least 1 minute was left between the various stimuli.

Exercise test

The athletes and their controls performed a graded uninterrupted exercise test on a treadmill ergometer until exhaustion. The controls ran for 5 min at 7 km/h at 0° inclination for a warming up; the speed was then increased to 11 km/h and at this speed the inclination of the treadmill was increased by 2.5° every 2 min until exhaustion. The athletes ran at 9 km/h at 0° inclination for a warming up, after which the speed was set at 13 km/h and the inclination increased by 2.5° every 2 min. Exercise time after the warming up period was 543 ± 38 (SEM) sec in the control and 699 ± 30 in the athletes (p<0.05).

The cycling tourists underwent a maximal graded uninterrupted exercise test on an electrically braked bicycle ergometer. The initial external work load was 70 Watt and was increased by 40 Watt every 3 min. Average exercise time was 1319 ± 28 sec.

Heart rate was calculated from the ECG. Oxygen uptake $(\dot{V}O_2)$ was measured continuously using an open circuit method; pulmonary ventilation $(\dot{V}E)$ and oxygen concentration were determined by a pneumotachograph and a primary netic gas analyzer (Siregnost, Siemens). Peak $\dot{V}E$ (BTPS) and $\dot{V}O_2$ (adjusted to STPD) are the results of the last half minute of exercise. The ventilatory equivalent for oxygen was calculated as $\dot{V}E/\dot{V}O_2$.

Analysis

Baroreceptor tests

RR intervals were measured on the ECG recordings for 10 sec before and 15–20 sec after each stimulus. For each single stimulus the RR intervals in the 10 sec preceding the onset of neck suction were averaged and this average was then used to compute the changes in RR interval following the onset of the stimulus. To quantify the cardiac effect of carotid baroreceptor stimulation we compared the 'response' to neck suction as the maximal $\triangle RR$ interval during the first 5 sec after

the onset of the stimulus. Carotid baroreflex sensitivity was defined in each individual as the slope of the linear relationship between the 'response' and the negative value of the neck chamber suction, for 8 stimuli and the zero point. The steeper the slope the greater the cardiac slowing per unit decrease in neck chamber pressure.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using unpaired t-tests and single and multiple regression analysis. The dispersion of the data is given as mean \pm SEM and p<0.05 taken as the level of statistical significance.

Results

Characteristics of the subjects

As shown in Table 1, the normal volunteers and the endurance-trained runners had comparable anthropometric characteristics. Blood pressure at rest in the sitting position was similar in the two groups while pulse rate was lower in the runners (p<0.05). Runners had a higher \dot{VO}_2 peak than the matched controls (p<0.01) but their peak heart rate and peak \dot{VE}/\dot{VO}_2 were slightly but significantly lower. The characteristics of the cycling tourists are also presented in Table 1; no comparison was performed between this group and the other two groups.

	Controls matched for runners	d Runners	Cyling tourists
N	12	11	24
Age (yr)	25.1 ± 1.4	25.2 ± 1.2	40.7 ± 2.4
Height (cm)	178.6 ± 1.7	177 ± 2.2	173 ± 1
Weight (kg)	68.7 ± 2.1	64 ± 2.4	73.1 ± 1.7
SBP _s (mm Hg)	133.4 ± 3.4	127.7 ± 2.5	142 ± 2.9
DBP _s (mm Hg)	79.6 ± 2.1	81.9 ± 2.5	92 ± 1.4
HR, (beats/min)	$65 \pm 3.0^*$	55 ± 2.2	67 ± 2
Peak $\dot{V}O_2$ (l/min)	$3.6 \pm 0.1^{*}$	4.4 ± 0.1	3.9 ± 0.1
Peak $\dot{V}O_2$ (ml/min/kg)	$53 \pm 1^*$	69 ± 1	54 ± 1.4
Peak VE (l/min)	116 ± 6.2	125 ± 5.2	115 ± 3.9
Peak $\dot{V}E/\dot{V}O_2$	$32 \pm 1^*$	28 ± 1.1	29 ± 1
Heart rate, peak (beats/min)	$197 \pm 1.7^*$	185 ± 2.6	177 ± 2

Table 1. Characteristics of runners and control subjects, and of cycling tourists at rest and exercise.

Values are mean \pm SEM; *P<0.05 between runners and matched controls. Abbreviations: SBP₃ and DBP₃: systolic and diastolic blood pressure in the sitting position; HR₃: heart rate in sitting position; $\dot{V}O_2$: oxygen uptake; $\dot{V}E$: ventilation; $\dot{V}E/\dot{V}O_2$: respiratory equivalent for oxygen.

132



PEAK OXYGEN UPTAKE

Figure 1. Relationship between carotid baroreflex sensitivity and peak oxygen uptake in athletes and controls (above) and in cycling tourists (under). No significant relationship was found.

Carotid baroreceptor control of heart rate

The mean negative pressure of all stimuli applied was 26.3 ± 0.9 mm Hg in controls, and 26.7 ± 1.0 and 27.6 ± 1.1 mm Hg in runners and cycling tourists, respectively. Also the time course of the RR lengthening after the onset of the neck chamber suction was similar. Baroreflex sensitivity was not significantly different between the 3 groups, and averaged 6.8 ± 1.1 msec/mm Hg in controls, and 10.3 ± 1.8 and 7.3 ± 0.8 msec/mm Hg in runners and cycling tourists, respectively. Within the groups, single regression analysis did not reveal any significant linear relationship between baroreflex sensitivity and any of the following variables: age, height, weight, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, resting heart rate, duration of sport activity and characteristics of training. Figure 1 shows the relationship between peak oxygen uptake and baroreflex sensitivity for athletes and controls combined, and for the cycling tourists. No significant relationship was found between these two measurements. Furthermore, in multiple regression analysis, no combination of two or three variables was significantly related to baroreflex sensitivity.

Discussion

Physical training induces several physiological adaptations such as a higher level of aerobic capacity, changes in cardiac structure and an increase in stroke volume [2]. Moreover, a low heart rate is associated with greater physical fitness. The mechanisms contributing to the training-induced bradycardia have not been completely elucidated. However, the hypotheses to explain the low heart rate involve the efferent part of the carotid baroreceptor reflex control of heart rate. Indeed, changes in the parasympathetic and/or sympathetic activity [7], a reduction in intrinsic heart rate and a decreased sensitivity of the sinoatrial node to acetylcholine [3], have been proposed. Since the efferent pathway of the baroreceptor control of heart rate is therefore altered by physical training, it is conceivable that the input/output relationship of this control is changed in the trained compared to the untrained.

There are no longitudinal human studies on this subject. In a group of dogs trained daily for six weeks, the sensitivity of the baroreceptor control of heart rate increased [1]. The aim of our study was to investigate whether the carotid baroreceptor-mediated control of heart rate at rest, differs between untrained and moderately and highly trained subjects, and furthermore, to study whether any relationship exists between this autonomic reflex and different variables expressing physical fitness and training.

Our data did not demonstrate a significant difference in the reflex control of heart rate in response to neck suction between athletes and non-athletes. Furthermore, there was no significant relationship between baroreflex sensitivity

134

and resting heart rate, peak oxygen uptake and several training characteristics. These results do not support the hypothesis that the mechanisms responsible for the training-induced bradycardia, which change the efferent part of the baroreceptor reflex control of heart rate, alter the sensitivity of this system. Alternatively, it could be hypothesized that although physical training changes the efferent part of the baroreceptor reflex arch, some mechanisms, possibly at the level of the central nervous system, keep the input/output relationship of the baroreceptor reflex unaltered.

In apparent contrast to our findings, Stegemann *et al.* [8] demonstrated that endurance training reduces the responsiveness of the blood pressure control system to a decreased transmural pressure, and Raven *et al.* [6] applying lower body negative pressure, found that fit subjects had a significantly smaller increase in heart rate for a given fall in systolic arterial pressure. These experiments investigated the blood pressure and heart rate response to a deactivation of the baroreceptor system. Therefore, they are relevant to explain any reduced orthostatic tolerance of athletes. In our experiment the carotid baroreceptors were stimulated, thereby investigating the response to an activation of the system. Thus, no real contrast is present between our findings and those of Stegemann *et al.* [8] and Raven *et al.* [6].

References

- 1. Billman GE, Schwartz PJ, Stone HL: The effects of daily exercise on susceptibility to sudden cardiac death. Circulation 69: 1182, 1984
- Blomqvist CG, Saltin B: Cardiovascular adaptation to physical training. Ann Rev Physiol 45: 169, 1983
- Bolter CP, Hughson RL, Critz JB: Intrinsic rate and cholinergic sensitivity of isolated atria from trained and sedentary rats. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 144: 364, 1973
- Eckberg DL, Cavanaugh MS, Mark AL, Abboud FM: A simplified neck suction device for activation of carotid baroreceptors. J Lab Clin Med 85: 167, 1975
- Lewis S, Thompson P, Areskog NH, Marconyak M, Vodak P, DeBusk R, Haskell W: Endurance training and heart rate control studied by combined parasympathetic and β-adrenergic blockade. Int J Sport Med 1: 42, 1980
- Raven PB, Rohm-Young D, Blomqvist CG: Physical fitness and cardiovascular response to lower body negative pressure. J appl Physiol 56: 138, 1984
- Scheurer J, Tipton CM: Cardiovascular adaptations to physical training. Ann Rev Physiol 39: 221, 1977
- 8. Stegemann J, Busert A, Brock D: Influence of fitness on the blood pressure control system in man. Aerospace Medicine 45: 45, 1974
- 9. Sutton JR, Cole A, Gunning J, Hickie JB, Seldon WA: Control of heart rate in healthy young men. Lancet 2: 1398, 1967

Beta-adrenoceptor changes in exercise and physical training

M. OHMAN and J. KELLY

Introduction

Regular physical training leads to adaptative changes in many different body organs [4]. In particular, the effects of regular physical effort on the cardiovascular system have been recognized for many years [5]. An extreme form of adaptation is the development of athlete's heart syndrome. This is characterized by bradycardia, atrioventricular block, ventricular hypertrophy and abnormal repolarization on the electrocardiogram (ECG) [3]. Investigations of athletes with bradycardia and repolarization abnormalities have suggested that there are alterations in the sympathetic nervous system regulation of the heart [34]. However the mechanism by which the bradycardia is maintained at rest remains controversial. Some investigators suggest that the slow heart rate observed in athletes is due to a slow intrinsic heart rate independent of autonomic nerve influences [18].

Studies on adrenergic responsiveness

Using atropine and propranolol to induce pharmacological blockade of the heart, it has been shown that athletes have an increased vagal tone [14, 16]. Ekblom and colleagues put forward the hypothesis of reduced sympathetic, and increased vagal tone, at rest as an explanation for the bradycardia [14]. The lowered sympathetic tone could be due to a decrease in beta-adrenergic activity either because of reduced amounts of circulating agonists such as adrenaline or because of fewer beta-adrenoceptors in the myocardium. If this concept is correct, a lowered sensitivity to the effects of agonists would be expected. Ehsani and colleagues [21] studied changes in heart rate during an infusion of adrenaline in 6 athletes who stopped all training for 2 months. In this small group there was a tendency towards a higher heart rate response to administered agonist 21 and 55 days after cessation of training. This suggests a return to a 'normal' physiological state from a state of lowered responsiveness. Since it has been shown that undertaking regular exercise results in autonomic system changes within 3 weeks [33], it would be reasonable to expect cessation of training to reverse these changes. This reversal may alter myocardial beta-adrenoceptor density and may render the heart more sensitive to the effects of infused adrenaline. Cross-
sectional studies are by their nature weaker than longitudial studies such as the above. Several such comparisons of athletes and sedentary control have yielded different results [19, 20]. The validity of these studies however is in doubt because, as Ehsani noted, there is a great individual variation in response to the tests utilized [21].

In general the consensus of the above studies, while there are some dissenting views, is that the bradycardia seen in athletes is due to an increased vagal tone and a reduced sympathetic tone. A question that arises is how a reduced sympathetic nervous system tone is brought about?

Exercise and catecholamines

It has been shown both *in vivo* [25] and *in vitro* [1] that prolonged exposure to agonist will lead to desensitization of the beta-adrenoceptor. It has been known for many years that exercise brings about an elevation of serum adrenaline and noradrenaline concentrations [5]. Serum concentrations of noradrenaline are directly related to the level of exercise. Mild to moderate levels of activity result in proportional changes in serum noradrenaline concentrations and severe exercise gives rise to greatly elevated levels of noradrenaline [17]. Serum adrenaline concentrations however only become significantly elevated after heavy physical effort [13, 17]. Both catecholamines continue to rise for a short time subsequent to the cessation of exercise [5, 17]. The magnitude of the increase in serum adrenaline and noradrenaline concentrations depends on the relative fitness of the individual studied. Longitudinal studies have addressed this and found that after a physical training program the subjects showed lower catecholamine concentrations for a given workload [11, 33].

While the major source of adrenaline is the adrenal medulla [28], noradrenaline concentrations reflect sympathetic nerve activity in peripheral muscles. A close correlation has been found between sympathetic muscle nerve activity and serum noradrenaline concentrations at rest [29]. It is of note that the heart has also been shown to secrete catecholamines during exercise. Coronary sinus blood concentrations were higher than arterial values of catecholamines when measured during exercise [11]. It may be then, that prolonged exercise is associated with elevated concentrations of both adrenaline and noradrenaline, and that this exposure to agonist may alter beta-adrenoceptor density in the heart.

Exercise and beta-adrenoceptors

Several animal experiments involving exercise training have been used to study the autonomic nervous system and cardiovascular system adaptations. Initial studies on rat myocardium showed that exercise training lowered the tissue content of catecholamines [12]. Using a different technique Alho *et al.* showed a decrease in adrenergic nerve fibre density on the myocardium in trained rats [2]. From these experiments it was postulated that changes occurred in myocardial beta-adrenoceptor density. When radio-ligand binding techniques became available these were used to study absolute densities of beta-adrenoceptor in the rat myocardium. Sylvestre-Gervais *et al.* observed a down-regulation of adrenoceptors in the rat heart after a 10-week training program [26]. The program consisted of 2 sessions per day of a gradually increasing workload of running for approximately 1 hour. However, two other groups of investigators found no change in beta-adrenoceptor density on the myocardium in a similar animal model [22, 31]. The reason for this discrepancy remains unclear, but the time of exposure to exercise was shorter in these studies which showed no change in beta-adrenoceptor densities. Furthermore the type of exercise utilized in one of the negative studies [31] was swimming rather than running.

In man, where myocardium is not readily available to study beta-adrenoceptors, a lymphocyte model has been used [30]. The human lymphocyte has beta-2-adrenoceptors on the cell surface, which are different from the mainly beta-1-receptors found in the heart. Despite this Fraser *et al.* found an inverse relationship between serum noradrenaline concentrations and lymphocyte beta-adrenoceptor density [15]. Cardiac sensitivity to infused isoprenaline was also positivily correlated with lymphocyte beta-adrenoceptor density [15]. Furthermore Tohmeh and Cryer found that infusions of adrenaline within the physiological range altered beta-adrenoceptor density on lymphocytes in a biphasic manor, with an initial up-regulation followed by down-regulation [27]. These findings suggest that lymphocyte beta-adrenoceptor density reflects cardiac beta-adrenoceptor density, and changes in agonist concentrations, within the physiological range, may alter receptor density.

Using a lymphocyte model we studied the effect of training on beta-adrenoceptor density [8]. Seven male swimmers underwent a 2-month training program. They all showed a marked increase in aerobic capacity (maximal oxygen intake $\dot{V}O_2$ max). Mean (± SEM) beta-adrenoceptor density was 1074 ± 52 per cell before training and fell to 458 ± 78 (p<0.05) after training. The subjects showing the greatest increase in fitness also tended to display the largest fall in betaadrenoceptor density (Figure 1). There was a significant correlation between change in \dot{VO}_{2} max and change in receptor density (p<0.01). The change in receptor density could be best explained by prolonged exposure of the receptor to high concentrations of catecholamines, known to occur during exercise. To establish whether short bursts of exercise were also associated with changes in beta-adrenoceptor density, we studied 9 subjects who cycled to exhaustion within 15 minutes of starting [9]. Receptor density on lymphocytes was measured before, immediately after and 25 min after exercise on a bicycle. Resting mean receptor density was 1167 \pm 194 per cell. At the end of exercise the density was 2172 \pm 583 and after 25 min of rest 778 ± 74 (Figure 2). The responsiveness of the beta-



Figure 1. Relationship between change in receptor density (as decrease in the number of molecules of dihydroalprenolol specifically bound per lymphocyte) and change in maximum oxygen intake (as increase in max $\dot{V}O_2$, ml/kg/min) in the 7 swimmers who underwent a 2-month training program. The line of best fit, determined by linear regression analysis, is shown (correlation coefficient = -0.89, p<0.01). Reprinted by permission from *Nature* vol. 298, no. 5869, pp 60-2, copyright (c) 1982 Macmillan Journals Limited.



Figure 2. Mean (\pm SEM) beta-adrenoceptor changes on lymphocytes to acute exercise in 9 male subjects. All changes were statistically significant at p<0.05.

adrenoceptor system, as measured by isoprenaline-induced cyclic AMP production, followed the same pattern as the receptor density, suggesting a continuity between the density of and the function of the beta-receptor and adenylate cyclase system. Similar findings have been reported by Brodde *et al.* [7]. Williams *et al.* studied the effect of a 6-week training program of mild to moderate exercise (walking and jogging) in 14 female subjects [32]. Lymphocyte beta-adrenoceptor density was measured before and after the training program. The subjects showed an increase in fitness, which was measured by using maximal treadmill grade obtained, but there was no change in beta-adrenoceptor density. We [24]

however, examined 10 male subjects before and after a marathon training program [10] gradually increasing the weekly running distance. The mean betaadrenoceptor density before was 1598 ± 117 per cell. One week prior to the marathon this had fallen to 1187 ± 114 (p<0.05). During the training period receptor density was also measured before and after a 21 km race. Thus, similarly to our study on acute exercise there was a down-regulation of beta-adrenoceptors on lymphocytes. These data suggest that prolonged exposure to catecholamines desensitizes beta-adrenoceptors at rest and after exercise. The discrepancies between William's study and our findings may be due to different pre-training fitness, level of workload achieved during training, or possibly the time spent exercising. Our marathon trainees spent on average 2 to 3 hours running on most days. As already suggested the time spent exercising may be crucial in observing changes in resting beta-adrenoceptor density. We have also studied the effect of a Cardiac Rehabilitation Exercise Program on lymphocyte beta-adrenoceptor density [23]. The training program consists of a trice weekly 1-h training session, where 75% of maximal heart rate is achieved. After 8 weeks of training the betaadrenoceptor density fell (1939 vs. 1320 per cell, p < 0.05), whereas there was no change in a control group who did not undergo a structured training program. These findings are more difficult to interpret as both the formally trained and control subjects showed increased level of fitness after 8 weeks. The possibility of the relative lack of fitness prior to the study must be borne in mind, as all the subjects were studied 6-8 weeks after myocardial infarction or coronary artery bypass surgery.

Conclusion

In conclusion there is evidence that exercise is associated with elevated concentrations of adrenaline and noradrenaline. These physiological stimuli are sufficient to alter beta-adrenoceptor density on lymphocytes. Prolonged exposure to catecholamines which occurs during exercise training is associated with downregulation of beta-receptors. The desensitized state may have a protective role against the high levels of catecholamines that occur during heavy physical effort. The lowered beta-adrenoceptor density may also partly explain the slow heart rates seen in athletes. However, the variability in the results observed by different investigators need to be explained both in animals and in man. Good models of receptor changes in exercise are still needed to improve our understanding of the sympathetic nervous system adaptations occurring during and after exercise.

Acknowledgment

This work was partly supported by a grant from the Medical Research Council of Ireland.

References

- 1. Abrahamson SN, Molinoff PB: *In vitro* interactions of agonists and antagonists with betaadrenergic receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 33: 869, 1984
- Alho H, Koistinaho J, Kovanen V, Suominen H, Hervonen A: Effect of prolonged physical training on the histochemically demonstrable catecholamines in the sympathetic neurons, the adrenal gland and extra-adrenal catecholamine storing cells of the rat. Journal of the Autonomic Nervous System 10: 181, 1984
- 3. Anonymous. Athlete's heart: Is big bad or can it be benign? Lancet 2: 613, 1984
- 4. Astrand PO, Rodahl K: Textbook of Work Physiology. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1977
- Banister EW, Griffiths J: Blood level of adrenergic amines during exercise. J Appl Physiol 33: 674, 1972
- Beckner GL, Winsor T: Cardiovascular adaptions to prolonged physical effort. Circulation 9: 835, 1954
- 7. Brodde OE, Daul A, O'Hara N: Beta-adrenoceptor changes in human lymphocytes, induced by dynamic exercise. Naunyn Schmiedberg's Archives of Pharmacology 325: 190, 1984
- Butler J, O'Brien M, O'Malley K, Kelly JG: Relationship of beta-adrenoceptor density to fitness in athlets. Nature 298: 60, 1982
- Butler J, Kelly JG, O'Malley K, Pidgeon F: Beta-adrenoceptor adaptation to acute exercise. J Physiol 344: 113, 1983
- 10. Carroll N: The runner's book, Canavan Books, Dublin, 1981
- 11. Cousineau D, Ferguson RJ, DeChamplain J, Gauthier P, Cote P, Bourassa M: Catecholamines in coronary sinus during exercise in man before and after training. J appl Physiol 43: 801, 1977
- DeSchryver C, DeHerdt P, Lammerant J: Effect of physical training on cardiac catecholamine concentrations. Nature 214: 907, 1967
- 13. Dimsdale JE, Hartley CH, Guiney T, Ruskin JN, Greenblatt D: Postexercise peril plasma catecholamines and exercise. J Am Med Ass 251: 630, 1984
- Ekblom B, Kilbom A, Soltysiak J: Physical training, bradycardia and autonomic nervous system. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 32: 251, 1973
- Fraser J, Nadeau J, Robertson D, Wood AJJ: Regulation of human leukocyte beta-receptors by endogenous catecholamines. J Clin Invest 67: 1777, 1981
- Frick MH, Elovainio RO, Somer T: The mechanism of bradycardia evoked by physical training. Cardiologia 51: 46, 1967
- 17. Hartley LH, Mason JW, Hogan RP *et al.*: Multiple hormonal responses to graded exercise in relation to physical training. J Appl Physiol 33: 602, 1972
- Katona PG, McLean M, Dighton DH, Guz A: Sympathetic and parasympathetic cardiac control in athletes and non-athletes at rest. J Appl Physiol 52: 1652, 1982
- LeBlanc J, Boulay M, Dulac S, Jobin M, Labrie A, Rousseau-Migneron S: Metabolic and cardiovascular responses to norepinephrine in trained and nontrained subjects. J Appl Physiol 42: 166, 1977
- 20. Mann SJ, Krakoff LR, Felton K, Yeager K: Cardiovascular responses to infused epinephrine: Effect of the state of physical conditioning. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 6: 339, 1984
- 21. Martin WH, Coyle EF, Ehsani AA: Cardiovascular sensitivity to epinephrine in the trained and untrained states. Am J Cardiol 54: 1326, 1984
- Moore RL, Riedy M, Gollnick PD: Effect of training on beta-adrenergic receptor number in rat heart. J Appl Physiol 52: 1133, 1982
- 23. O'Callaghan D, Butler J, Teo KK, McGarry K, O'Malley K, Horgan JH: Lymphocyte betaadrenoreceptor density as a measurement of training effect in patients with coronary artery disease (abstract). Chest 86: 296, 1984
- Ohman EM, Butler J, Fitzgerald D, Horgan J, O'Malley K: Beta-adrenoreceptor changes following physical training (abstract). Danish Med Bull 30 (Suppl 1): 17, 1983

- 25. Stiles GL, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ: Beta-adrenergic receptors: Biochemical mechanisms of physiological regulation. Physiol Rev 64: 661, 1984
- 26. Sylvestre-Gervais L, Nadeau A, Nguyen MH, Tancrede G, Rousseau-Migneron S: Effects of physical training on beta-adrenergic receptors in rat myocardial tissue. Cardiovasc Res 16: 530, 1982
- 27. Tohmeh JF, Cryer PE: Biphasic adrenergic modulation of beta-adrenergic receptors in man. J Clin Invest 65: 836, 1980
- VonEuler US, Hellner S: Excretion of noradrenaline and adrenaline in muscular work. Acta Physiol Scand 26: 183, 1952
- 29. Wallin BG, Sundlof G, Erikson B-M, Dominiak P, Grobecker H, Lindblad LE: Plasma noradrenaline correlates to sympathetic muscle nerve activity in normotensive man. Acta Physiol Scand 111: 69, 1981
- Williams LT, Snyderman R, Lefkowitz RJ: Identification of beta-adrenergic receptors in human lymphocytes by (-)(3H)alprenolol binding. J Clin Invest 57: 149, 1976
- Williams RS: Physical conditioning and membrane receptors for cardioregulatory hormones. Cardiovasc Res 14: 177, 1980
- Williams RS, Eden RS, Moll ME, Lester RM, Wallace AG: Autonomic mechanisms of training bradycardia: Beta-adrenergic receptors in humans. J Appl Physiol 51: 1232, 1981
- Winder WW, Hagberg JM, Hickson RC, Ehsani AA, McLane JA: Time course of sympathoadrenal adaptation to endurance training. J Appl Physiol 45: 370, 1978
- 34. Zeppilli P, Pirrami MM, Sassara M, Fenici R: T wave abnormalities in top-ranking athletes: Effects of isoproterenol, atropine and physical exercise. Am Heart J 100: 213, 1980

CHAPTER II EXERCISE IN HEALTHY SUBJECTS

Primary prevention of coronary heart disease by physical activity

G. DE BACKER, M. KORNITZER, J. SOBOLSKI, M. DRAMAIX, S. DEGRE and H. DENOLIN

Summary

The role of physical exercise and fitness in the development and prevention of coronary heart disease is subject to controversy. In reviewing the large number of epidemiological studies that have considered this relationship, we find several problem areas which could explain the inconsistency of published results: there is no single yet precise method for evaluation of the physical activity level of a given population; most studies include only a limited portion of the physical activity spectrum of their total population, and physical activity is interrelated with numerous other coronary risk factors.

We here present physical fitness results from a prospective study in asymptomatic healthy middle-aged men in whom fitness and activity were measured at entry. Over a 5-year period, the fitness level was predictive of coronary events independently of other coronary risk factors significantly correlated with the incidence of CHD. These results are in keeping with those of the few other studies in this area.

While physical activity should be recommended as a valuable contribution to good health, more research is required into its role in CHD, as well as into the determinants of fitness in the population and to possible mechanisms of prevention of CHD.

Coronary heart disease (CHD) can be prevented by attacking the major coronary risk factors such as elevated serum cholesterol, high blood pressure and cigarette smoking. This has been directly demonstrated in experimental epidemiology studies [9, 10, 13, 16, 25] such as the Belgian heart disease prevention project, a controlled randomized multifactorial intervention trial [13]; in this study, a 25% difference in the incidence of coronary heart disease was observed between the intervention and the control groups.

Besides this direct demonstration, there is a large amount of indirect evidence that CHD is preventable; this is confirmed by the recent decline in cardiovascular mortality in some countries [11].

The role of physical activity and fitness in the primary prevention of CHD is subject to far more debate. This problem can be dealt with from different scientific standpoints; the current presentation is limited to a discussion of results of epidemiological studies. Rigorous experimental evidence for the protective role of exercise in men is not available. Due to major methodological difficulties, there has never been and probably never will be a controlled, randomized, unifactorial, experimental study of the exercise-CHD hypothesis in normal subjects, and the best available studies are thus the prospective epidemiological surveys. Excellent reviews of these studies [5, 6, 7, 14, 15, 18] have been published, and we will here focus on the difficulties in the interpretation of their results, seeking to explain certain apparent contradictions.

Not all prospective studies have found a significant correlation between physical inactivity and the incidence of coronary heart disease. There is thus some degree of inconsistency in results, however various problems are encountered in interpretation of data from the various studies which are not always strictly comparable.

A first problem relates to the definition of physical activity; the concept of physical activity is generally similar in the various studies, but few of them have used the same method of measurement. Job description, social class and degree of urbanization have all been used as crude, indirect indices of physical activity, while other authors have used a variety of questionnaires on job or leisure-time activities. The diversity of methods used shows the difficulty in assessment of physical activity with a sufficient degree of precision – one possible explanation for differences in results.

A second problem is the fact that the spectrum of activity can range from extremely low (e.g. in disabled persons) to very high (such as in professional athletes). Epidemiological studies are generally focused on selected populations with a far narrower range of physical activity patterns, for instance working populations; many population studies concerning the physical activity-CHD relationship have been carried out in specific occupational categories: London busmen [17], L.A. civil servants [3], Californian longshoremen [19], the Kibbutzim populations in Israel [2] or Italian railmen [23]. Disabled persons were thus excluded from all of these studies, despite the fact that they constitute a substantial proportion of the total adult population. It is well-known that it is more difficult to demonstrate a relationship between an etiological factor and a disease if only a limited proportion of the distribution of the factor is examined, and in particular, if the methodology used to assess the factor is not very precise.

A third problem in the understanding of the correlation between physical activity and CHD is the fact that physical activity is tightly correlated with numerous other major and minor coronary risk factors, including various lipids, insulin levels, blood pressure, body weight and smoking habits. The degree of correlation between these other risk factors and coronary heart disease is stronger than for the physical activity-CHD relationship. Multivariate analysis shows that physical activity per se has only little (and in some studies, no) independent correlation with coronary heart disease; this statistical observation does not, however, mean that physical exercise is of no practical preventative



PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF WL 150/kg

Figure 1. Percentage distribution of WL 150 kg.

value. The physical activity behavioural pattern may well be a carrier for various other CHD risk factors, and if we wish to change these risk factors, we could easily focus on the carrier rather than on the factor itself.

Physical activity has been confused with physical fitness in some studies; although it has been shown that activity is related to the fitness level of a given individual, only a small fraction of the variance of the physical fitness of the population is explained by its activity pattern [4]. Therefore, activity levels and fitness are not necessarily synonymous in a given population, and the question remains as to whether fitness is related to CHD.

The answer to this question has been a long time in coming due to a lack of adequate studies. A positive correlation is suggested by indirect evidence such as the inverse relationship between resting heart rate and the incidence of CHD [12].

In 1975, research workers from the universities of Brussels and Ghent initiated a prospective study in middle-aged factory workers [22]. Using rather stringent selection criteria, physical fitness was measured in 1772 middle-aged asymptomatic healthy men. The criterion for physical fitness was the work load at which a heart rate of 150 beats per minute was attained (WL150/kg, expressed in Watts/kg body weight). Details of the study design and results for CHD prevalence have been published [4, 22].

Figure 1 shows the percentage distribution of the fitness criterion in the 1505 men who reached a heart rate of more than 150 beats/min during the exercise test. The distribution is approximately normal with similar mean and median values, 1.434 and 1.427 Watts/kg respectively.

Other known or suspected coronary risk factors were measured at the initial consultation, and the cohort has now been followed for 5 years with fatal or non-fatal coronary events in 18 subjects during this period. Table 1 compares various baseline measurements for these 18 subjects, by comparison with those who

remained healthy. A multiple discriminant function analysis showed significant differences between those who developed CHD and the others in terms of HDL-cholesterol, smoking habits and the fitness factor. These three factors were significantly and independently correlated with the incidence of CHD. Table 2 summarizes results of prospective studies examining the relationship of fitness to CHD.

All but one of these showed a positive relationship between fitness and CHD, and in the negative Danish study [21] the authors admitted that an analysis with

Risk factors	Incidence of CHD								
	Positive		Negative						
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD					
Age, yr	48	4	46	4	NS				
Tot-chol, mg%	236	27	232	32	NS				
HDL-chol, mg%	46.6	9	54.3	14	.02				
Smoking, %	72		45		.03				
SBP, mmHg	134.6	14	131.8	13	NS				
BMI, kg/m ²	26.9	3.3	25.5	2.9	NS				
WL 150/kg	1.34	.22	1.49	.28	.03				
Physical activity, AMI	232	140	242	214	NS				

Table 1. Predictive value of risk factors in a population study of fitness and coronary heart disease.

* Derived from a multiple stepwise discriminant function analysis. Abbreviations: Tot-chol: total cholesterol; HDL-chol: HDL cholesterol; SBP: systolic blood pressure; BMI: body mass index; WL: workload; CHD: coronary heart disease.

Table 2. The physical fitness-coronary heart disease hypothesis. Prospective studies with direct assessment of fitness.

Author	Population	n	Follow-up (yr)	Relation fitness/CHD incidence			
			0.7	Univariate	Multivariate		
Wilhelmsen [24]	Göteborg men (54 yr)	793	9	Positive	Positive		
Gyntelberg [8]	Copenhagen men	5249	7	Positive	Positive		
Schroll [21]	Glostrup population	802	10	Negative	-		
Bruce [1]	Seattle heart watch Healthy volunteers (30–64 yr)	2365	5.6	Positive	Positive		
Peters [20]	Fire and law enforcement department personnel (35–55 yr)	2779	4.8	Positive	Positive		
This study	Healthy factory workers	1505	5	Positive	Positive		

148

maximal aerobic power as the independent variable was impractical since a large number of participants could not manage the exercise test; the high-risk group is constituted of exactly these subjects.

It can be concluded that the available evidence favours an inverse correlation between fitness and coronary heart disease, i.e. that coronary heart disease is less frequent in fitter men. It is obvious that the fitness factor involves more than the activity pattern, and other mechanisms may account for this relationship.

In conclusion, from a strictly scientific standpoint, the question of whether physical activity and fitness protects against CHD remains largely unanswered; in particular, we require simple but precise methods for assessment of physical activity and more research is required into the determinants of physical fitness. Nevertheless, scientists also have a duty to make recommendations to the general public based upon currently available knowledge. From a general health standpoint, regular moderate exercise makes good sense for many reasons. It improves the quality of life by lessening fatigue and by increasing fitness, and it may attenuate several coronary risk factors, thus indirectly modifying the course of CHD. Based on current knowledge, it is recommended that the practitioner prescribe regular exercise as a part of a hygienic CHD prevention program. By recommending physical exercise, we also encourage adequate attention to health, thus promoting changes in behavioural patterns necessary to reduce coronary risk.

In light of the modern definition of health as physical, mental and social wellbeing rather than merely the absence of disease, physical exercise is accepted and should be recommended as a component of good health.

References

- Bruce R, De Rouen J, Hossack K: Value of maximal exercise tests in risk assessment of primary coronary heart disease events in healthy men from five years' experience of the Seattle Heart Watch Study. Am J Cardiol 46: 371, 1980
- Brunner D, Manelis G, Modan M, Levin S: Physical activity at work and the incidence of myocardial infarction, angina pectoris and death due to ischemic heart disease. An epidemiological study in Israeli collective settlements (Kibbutzim). J Chron Dis 27: 217, 1974
- Chapman JM, Massey FJ: The interrelationship of serumcholesterol, hypertension, body weight and risk of coronary heart disease. Results of the first ten years' follow-up in the Los Angeles heart study. J Chron Dis 17: 933, 1964
- 4. De Backer G, Kornitzer M, Sobolski J, Dramaix M, Degre S, de Marneffe M, Denolin H: Physical activity and physical fitness levels of Belgian males aged 40–55 years. Cardiology 67: 110, 1981
- 5. Eichner E: Exercise and heart disease. Epidemiology of the 'exercise hypothesis'. Am J Med 75: 1008, 1983
- 6. Froelicher V, Brown P: Exercise and coronary heart disease. J Cardiac Rehabilitation 1: 277, 1981
- 7. Froelicher V, Battler A, McKirnan D: Physical activity and coronary heart disease. Cardiology 65: 153, 1980
- Gyntelberg F: Physical fitness and coronary heart disease in Copenhagen men aged 40–59. Danish Med Bull 21: 49, 1974

- 9. Hypertension Detection and Follow-up program Cooperative group. Five year findings of the hypertension detection and follow-up program. J Am Med Ass 242: 2562, 1979
- Hjermann I, Velve Byre I, Holme I, Leren P: Effect of diet and smoking intervention on the incidence of coronary heart disease. Lancet 2: 1303, 1981
- 11. Kannel WB, Thom TJ: Declining cardiovascular mortality. Circulation 70: 331, 1984
- Kannel WB: Habital levels of physical activity and risk of coronary heart disease. The Framingham Study. Can Med Ass J 96: 811,1967
- Kornitzer M, De Backer G, Dramaix M, Kittel F, Thilly C: The Belgian Heart Disease Prevention Project: incidence and mortality results. Lancet 1: 1066, 1983
- Laporte RE, Adams L, Savage D, Brenes G, Dearwater S, Cook T: The spectrum of physical activity, cardiovascular diseases and health: an epidemiologic perspective. Am J Epidemiol 120: 507, 1984
- Leon A, Blackburn H: The relationship of physical activity to coronary heart diseases and life expectancy. Ann NY Acad Sci 301: 561, 1977
- Lipid Research Clinics Program. The lipid research clinics coronary primary prevention trial results. I. Reduction in incidence of coronary heart disease. J Am Med Ass 251: 3, 1984
- 17. Morris JN, Hagan A, Patterson D, Gardner M: Incidence and prediction of ischaemic heart disease in London busmen. Lancet 2: 553, 1966
- 18. Paffenbarger R, Hyde R, Jung D, Wing A: Epidemiology of exercise and coronary heart disease. Clin Sport Med 3: 297, 1984
- 19. Paffenbarger RS, Gima AS, Laughlin ME, Mary E, Black RA: Characteristics of longshoremen related to CHD and stroke. Am J Public Health 61: 1362, 1971
- Peters R, Cady L, Bischoff D, Bernstein L, Pike M: Physical fitness and subsequent myocardial infarction in healthy workers. J Am Med Ass 249: 3052, 1983
- 21. Schroll M: A ten-year prospective study, 1964–1974, of cardiovascular risk factors in men and women from the Glostrup population born in 1914. Danish Med Bull 29: 213, 1982
- 22. Sobolski J, De Backer G, Degré S, Kornitzer M, Denolin H: Physical activity, physical fitness and cardiovascular diseases: design of a prospective epidemiologic study. Cardiology 67: 38, 1981
- 23. Taylor HL, Menotti A, Puddu V, Monti M, Keys A: Five year follow-up of railroad men in Italy. Circulation 41 (suppl I): 113, 1970
- 24. Wilhelmsen L, Bjure J, Ekstrom-Jodal B: Nine years's follow-up of a maximal exercise test in a random population sample of middle-aged men. Cardiology 68 (suppl II): 1, 1981
- 25. World Health Organisation European Collaborative Group. Multifactorial trial in the prevention of coronary heart disease. 3. Incidence and mortality results. Eur Heart J 4: 141, 1983

Exertional risk factors in apparently healthy males: an interim report

B. DAVIES, W.D. ASHTON and D.J. ROWLANDS

Summary

The purpose of this study was to determine the frequency of exertional risk factors in apparently healthy males during exercise. In a prospective study carried out over 12 months, 323 apparently healthy males, aged 30–65 years, underwent functional/diagnostic exercise testing (FDGXT) in the Department of Biological Sciences. Twenty-six (8%) of the subjects displayed electrocardiographical abnormalities associated with coronary heart disease and of this group, 19 (73%), had one or more conventional risk factors (i.e., cigarette smoking, a family history of coronary heart disease, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, obesity, and inactivity). Several of our subjects underwent coronary angiography and subsequent coronary bypass grafting. We conclude that the exercise stress test, in conjunction with conventional coronary risk factors, could assist in identifying a subgroup of individuals who would be at a greater risk of developing cardiovascular problems during exercise than the remainder of the population.

Introduction

A substantial amount of evidence supports the view that individuals involved in moderate activity have a lower risk of coronary heart disease [1]. However, several investigators [4, 6, 8] have documented sudden death during exercise and have suggested a small subgroup who are highly susceptible to this catastrophe. It is not known how many individuals die during exercise, but the number is almost certainly underestimated due to inadequate or inaccurate reporting and lack of follow-up investigation. In addition, it is not known how many deaths are exercise-related, i.e., occurring within 24 h following vigorous activity.

Whilst recognizing the important role of exercise in the prevention of coronary heart disease (CHD), we also see the need for medical screening in selected members of the population in an effort to identify the 'high-risk' individual who requires carefully prescribed exercise.

During the past 12 months we have medically screened 323 apparently healthy males to ascertain the prevalence of conventional risk factors. In addition, exercise testing facilitated the assessment of exertional risk factors. This paper reports on our findings to date.

Subjects and methods

Between July 1983 and July 1984, 323 apparently healthy males, aged between 30–65 years, underwent medical assessment in the Department of Biological Sciences, University of Salford. Subjects attended the Department on a voluntary basis and all had expressed an interest in improving their present standard of fitness. There was no definite history of cardiovascular disease, including hypertension, in any of our sample and none had been investigated previously. Eighty % of the sample was drawn from management and executive groups in local industry (Registrar General's Social Classes I and II). The remainder of the sample (20%) was divided equally between social classes III and IV. Subjects were weighed and percentage body fat estimated using the method of Wormsley and Durnin [9]. We regarded obesity as an estimated body fat of 25% or greater.

Other conventional coronary risk factors, i.e., cigarette smoking, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, inactivity and a family history of coronary heart disease, were recorded for each subject. Prior to a functional/diagnostic graded exercise test (FDGXT), subjects underwent a detailed clinical examination and a fasting blood sample (10 ml) was withdrawn for subsequent haematological and biochemical analysis, including lipid profile.

Following a 12-lead electrocardiogram, subjects underwent a modified Balke walking test on a treadmill. This consisted of incremental increases in gradient $(2\frac{1}{2}\%)$ every 2 min at a constant walking speed of 5 km/h. Throughout the test, selected leads (II, AVF, V5) were monitored simultaneously using a computerized analysis system (Picker International Ltd). Oxygen consumption was recorded every 30 sec by directing the expired air, via a low-resistance valve, into an automatic on-line gas analysis system (Mijnhardt). Blood pressure was recorded 1 min 30 sec into each stage using a mercury sphygmomanometer. The test was symptom-limited and continued until maximum oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$ max) was attained, unless contra-indications were observed. Immediately following the maximum exercise test, electrocardiographic and blood pressure monitoring was continued during a 2 min walking recovery (5 km/h, 0% gradient) and 6 min of supine rest. Table 1 shows our criteria for an abnormal exercise response.

In the event of a strong indication of left main stem disease, multiple vessel disease or ventricular dysfunction, subjects were referred to Manchester Royal Infirmary for further investigation including echocardiography and/or coronary angiography.

Results

As shown in Table 2, of the 323 subjects who underwent laboratory evaluation, a total of 26 (8%) were considered to have a significantly abnormal exercise test. The age range of this group was between 33-62 years with a mean of 46 years. The

range of \dot{VO}_2 max was between 27–57 ml × kg/min with a mean of $42 \text{ ml} \times \text{kg/}$ min. Of the 26 positive tests, 19 (73%) had one or more conventional coronary risk factors and seven (27%) had three or more (i.e., cigarette smoking, hyperlipidaemia, hypertension, obesity, inactivity or a family history of coronary heart disease).

Fourteen (54%) of the 26 abnormal responses to exercise demonstrated significant ST segment depression (2–5 mm) with or without T wave changes. Four (15%) developed ventricular tachycardia and three (11%) frequent ventricular ectopic beats as defined previously. One subject (4%) developed 'normalization' of previously inverted T waves, another a rate-related left bundle branch block (LBBB), and one developed atrial fibrillation. Two of our subjects (8%) had adverse blood pressure changes during the test; one showing an inappropriate rise in BP (systolic BP >230 mmHg), and another a fall in blood pressure. One subject experienced mild chest discomfort during testing.

Table 1. Criteria for an abnormal exercise response.

- 1. 2 mm or more of horizontal or down-sloping ST segment depression as measured 80 msec from the 'J' point, with or without T wave changes
- Frequent (>10/min) premature ventricular contractions (PVCs), unifocal or multifocal or occurring in couplets
- 3. Atrial fibrillation/flutter/tachycardia
- 4. Second- or third-degree heart block or left bundle branch block (LBBB)
- 5. Ventricular tachycardia (VT) as defined by three or more premature ventricular contractions (PVCs) in rapid (>120 per minute) succession
- 6. Ventricular fibrillation
- 7. A fall in blood pressure or a failure to achieve a systolic BP of at least 160 mmHg during the test
- 8. An inappropriate increase in BP as defined by a systolic BP of 250 mmHg or greater
- 9. The development of typical cardiac pain

Abnormality	Subjects Number	%
	14	54
$ST \pm T$ wave changes Ventricular tachycardia	4	15
$PVCs \pm couplets$	3	11
'Normalization' of T waves	1	4
Atrial fibrillation	1	4
Left bundle branch block	1	4
Blood pressure, high	1	4
Blood pressure, low	1	4
Total	26	100

Table 2. Abnormal exercise responses in 323 apparently healthy males.

154

In six (23%) out of the 26 abnormal subjects, ST segment depression was 3 mm or greater, and since there was a high probability that this group would have significant underlying coronary atheroma, they were referred for coronary angiography. Two of these apparently healthy individuals declined this investigation, a fact which is hardly surprising since they were, of course, entirely asymptomatic. Nevertheless, one of these individuals with 4–5 mm ST segment depression subsequently died some 12 months later during vigorous activity. In the remaining four subjects who underwent coronary angiography, one had normal coronary arteries but there was clear evidence of hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM). Coronary angiography in the remaining three subjects will be considered in more detail.

Patient 1

BS is a 53-year old advertising executive. Preliminary assessment showed him to have a number of conventional coronary risk factors, i.e., heavy cigarette consumption (40/day), obesity (body fat estimated at 31.5%), inactivity (confirmed by a $\dot{V}O_2$ max of 31 ml/kg/min), type IV hyperlipidaemia and a stressful occupation. His resting electrocardiogram was normal. His exercise ECG showed significant ST segment depression (3–4 mm) in inferolateral leads. Subsequent coronary angiography revealed life-threatening coronary artery disease, with critical stenoses of the left main stem, and the right coronary artery, with additional stenoses in the left anterior descending and diagonal arteries. This subject subsequently underwent successful coronary bypass grafting.

Patient 2

CMJ is a 40-year old managing director. Preliminary assessment revealed a number of conventional risk factors, including obesity (body fat was estimated at 34%), inactivity ($\dot{V}O_2$ max 20 ml × kg/min), strong family history of cardio-vascular disease, and a stressful occupation.

His resting ECG was normal. His exercise ECG showed definite ST segment depression (3 mm), and subsequent coronary angiography revealed severe three-vessel coronary disease, with a complete occlusion of the descending branch of the left coronary artery, and a developmentally small right coronary artery. There was, in addition, a marked stenosis of the right coronary artery, proximal to the second right ventricular branch. His situation was regarded as critical and he subsequently underwent successful quadruple coronary bypass grafting, and made an excellent recovery.

Patient 3

A 39-year old lecturer. He also had a number of conventional coronary risk factors, including a type IIa hyperlipidaemia with a blood cholesterol of 10.56 mmol, a strong family history of coronary heart disease, and he was also relatively inactive. His resting ECG was normal, but the exercise ECG showed gross ST segment depression amounting to 4–5 mm. Subsequent coronary angiography revealed evidence of atheroma in all three coronary arteries, although the significant disease was effectively confined to the circumflex system. The most significant lesion was a 90% stenosis in the large obtuse marginal branch, and there was evidence that the circumflex artery itself was extensively diseased. Coronary angioplasty and coronary bypass surgery were considered, but were not recommended at the present time. We have advised the subject to avoid the extremes of physical exertion such as squash, but more moderate forms of activity would seem to be reasonable. The coronary angiograms will be repeated in two years from now in order to assess the progress of the lesions.

Discussion

These results emphasize that there is a subgroup of people who are at a substantially greater risk of dying during or following exercise than the remainder of the population. They suggest the need for greater efforts to identify this group in order that leisure activities can be prescribed on an individual basis.

Our sample was drawn mainly from management and executive groups (social classes I and II) and we accept that our results may not, therefore, be typical of the population in general. In our view, however, this does not negate the validity of the results. There is evidence to suggest that lower social groups will, in fact, have a higher prevalence of disease [3], and screening in this group may, therefore, be expected to yield a higher percentage of abnormalities. In our study, 73% of the 26 abnormal subjects had one or more conventional coronary heart disease risk factors. In addition, the three subjects in whom coronary angiography revealed extensive underlying disease, had between three and five risk factors each. In 23 squash players who died from coronary heart disease, 70% had at least one or more risk factors [4], and in the most recent analysis of the Rhode Island Trial [7], only 7% of the 81 individuals who died during or immediately after recreational exercise had no relevant medical history or coronary risk factors.

Some investigators have recommended exercise stress testing for all first time exercisers over the age of 40 [2], or for any subject with one or more coronary heart disease risk factors [5]. The logistics and cost of implementing such a program would be enormous, although this does not negate the value of such a procedure. We feel that education to sensitize the population to conventional risk factors in order that they can carry out a 'self-screening procedure', is a more

practical and realistic alternative (Table 3). Conventional risk factors such as obesity, a family history of heart disease, inactivity, and cigarette smoking, can easily be identified by the individual. We believe that an individual with two or more of these risk factors (particularly cigarette smoking and a family history of heart disease) should attend his own general practitioner for further evaluation. In the event of the general practitioner identifying further risk factors, i.e., hypertension and/or hyperlipidaemia, this small subgroup could then be referred for more sophisticated screening procedures. The prevalence of coronary heart disease in such a group is likely to be high, and exercise testing is therefore likely to have a high predictive value. Exercise stress testing with subsequent exercise prescription, requires time and expertise. Facilities and personnel are limited in this country and, therefore, should be reserved in the first instance for the high-risk individual.

There is a large and consistent body of evidence suggesting that increased activity decreases the probability of developing coronary heart disease. However, there is also evidence to suggest that exertion can cause sudden death in persons with heart disease. Therefore, it is possible that a sedentary individual with coronary heart disease, who begins activity, can evolve through a period of high-risk and become moderately active, with a corresponding decreased probability of succumbing to the disease. Some authorities have suggested that medical assessment prior to exercise is unnecessary, and individuals who wish to become involved in regular exercise programs should simply use their common sense. We believe that this advice is totally inadequate, since we have demonstrated a significant number of individuals who are apparently healthy, but who would be at serious risk of sudden death.

We believe that a simple, three-stage, screening procedure involving selfassessment, general practitioner referral and exercise stress testing, would help to identify a small sub-population of individuals who would be at high risk during exercise.

	Cigarette smoking	
	Family history of CHD	
STAGE 1	Obesity	SELF-ASSESSMENT
	Inactivity	
	'Stress'	
STAGE 2	Blood lipid estimation	GP INVESTIGATION
	Measurement of BP	OF INVESTIGATION
STACE 2	Exercise stress testing	SPECIALIST
STAGE 3	\pm other investigations	INVESTIGATION

Table 3. Three-stage 'screening' system.

References

- 1. Blackburn H: Physical activity and coronary heart disease. A brief update. J Cardiac Rehabilitation 2: 101, 1983
- 2. Chung K: Exercise ECG testing is it indicated for asymptomatic individuals before engaging in exercise programmes? Arch Intern Med 140: 895, 1980
- 3. Marmot MG *et al.*: Changes in heart disease mortality in England and Wales and other countries. Health Trends 13: 33, 1981
- 4. Northcote RJ, Evans AD, Ballantyne D: Sudden death in squash players. Lancet 1: 148, 1984
- 5. Nye ER: Exercise and the middle-aged patient. National Heart Foundation of New Zealand. Technical Report Series, No 37, 1983
- 6. Opie LH: Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1: 263, 1975
- 7. Ragosta M, Crabtree J, Sturner WQ, Thompson PD: Death during recreational exercise in the State of Rhode Island. Medicine and Science in Sports 16: 339, 1984
- 8. Waller BF, Roberts WC: Sudden death while running in conditioned runners aged 40 years or over. Am J Cardiol 45: 1292, 1980
- 9. Wormsley J, Durnin JVGA: Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimate from skinfold thickness. Brit J Nutr 32: 77, 1974

CHAPTER III

EXERCISE IN CARDIOVASCULAR DIS-EASE

The role of physical activity in post-infarct patients

G. DE BACKER

Physical activity plays a very important role in the rehabilitation and secondary prevention of patients with coronary heart disease. The purpose of this paper is to summarize only some of these aspects in particular in relation with patients who have suffered from an acute myocardial infarction.

Regular endurance training increases fitness in humans – be it athletes, sedentary men or post-infarct patients. In post-infarct patients this has been demonstrated in several randomized and controlled trials. When fitness is translated in physical work capacity, maximal oxygen uptake or double product for a given load, then we can see that a program of exercise training in the convalescence phase of myocardial infarction increases fitness above what can be expected from the spontaneous evolution.

In Table 1 results are presented from a controlled and randomized trial of the effects of cardiac rehabilitation on fitness [2]. Differences are presented from starting values, in total physical work capacity, the work capacity at a heart rate of 120 beats/min and the rate-pressure product at a workload of 400 kpm. From these results the net effect that can be attributed to the exercise program after having considered what can be expected from the spontaneous evolution as observed in the control group, can be calculated.

The results are comparable with those observed in other studies [9, 14]. The large variation in net effect between studies depends partially on the differences in training program and on differences in criteria that were used in selecting the patients.

These favourable results observed in the convalescence phase after myocardial infarction can be maintained over time. This point is illustrated in Figure 1 with results from another randomized and controlled trial. In the figure the total work performed is presented for the rehabilitation and the control group 1, 2 and 3 years after the acute infarct; the difference between control and rehabilitation group remains clearly present even at distance from the infarct.

Another role that has been attributed to physical activity in post-infarct patients is related to the psychosocial adjustment. However, what has been said and written on this subject is frequently based on subjective feelings and rarely on objective results from controlled studies.

There have been only very few well-controlled and randomized trials on this subject. Some of them did not show any significant difference, possibly due to insufficient sample size or to insufficient discriminating power of the methods that were used to assess the psychosocial condition [3, 10, 18].

Among the controlled trials with positive results there is one in middle-aged coronary-prone men, randomly assigned to an exercise program or a control group [6]. Greater subjective social and psychological changes were found in the exercise group as compared to the non-exercising men. These changes include increased stamina, reduced stress and tension and feelings of better health. In another controlled trial [11], it was demonstrated that among patients with a high neuroticism score, a greater proportion of the rehabilitation group had a good outcome in terms of both physical and emotional stability and social independence as compared to the control group.

Results from studies on the mechanisms by which physical activity induces certain adaptations are less consistent. In the late sixties the pioneers in cardiac rehabilitation were enthusiast about the experimental evidence that exercise training increases coronary collateral flow in dogs after coronary artery constriction. Thirty years later the question if such an adaptation occurs in humans is still unresolved.

Data are lacking or are inconsistent on the effects of exercise on left ventricular performance and myocardial perfusion in post-infarct patients. It is known that by lowering heart rate and systemic blood pressure at any given level of exercise after training the anginal threshold will be increased in patients with a limited myocardial oxygen supply. However the problem whether or not exercise training results in a direct improvement of myocardial oxygen supply is still unresolved.

Using more recent non-invasive radionuclide techniques, the question whether exercise training has a direct effect on the heart, still remains controversial [1, 4, 5, 7, 17]. In a recent study [1] on the effect of exercise training on ejection fraction

Fitness variables	Differences from starting level (%)								
	Rehabilitation N = 29	Control $N = 26$	Net change*						
PWC	+32	+20							
PWC hr 120	+26	+12	+14						
RPP at 400 kpm	-10	- 6	- 4						

Table 1. Effects of cardiac rehabilitation – a randomized controlled trial	2].
--	-----

* $\frac{\triangle \text{ REH} - \triangle \text{ Contr}}{\text{Starting level REH}} \times 100$

Abbreviation: PWC: physical work capacity; HR: heart rate; RPP: rate-pressure product.



Figure 1. Work, capacity in coronary patients, one, two and three years after an acute myocardial infarction, in a randomized controlled trial on the effect of cardiac rehabilitation.

and end-diastolic pressure in post-infarct patients, the authors concluded that no direct cardiac effects were observed despite a significant training effect.

In another study [4] 146 male volunteers with stable coronary heart disease were randomized either to the exercise program or to a control group. The participants underwent exercise tests initially and one year later. Significant differences were observed between the two groups in aerobic capacity and moderate but significant differences were seen in scintigraphic indicators of ischaemia and ventricular function. The trained group experienced a significant improvement in the thallium-images and the percent change in end-systolic volume at maximal exercise was significantly lower in the trained group compared to the control group.

So, as to the mechanisms through which physical activity leads to increased fitness in coronary patients, there is substantial evidence to believe that most of the benefits are due to peripheral adaptations, but there is a continued need for research using well-controlled randomized trials to clarify the mechanisms whereby exercise training influences the cardiovascular system, particularly now that new technologies are available to appreciate the ventricular function non-invasively.

Regarding the effect of physical activity after infarction on the prognosis and survival, one has to be very cautious with the data available in the literature. Initially, uncontrolled studies [8] reported encouraging results but in the absence of controlled trials these results were only suggestive. Most of the controlled studies have been either inconclusive or did not show a prolongation of life expectancy in the trained group. However none of the studies had a real good chance to detect a possible effect either because of an insufficient sample size or because of an excessive drop-out rate in the exercise group.

Mortality in post-infarct patients is influenced by so many factors that results from studies with small numbers over short-time periods are difficult to interpret. In Table 2 a summary is given of the 6 studies [9, 12–15, 20] which used a random assignment to the exercise or the control group. None of these trials showed a statistically significant reduction in total mortality; however all but one had a positive trend favouring the physical training group by 15 to 37%.

Finally the question whether there is any danger for exercising post-infarct patients cannot be avoided. There is indeed an increasing amount of evidence that exercise can cause sudden death particularly in coronary patients. A study from Seattle on survivors of out of hospital arrests concluded that 27% of the episodes occurred in association with vigorous exercise [19]. This proportion is 2 or 3 times greater than expected. In another study from Seattle [16] on the risk of primary cardiac arrest during vigorous exercise the authors concluded that the risk of primary cardiac arrest is transiently increased during vigorous exercise. This seems in contradiction with the view from epidemiological studies that vigorous exercise may protect against sudden cardiac death.

The risk of cardiac arrest during vigorous exercise transiently increases especially in men who are habitually engaged in low levels of physical activity.

Trial	Total N randomized	Mortality %	Percent change PC – PI		
		Intervention PI	Control PC	$\frac{10^{\circ} \text{ II}}{\text{PC}} \times 100$	
Kentala [9]	298	17.1	21.9	-22	
Sanne [14]	315	17.7	22.3	-21	
Palatsi* [12]	380	10.0	14.0	-29	
NEHDP [15]	651	4.6	7.3	-37	
Ontario trial [13]	733	9.5	7.3	+30	
Who trial [20]	2602	14.5	17.2	-15	

Table 2. Mortality and physical training of coronary patients.

* Coronary mortality.

But the total risk for men who regularly exercise vigorously is markedly reduced compared to less active subjects. So, exercise may be both protective and provocative of sudden death, but the short-term risk is outweighed by the longterm beneficial effects.

The cases of sudden death during vigorous exercise remain very rare as compared to the daily occurrence of sudden death at rest in the community.

In Ghent a total number of 381 cases of acute coronary events were registered in 1983 in the community aged 25–69 years. Fifty-five percent of these events were fatal; 39% of all fatal cases were sudden and unexpected but only 2 cases occurred in association with exercise.

Therefore the message from the apparent paradox, that vigorous exercise may protect against sudden death versus that arrests occur more likely during exertion, is a continued need for supervised programs in coronary patients, a progressive adaptation of coronary patients to exercise and an individual approach considering all pro's and contra's for a given patient.

So, in conclusion there is no definite evidence that exercise prevents reinfarction, sudden death or progression of atherosclerosis in post-infarct patients and such evidence will hardly become available because of major methodological obstacles in studying that question scientifically.

We have to achieve a sound clinical judgement by observing all indirect arguments available from various kinds of research. We should consider physical activity in post-infarct patients as one of the tools available to achieve goals that are set by comprehensive rehabilitation programs in balance with the needs of the individual patient.

Are the goals of cardiac rehabilitation primarily to prolong life or mainly to achieve the highest quality of life? By exercising our patients we know that they will become fit and that they will enjoy the benefits of fitness. This is not a plea against secondary prevention but in my view too much emphasis has been placed on the effects of exercise training on physiopathology and natural history of the coronary disease, and not enough on the effects of exercise training on the coronary patient, on his health, his fitness and his overall well-being.

So even, if we have to admit that there is no definite evidence that exercise prevents reinfarction, exercise training should be considered as one of the most important advices that we can give to selected patients in order to bring them in the healthiest post-infarct condition and to provide them the best chances for enjoying life.

References

 Cobb FR, Williams RS, McEwan P, Jones RH, Coleman RE, Wallace AG: Effects of exercise training on ventricular function in patients with recent myocardial infarction. Circulation 66: 100, 1982

- 2. De Backer G, DePoorter AM, Willems P, Varewijck E: The influence of rehabilitation on the physical performance after myocardial infarction: a controlled trial. Acta Cardiol 29: 427, 1974
- Erdman RAM, Duivenvoorden HJ: Psychologic evaluation of a cardiac rehabilitation program: a randomized clinical trial in patients with myocardial infarction. J Cardiac Rehabilitation 3: 696, 1983
- Froelicher V, Jensen D, Genter F, Sullivan M, McKirnan MD, Witztum K, Scharf J, Strong ML, Ashburn W: A randomized trial of exercise training in patients with coronary heart disease. J Am Med Ass 252: 1291, 1984
- 5. Hagberg JM, Ehsani AA, Holloszy JO: Effect of 12 months of intense exercise training on stroke volume in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 67: 1194, 1983
- Heinzelmann F: Social and psychological factors that influence the effectiveness of exercise programs. In: Naughton JP, Hellerstein HK (eds) Exercise testing and exercise training in coronary heart disease. New York, Academic Press, 1973, p 225
- 7. Hung J, Gordon EP, Houston N, Haskell WL, Goris ML, DeBusk RF: Changes in rest and exercise myocardial perfusion and left ventricular function 3 to 26 weeks after clinically uncomplicated acute myocardial infarction: effects of exercise training. Am J Cardiol 54: 943, 1984
- Kellerman JJ: Physical conditioning in patients after myocardial infarction. Schweiz Med Wschr 103: 79, 1973
- 9. Kentala E: Physical fitness and feasibility of physical rehabilitation after myocardial infarction in men of working age. Ann Clin Res 4 (suppl 9): 1, 1972
- Mayou R, MacMahon D, Sleight P, Florencio MJ: Early rehabilitation after myocardial infarction. Lancet 2: 1399, 1981
- Naismith LD, Robinson JF, Shaw GB, MacIntyre NMJ: Psychological rehabilitation after myocardial infarction. Brit Med J 1: 439, 1979
- 12. Palatsi I: Feasibility of physical training after myocardial infarction and its effect on return to work, morbidity and mortality. Acta Med Scand (Suppl): 559, 1976
- 13. Rechnitzer PA: The effect of exercise prescription on the recurrence rate of myocardial infarction in men. Am J Cardiol 47: 419, 1981
- Sanne H: Exercise tolerance and physical training of non-selected patients after myocardial infarction. Acta Med Scand (Suppl) 551: 1, 1973
- 15. Shaw LW (for the NEHDP): Effects of a prescribed supervised exercise program on mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in patients after a myocardial infarction: The National Exercise and Heart Disease Project. Am J Cardiol 48: 39, 1981
- Siscovick DS, Weiss NS, Fletcher RH, Lasky T: The incidence of primary cardiac arrest during vigorous exercise. N Engl J Med 311: 874, 1984
- Verani MS, Hartung GH, Hoepfel-Harris J, Welton DE, Pratt GM, Miller RR, DeVentura LA: Effects of exercise training on left ventricular performance and myocardial perfusion in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 47: 797, 1981
- Vermeulen A, Heyboer C, Lie KI: Een vergelijkend onderzoek naar de invloed van een revalidatieprogramma bij hartinfarctpatiënten. Ned T Geneesk 122: 1737, 1978
- Weaver WD, Cobb LA, Hallstrom AP: Characteristics of survivors of exertion- and nonexertionrelated cardiac arrest: value of subsequent exercise testing. Am J Cardiology 50: 671, 1982
- WHO, Regional Office Europe. Rehabilitation and comprehensive secondary prevention after acute myocardial infarction. Report on a study. Euro Reports and Studies, 84, WHO, 1983

166

The organization and implementation of a cardiac rehabilitation program in a district general hospital

D. DUGMORE, M. BONE and M. KUBIK

Summary

The use of exercise in the rehabilitation of patients suffering from myocardial infarction (MI) has been increasingly advocated in the United Kingdom. Within the Dudley Health Authority we have been running a regular exercise clinic for post-MI patients since 1977. This paper will discuss the practical guidelines and physiological principles which have been applied to the effective running of this program. Four to six weeks following MI selected patients are recruited to a hospital-based exercise clinic. Physical training is centred upon the use of both interval and continuous aerobic exercise. During the first four weeks of training telemetry is used to monitor for arrhythmias and individual heart rate response to exercise. All physical activities are performed under medical supervision. Following four to six months of training, patients are then transferred to a community based exercise program. Both exercise regimes are supervised by an exercise physiologist and specialist coronary care nurses. Until December 1984 over 462 patients have been processed. Over this period of seven years four of these patients have died from sudden death, usually occurring towards the end of or in the immediate recovery period after exercise. Guidelines for effective and relatively safe exercise prescription are also outlined.

Introduction

The use of exercise has been advocated in the rehabilitation of patients suffering from myocardial infarction (MI) [6, 10]. One of the main concerns with this form of treatment has been the worry that exercise may be potentially harmful [8]. Within the Dudley Health Authority we have been running a regular exercise program for post-MI patients since 1977. During this time 462 patients have taken part. Four sudden deaths have occurred over this period. All of these were considered to be cardiac in origin but one was unrelated to exercise. There was also one episode of ventricular fibrillation which was successfully resuscitated. The program, therefore, has a proven level of safety in a high risk population.

The principles which have led to the successful organization and implementation of this program are outlined.

Organization

At four to six weeks after myocardial infarction, following the physician's recommendation, the patient is invited to attend the exercise rehabilitation program.

At that time each patient is carefully reassessed with respect to a history of:

- 1. recent chest pain;
- 2. palpitations;
- 3. shortness of breath;
- 4. faintness or dizziness upon exertion;
- 5. current medication.

Subsequently a twelve-lead ECG is performed and examined for any changes since the record before discharge. If these tests show no contra-indication the patient is enrolled in the exercise rehabilitation program. It should be appreciated that there is considerable individual variation amongst post-MI patients in their ability to exercise (partly related to their previous level of fitness). The contra-indications and special precautions relating to exercise training applied to these patients are listed in Table 1.

Each patient's physical condition must be assessed when planning and implementing an exercise routine. Therefore, every individual has a personal exercise prescription card (Figure 1) which is continually updated with reference to his reaction to exercise as judged by heart rate, blood pressure, perceived exertion and recovery response. The amount of time spent in aerobic exercise is also recorded and modifications are made to the training routine based on each patient's individual progress.

Table 1. Contra-indications and special precautions related to exercise training

Contra-indications

- 1. Presence of overt signs of heart failure.
- 2. Occurrence of recent cardiac type chest pain.
- 3. Presence of systolic hypertension, e.g. more than 200 mmHg at rest or above 250 mmHg during exercise depending on the patient's age and treatment, or an excessive fall of systolic blood pressure during exercise.
- 4. Frequent multifocal ventricular extrasystoles precipitated by exercise and uncontrolled by medication.

Precautions

Particular care is taken with those subjects

- a) taking drugs such as cardiac glycosides, beta-blockers and anti-arrhythmic agents;
- b) suffering from other conditions which may interfere with the ability to exercise, e.g. asthma, chronic obstructive airways disease and peripheral vascular disease and arthritis.

168

NAME:	WEEK 1		1	WEEK 2		WEEK 3			WEEK 4		
Date											
Pain History											
Pre-exercise blood pressure											
Pre-exercise heart rate											
Running on Spot											
Recovery											
Sit ups											
Wall Bar Step ups											
Recovery											
Bench Step ups											
Recovery											
Bicycle Ergometer Work											
Recovery											
Free running											
Recovery											
Post-exercise blood pressure											
Post-exercise heart rate											
Target heart rate											
Aerobic Time											
Rate of perceived exercise											
ECG report											
Drug therapy											
% Body Fat											
CRI											
GROUP											
					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			<u> </u>			

Figure 1. Personal exercise prescription card.

For the first four to six weeks of training continuous electrocardiographic observations are made using telemetry with ECG strips taken before, during and after exercise. Blood pressure is also measured at rest, during and following exercise. Throughout the training session, apart from the exercise physiologist, a physician and a specialist coronary care nurse are present. A portable defibrillator and resuscitation equipment with an assortment of emergency drugs are to hand during each of these sessions.

Principles of effective exercise

Each exercise session should include:

- 1. A warmup period;
- 2. A work period centred upon the development of aerobic capacity;
- 3. A recreational period designed to provide enjoyment;
- 4. A warmdown period.

When training the post-MI patient the following aspects of exercise should be avoided:

- 1. Heavy strength training routines involving the increasing use of isometric muscle contraction. (This activity leads to a rise in the diastolic blood pressure and a marked increase in the pressures within the chambers of the heart [6]).
- 2. Breath holding during the performance of any exercise which causes increased intra-thoracic pressure, thereby effecting right ventricular filling [6].
- 3. Work using anaerobic energy to any marked degree causing an excessive heart rate response and an excessive demand on ventilation [6].
- 4. Sudden and sharp surges of high intensity exercise followed by equally sudden cessation of exercise. This type of activity may place undue strain upon the heart and reduce the working muscles ability to support venous return [6].

Mode of exercise training

The basic theme of an exercise regime is to increase the patient's aerobic capacity [1, 2, 4, 5, 6]. This can be accomplished using either 'intermittent' or 'continuous' forms of training [2].

During the early months of conditioning it is possible to utilize a major portion of the oxygen transporting capacity by the use of intermittent forms of training. The effectiveness of this technique in improving O_2 transporting capacity will depend upon the ratio of work to recovery intervals together with the intensity and type of exercise being performed. The time spent on initial work bouts should be accompanied by an equal or slightly longer recovery period [9].

170

This approach provides a gradual acclimatization to physical work during the early months of conditioning. Following the successful completion of this first section of the training program, where gradual reductions in the recovery intervals between work periods may be made, more continuous forms of aerobic training may then be adopted. The early use of interval training as the main form of aerobic exercise possess several distinct advantages. In particular, the maintenance of stroke volume during the recovery intervals and the benefit to coronary blood flow by increased diastolic filling time supports the suitability of this mode of exercise in the conditioning of the post-MI subject.

Intensity of exercise training

Training intensity should be aimed at achieving 50–70% of the patient's functional work capacity [9]. The exact training threshold should be determined through careful reference to each patient's individual clinical and physiological status. It has been suggested that prescription of exercises for the post-MI subject on an individual basis using a percentage of maximal functional capacity reduces the chance of untoward events and maximizes training benefits [5]. The exercise should progress gradually from low, to middle, to high intensity and in some patients this may take as long as 3–4 years to develop fully.

Duration and frequency of exercise

The duration of work is eventually built up to exceed 30 min during each exercise session in order to develop positive increments in cardiovascular fitness. This 30 min period may comprise either of intermittent work bouts of up to 5 min duration with short recovery periods or more continuous forms of training. This again will depend on the clinical and physiological status of each patient and the amount of time previously spent in training.

Each patient should attend a training session at least three times per week. This represents the minimum frequency of training required to achieve a beneficial effect [2, 4, 6, 9].

Recovery during and following exercise

Patients should be instructed to walk at their normal pace between higher intensity aerobic work bouts. The regular continuation of the muscle pumping action at a reduced rate encourages more effective venous return to the heart by avoiding venous pooling in the capacitance vessels thus easing the work of the heart and lungs.

Type and performance of exercise

Each exercise session commences with a gentle warm up concentrating on increasing flexibility of the major muscle groups by the use of static stretching. Ballistic stretching activities can often cause small tears at the site of the musculotendinous junction. This may result in painful injury. Alternative forms of nonweight bearing exercise (e.g. bicyle ergometer) may be used to allow a continuation of training to occur despite such injury – minimizing any loss in cardiorespiratory fitness. The aerobic work session follows, using a combination of bench stepping, wall bar stepping (which involves upper and lower limb movement, utilizing total body mass), running (on the spot and around a specified circuit), stationary bicycle ergometer work and sit ups; with recovery periods between each activity. This combination of exercise encourages the development of cardiorespiratory fitness and also reconditioning of the local musculature.

All exercises are performed in a rhythmical manner with no sudden cessation in work effort. This approach to exercise provides continuous support for venous return to the heart.

Changes in the exercise prescription should be made in the light of the patient's progress. Simple practical assessments of heart rate, level of perceived exertion, along with blood pressure response are used to guide these changes.

Occasionally temporary reductions in workload or an increase in recovery periods may be necessary to avoid complications such as excessive tachycardia, arrhythmias, ischaemic episodes or abnormal blood pressure responses. These reductions may then be followed by further conditioning of the patient with no adverse effect.

Community exercise training

The initial exercise program which takes place within the hospital under close medical supervision lasts for 4–6 months depending on each patients progress. As stated previously, a maximal training effect is achieved following three years of regular controlled exercise. With the limited resources available to a district general hospital in the U.K. and with the regular influx of new post-MI patients, it was recognized that a long-term community-based program was both commendable and required. The positive benefits experienced by the patients themselves also provide the motivation for the establishment of this community-based program (The Cardirian Club).

We were fortunate to be allowed the use of a gymnasium at a Local Institute of Higher Education with its excellent facilities. This club is administered and financed by the patients themselves thus providing them with a sense of responsibility, independence and self-confidence. This encourages their commitment to continuing exercise and a healthy life style.

172

Community exercise is supervised by the same hospital-based team and the same principles are applied. In addition education is given to patients and close family covering cardiopulmonary resuscitation, the principles of safe and effective exercise and healthy living. This community program has provided a basis for social interaction between club members and their families, promoting a positive outlook for all concerned.

The successful application of these principles has led to some members completing a ten-mile road run, a remarkable achievement in a country with one of the highest mortality rates for ischaemic heart disease. This club represents the final stage of exercise rehabilitation whereby the post-MI patient can train within a gymnasium outside the hospital setting but with qualified supervision and a confident approach to regular exercise.

Comments and observations

Although other post-myocardial infarction exercise programs have advocated more continuous forms of exercise training, we have found that the use of early intermittent training offers safe and effective conditioning. At a later stage more continuous forms of training are utilized.

Four deaths have occurred amongst patients on our program over an eight-year period. Three of these deaths have been directly related to exercise. Two of these deaths occurred 12 months after the initial infarct, and the other after 6 years. All of them had demonstrated a positive response to exercise rehabilitation, but two of them had experienced recent chest pain prior to the fatal episode and had failed to notify the program supervisor. The arrests occurred late in exercise and in two of the cases were related to the immediate recovery period.

These deaths coupled with the successfully resuscitated occurrence of ventricular fibrillation in one other patient on the hospital program which also occurred during the recovery phase of exercise, suggests that the recovery period requires close observation and vigilance.

The cause of death in two of these late episodes revealed no acute infarction and presumably must reflect a rhythm disturbance. We feel that this supports the continuing supervision of the community program by trained and experienced staff. The mortality, however, is relatively low in this high-risk population and supports the principles that we have used in organization and implementing this exercise rehabilitation program in a District General Hospital.

References

 American Heart Association. Standards for cardiovascular exercise treatment programmes. Circulation 59: 421A, 1979

- 2. Astrand PO, Rodahl K: Textbook of Work Physiology. Mc Graw Hill, New York, 1981
- 3. Chung EK: One Heart, One life. Prentice Hall Inc, New Jersey, 1982
- Cooper KH: The Aerobics Programme for Total Well-Being. M Evans and Company Inc, New York, 1982
- 5. Fardy PS: Cardiac rehabilitation A programme for the out-patient. In: Burke EJ (ed) Exercise Science and Fitness. Mouvement Publications, New York, 1980
- 6. Kavanagh TK: The Healthy Heart Programme. Van Nostrand Reinhold Ltd, Toronto, 1980
- 7. Pyfer HR, Mead WF, Frederick RC, Docne BL: Exercise rehabilitation in coronary heart disease: community group programmes. Arch Phys Med Rehab 57: 335, 1976
- Rost R: The reason for detrimental effects of physical training on patients after myocardial infarction. In: Mathes P, Halhuber MJ (eds) Controversies in Cardiac Rehabilitation. Springer Verlag Publications, Berlin, 1982
- 9. Shepherd RJ, Kavanagh TK: What exercise to prescribe for the post MI patient. In: Burke EJ (ed) Exercise Science and Fitness. Mouvement Publications, New York, 1980
- 10. Tucker HT, Carson PHM, Bass NM, Sharratt GP, Stock JPP: Results of early mobilization and discharge after myocardial infarction. Brit Med J 1: 10, 1973

Correlates of the effect of physical training in cardiac patients

L. VANHEES, R. FAGARD, R. GRAUWELS, H. DE GEEST and A. AMERY

Summary

A retrospective analysis was performed in 118 patients with heart disease, who were trained for 3 months. Peak oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_2$) increased with 38%. Multiple regression analysis revealed that the gain in peak oxygen uptake after the training program was more important when the initial peak oxygen uptake was low, when a history of angina and dyspnoea were absent and when the training intensity and frequency was high (R = 0.62). It was not related to the type of myocardial infarction, peak CPK, cardiac function, medical treatment, ST depression or arrhythmias.

In conclusion, these data indicate that both training characteristics and the condition of the patient before starting the program are related to the training effect, at least in the population studied.

Introduction

Physical training in patients with a previous myocardial infarction, after coronary artery bypass surgery, or certain other cardiac diseases, is widely used. However, it is still unclear which factors determine the changes of physical capacity observed after training. Therefore, we correlated the changes in peak oxygen uptake, observed after a 3-month physical training program in cardiac patients, with several factors related to the patient characteristics at entry and to the characteristics of the training program.

Methods

Patients

Among 298 male patients with ischaemic heart disease, referred to the cardiac rehabilitation unit in the period 1979–1983 118 patients met the following criteria
for acceptance in this retrospective analysis. They performed a graded exercise test until exhaustion as well before as after 3 months of physical training; patients with a history of angina were included when angina did not limit the exercise tests. Medical drug treatment was not changed during the training period.

The age of the patients averaged 53 (range 33–67) years, weight was 71 (51–115) kg and blood pressure 130 (96–190)/88 (68–116) mm Hg. Eighty-six patients had suffered from a myocardial infarction (MI) of whom 17 had undergone coronary artery bypass surgery (CABS). Eighteen underwent CABS without a previous MI. Six patients had only angina without MI or CABS. Two patients were referred for hypertension, 4 for Da Costa syndrome and two after valve replacement. Also 29 patients with either a previous MI or CABS had angina pectoris which did however not limit the exercise tests.

Testing procedure

Before starting the training program each patient performed a graded exercise test on the bicycle ergometer (Siemens 380B) in an air-conditioned laboratory (temperature 18 to 22°). The initial work load was 20 Watt and the load was increased with 30 Watt every 4 min until exhaustion. Oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_2$) was continuously measured using an open circuit system (Siemens FD84). Heart rate (HR) was calculated from the continuously recorded electrocardiogram (ECG). The same testing procedure was performed after the 3-month training period.

Training program

The physical training program was designed so that patients would exercise indoors for 3 months, 3 times weekly, for a total duration of 75 minutes for each exercise session. Each session consisted of cycling, rowing, armwork, running and predominantly isotonic calisthenics. The initial training intensity was adapted to 60% of the measured maximal exercise capacity for each patient and was increased gradually during the training period.

Data analysis

Changes in oxygen uptake at peak exercise over the training period were related to various factors using single and step-up multiple regression analysis. The factors considered are for all subjects: age, weight, pre-training systolic and diastolic blood pressure, training attendance and intensity and pre-training peak oxygen uptake; for the patients with a previous MI or CABS: the delay between this cardiac event and onset of training and peak CPK for the patients with a previous MI.

For the comparison of the training response of various subgroups, one way analysis of variance was used. The dispersion of the data is given by standard error of the mean (SEM).

Results

The average duration of the training period was 14.1 ± 0.2 weeks and the attendance frequency was 2.4 ± 0.05 times per week. The average intensity of training defined as the ratio of the average exercise heart rate during the last three weeks of rehabilitation over the peak heart rate at the pretraining exercise test was $99 \pm 2\%$.

In the total group peak oxygen uptake increased with 38% (Table 1). Also the peak external work load of 127 ± 3 Watt increased with 38% to 175 ± 3 Watt. The increase in exercise capacity was associated with a higher peak heart rate after training, but the peak oxygen pulse still increased with 23%. The changes in peak oxygen uptake were similar in patients with a myocardial infarction, with coronary artery bypass surgery and with both. In Table 2 the results of various subgroups are compared. Only patients who complained of dyspnoea before starting the training program had a lower increase in peak oxygen uptake after training (p<0.05). Figure 1 illustrates that there was no difference in the response to training according to the resting ejection fraction obtained during catheterisation in the non-operated patients.

Single regression analysis (Table 3) showed that the increase in peak oxygen uptake was positively related to training characteristics, such as attendance (r = .31, p < 0.001) and training intensity (r = .27, p < 0.01) and inversely related to the initial exercise capacity (r = -.27, p < 0.01). Multiple regression analysis revealed significant partial correlation coefficients between the increase in peak oxygen uptake and initial peak oxygen uptake (r = -.32), training intensity (r = .29), presence of complaints of angina pectoris (r = -.25) or dyspnoea (r = -.23) and training frequency (r = .23) (R = 0.62, p<0.001).

Table 1. Oxygen consumption, heart rate and oxygen pulse at peak exercise before and after physical training (n = 118).

	Before training	After training	Difference
Peak VO ₂ (ml/min)	1159 ± 38	2150 ± 42	591 ± 31* * *
Peak VO ₂ (ml/min/kg)	22.1 ± 0.5	30.2 ± 0.6	8.2 ± 0.44* * *
Peak HR (beats/min)	128 ± 2	144 ± 2	16 ± 2* * *
Peak oxygen pulse (ml/beat)	12.3 ± 0.3	15.1 ± 0.3	$2.8 \pm 0.2^{***}$

Data are means \pm SEM.

*** P<0.001.



Figure 1. Comparison of the effect of training on peak oxygen uptake in 4 groups of patients, divided according to their left ventricular function. Only the resting ejection fractions of the non-operated patients were considered in this analysis.

There was no relationship between the change in peak oxygen uptake and the time between the event and admission to the training program, neither in single nor in multiple regression analysis. This time averaged 143 ± 18 days.

When the analysis was performed using the change in peak oxygen pulse to express the training effect, similar results were found.

Table 2. Changes in peak oxygen uptake (ml/min) after physical training: comparison between groups.

Patients with transmural myocardial infarction $(n = 68)$	569 ± 47	NS	587 ± 70	Patients with non-transmural myocardial infarction $(n = 18)$
Patients with inferior myocardial infarction (n = 35)	557 ± 55	NS	589 ± 44	Patients with anterior myocardial infarction $(n = 47)$
Patients treated with β -blockers (n = 69)	607 ± 40	NS	572 ± 53	Patients not tread with β -blockers (n = 49)
Patients treated with digitalis $(n = 23)$	616 ± 79	NS	589 ± 35	Patients not treated with digitalis $(n = 95)$
Patients with significant exercise induced ST depression (>1 mm) (n = 23)	627 ± 72	NS	482 ± 34	Patients without significant exercise induced ST depression (n = 95)
Patients with frequent* rhythm disturbances $(n = 20)$	525 ± 78	NS	605 ± 34	Patients without frequent rhythm disturbances (n = 98)
Patients with a history of angina pectoris $(n = 35)$	533 ± 63	NS	616 ± 35	Patients without a history of angina pectoris $(n = 83)$
Patients with complaints of dyspnoea $(n = 14)$ Data are means \pm SEM	422 ± 92	P<0.05	614 ± 32	Patients without complaints of dyspnoea (n = 104)

* Frequent rhythm disturbances were defined as supraventricular or ventricular arrhythmias which occurred at one of the exercise tests with a minimal frequency of at least ten or more or as multifocal and/or couplets of ventricular extrasystoles.

Discussion

In the present investigation, the training program was effective in increasing peak oxygen uptake and exercise duration with 38%. These increases were associated with higher peak heart rates after training, probably due to less fear, less muscle pain and/or a better motivation to exercise up to exhaustion after the training period. The change in peak oxygen pulse is probably a better estimate of the true training response; it also increased, with 23%. However, since the analysis on the change in peak oxygen pulse provides the same results as the one using peak oxygen uptake, only data of the latter analysis are presented.

The increase in peak oxygen uptake after the training program was positively related to such training characteristics as training intensity and attendance, which is in agreement with other reports [3, 5, 6]. Also the negative correlation of the increase in peak oxygen uptake with the pre-training peak oxygen uptake is generally observed [7, 10]. Complaints of dyspnoea and of angina before starting the training program were negative predictors for the increase in oxygen uptake after training. The latter is in apparent contradiction with findings of Detry *et al.* [1] who reported a more pronounced increase in symptom-limited exercise capacity after training in patients with angina pectoris than in post-myocardial infarction patients without angina pectoris. It should be stressed, however, that the patients with angina in our study reported a history of angina but were not limited by angina during stress-testing.

Other factors were not related to the effects of training: the type of myocardial infarction, left ventricular function as judged from the ejection fraction on the angiogram, and the occurrence of significant ST segment depression or arrhythmias at the exercise test. Also patients with a myocardial infarction re-

Х	b	а	n	r
Age (yrs)	-2.37	717	118	r =05
Weight (kg)	3.7	330	117	r = .11
Pre-training systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-2.3	894	118	r =14
Pre-training diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-1.5	722	118	r =05
Delay between cardiac event and onset of training (weeks)	17	617	104	r =08
Peak CPK (U/I)	0.06	535	66	r = .11
Training attendance (n per week)	233	41	112	r = .31***
Training intensity (%)	6.32	-34	112	r = .27* *
Pre-training peak VO ₂ (ml/min)	21	+926	118	r =27***
Pre-training peak VO ₂ (ml/min/kg)	-21.1	+1059	117	$r =35^* * *$

Table 3. Single regression equations (Y = bX + a) between changes in peak oxygen uptake (Y) and several characteristics (X).

Abbreviations: n = number of observations; r = correlation coefficient. ** P<0.005; *** P<0.001.

sponded similarly than patients who had undergone coronary surgery, whether or not preceded by an infarction.

Also age was not significantly related to the training response (r = -.05). This indicates that alo elderly patients may benefit from training, which agrees with a previous study on the patients over 60 (2). The pretraining systolic and diastolic blood pressure, weight and the time interval between the occurrence of the cardiac event and the start of the training program (4) were also not related to the training effect. Finally, there was no relationship between the training effect and digitalis- or beta-blocker treatment, the latter confirming previous studies [8, 9].

When interpreting these results, one should however bear in mind the defaults of a retrospective analysis. Also the present conclusion can only be applied to the patients referred to the training program; patients with severe heart failure, instable angina, severe hypertension, a.o. were not referred to the training program. Furthermore the data of those patients who dropped out of the program (n = 57), of those where the medication was changed (n = 69) and those who did not perform maximal exercise tests as well before as after the training program (n = 54) were excluded from analysis. Therefore the present analysis was performed in a selected group of patients.

In conclusion, this analysis identifies some training characteristics and some factors related to the condition of the patient before starting the training program, which are related to the training effect, at least in the studied population.

References

- Detry JM, Rousseau H, Vandenbroucke G, Kusumi F, Brasseur L, Bruce R: Increased arteriovenous oxygen difference after physical training in coronary heart disease. Circulation 44: 109, 1971
- 2. Fagard R, Reybrouck T, Vanhees L, Cattaert A, Vanmeenen T, Grauwels R, Amery A: The effects of beta blockers on exercise capacity and on training response in elderly subjects. Eur Heart J 5: 117, 1984
- 3. Hellerstein HK: Rehabilitation following myocardial infarction. In: Cohn PF (ed) Diagnosis and Therapy of Coronary Artery Disease. Brown and Company, Boston, 1983, p 464
- Kelbaek H, Eskildsen P, Hansen PF, Godtfredsen J: Spontaneous and/or training-induced haemodynamic changes after myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 1: 205, 1981
- 5. Paterson DH, Shephard RJ, Cunningham D, Jones NL. Andrew G: Effects of physical training on cardiovascular function following myocardial infarction. J appl Physiol 47: 482, 1979
- 6. Pollock ML, Ward A, Ayres JJ: Cardiorespiratory fitness: response to differing intensities and durations of training. Arch Phys Med Rehab 58: 467, 1977
- Shephard RJ: Intensity, duration and frequency of exercise as determinants of the response to a training regime. Internationale Zeitschrift f
 ür angewändte Physiologie einschliesslich Arbeitsphysiologie 26: 272, 1968
- 8. Vanhees L, Fagard R, Amery A: Influence of beta-adrenergic blockade on effects of physical training in patients with ischemic heart disease. Brit Heart J 48: 33, 1982
- 9. Vanhees L, Fagard R, Amery A: Influence of beta-adrenergic blockade on the hemodynamic effects of physical training in patients with ischemic heart disease. Am Heart J 108: 270, 1984
- Velasco JA, Tormo V, Ridocci F, Ferrer CM: Factors predicting the result of physical training after acute myocardial infarction. Ann Clin Res 14: 32, 1982

Coronary collaterals: protective effects during physical training?

R. WOLF and P. LICHTLEN

Summary

In 47 patients with proven coronary heart disease a standardized bicycle ergometric test was performed before and after a six-week physical training program, consisting of twice-daily jogging or cycling for 40-min periods. Maximal workload achieved, heart rate, exercise duration and the systolic pressure-rate product were determined at the time of development of limiting symptoms and/or ischaemic ST depression, or when the age-predicted maximum heart rate was reached. Patients were angiographically separated into groups with proximal occlusion of one major coronary vessel and complete collateral filling (group A: LAD 15, LCx or RCA 11) or high-grade (>75-90%, mean: 88.3%) stenosis without collaterals (group B: LAD 9, LCx or RCA 12). In both groups the remaining vessels and post-stenotic wall motion were normal. There were no significant differences in age, sex distribution, site of diseased vessels or ejection fraction. Maximal heart rate and the double product remained unchanged after training in both groups, and did not differ significantly between the two groups. Capacity and duration of exercise significantly increased with training. The frequency of ST segment depression was comparable in both groups. In patients with a positive exercise ECG, the ischaemic threshold, evaluated in terms of the maximal heart rate and the double product, remained constant after training and showed no significant differences between both groups. We thus conclude that under these specific anatomic conditions, collaterals show a significant but limited protective effect during excessive stress, maintained after a short-term training program.

Introduction

The pathophysiologic relevance of coronary collaterals in chronic coronary heart disease remains subject to debate [5, 8]. It is generally accepted that coronary blood flow through large collateral vessels may be sufficient to maintain a normal resting oxygen supply and myocardial wall function [1, 4, 12], however this metabolic balance between oxygen supply and demand is not representative of the ischaemic situation under conditions of increased energy requirements. Fur-

thermore, one would assume that a physical training program could stimulate the growth and functional capacity of coronary collaterals [10, 11]. Conflicting results are due primarily to methodological factors such as analysis of collateral perfusion in incompletely occluded coronary vessels, so that the separate contributions of collateral and antegrade blood flow cannot be clearly differentiated. Hence, we here investigated the clinical role of coronary collaterals in patients with totally occluded coronary vessels without myocardial infarction, compared to subtotally stenosed coronary vessels without collateral perfusion. We sought to determine whether an entirely collateral flow can exert a significant preventive effect against stress-induced ischaemia, by comparison with high-grade obstructed coronary arteries without collateral perfusion. This was studied by comparison of the exercise capacity and the ischaemic threshold in patients with and without collateral supply. Furthermore, the effects of physical training were evaluated in the two groups.

Methods

Exercise studies were performed in two groups of coronary patients, defined by the following angiographic criteria:

Group 1: proximal complete obstruction of one major coronary branch with all perfusion by large collaterals, originating from non-obstructed branches; *Group 2:* high-graded (>75–90%) obstruction of one major coronary artery without visible collateral filling on angiography.

In all patients the remaining coronary arteries had no significant obstructions and regional wall motion of the post-stenotic left ventricular segment was normal or only minimally reduced.

Both patient groups underwent upright bicycle ergometry with increasing workloads on an electrically braked ergometer. Workload increments of 25 Watt were added every 2 min until the development of limiting chest pain, dyspnoea, fatigue, ischaemic ST segment depression, or when the age-predicted maximal heart rate was reached. Heart rate, systolic blood pressure, and the electrocardio-gram were recorded at the end of each minute of exercise and upon the onset of ischaemia. The onset of an ischaemic reaction was defined as the moment at which the subject developed significant ST segment depression (>0.1 mV) in at least 2 leads, independently of angina pectoris. Maximal workload, exercise duration, heart rate, and the systolic pressure-rate product were determined.

Subsequently, both patient groups were referred to a six-week exercise training program. Subjects trained for 40 min twice a day, 5 times weekly. Each training session consisted of warmup and cooldown periods, jogging or stationary cycling. Patients exercised at or near their maximal heart rate before the onset of

ischaemic ST depression. During the training period each patient received nitrates and, if necessary, calcium-antagonists in an individualized dosage to permit exercise without anginal pain. No patient required additional treatment with beta-blockers. At the end of the exercise training period each patient underwent a second symptom-limited bicycle stress test, using the initial exercise protocol. All anti-anginal drugs except nitroglycerin were withheld for 48 hours prior to the first and second exercise test.

Results

Clinical and angiographic results for both groups of patients, those with and those without collaterals, are summarized in Table 1. There were no significant differences in terms of distribution by age, sex, localization of diseased coronary arteries or the ejection fraction. The degree of stenosis in patients without collaterals averaged 88.3 ± 8.6 (SD)% reduction of the internal luminal diameter. Maximal heart rate, workload, exercise duration and the systolic pressure-rate product are presented in Figure 1. Both before and after training there were no significant differences between coronary patients with and without collaterals. After a 6-week training period, significantly higher workloads and exercise duration were tolerated by both groups. No significant changes in the maximal heart rate or the double product were observed at the onset of limiting symptoms.

The incidence of positive (ST segment depression >0.1 mV), negative or questionable results of the exercise ECG in patients with and without collaterals is indicated in Table 2. Before and after training, there was neither a significant difference between the two groups nor a shift in the individual patients.

The results of bicycle ergometry in patients with exercise-induced ischaemic ST segment depression, both before and after physical training, are summarized in

	Collaterals $(N = 26)$	No collaterals $(N = 21)$
Age (years)	52.5 ± 7.4	$53.2 \pm 6.3 \ (2 P = ns)$
Men	22	21
Diseased vessel		
LAD	15	$\binom{9}{12}$ (x ² = 1.02; 2 P = ns)
LCX/RCA	11	$12 \int (x^2 = 1.02; 2P = ns)$
Grade of obstruction (%)	100	88.3 ± 8.6
Ejection fraction (%)	63.7 ± 8.1	$64.0 \pm 9.7 \ (2 P = ns)$

Table 1. Clinical and angiographic data in coronary patients with and without collateral vessels.

Values one means \pm SD.



Figure 1. Maximal heart rate, workload, exercise duration, and systolic pressure-rate product before and after training in patients with collaterals and patients with high grade obstruction without collaterals.

Table 2. Results of exercise ECG (bicycle ergometry) in coronary patients with and without collateral vessels.

	Collaterals	No collaterals
Positive	14	12
Negative	7	5
Questionable	5	4

Tables 3 and 4. Physical work capacity and exercise duration increased in both groups; this increase was significant only in the group with collateral circulation. Maximal heart rate and systolic pressure-rate product at the onset of ischaemic ST depression were not significantly changed after training in either group. Furthermore, no significant difference between these parameters for the two groups could be demonstrated before and after physical training.

	Collaterals (N = 14)	No collaterals (N = 12)
Maximal heart rate before training (B/min)	119.6 ± 19.4 (2 P = ns)	133.7 ± 18.3 (2P = ns) (2 P = ns)
Maximal heart rate after training (B/min)	129.9 ± 22.7	135.6 ± 20.4 (2P = ns)
SPRP before training	202.5 ± 40.2 (2 P = ns)	228.9 ± 46.8 (2P = ns) (2 P = ns)
SPRP after training	228.5 ± 53.5	233.6 ± 53.9 (2P = ns)
Age-related maximal heart rate (B/min)	165.9 ± 8.3	166.5 ± 6.5 (2P = ns)

Table 3. Results of bicycle ergometry in patients with and without collaterals *and* positive exercise ECG before and after physical training.

Values are means \pm SD. SPRP = Systolic pressure-rate product (mmHg/min/10²).

Table 4. Results of bicycle ergometry in patients with and without collaterals and positive exercise ECG before and after physical training.

	Collaterals $(N = 14)$	No collaterals $(N = 12)$
Observed PWC before training (Watt)	101.3 ± 34.1 (2 P<0.001)	118.3 ± 24.2 (2P = ns) (2 P = ns)
Observed PWC after training (Watt)	141.1 ± 33.8	132.5 ± 29.6 (2P = ns)
Exercise duration before training (min)	5.79 ± 1.25 (2 P<0.001)	6.42 ± 2.31 (2P = ns) (2P = ns)
Exercise duration after training (min)	(7.50 ± 1.65)	7.50 ± 1.88 (2P = ns)

Values are means \pm SD. PWC = physical work capacity.

Discussion

These results are in agreement with recent experimental and clinical data, and with observations during coronary bypass surgery, indicating a significant reduction in dilatory reserve in post-stenotic areas perfused by subtotally stenosed coronary arteries or by collaterals only. It was suggested that the conductivity of collaterals during maximal vasodilatation corresponds to one-third of the normal coronary conductivity and is equivalent to high-grade stenosis [1, 4, 5, 7, 9, 12]. In our study, global resting ventricular function, haemodynamic data and stress tolerance up to an ischaemic reaction were comparable in patients with one isolated high-grade coronary artery stenosis and in patients with complete obstruction and entire collateral perfusion.

A six-week physical training program had no significant effect on the maximal heart rate and double product at the onset of ischaemic symptoms, indicating no increase in regional oxygen supply by newly developed or functionally improved collateral vessels [6]. Improved exercise capacity and duration in these patients may therefore by attributed to adaptations in the trained skeletal muscles; indeed, the onset of ischaemia in response to a given load was delayed but there was no significant increase in the ischaemic threshold as reflected by the systolic pressure-rate product [3, 10, 11]. This is in agreement with recent data from Schaper [10] who did not find an effect of physical training on collateral resistance in chronic coronary artery occlusion in dogs. In our study, patients with well-developed collateral vessels were untrained before angiography; it therefore seems that the presence or absence of collaterals is primarily determined by the progression and severity of the underlying coronary artery disease.

We can thus conclude that large collaterals show a significant but clearly limited protective effect during stress. A short-term training program did not improve ischaemic threshold in patients with pre-existing collaterals, but did increase exercise capacity, probably a peripheral circulatory effect. Nevertheless, a collateral supply of areas at risk may significantly improve myocardial perfusion compared to a severely stenosed or occluded vessel in the absence of collateral perfusion [2].

References

- 1. Eng C, Patterson RE, Horwitz SF, Halgash DA, Pichard AD, Midwall J, Herman MV, Gorlin R: Coronary collateral function during exercise. Circulation 66: 309, 1982
- 2. Feldmann RL, Pepine CJ: Evaluation of coronary collateral circulation in conscious humans. Am J Cardiol 53: 1233, 1984
- Ferguson RJ, Charlebois J, Taylor AW, Coté P, Péronnet F, Champlain J, Bourassa MG: Peripheral adaptations with training in patients with angina pectoris. Circulation 60 (suppl II): II-235, 1979
- Flameng W, Schwarz F, Hehrlein F, Boel A: Functional significance of coronary collaterals in man. Basic Res Cardiol 73: 188, 1978

- Gottwick M, Schaper W: Do coronary collaterals have protective potential? J Cardiovasc Med 7: 1272, 1982
- Hoffmann JI, Buckberg GD: The myocardial supply: demand ratio A critical review. Am J Cardiol 41: 327, 1978
- 7. Lichtlen PR, Wolf R, Engel HJ, Hundeshagen H: Coronary dilatatory reserve of severely obstructed coronary arteries and collaterals. Circulation 58 (suppl II): II-750, 1978
- 8. McGregor M: The coronary collateral circulation. Circulation 52: 529, 1975
- Schaper W, Flameng W, Winkler B, Wüsten B, Türschmann W, Neugebauer G, Carl M, Pasyk S: Quantification of collateral resistance in acute and chronic experimental coronary occlusion in the dog. Circulation Res 39: 371, 1976
- Schaper W: Influence of physical exercise on coronary collateral blood flow in chronic experimental two-vessel occlusion. Circulation 65: 905, 1982
- Verani MS, Hartung GH, Hoepfel-Harris J, Welton DE, Pratt CM, Miller RR: Effects of exercise training on left ventricular performance and myocardial perfusion in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 47: 797, 1981
- Wolf R, Engel HJ, Hundeshagen H, Lichtlen P: Collateral myocardial blood flow at rest and after maximal arteriolar dilatation in patients with ischemic heart disease. In: Lichtlen P, Balcon R, Bussemann WD, Kaltenbach M (eds) Coronary Heart Disease. 3rd International Symposium Frankfurt. Thieme, 1978, p 61

Follow-up study in 25 asymptomatic sportsmen with Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern

L. MACIEL, O. COSTA, A. OLIVEIRA, F. SEPULVEDA, M. ESPIGA MACEDO and A. FALCÃO DE FREITAS

Summary

In order to assess the natural history of asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) syndrome, 25 sportsmen aged 27.6 years (range 15–44 years) with a WPW pattern on the ECG have been studied. In all cases, a history was taken, along with a complete physical examination, ECG and M-mode echocardiogram (since 1978) in order to exclude concurrent heart disease. Patients were seen at least once annually at our center. On at least one occasion a maximal exercise tolerance test and a 24-h Holter monitoring were performed, and in 13 subjects, the ajmaline test was carried out.

Mean follow-up is now 9.9 years (range 1–26 years). One subject had a myocardial infarction at age 44 and retired. Holter monitoring detected a single asymptomatic episode of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation with an RR interval of 290 msec in a still-active athlete. No sustained tachyarrhythmia was elicited by maximal exercise testing. We conclude that in this particular self-selected population, the WPW pattern appears to present a benign prognosis, with no greater risk of morbidity than in other asymptomatic groups.

Introduction

Pre-excitation has been considered a potentially dangerous condition due to the risk of arrhythmia and sudden death [1, 4, 5, 9]. A large number of studies are now available enabling us to interpret this condition in terms of morphological and physiological criteria [3, 7]. Most of these studies have been carried out in hospitalized subjects, either symptomatic or with a mix of symptomatic and asymptomatic patients, with or without evidence for arrhythmia. Medical judgement has been supported by this type of evidence.

The increasing number of ECGs taken on a routine basis has led to discovery of an increasing number of asymptomatic subjects, raising problems of counseling about professional activities or sports practice, with implications for medico-legal responsibility. The long-term prognosis for asymptomatic patients is not wellknown, and management remains controversial since follow-up studies are still lacking. After extensive review, Ward [7] recommended against granting pilot licences for solo flying to patients with asymptomatic 'safe' Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Other authors suggest that this condition may have a benign prognosis, and if intermittent, no special management is required [1].

In the Sports Medicine Center of Porto, athletes with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome (WPW) in the absence of concurrent heart disease have been allowed to engage in official competition under annual medical control. Data for 25 asymptomatic subjects are here reported.

Methods

Twenty-five asymptomatic athletes aged 26.7 years at the last visit (range 15–44 years), with persistent or intermittent Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) pattern defined as a QRS wider than 0.10 sec with a delta wave and PR interval less than 0.12 sec in width, were selected. Isolated short PR and symptomatic subjects (one case) were excluded.

A history, physical examination, standard 12-lead ECG and, since 1978, M-mode echocardiography along with maximal exercise testing and 24-h Holter monitoring were carried out. Concurrent heart disease constituted an exclusion criterion (hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in one case, atrial septal defect in one other).

Exercise testing was performed on an Avionics C16 A treadmill, using the Bruce protocol, or on a Monark cycloergometer with an interrupted protocol of 4 min exercise and 2 min rest (50 Watt incremments), using Mason and Likar monitoring and choosing a lead with a patent delta wave. The theoretical maximal heart rate was defined as (220 minus age) beats/min and has been the goal of the test, unless exhaustion appeared. Attention was given to development of arrhythmias and to QRS normalization patterns.

Random 24-h Holter monitoring was carried out repeatedly, focusing on arrhythmias and intermittency defined as appearance of at least one complex with normal AV conduction in sinus rhythm. An Avionics model 455B recorder and a 655B electrocardioscanner with a model 656 arrhythmia analyzer were used.

Thirteen subjects have been subjected to ajmaline testing, as described by Wellens *et al.* [8]. Fifty mg of ajmaline were injected in during 3 minutes, under continuous ECG control with ECG recordings at least every 30 seconds.

Results

General characteristics

The mean follow-up period was 9.9 years (range 1–26 years). Table 1 shows a general description of the population. Despite careful questioning about palpita-

tions, syncope and sudden weakness, no symptoms were noted. Patient No. 1 had a non-complicated inferior myocardial infarction at age 44, and has retired from official soccer practice (as a referee). He is now doing some jogging, and in December 1984, he performed a normal 12-min Bruce exercise test.

01 44 02 37 03 37 06 33 36 28 28	Surrer/Rof	ECG									
	Socret/Ref	1	Holter		Abrupt		Gradual	3			(cmaf)
	Succer/Ref					Total	Partial None	1			
		+	+	0				Init. NL		MI (1980)) 26
	Tennis			VPB isol.			+	VPB + APB	No		
	Soccer/Ref			0	+			APB	No		20
	Soccer			0		+		0	Yes		20
	Basketball	+	+	0				Init. NL			18
	Hockey	+	+	0	+			0	Yes		14
	Soccer	+	+	0				Init. NL			12
	Running			0			+	0			11
	Table tennis			0			+	0			11
	Soccer			0	+			0	Yes		П
	Soccer	+	+	0				Init. NL			Π
12 31	Handball			0			+	0			10
	Soccer			PAF	+			0	Yes	PAF	10
	Soccer	+		0	+(*)			0	Yes		8
	Running	+	+	0			+	0	Yes		7
16 33	Handball			0			+	0			7
	Soccer	+	+	APB				Init. NL			9
	Soccer			0			+	0	Yes		4
	Soccer	+	+	0	+			0	Yes		4
	Soccer			0			+	0			4
21 21	Soccer	+	+	APB + VPB	+			0	Yes		4
1 <i>1 1 1 1</i>	Conner	-	-	isol	-			c			,
		ł	÷	0	F			0	ICS		'n
ci 23	I able tennis		+	0			+	0			ę
	Soccer		+	0			+	0	Yes		7
25 25	Handball	+	+	VPB isol.				Init. NL			I
Mean 26.7	Total	12	14		7	-	4 7				Mean
											9.9
lair NI = Evercice teti initiated uith normal AV conductions MI = muccordial infractions VBB - Varcicular Down ADB - 4 12:10D											

190

Table 1. General description of subjects.

Holter monitoring

One episode of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation was detected by Holter monitoring in patient no. 13 in 1981, after nocturnal work, during initial sleep at 7:18 a.m. It lasted approximately one hour, and the subject was aware of nothing. During the episode, the minimal RR interval was 290 msec. There had been gradual and complete normalization of the QRS pattern in a previous exercise test, and the ajmaline test showed normalization of AV conduction. Further monitoring, carried out four times, failed to detect any further episodes. The patient is now allowed to play non-professional soccer, and remains asymptomatic.

No episode of paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia has been detected in any of the patients. Isolated ventricular premature beats graded Lown 2 in case No. 2 and Lown 1 in cases No. 15, 21 and 25 were seen in conjunction with a few premature atrial beats. Intermittency was seen in 14 subjects, 12 of whom showed an intermittent pattern on the standard 12-lead ECG.

Exercise test

Maximal exercise testing failed to provoke sustained atrial tachyarrhythmia in this group. Isolated ventricular premature beats were seen in 2 subjects during maximal exercise (cases No. 2 and 11). AV conduction was normal at the beginning of the exercise test in 6 subjects. There was abrupt normalization, i.e. sudden development of normal AV conduction in seven (37%) of the tests, including one case of abrupt normalization during recovery. There was no normalization in seven others (37%) and in the remaining five tests, there was gradual normalization, total or partial.

Ajmaline test

Thirteen subjects presenting pre-excitation at the time of consultation received an injection of 50 mg ajmaline. Normalization of AV conduction was seen in 11, in seven of whom intermittency had previously been detected on the standard ECG or by Holter monitoring. The other four had a constant pattern, and two of these patients showed no normalization during the maximal stress test (cases No. 18 and 24). Ajmaline failed to restore normal AV conduction in cases No. 2 and 3. Both showed persistent patterns during the exercise test and Holter monitoring. There were no complications with the ajmaline tests.

Discussion

In an athletic population such as we here studied, individuals are self-selected by their predisposition to perform exercise. The prevalence of heart disease is low, and when present it does not impair normal physical performance; complex investigation procedures may thus be poorly accepted by athletes. Nevertheless, it is essential that individual risk be accurately assessed.

In this group of asymptomatic athletes the WPW pattern did not decrease their drive to engage in official athletic competition. The mean follow-up has been 10 years. One subject developed a myocardial infarction, a condition unrelated to the WPW syndrome. The incidence of spontaneous atrial (8%) and ventricular (12%) premature beats detected by standard ECG and Holter monitoring have been similar to other studies carried out in healthy subjects [2]. No paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia has been identified, and paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (4%) has been found in a proportion lower than reported previously [10]. In this case, the minimal RR interval was 290 msec, widely accepted as a low-risk determinant for ventricular fibrillation [1, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9].

The high proportion of spontaneous and exercise-induced intermittent patterns (68%) probably accounts for the apparently benign course observed in this study.

Intermittency reflects the long refractory period of the abnormal pathway, and some authors recommend that these cases be treated as if no pre-excitation existed [1]. Holter monitoring and maximal exercise testing were useful to define this condition, showing a relatively prolonged refractory period for the anomalous pathway. Non-abrupt normalization and persistent abnormal conduction at maximal exercise output require further investigation for the possibility of accessory pathway block. The ajmaline test could constitute one alternative to invasive procedures [1, 8]; although it has not been practised systematically, this test yielded additional information concerning an accessory pathway block in four cases.

Independently of the systematic approach, even those two subjects who did not show a normalization of AV conduction with ajmaline have been engaged in athletic activity for more than 20 years and are still in official competition. Thus, other properties of the accessory pathway, the atrioventricular nodal pathway, the ventricle [10] or other factors [5] may be involved with an influence on the prognosis. Nevertheless, we believe that the hallmark of potential danger is a short refractory period of the accessory pathway; a workup must be performed to exclude this possibility (Figure 1).

Invasive studies are not always available, and in some instances, have only a limited value [5]. Systematic follow-up studies are thus important in establishing long-term prognosis in this condition.



Figure 1. Work-up for systematic study of asymptomatic WPW pattern.

Conclusions

The asymptomatic isolated WPW pattern had a benign course in this group of athletes.

A high proportion of spontaneous or exercise-induced intermittency (68%) has been shown by repeated ECG, Holter and maximal exercise testing. Atrial supraventricular tachyarrhythmias were rare. Paroxysmal atrial tachycardia was not seen, and only one episode of atrial fibrillation has been identified. The ajmaline test has proved to be a safe procedure, providing additional information about the refractory period of the accessory pathway. More follow-up studies are

required to establish individual long-term prognosis of asymptomatic athletes with the WPW syndrome.

References

- Bayes de Luna A, Grima JRS, Navarro FO: Electrocardiografia de Holter. Editorial Científico-Medica. Barcelona, 1983
- 2. Bjerregaard P: Continuous Ambulatory Electrocardiography in Healthy Adult Subjects over a 24-hour period. Laegeforeningens Forlag, 1983
- 3. Ferrer MI: Pre-excitation. Am J Med 62: 715, 1977
- Hindmann MC, Last JH, Rosen KM: Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome Observed by Portable Monitoring. Ann Intern Med 79: 654, 1973
- 5. Klein GJ, Bashore TM, Sellers TD, Pritchett ELC, Smith WM, Gallagher JJ: Ventricular Fibrillation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome. N Engl J Med 301: 1080, 1979
- Strasberg B et al.: Treadmill Exercise Testing in the Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome. Am J Cardiol 45: 742, 1980
- 7. Ward D: Ventricular Pre-Excitation. Eur Heart J 5 (Suppl A): 119, 1984
- Wellens HJJ, Bar FW, Gorgels AP, Vanagt EJ: Use of Ajmaline. in Patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome to Disclose Short Refractory Period of the Accessory Pathway. Am J Cardiol 45: 130, 1980
- Wellens HJJ, Brugada P, Farre J, Ross D, Vanagt EJ, Bar FW: Role of Supraventricular Arrhythmias and Intraventricular Conduction Defects in Sudden Cardiac Death. In: Electrophysiological Mechanisms Underlying Sudden Cardiac Death. Futura Publishing Company Inc, 1982
- Wellens HJJ, Durrer D: Wolff-Parkinson-White Syndrome and Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 34: 777, 1974

Sports and hypertension

R. FAGARD, J. STAESSEN, L. VANHEES and A. AMERY

Summary

Physical training of the hypertensive patient is likely to cause a slight decrease of blood pressure and can therefore be advocated as part of the non-pharmacological management of the patient or as an adjunct to pharmacological treatment. However, because of the possible risks involved, and also to better define the desired training intensity particularly in treated patients, an exercise test is recommended.

The wish to do sports should not influence the general management of the hypertensive patient, but the advice in the young athlete should be well-balanced in order not to impair his performance but also not his health.

Introduction

There are several aspects to the problem of sports and hypertension. One should first determine if physical training is useful in the management of the hypertensive patient. Does sport activity indeed lower blood pressure? One should however consider the possible dangers of physical activity in the patient with hypertension. What is the risk for sudden death? Finally, the problem of the young competitive athlete in whom hypertension is discovered should be addressed.

Training of the hypertensive patient

1. The effect of training on blood pressure

A. Blood pressure at rest

Many studies have evaluated the effect of dynamic physical training on blood pressure in hypertensive patients. Since it is well-known that blood pressure usually decreases on repeated measurement, it is necessary to follow a control group during the same period. Ideally, the control group should be equal to the treatment group in all variables particularly those with potential effect on blood pressure, except for the treatment itself. Some studies did include a control group, but usually rigid criteria have not been followed; e.g. the controls were not subjected to a low level exercise program. Others followed their patients in a detraining phase. These 'controlled' studies will be summarized first, whereafter the 'non-controlled' studies will be presented for completeness. Studies were selected when the average initial systolic blood pressure was higher than 140 mm Hg [2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 11, 13, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22] or above the 95th percentile in adolescents [8], or when subjects were recruited among borderline hypertensives [5].

a. Controlled studies

Table 1 summarizes studies which included a control group [2, 3, 6, 14, 22] or which followed the subjects in a detraining phase [18]. One study [8] used both approaches but details of the control group, in which 'blood pressure did not change', are not reported. Both male and female patients have been studied. The age range was wide. The duration of the training period ranged from 12 weeks to 8 months, with a frequency of about three sessions per week, each lasting from 30 up to 120 min. The dynamic training consisted mainly of bicycling, walking, jogging, running, and calisthenics. The exercise intensity was usually high, between 60 and 90% of maximal work capacity. It can also be seen that the number of observations was sometimes less than the number of patients who entered the study, usually due to drop-outs or to a low adherence rate. The programs resulted in average increases of physical work capacity in the trained group, from 6 to 38%, as judged from estimated or measured maximal oxygen uptake. When measured, no such changes occurred in the control group. Weight decreased significantly in only one study. The majority of observations on blood pressure, either recumbent or sitting, was obtained with a sphygmomanometer. The initial average systolic blood pressure in the various studies ranged from 137 to 182 mm Hg and the diastolic from 78 to 113 mm Hg.

For the control observations changes in blood pressure ranged from +4 to -3 mm Hg (not significant) for systolic and from +3 to -11 mm Hg (significant in two studies [3, 14]) for diastolic blood pressure. In the intervention group systolic blood pressure decreased from -4 to -21 (average : -12) mm Hg and diastolic blood pressure from 0 to -16 (average : -8) mm Hg. Systolic and/or diastolic blood pressure decreased significantly in 5 studies [2, 3, 8, 14, 18], but in two the drop of diastolic blood pressure was also significant in the control group [3, 14]. One study did not find significant changes with training [6] and another did not report levels of significance [22].

b. Non-controlled studies

Various studies report on a group of patients who were trained for several weeks, without control group or without a detraining phase [4, 5, 9, 11, 17, 20, 21] (Table 2). Patients were male with a wide age range. The duration of the training period ranged from 4 to 30 weeks, with a training frequency of 2 to 5 times per week.

Sex Number Age Duration Freq. cuttered (months) (per week) sury m+f T. 8 70 3 3× 966 [2] C. 5 72 3 3× 966 [2] C. 5 72 3 - 966 [2] C. 10 35-45 8 3-4× 968 [22] C. 11 ? 8 - 908 [22] C. 11 ? 8 - 974 30-568 3 3 3 -	120'	Methods	-								
cntered (montus) +f T. 8 70 3 C. 5 72 3 T. 10 35-45 8 C. 11 2 8 T. 12 30-58 3 C. 12 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-58 50-5	-120'		n Method	Cond.	Cond. Systolic		Diastolic				
m+f T. 8 70 3 C. 5 72 3 G. 5 72 3 (58-83) g ? T. 10 35-45 8 C. 11 ? 8 0 m T. 12 30-58 3 C. 12 30-58 3	120'				Pre	Post	Prc	Post	ΔPWC (%)	ΔWeight	R
C. 5 72 3 C. 5 72 3 (58-83) (58-83) (58-83) (58-83) (58-83) (58-83) (58-83) (511) (10) (58-83) (58-83) (11) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12)		By, condit	8 Cuff	Sit	148 ± 7	128 ± 3*	88 ± 4	82 ± 3	Ý0, + 380/.*	NS	L
Ig ? T. 10 (58-83) Ig ? T. 10 35-45 8 C. 11 ? 8 o m T. 12 30-58 C. 12 3 C. 12 3		. сх.	5 Cuff	Sit	152 ± 14	156±12	94 ± 6	91 ± 4	0/00 ± €:	¢.	
це : 1. 10 3. 1. 10 3. 1. 10 3. 1. 10 3. 1. 10 3. 1. 12 8 8 3. 3. 1. 12 3. 1. 12 3. 1. 12 3. 1. 12 3. 1. 12 3. 1. 12 3. 1. 12 3. 13 3. 13		Wall- ioo	ه ريبير	¢	153 + 9	6 + 571	6 + 901	6 + 90	Ϋ́Ο	÷	on B/
C. 11 ? 8 0 m T. 12 30–58 3 C. 12 31–58 3		bv, swim	0 - 111		·				+ 21%		
o m T. 12 30-58 3 C. 12 3			11 Cuff	¢.	159±?	157 ± ?	105 ± 2	108 ± 3	NS	ç.	
30-58 C. 12 3	50'	Walk. jog.	12 Cuff	_	$148 \pm ?$	135 ± ?°	$\ddot{c} \pm L6$	$83 \pm 2^{\circ}$	Ϋ́O,	NS	no R/
C. 12 3		cal							$+ 6\%^{\circ}$		
	I	ī	15 Cuff	Sit	150 ± 2	$147 \pm ?$	$\frac{101}{2}$	$30 \pm 2^{*}$		NS	
Deplaen m+f T. 7 44 3 3×	,09	Walk. jog.	5 ia	Sit	162 ± 12	158 ± 13	104 ± 6	104 ± 6	Ϋ́O;	NS	only
[9] [0]		cal, by							$+ 10\% ^{\circ}$		DIU
	I		4 Cuff	Sup	156 ± 15	154 ± 7	110 ± 11	107 ± 2	NS	NS	
Romàn f T. 30 55 3 3×	30'	Walk. jog.	27 Cuff	Sit	182 ± 3	$161 \pm 3^{\circ}$	113 ± 2	$97 \pm 1^{\circ}$	ΫO2	÷٠	no R/
1981 [18] (30-69)		cal							+ 24%		
D. 3 -	ı		24 Cuff	Sit	179 ± 5		113 ± 2		NS		
Kukkonen m T. 13 42 ± 1 4 $3\times$	50'	Walk. jog.	13 Cuff	Sit	145 ± 4	$136 \pm 3^{*}$	99 ± 1	$88 \pm 3^{*}$	$\dot{V}O_{2ext}$	–1.1 kg ⁴	no R/
1982 [14] (SE)		by. ski							$+ 10\%^{\circ}$		
	I		12 Cuff	Sit	140 ± 3	140 ± 4	97 ± 2	$90 \pm 2^{\circ}$		NS	
m+f	30-40'	Jog	25 Cuff	Sup	137±1	129±1*	80 ± 2	75 ± 2°	Ϋ́O; + 10%	NS	no R/
- 6 (716) - 6 (716)	I	I	Cuff	Sup	139 ± 2		78 ± 2		NS		

Tuble 1 Effects of training on blood pressure at rest. Longitudinal controlled studies in hypertensive subjects.

Authors	Cha of n	Characteristics of nationts	S	Traini	Training program	Е		Blood pressure (mean \pm SE) (mmHg)	ssure (me:	an \pm SE)	(mm Hg)							
	5			- Durati	Duration Freq.	Time	Methods	n Method Cond Systolic	1 Cond.	Svstolic		Diastolic		Mean				
	Sex	Number Age entered	r Age I	(week	(weeks) (per week)					Pre	Post	Pre	Post		Post	ΔPWC (%)	∆ Weight	R
Johnson 1967 [11]	۰.	-+	¢.	10	3×	>35'	Treadmill	4 ia	Sup	188 ± 12	188 ± 12 195 ± 7 103 ± 5	103 ± 5	105 ± 3	105 ± 3 134 ± 9 136 ± 8	136±8	∕ [√] (%))	NS	no R/
Rudd 1967 [20]	E	19	48 (40–66)	20	¢.	(00	Walk, jog, run, swim,	Walk, jog, 19 Autom. run, swim, device	¢.	155 ± 3	155 ± 3 133 ± 3* 95 ± 2	95 ± 2	85 ± 2*	I	i	ç.	¢.	ć.
Boyer 1970 [4]	ш	23	49 (42-60)	26	2 ×	45'	walk. jog. cal	23 Cuff	6.	159 ± 4	159 ± 4 $146 \pm 4^*$ 105 ± 1	105 ± 1	$93 \pm 2^*$	I	I	¢.	-1.1 kg° Yes	Yes
Hanson 1973 [9]	Ξ	×	42 (30-54)	30	3×	,09	Run, cal. snorts	5 ia	¢.	$150 \pm ?$	$150 \pm ?$ $134 \pm ?$	86 ± ?		$75\pm ?^*$ 109 ± ?	96 ± ?* VO2	÷ 76	¢.	Yes in 2
Choquette 1973 [5]	Ε	37	42 ± 7 (SD)	26	2 ×	(00	cal, jog, volley, swim	37 Cuff	Sit	136±2	136 ± 2 122 ± 2*	90 ± 1	82 ± 2*	I	I		SN	no No
Sannerstedt m 1973 [21]	t T	5	26–38	9	3 ×	60′	Bicycle	5 ia	Sup	I	I	I	I	107 ± 2	105 ± 2	107 ± ? 105 ± ? Submax -3.2 kg² No HR	-3.2 kg'	No
Ressl 1977 [17]	Ξ	10	48 (38–53)	4	5 ×	35'	Bicycle	10 ia	Sup	182 ± 5	182 ± 5 176 ± 5	99 ± 2		$\begin{array}{rrr} -12\% \\ 98\pm 1 & 130\pm 3 & 129\pm 3 & PWC_{130} & -3kg^* \\ & \pm & 20\%, * \end{array}$	129±3	-12% PWC ₁₃₀ + 20% *	$-3 \mathrm{kg}^*$	No

Abbreviations: see Table 1.

÷ Ξ 2 -Table 2 Effects of trainin

Each session lasted 35–60 min, and consisted of bicycling, walking, jogging, running, etc. Several studies measured blood pressure intra-arterially. The average pre-training systolic blood pressure ranged from 136 to 188 mm Hg (number of studies = 6) and changed by +7 to -22 (average : -11) mm Hg over the training period. Diastolic blood pressure, ranging from 86 to 105 mm Hg (n = 6), changed by +2 to -12 (average : -7) mm Hg. Mean blood pressure, initially 107–134 mm Hg (n = 4), changed by +2, -1, -2 and -13 mm Hg. Systolic, diastolic or mean blood pressure decreased significantly in 4 of the 7 studies. Gains in physical work capacity, if reported, were evidenced by a higher maximal oxygen uptake, a higher work load at a fixed submaximal heart rate or a lower heart rate at a certain work load. Only one study reported a significant change of weight, others reported no change or changes of uncertain statistical significance.

B. Blood pressure during exercise

In five of the controlled studies [2, 6, 14, 18, 22] and five of the non-controlled studies [5, 9, 11, 17, 21] blood pressure was measured at rest and exercise. However in two controlled studies [6, 14] the control group was not studied during exercise, so that, in Table 3, they are mentioned with the non-controlled studies. Blood pressure was reported at variable intensities of exercise. No significant changes occurred in the control group [2, 22] or during detraining [18]. In the trained groups, average pre-training systolic blood pressure ranged from 174 to 226 (n = 9), average diastolic blood pressure from 84 to 119 (n = 9) and mean intra-arterial pressure from 117 to 158 mm Hg (n = 5) at the reported level of physical activity. At an identical level of exercise or at a similar percentage of maximal exercise capacity after training the changes of systolic blood pressure ranged from +17 to -23 (average : -11) mm Hg (significant decrease in 5 out of 9 studies), of diastolic pressure from -5 to -15 (average : -9) mm Hg (significant decrease in 2 out of 5).

2. Hypertension and exercise-related sudden death

Hypertension is undoubtedly a risk factor for sudden death [12]. The question whether it is also a risk factor for exercise-related sudden death can be addressed by analysing various studies on subjects who died during sport activity [10, 15, 16, 25, 26, 27, 28]. Table 4 shows that exercise-related sudden death occurs almost exclusively in men (which is not only due to greater sport participation), most in their fifth decade, and that ischaemic heart disease was found in approximately 80% of the subjects. Furthermore an effort was made to obtain the risk factor profile of those who died. Hypertension was found in approximately one third of the subjects in whom blood pressure could be traced. This is more than expected

Longitudinal studies
uring exercise
Ę
lood pressure
9
ing on bl
training
ìf
Effects c
÷.
Table

		Controlled studies								
Authors		Level of activity	=	Method	Blood press	Blood pressure (mean ± SE) (mmHg)	E) (mmHg)			
					Systolic		Diastolic		Mean	
					Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Barry 1966 [2]	Ē	Pretraining work load limit	×	Cuff	191 ± 10	$170 \pm 13^{*}$	84 ± 4	78 ± 4	I	I
Schleusing	. L.	140 W	s s	Cuff Cuff	190 ± 16 $210 \pm ?$	194 ± 12 $197 \pm ?$	91 ± 11 118 ± 2	$\begin{array}{c} 88\pm6\\ 108\pm?^{\circ}\end{array}$	1 1	1 1
1905 [22] Roman 1981 [18]	Ч.	50-70% of VO ₂ max	11 27	Cuff Cuff	213 ± ? 211 ± 3	$\begin{array}{c} 220\pm?"\\ 196\pm4^* \end{array}$	121 ± ? 115 ± 2	$121 \pm ?$ $105 \pm 2^{*}$	1 1	1 1
_	D.	Non-controlled studies	24	Cuff	207 ± 3	I	115±2	I	I	ı
Johnson 1967 [11]	Ŀ.	65% of VO ₂ max	4	ia	211±3	228 ± 14	119±8	110 ± 6	158 ± 7	154 ± 15
Hanson 1970 [9]	Ţ.	Treadmill walk, 4°	5	ia.	$202 \pm ?$	198 ± 2	$\dot{c} \pm 66$	$87 \pm ?^{*}$	131 ± 2	118 ± 2
Choquette	Ĥ.	75 W	37	Cuff	174 ± 4	$157 \pm 4^{*}$	95 ± 2	$90 \pm 2^*$	I	I
Sannerstedt 1973 [21]	T.	75 W	S	ia.	I	I	Ι	1	117 ± 2	$112 \pm 2^{\circ}$
Ressl 1977 [17]	Ţ.	100 W	10	ia	226 ± 5	$203\pm6^{\circ}$	113 ± 3	$104 \pm 2^{*}$	154 ± 3	141 ± 3*
Deplacn 1980 [6]	Ŀ.	$\dot{V}O_2 = 1.5 l/min$	5	ia	202 ± 10	199 ± 7	106 ± 4	101 ± 4	142 ± 4	141 ± 6
Kukkonen 1982 [14]	Ĥ.	$HR = 66\%$ of ΔHR	13	Cuff	214 ± 7	$195 \pm 8^*$	90 ± 3	75 ± 3*	I	I

in men of similar age. Although such retrospective data are of course open to criticism, they suggest that patients with hypertension run a higher risk of sudden death during exercise, mainly due to coronary heart disease. This should be taken into consideration when counseling the patient with hypertension on physical training.

3. Recommendations

The benefits of increased physical activity for general well-being need not be repeated. The effect on blood pressure however can not be a major argument to promote physical activity in the normotensives because the possible effect is small, if any [7]. In the hypertensives, however, a better blood pressure control can be expected from an increase of physical activity and may therefore be recommended. In mild hypertension it can have a place in the non-pharmacological approach of the patient, together with relaxation therapy and/or a reduction of sodium consumption and calorie intake. In more severe hypertension it can be an adjunct to the pharmacological treatment; several training studies involved treated patients [4, 6, 9, 22]. The general recommendations for the initiation of pharmacological treatment should be followed [29] and blood pressure should be controlled before starting training in patients with definite hypertension.

One should advise dynamic exercise. This consists of rhythmic movements of large muscle groups, as is the case in walking, jogging, cycling, cross-country skiing, swimming and calisthenics. Many authors consider that isometric strength training such as wrestling and weightlifting should be avoided as it may cause a considerable increase in blood pressure during the activity, and the benefits for the hypertensive patients are doubtful [1].

A more detailed analysis of the data [7] also suggests that the blood pressure

Authors	(Ref)	n	Age (years)	Sex (m/f)	IHD (%)	Hypertension	
						(%)	(n/n)*
Opie, 1975	[16]	21	40 (17–58)	21/0	76	20	(2/10)
Thompson, 1979	[25]	18	? (42-59)	17/1	72	31	(4/13)
Walker, 1980	[28]	5	46 (40-53)	5/0	100	40	(2/5)
Thompson, 1982	[26]	12	47 (28-74)	12/0	92	0	(0/8)
Virmani, 1982	[27]	30	36 (18-57)	30/0	73	46	(11/24)
Jackson, 1983	[10]	9	47 (35-56)	9/0	100	33	(3/9)
Northcote, 1984	[15]	30	47 (22-66)	29/1	77	35	(8/23)

Table 4. Hypertension and exercise-related sudden death

* Subjects with hypertension/subjects in whom BP could be traced. Abbreviations: n = number of deaths; IHD = ischamic heart disease.

lowering effect is dependent on the increase of exercise capacity and therefore on the characteristics of the training program. Ideally one should exercise three times a week for 30–60 min and exercise intensity should be at least 60% of the maximal exercise capacity. Since hypertension is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, an exercise test prior to training is recommended in the hypertensive patient. A graded exercise test until the patient wishes to stop will also allow the determination of the optimal training heart rate in both untreated and treated patients, which is the resting heart rate plus 60% of the difference between peak and resting heart rate. Indeed, antihypertensive treatment, particularly betablockers, may affect heart rate.

When there are no signs or symptoms of ischaemic heart disease the patient can exercise on his own; otherwise more intense training should best be started in supervised training programs. Some complications of hypertension such as cardiac failure, renal insufficiency, cerebrovascular accidents, peripheral artery disease, will of course entail specific recommendations on physical activity and rehabilitation, which is beyond the scope of this paper.

Finally the general principles of training should be considered, namely it should be progressive and regular, avoiding exhaustion and sudden bursts of exercise.

The athlete with hypertension

Although rare in the young, hypertension could be a problem for the individual who wishes to excel in competitive sports. When there is no certainty on the necessity of pharmacological treatment, a waiting attitude could be justified because 1. hypertension has not been associated with sudden death in the young athlete and 2. there is no evidence that sport affects the prognosis unfavourably.

Practically [23, 24] one can propose that the diagnosis of hypertension in the athlete justifies a screening investigation including history, physical examination, electrocardiogram, chest X-ray, eye-ground, urine analysis, blood haemoglobin, renal function and serum electrolytes. When after three visits, diastolic blood pressure is less than 95 mm Hg and if neither target organ damage nor an obvious underlying disorder, can be demonstrated, high level sport activity can be allowed without pharmacological treatment provided regular follow-up visits. When diastolic blood pressure remains higher than 95 mm Hg at rest [29], when there is target organ damage, or a probable secondary cause of hypertension, further investigation is advised and treatment indicated. High level sport activity can possibly be allowed when blood pressure is controlled and when it is not precluded or rendered unwise by severe target organ damage or an underlying illness.

Many antihypertensive agents are presently available. With few exceptions every patient's hypertension can be adequately controlled with a minimum of side effects. However exercise capacity can be impaired, either by a direct effect of the drug or through side-effects. Not all drugs have been tested on their effect on maximal exercise capacity and particularly not on prolonged submaximal performance, but some remarks can be made. Diuretics may affect exercise capacity through changes in circulating volume and electrolyte disturbances. Beta-blocking drugs usually impair exercise performance in the young healthy subject, and these agents could be contra-indicated because of athlete's bradycardia. Among the vasodilators hydralazine and converting enzyme inhibitors have not been shown to cause exercise-related problems; alpha-adrenoceptor blockers might however cause post-exercise hypotension. Slow calcium channel-blockers might become of interest to treat the athlete with hypertension, but more data are needed. Centrally acting antihypertensive agents such as alpha-methyldopa and clonidine may cause drowsiness, fatigue or sleepiness and are therefore not indicated in the athlete.

Because different drugs can affect exercise capacity through different mechanisms it is advisable to test for the most appropriate drug for the individual athlete or to test a combination of drugs in order to achieve an acceptable blood pressure while preserving exercise capacity.

Acknowledgement

The secretarial assistance of R. Nuyts is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- Baechle TR: Effects of heavy resistance weight training on arterial blood pressure and other selected measures in normotensive and borderline hypertensive college men. In: Laudry F, Orban W (eds) Sports Medicine. Miami, 1978, p 169
- Barry AJ, Daly JW, Pruett EDR, Steinmetz JR, Page HF, Birkhead NC, Rodahl K: The effects of physical conditioning on older individuals. I. Work capacity, circulatory-respiratory function, and work electrocardiogram. J Gerontol 21: 182, 1966
- Bonanno JA, Lies JE: Effects of physical training on coronary risk factors. Am J Cardiol 33: 760, 1974
- Boyer JL, Kasch FW: Exercise therapy in hypertensive men. Journal of the American Medical Association 211: 1668, 1970
- Choquette G, Ferguson RJ: Blood pressure reduction in 'borderline' hypertensives following physical training. Can Med Ass J 108: 699, 1973
- 6. De Plaen JF, Detry JM: Hemodynamic effects of physical training in established arterial hypertension. Acta Cardiol 35: 179, 1980
- Fagard R, M'Buyamba JR, Staessen J, Vanhees L, Amery A: Physical activity and blood pressure. In: Bulpitt CJ (ed) Handbook of Hypertension: Epidemiology of Hypertension (vol. 6). Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p 104
- Hagberg JM, Goldring D, Ehsani AA, Heath GW, Hernandez A, Schechtman K, Holloszy JO: Effect of exercise training on the blood pressure and hemodynamic features of hypertensive adolescents. Am J Cardiol 52: 763, 1983

- Hanson JS, Nedde WH: Preliminary observations on physical training for hypertensive males. Circulation Res 26 and 27 (Suppl I): I-49, 1970
- 10. Jackson RT, Beaglehole R, Sharpe N: Sudden death in runners. New Zealand Med J 96: 289, 1983
- 11. Johnson WP, Grover JA: Hemodynamic and metabolic effects of physical activity in four patients with essential hypertension. Can Med Ass J 96: 842, 1967
- Kreger BE, Kannel WB: Influence of hypertension on mortality. In: Amery A, Fagard R, Lijnen P, Staessen J (eds) Hypertensive Cardiovascular Disease: Pathophysiology and treatment. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1982, p 451
- Krotkiewski M, Mandroukas K, Morgan L, William-Olsson T, Feurle GE, von Schenk H, Björntorp P, Sjöström L, Smith U: Effects of physical training on adrenergic sensitivity in obesity. J appl Physiol: Respiratory Environmental and Exercise Physiology 55: 1811, 1983
- 14. Kukkonen K, Rauramaa R, Voutilainen E, Länsimies E: Physical training of middle-aged men with borderline hypertension. Annals of Clinical Research 14 (Suppl 34): 139, 1982
- 15. Northcote RS, Evans ADB, Ballantyne D: Sudden death in squash players. Lancet 1: 148, 1984
- 16. Opie LH: Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1: 263-266, 1975
- Ressl J, Chrástek J, Jandová R: Haemodynamic effects of physical training in essential hypertension. Acta Cardiol 32: 121, 1977
- Romàn O, Camuzzi AL, Villalòn E, Klenner C: Physical training program in arterial hypertension. A long-term prospective follow-up. Cardiology 67: 230, 1981
- Rost R, Hollman W, Liesen H: Körperliches Training mit Hochdruckpatienten, Ziele und Probleme. Herz/Kreislauf 8: 680, 1976
- Rudd JL, Day WC: A physical fitness program for patients with hypertension. J Am Geriatrics Soc 15: 373, 1967
- Sannerstedt R, Wasir H, Henning B, Werkö L: Systemic haemodynamics in mild arterial hypertension before and after physical training. Clin Sci Mol Med 45: 145s, 1973
- 22. Schleusing G, Luther Th, Liebold F, Kunadt F: Einfluss des sportlichen Trainings auf Blutdruckverhalten und Leistungsvermögen bei Patienten mit Hypertonie. Medizin und Sport 9: 197, 1969
- 23. Sangster JF: The sportsman with hypertension. Australian Family Physician 9: 239, 1980
- 24. Strong WB: Hypertension and Sports. Pediatrics 64: 693-695, 1979
- Thompson PD, Stern MP, Williams P, Duncan K, Haskell WL, Wood PD: Death during jogging and running. J Am Med Ass 242: 1265, 1979
- Thompson PD, Funk ES, Carleton RA, Sturner WQ: Incidence of death during jogging in Rhode Island from 1975 through 1980. J Am Med Ass 247: 2535, 1982
- Virmani R, Robinowitz M, McAllister HA: Nontraumatic death in joggers. Am J Med 72: 874, 1982
- Walker BF, Roberts WC: Sudden death while running in conditioned runners aged 40 years or over. Am J Cardiol 45: 1292, 1980
- 29. Guideline for the treatment of mild hypertension: memorandum from a W.H.O./I.S.H. meeting. Lancet 1: 457, 1983

Exercise and sports in congenital heart disease

L. VAN DER HAUWAERT

Introduction

The vast majority of haemodynamically important congenital heart malformations are nowadays amenable to surgery. Patients with large left-to-right shunts through a ventricular septal defect, patent ductus arteriosus or atrioventricular canal will undergo a corrective operation in the first years of life in order to prevent the development of obstructive pulmonary vascular disease. Because detection is usually later in life and pulmonary hypertension is rather exceptional, atrial septal defect is often corrected at school-going age. Severe pulmonic stenosis and coarctation of the aorta can be successfully relieved at any age, even, if necessary, in early infancy. The two most common cyanotic cardiac malformations need early palliation or correction. In most centres uncomplicated transposition of the great arteries will be functionally corrected by a venous switch operation in the first months of life. Our management of tetralogy of Fallot has dramatically changed during the last decade: few palliative procedures are being performed and they are limited to very young patients in whom the main pulmonary artery is judged to be too small for a safe correction. Although elective surgery may be postponed until late pre-school age (4 to 5 years), the results nowadays are equally satisfying if complete repair is undertaken at a younger age. Most of these operated patients lead normal lifes as adolescents and adults and are able to participate with their peers in sports and physical activities. In some patients, however, the result is not optimal because of residual lesions, impaired myocardial function or surgical trauma to the conduction tissue [8]. Guidelines for operated patients will be discussed in the next paper.

In developed countries, where the facilities of modern cardiovascular surgery are widely available, relatively few adolescents and adults with unoperated congenital heart disease will be seen. Notable exceptions are lesions which are not associated with striking murmurs and therefore remain occasionally unrecognized at routine examinations in childhood e.g. coarctation of the aorta and atrial septal defect. The other unoperated congenital heart defects belong to three major categories 1° minor anomalies with no or minimal haemodynamic repercussion, for which an operation is not indicated e.g. the majority of small ventricular septal defects, slight pulmonic stenosis, 2° anomalies which are well-tolerated in childhood but tend to become progressively more severe during the first decades of life e.g. aortic stenosis, congenital complete atrioventricular block, 3° serious conditions which are inoperable because of the complexity of the anatomical arrangement or the presence of irreversible pulmonary vascular disease e.g. some extreme forms of tetralogy of Fallot, the Eisenmenger's syndrome.

The purpose of this paper is to present general guidelines for sports and recreational activities in patients with unoperated congenital heart disease and to discuss specific recommendations for a few categories of patients.

General guidelines

Counseling patients with congenital heart disease should be based on

- 1. A correct diagnostic assessment of the nature and severity of the cardiac anomaly. The cardiologist should therefore be familiar with all aspects of noninvasive cardiac investigation. Recently two-dimensional echocardiography and Doppler-echo studies have considerably improved our ability to diagnose and quantitate structural heart disease. In selected cases, particularly in those considered to be candidates for surgery, cardiac catheterization and angiocardiography are indicated. Up to now an accurate measurement of the pulmonary artery pressure and pulmonary-arteriolar resistance can only be obtained by means of this invasive investigation.
- 2. A thorough knowledge of the natural history, long-term prognosis and possible complications of the various forms of congenital heart disease.
- 3. An evaluation of the intensity, metabolic requirements and physiologic effects of recreational activities and sports. The latter aspect will be discussed in some detail.

Recreational activity and sports

The demands placed upon the circulatory system by various activities depend on many factors: the nature of the effort (isometric or isotonic), the duration and intensity of the activity, the environment (e.g. high altitude, temperature), emotional stress, training and conditioning [18]. Sports requiring isometric work e.g. weight lifting, body building, wrestling and some types of gymnastics, may produce a disproportional increase in blood pressure relative to oxygen uptake.

Patients with systemic or pulmonary hypertension or obstructive lesions of the left ventricular outflow, particularly those with congenital aortic stenosis, should therefore be discouraged from taking part in these activities. A classification of sports with respect to exertional intensity and degree of contact (Table 1) gives a rough estimation of energy demands but does not take into account the vigorousness of the movements, the habitual physical activity and degree of training of the

individual patient [18]. For these reasons exercise testing has been advocated and is now widely used to evaluate a patient's functional reserve capacity.

Both the cycle ergometer and treadmill produce adequate and reproducible loads on the oxygen transport system for collecting information about physical work capacity at 170 heart beats/min, total work, endurance time, ventilatory threshold, blood pressure response and electrocardiographic changes [4, 5, 15–19]. We do not systematically use exercise testing in children and adolescents with minor cardiac lesions nor is it indicated in patients with severe pulmonary hypertension or cyanotic heart disease, who always have a very limited exercise tolerance. We found it useful, however, in patients with aortic stenosis, pulmonic stenosis, 'cured' myocardial disease, complete congenital atrioventricular block,

Primarily isometric		
Weight lifting		
Wrestling		
Water skiing		
Archery		
Strenuous-contact		
Body surfing		
Football		
Ice hockey		
Rugby		
Wrestling		
Strenuous-limited contact		
Basketball		
Field hockey		
Volleyball		
Strenuous-noncontact		
Cross-country		
Cycling		
Gymnastics		
Skiing		
Swimming		
Tennis		
Water polo		
Moderately strenuous		
Archery (isometric)		
Badminton		
Baseball (limited contact)		
Golf		
Table tennis		
Nonstrenuous		
Bowling		

Table 1. Classification of Sports

Modified from Strong and Alpert [18].

Riflery

dysrhythmias and in patients with residual lesions after corrective surgery. Even in these categories of patients the results should be interpreted with prudence because an exercise test does not mimic the intensity, competition and stimulating ambience which characterize most sports and outdoor activities.

Restrictions

As it is difficult to predict how much energy an individual patient will need to participate, under particular circumstances, in a certain recreational activity, it is virtually impossible to give detailed advice in this respect. Some general guide-lines, however, should be explained to the patients, their parents and physical education directors [14, 17].

Normal activity, including school sports, athletics and competition, is advised for the vast majority of children and adolescents with unoperated minor anomalies e.g. the large group of patients with a small ventricular septal defect, small atrial septal defect, trivial pulmonary stenosis or aortic stenosis, slight mitral insufficiency or aortic insufficiency and mitral valve prolapse. Some of these lesions, particularly aortic valve disease, may be progressive over a span of 5 to 10 years and should therefore be re-evaluated at 1- or 2-year intervals. In the past, general practitioners, paediatricians and school physicians were inclined to restrict this category of patients in their physical activity, thereby producing all the physical and psychological ill effects of overprotection, hypoactivity and anxiety [1]. Even children with a normal heart and an innocent (functional) murmur were occasionally discouraged from taking part in sports [2]. At the present time, thanks to the availability of accurate diagnostic tools, there is no longer an excuse for this irrational and invalidating advice.

Mild restriction means that certain types of sports, which require peak efforts of a maximal or near-maximal intensity during more than 30 sec, are to be avoided e.g. sprinting, competition swimming, hockey, football, tennis (single). Peak efforts may indeed generate a rapid increase in pulmonary and systemic pressure or ventricular pressure in case of ventricular outflow obstruction. For the same reason sports requiring a large part of isometric muscle work are not advisable e.g. weight lifting, wrestling, some types of gymnastics, water skiing. School sports are allowed.

Moderate restriction. In addition to the restrictions mentioned above, patients in this category should be advised not to participate in team sports, except baseball and volleyball. When practising individual sports they should be allowed to stop when fatigued. The same rules apply for school sports and gymnastics.

Severe restriction. Only activities that require a low level of energy expenditure are allowed e.g. light calisthenics, walking, cycling on the flat, golf, bowling, table tennis, badminton.

Recommendations for specific defects

The purpose of this section is to outline some recommendations for the more common unoperated congenital cardiac anomalies in adolescence and young adulthood. A summary is found in Table 2, which is based on the Report of the American Heart Association ad hoc Committee on rehabilitation of the young cardiac [14] and the Statement of the Scientific Commission of the International Federation of Sportsmedicine [17].

Ventricular septal defect and atrial septal defect

Defects with a large left-to-right shunt (VSD, ASD, PDA) are surgically closed in infancy or childhood so that patients with this problem are normally not seen as adults. There remains, however, a relativelely large group of patients with a small ventricular septal defect (pulmonary/systemic flow ratio <2 and usually <1.5). These patients present with a loud pansystolic murmur, sometimes accompanied by a thrill, but their electrocardiogram and chest roentgenogram are normal. On

Defect ²	Restriction of recreational activity ³		
Aortic stenosis			
mild (gradient <30 mm Hg)	None		
moderate (gradient 30-70 mm Hg)	Mild		
severe (gradient >70 mm Hg)	Moderate		
Atrial septal defect			
with normal pulm. art. press.	None		
with pulm. art. hypertension	Moderate		
Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy	Severe		
Pulmonary hypertension			
mild (pulm. art. press. <0.5 syst.)	Moderate		
severe (pulm. art. press. at syst. level)	Severe		
Pulmonary stenosis			
mild (gradient <50 mm Hg)	None		
severe (gradient >80 mm Hg)	Mild to Moderate		
Ventricular septal defect			
with normal pulm. art. press.	None		
with mild to moderate pulm. hypertension	Moderate		

Table 2. Recommendations on recreational activity and sports for patients with congenital heart disease¹

¹ Based on the Report of the A.H.A. ad hoc Committee on Rehabilitation of the young cardiac [14]. ² Only unoperated defects or anomalies which are more commonly seen in adolescence and adulthood are listed.

³ See text for grading of restrictions.

echocardiograms the cardiac dimensions are also normal. A significant portion of these defects may undergo spontaneous closure, even in adulthood. There is no evidence suggesting that an increase in shunt size occurs over the years. Although one study in adults [7] indicated that the left and right ventricular ejection fraction failed to increase with exercise, maximal endurance time in these patients was found not to be different from that in normal peers [4, 5].

We recently studied a group of 50 children, aged 5 to 18 years (median age 9.7 years), with a small ventricular septal defect (43 patients) or atrial septal defect (7 patients) and found a subnormal \dot{VO}_2 at 170 heart beats/min in only 28% [15]. The ventilatory threshold, however, was abnormal in 56% of the patients. This subnormal value was independent from shunt size but correlated significantly with the level of habitual physical activity, which was estimated by a detailed questionnaire. This lack of physical activity in children with minor or hemodynamically unimportant cardiac lesions, may be attributed to an overprotective attitude of the parents and has also been noted in other studies [1, 18, 19]

Patients in this category should be encouraged to take part, without restriction, in normal activities and sports, including competitive athletics.

Isolated pulmonic stenosis

Patients with a systolic pressure gradient <40 mm Hg across the pulmonic valve and/or a right ventricular systolic pressure <60 mm Hg, are usually not operated because the expected long-term course is excellent [12]. In the first decade an increase in right ventricular outflow gradient may occur but later on in life the gradient usually remains stable. Because the peak right ventricular pressure rises only modestly during exercise in patients with mild pulmonic stenosis, they should not be restricted in their physical activity. Mild to moderate restrictions may be indicated in the odd patient, with a gradient >80 mm Hg who, for some reason or another, has not been operated.

Aortic stenosis

The natural history of valvar or subvalvar (discrete) aortic stenosis is usually characterized by a slow deterioration, thickening and fibrosis of the valve and an increase of the obstruction. Aortic valvotomy in childhood does not basically change this evolution and should be considered as a palliative procedure, which is only indicated in severe stenosis with a pressure gradient >70 mm Hg [6].

When advising activities and sports in unoperated patients one should keep in mind that exertion considerably increases the left ventricular peak systolic pressure with a smaller than expected increase in systemic arterial pressure or even a drop in pressure. Exertion may thus provoke myocardial ischaemia and ventricular arrhythmia [3, 13]. Whitmer *et al.* [20] conducted progressive bicycle exercise tests in 23 children with valvar or subvalvar aortic stenosis: 19 patients developed significant ST depression, some of them with only moderate left ventricular-aortic pressure gradients at rest.

That this group of patients is at risk during physical activity is borne out by the observation that in children aortic stenosis was the most common single cause (18%) of sudden unexpected death from cardiovascular disease, as shown in a cooperative study [9]. Only a minority (10%) of the 254 patients died during strenuous activity. However, half of those who died during or shortly after engaging in strenuous sports had either aortic stenosis or obstructive cardiomyopathy. These disturbing figures should be put into perspective and do not warrant an overrestrictive attitude in the vast majority of patients with mild or moderate aortic stenosis or a bicuspid aortic valve. Indeed, all patients in this cooperative study [9] were symptomatic and had 'evidence of severe obstruction in the form of so-called left ventricular strain pattern in the electrocardiogram or the symptoms of angina or syncope'.

Reasonably safe guidelines for children and adolescents with aortic stenosis can be based on 1° history (symptoms), physical examination and electrocardiogram, 2° non-invasive evaluation of the left ventricular pressure gradient by the echo-Doppler technique, 3° bicycle or treadmill exercise-testing with particular attention to the ST changes and rhythm disturbances [3, 20], 4° if these examinations indicate moderate or severe obstruction cardiac catheterization and direct measurement of the pressure gradient are recommended.

In most cardiac centres patients with a gradient >60-80 mm Hg will be considered candidates for an aortic valvotomy which is a palliative procedure but has a beneficial effect on the myocardial function as it protects the patient against very high peak pressures in the left ventricle [13]. Unoperated patients with congenital aortic stenosis should be mildly or moderately restricted in their physical activity according to the degree of obstruction (Table 2). It is important to discuss at some length specific measures with these patients as they usually have no symptoms and can hardly understand why doctors make a fuss about their condition.

Aortic insufficiency

Aortic insufficiency, either rheumatic or congenital, is rather uncommon in the young. As it is usually well-tolerated, surgery, if indicated, can be postponed until adulthood. In contrast with aortic stenosis, this lesion does not predispose to sudden death. Only patients with severe aortic insufficiency need to be restricted in their activity.
Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy

The risk of sudden death, probably related to ventricular fibrillation, in youngsters with documented hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM) is high [9, 11]. This type of cardiomyopathy was also the most common cause of unsuspected death during or just after exertion in young athletes, in whom the lesion had remained undiagnosed during life [10]. Unfortunately, no clinical or morphologic variable is reliably predictive of sudden death [11]. Regardless of the type of medication (beta-blocking and/or calcium channel-blocking agents) we discourage these patients from participating in most sports and games, particularly those involving isometric work. On the other hand, they are encouraged to practise bowling, golf, cycling on the flat at their own pace or other lowintensity sports, in order to maintain a certain degree of physical fitness.

Severe pulmonary hypertension and Eisenmenger's syndrome

In its broader definition the Eisenmenger's syndrome is characterized by severe pulmonary vascular obstructive disease and a communication (VSD, ASD, PDA, single ventricle, transposition of the great arteries) between the systemic and pulmonary circulation. Frequently the shunt through this communication is bidirectional in earlier life but later becomes predominantly right-to-left, producing central cyanosis. These patients always have symptoms and their exercise tolerance is more or less severely decreased. The condition is inoperable. In a few patients heart-lung transplantation has been successful. There is usually no need to discourage these patients from physical efforts as dyspnoea prevents them from doing anything but the slightest activity. For psychological reasons we therefore take the opposite stand and try to encourage them to go to school as regularly as possible and to join their peers in social activities.

Conclusion

The vast majority of children, adolescents and adults with congenital heart disease should be allowed and even encouraged to participate in physical activities and sports. Lesions that require careful diagnostic assessment and may necessitate restrictions in physical activity include: aortic stenosis, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and pulmonary hypertension, either primary or secondary to or associated with cardiac malformations.

212

References

- 1. Bar-Or O: Pediatric sports medicine for the practitioner. From physiologic principles to clinical application. Springer Verlag, New York, 1983, p 69
- 2. Bergman AB, Stamm SJ: The morbidity of cardiac non-disease in schoolchildren. N Engl J Med 276: 1008, 1967
- Chandramouli B, Ehmke A, Lauer RM: Exercise-induced electrocardiographic changes in children with congenital aortic stenosis. J Pediatr 87: 725, 1975
- Cumming GR: Maximal exercise capacity of children with heart defects. Am J Cardiol 42: 613, 1978
- Cumming GR: Maximal treadmill endurance times of children with heart defects compared to those of normal children. In: Berg K, Eriksson B (eds) Children and Exercise. University Park Press, Baltimore, 1980, p 354–368
- 6. Hossack KF, Neutze JM, Lowe JB, Barratt-Boyes BG: Congenital valvar aortic stenosis. Natural history and assessment for operation. Brit Heart J 43: 561, 1980
- 7. Jablonsky G, Hilton JD, Liu PP, Morch JE, Druck MN, Bar-Schlomo BZ, McLaughlin PR: Rest and exercise ventricular function in adults with congenital ventricular septal defects. Am J Cardiol 51: 293, 1983
- Keck EW: 'Cured' congenital heart disease. In: Julian DG, Wenger NK (eds) Cardiac problems of the adolescent and young adult. Butterworths, London, 1985, p 28–44
- Lambert EC, Menon VA, Wagner HR, Vlad P: Sudden unexpected death from cardiovascular disease in children. Am J Cardiol 34: 89, 1974
- Maron BJ, Roberts WC, McAllister HA, Rosing DR, Epstein SE: Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation 62: 218, 1980
- McKenna W, Deanfield J, Faruqui A, England D, Oakley C, Goodwin J: Prognosis in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: role of age and clinical, electrocardiographic and hemodynamic features. Am J Cardiol 47: 532, 1981
- Nugent EW, Freedom RM, Nora JJ, Ellison RC, Rowe RD, Nadas AS: Clinical course in pulmonary stenosis. Circulation 56 (suppl I): 38, 1977
- Orsmond GS, Bessinger FB, Moller JH: Rest and exercise hemodynamics in children before and after aortic valvotomy. Am Heart J 99: 76, 1980
- 14. Report of the American Heart Association ad hoc Committee on rehabilitation of the young cardiac. Recreational activity and career choice recommendations for use by physicians counseling physical education directors, vocational counselors, parents and young patients with heart disease. Circulation 43: 459, 1971
- 15. Reybrouck T, Weymans M, Stijns H, Van der Hauwaert L: The use of the ventilatory anaerobic threshold in the evaluation of exercise performance in children with congenital heart disease and a left-to-right shunt. Pediatric Cardiology: in press
- Standards for Exercise Testing in the Pediatric Age Group: American Heart Association Special Report. Circulation 66: 1377, 1982
- 17. Strauzenberg SE: Recommendations for physical activity and sports in children with heart disease. A statement by the Scientific Commission of the International Federation of Sportsmedicine (FIMS) approved by the executive committee of the FIMS. J Sport Med 22: 401, 1982
- Strong WB, Alpert BS: The child with heart disease: play, recreation and sports. Current Problems in Cardiology 6: 1, 1981
- Thoren C: The role of exercise testing in children with congenital heart disease. In: Kidd BS, and Rowe RD (eds) The child with congenital heart disease after surgery. Futura Publishing Company, 1976, p 343
- 20. Whitmer JT, James FW, Kaplan S, Schwartz DC, Sander Knight MJ: Exercise testing in children before and after surgical treatment of aortic stenosis. Circulation 63: 254, 1981

The evaluation of exercise performance in children after surgical correction of congenital heart disease

D. MATTHYS and A. DEVLOO-BLANCQUAERT

Summary

In order to advise on recreational and competitive physical activities, children undergoing surgical correction (SC) of congenital heart disease were examined by maximal exercise tests using the Bruce treadmill protocol. 210 patients aged 5–14 years (mean age: 9 years) were studied. Normal values were obtained for 132 normal children of the same age. Maximal endurance time (ET) was used as the criterion of exercise capacity. The heart rate, systemic blood pressure and electrocardiogram were monitored. The mean post-operative ET score was 0.77 standard deviations below the mean for the control group. Arrhythmia occurred in 15% of all the patients but in 36% of the children with tetralogy of Fallot (TOF). Exclusion from competition sports is recommended only in children with TOF, transposition of the great arteries, and aortic coarctation with residual hypertension or associated lesions. Recreational sports are considered to be very important for the physical development of the children in this group. Not only are the others not restricted, they are on the contrary encouraged to participate in athletic activities.

Introduction

The increasing number of children undergoing surgery for congenital heart disease (CHD) creates new problems concerning physical activities [4]. Children with severe heart disease must be excluded from strenuous sports, while on the other hand, children with CHD must participate as much as possible in the activities of children of their own age. The aim of this study was not only to determine objective criteria for preventing exercise-related sudden death in operated children, but also, to reduce unnecessary restrictions from recreational or competitive sports. In addition, there is a lack in objective data concerning exercise testing in young normal children as well as in young heart patients.

Methods

Two hundred and ten children (104 boys and 106 girls) aged 5–14 years (mean age: 9 years) were studied after surgery for CHD. Normal values were obtained from 132 age-matched schoolchildren (70 boys and 62 girls); exercise tests were performed using the Bruce treadmill protocol [1]. This study included only patients undergoing total repair of CHD: palliative and prosthetic valve operations were not considered. The Bruce treadmill test is a continuous graded protocol with step-wise increases in speed and gradient at 3-min intervals from 2.7 to 6.7 km/h and from 10 to 20%. The goal is to reach the level of maximal voluntary effort until the subject is unable to continue. Heart rate, blood pressure and the electrocardiogram are continuously monitored and recorded at the end of each stage, at the end of maximal exercise, and after 1, 2, 4 and 6 min of recovery.

Maximal endurance time (MET) was used as a criterion of exercise capacity. Comparison between children of different ages and either sex was possible by calculating the relative endurance time (RET), relative heart rate (RHR) and relative systolic blood pressure (RSBP), computed by subtracting the predicted from the observed value for each patient and dividing this difference by the standard deviation for that index in the normal group [3].

Results

Exercise performance (Table 1)

While the operated children had a shorter RET than the normal control group, their performance was not very poor. The mean RET of all the patients was

Defect	Number	MRET	SD	Р
VSD	53	-0.76	0.79	< 0.001
ASD II	48	-0.45	1.00	< 0.01
TOF	33	-0.88	0.92	< 0.001
Coarc.	31	-0.82	0.86	< 0.001
TGA	16	-1.33	0.92	< 0.001
ASD I	11	-1.20	1.02	< 0.01
Ductus	10	-0.75	0.59	< 0.01
PS	8	-0.49	0.54	< 0.05
All	210	-0.77	0.91	< 0.001

Table I. The mean relative endurance time (MRET) in children after surgical correction of congenital heart disease.

Abbreviations: see Figure 1.



Figure 1. Standard deviations from predicted endurance time (relative endurance time) in all patients and in various subgroups.

Abbreviations: (N) = number of patients; SD = standard deviation; VSD = ventricular septal defect; ASD II = ostium secundum atrial septal defect; TOF = tetralogy of Fallot; Coarc. = coarctation of the aorta; TGA = transposition of the great arteries; ASD I = ostium primum atrial septal defect; Ductus = patent ductus arteriosus; PS = pulmonary stenosis.

0.77 SD below the predicted norm, significantly lower (p<0.001) than the control group. The best results were obtained by the ostium secundum atrial septal defect (ASD II), ventricular septal defect (VSD), pulmonary stenosis (PS), patent ductus arteriosus (ductus), followed by the coarctation of the aorta (Coarc.) and tetralogy of Fallot (TDF) groups. The worst results were from patients with ostium primum atrial septal defect (ASD I) and transposition of the great arteries (TGA). These data are plotted out in Figure 1. Table 2 shows the percentage

Defect	Number	-4	-3	-2	-1	0	+1	+2 +3
VSD	53	0	5	24	47	19	4	0
ASD II	48	2	4	23	48	19	2	2
TOF	33	0	15	21	45	18	0	0
Coarc.	31	3	3	38	38	16	0	0
TGA	16	6	12	37	37	6	0	0
ASD I	11	0	18	36	36	9	0	0
Ductus	10	0	10	10	70	10	0	0
PS	8	0	0	12	75	12	0	0
All	210	1.4	7.6	26	46	16	1.4	0.5

Table 2. Standard deviation range from predicted endurance time (percent of patients).

Abbreviations: see Figure 1.

distribution of the patients according to the range of the standard deviation from the predicted endurance time. Almost half of the patients (46%) had an RET between 0 and -1 SD from the predicted normal value and in about one-quarter (26%), the performance was poor (between -1 and -2 SD). Almost one heart patient out of ten had a very low exercise capacity (<-2 SD), four times more frequent than the 2.5% expected in a normal population. 18% of the children had a positive RET, i.e. their performance was better than the mean of the control group of the same age. Here too, ASD II and VSD showed the best scores, with ASD I and TGA showing the worst. About one out of six patients in the TOF, TGA and ASD I group had a very low exercise capacity (<-2 SD).

Heart rate

At rest the heart rate of the patients was somewhat slower than the normals (MRHR -0.31 ± 1.27 SD; p<0.001). At stages 2 and 3, the submaximal level, the MRHR of the patients was identical to the heart rate of the normals, however at maximal output, heart patients did not reach pulse rates as high as the control group. This is probably the result of the shorter MET. It is interesting to note that at the submaximal level, most common in daily life, the mean heart rate of the operated patients was the same as the normals.

Systolic blood pressure

There was no difference between heart patients and normals at rest and at submaximal exercise. Somewhat unexpectedly, there was a higher systolic blood pressure at the maximal level in the heart patients than in the normals. The difference was only 0.52 SD, but was statistically significant (p<0.001).

Arrhythmia

Exercise-induced arrhythmia occurred mainly in patients with TOF. 36% had ventricular or supraventricular ectopic beats versus only 15% in the entire group of operated patients.

The detection of arrhythmias in patients with TOF after surgical correction is extremely important. Ventricular ectopic beats at exercise may not only be associated with sudden death, but are also related to abnormal haemodynamic status and are an indication for further invasive investigations. In this study four patients had the combination of premature ventricular or atrial contractions with an increase in J point depression at maximal exercise. All of them showed a very low RET, with cardiomegaly on chest films and elevated right ventricular pressures in post-operative catheterization. One died suddenly, two required reoperation for right ventricular outflow tract obstruction or aneurysmal dilatation of the pericardial patch. The fourth will be reinvestigated in the coming weeks.

Discussion

This paper describes the application of the Bruce treadmill protocol for exercise testing in children after surgical correction of congenital heart disease, and confirms its suitability for the examination of children aged 5 years and older [1].

There is a lack of information concerning non-invasive exercise testing in young operated heart patients. The majority of studies have dealt with older patients [7] or with subgroups such as TOF [6, 9, 10] and coarctation of the aorta [5] where specific topics (arrhythmia, blood pressure profile) are considered. In some studies, the operated patients were only a minority [2]. The present data demonstrate that exercise testing provides important information regarding desirability of different degrees of physical activity in children after surgical correction of CHD [8].

In conclusion, after a normal exercise test, we recommend no restrictions in recreational or competitive sports in children operated upon for VSD, ASD, patent ductus arteriosus and coarctation of the aorta with normal blood pressure profile and without associated lesions. Only recreational activities are authorized in children with TGA, TOF and coarctation with severe residual hypertension or associated lesions.

Children operated upon for congenital heart disease must be encouraged to participate in athletic activities, competitive or recreational, according to the authorized level.

References

- 1. Cumming G, Everatt D, Hastmann L: Bruce Treadmill Test in Children: Normal Values in a Clinic Population. Am J Cardiol 41: 69, 1978
- Cumming G: Maximal Exercise Capacity of Children with Heart Defects. Am J Cardiol 42: 613, 1978
- Driscoll D, Staats B, Heise C, Rice M, Puga F, Danielson K, Ritter D: Functional Single Ventricle: Cardiorespiratory Response to Exercise. J Am Coll Cardiol 4: 337, 1984
- 4. Freed M: Recreational and Sports Recommendations for the Child with Heart Disease. Pediat Clin N Am 31: 1307, 1984
- 5. Freed M, Rocchini A, Rosenthal A, Nadas A, Castaneda A: Exercise Induced Hypertension after Surgical Repair of Coarctation of the Aorta. Am J Cardiol 43: 253, 1979
- 6. James F, Kaplan S, Schwartz D, Chou T, Sandker M, Nayler V: Response to Exercise in Patients after Total Surgical Correction of Tetralogy of Fallot. Circulation 54: 671, 1977
- James F: Exercise Testing in Normal Individuals and Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. In: Engle MA (ed) Pediatric Cardiovascular Disease. F.A. Davis Company, Philadelphia, 1981, p 227

- James F: Chairman, Ad Hoc Committee on Exercise Testing. American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Disease of the Young. Standards for Exercise Testing in the Pediatric Age Group. Circulation 66: 1377A, 1982
- 9. Mocellin R, Bastanier C, Hofacker W, Bühlmeyer K: Exercise Performance in Children and Adolescents after Surgical Repair of Tetralogy of Fallot. Eur J Cardiol 4: 367, 1976
- Wessel H, Cunningham W, Paul M, Bastanier C, Huster A, Indriss F: Exercise Performance in Tetralogy of Fallot after Intracardiac Repair. J Cardiovasc Surg 80: 582, 1980

CHAPTER IV EXERCISE AND SUDDEN DEATH

Sudden death and sports

J. POOL

Introduction

Sudden death represents a paradoxical situation. Obviously healthy people, participating in activities which are believed to be healthful, die, probably due to these activities.

From a Public Health point of view three questions arise: 'What is the scope of the problem?', 'Do sporting activities increase risk?' and 'What are the determinants of sports-related death?'

Scope of the problem

The number of deaths occurring during sporting activities has been published from at least 3 countries: West Germany, with a population of about 61 million inhabitants reports 139 cases per year [9, 10]. Finland, 4.8 million inhabitants, 48 cases per year [22]. The Netherlands, 14.6 million inhabitants, 104 cases per year [2]. The number reported from Germany is probably underestimated since the authors used insurance statistics. The other authors tried to assess all deaths by questionnaires to physicians and/or by the national death registers. This means that the size of the problem is rather small. In the Netherlands 25,000 men under the age of 65 die each year from myocardial infarction while 1,450 die in traffic accidents.

Thompson *et al.* [20] calculated the risk of death during running and jogging in Rhode Island, U.S.A. He estimated one death per 7,620 athletes per year or one death per 400,000 running hours in men between the age of 30 and 64. In the Netherlands Pool *et al.* [16] calculated for all sports one death per 20,000 athletes per year, or one death per four million sporting hours in men between the age of 12 and 73.

Do sporting activities increase the risk?

Although the risk per sporting hour is low, it is increased compared to other activities. Some authors expressed the risk of sudden death during exercise as the

ratio of the actual risk to the expected risk. The expected incidence was derived from published mortality tables presuming an equal distribution of mortality over the hours involved (Table 1). The difference can be explained by different age and different physical activity. Moreover Pool *et al.* [16] included all deaths in the numerator and in the denominator, while Thompson *et al.* [20] and Siscovick *et al.* [18] calculated cardiac deaths only. The data of Siscovick *et al.* are of interest. The relative risk is five in people who are used to vigorous exercise and 55 in people who are used to work of low intensity only. These figures do not mean that people engaged in sporting activities have an increased risk. On the contrary, from several studies it is known that the total risk of people who are physically active is lower than average [8, 14, 15, 17]. But when they die, they die 'on the battlefield'.

What are the determinants of sports-related death?

The difference between the sexes is striking. In all published studies the number of female victims is low, varying from zero to ten percent of the total deaths [6, 12, 13, 16, 19, 20, 21, 22]. This sex difference can not be explained by a difference in participation in sporting activities or by a difference in cardiac mortality only. Pool *et al.* [16] reported 13 female victims out of 188 (7%). In the Netherlands the exposure of women to sporting activities is about 70% of that of men. The cardiac mortality is about 10 years behind, so the expected number of sports-related deaths would be much higher than the observed 13. As Haskell [4] suggests possibly the intensity of sporting activities is of importance also.

The relative risk increases with age (Table 2), based on the data of Pool *et al.* [16]. Only in the oldest age group is the relative risk lower again, possibly due to a less accurate estimate of sporting activities in this age and of a positive selection of old men still active in sports.

Risk factors are reported in some studies (Table 3). Smoking is seen quite frequently, more than expected in people active in sports. A high percentage of smokers was also reported in a survey of young athletes in the Netherlands [1]. Except for the small study of Thompson *et al.* [19] hypertension was seen more frequently than in the general population.

	Activity	Age	RR
Pool <i>et al.</i> [16] (All deaths)	All sports	12-73	1.8
Thompson <i>et al.</i> [20]	Jogging/running	30-64	7
Siscovick et al. [18]	Vigorous exercise	20-75	5-55

Table 1. (Cardiac) death during exercise in men.

RR = Relative Risk = Actual Risk/Expected Risk.

Pre-existing heart disease was reported by Dolmans *et al.* [3] in over 50% of the victims. This included myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, cardiomyopathy, myocarditis, valvular heart disease and rhythm and conduction disturbances. Many of these were known to the treating general practitioner. In this study 16% of the victims had consulted a cardiologist or internist in the two years preceding the accident because of cardiac symptoms. Prodromal symptoms were reported in 40 to 70% of the cases [3, 12, 19], similar to data of the WHO in the general population [24].

Autopsy findings in the larger series published are presented in Table 4. In older people coronary atherosclerotic heart disease was seen in most patients. In the young victims cardiomyopathy and other heart disease, such as valvular heart disease, myocarditis, myocardial fibrosis, left ventricular hypertrophy and abnormal coronary arteries were found. Other significant findings were rupture of the aorta, intracranial haemorrhage and leukaemia. The 'diagnosis' no abnormal findings is dependent on the accuracy of the autopsy e.g. whether the conduction system of the heart has been analysed completely.

Many studies are limited to one sport, such as running and jogging [5, 11, 19, 20, 23] and squash [12]. The absolute number of victims in different kinds of sport in different countries is probably related to the number of participants. In the USA [7] the majority of the (young) athletes died playing basketball and football. In

Age	N	Athletes per death $(\times 10^3)$	Sporting hours per death $(\times 10^6)$	RF
12-24	11	85	20	0.6
25-34	20	40	4	2.7
35-49	41	8.3	1.2	3.6
50-75	22	12	1.6	1.5

Table 2. Incidence (males per year) related to age. [16]

RR = Relative Risk = Actual Risk/Expected Risk.

Table 3. Risk factors and death during sporting activities.

	Ν	Smoking (%)	Hypertension (%)
Thompson et al. [19]	18	15	- 30
Thompson et al. [20]	12	55	0
Dolmans [2]	188	52 (45)*	29 (13)**
Northcote et al. [12]	30	40	35

* Dutch athletes 18-35 yrs.

** Dutch population >20 yrs.

Finland [22] most athletes died skiing and running. In The Netherlands [16] most victims were found playing soccer as shown in Table 5. In this table also the number of deaths per 100,000 participants are presented. A rather high risk is seen in tennis and jogging and a very low risk in leisure sports like walking, swimming and sailing. Probably these different risks are due to the age of the participants and the intensity of these activities.

Conclusions

Death, directly related to sporting activities is rare. The total risk is low, but the relative risk is increased during vigorous exercise. In women the risk is extremely low. Risk increases with age and with the intensity of exercise.

Pre-existing heart disease and cardiovascular risk factors are frequently present. At necropsy in victims over 35 years coronary heart disease is the most frequent finding. In young victims cardiomyopathy is found often.

Patients with cardiovascular disease should be advised on prodromal symptoms and on the risk of vigorous exercise.

	Thompson et al. [19]	Maron et al. [7]	Dolmans et	al. [3]	Northcote et al. [12]
Age	42-59	13-30	12-35	36-71	22-66
N	18	29	29	24	-31
CAHD	13 (72%)	3 (10%)	5 (17%)	18 (75%)	23 (74%)
Cardiomyopathy	-	14 (48%)	7 (24%)	4 (17%)	1 (3%)
Other heart disease Other significant	3 (17%)	9 (31%)	7 (24%)	2 (8%)	4 (13%)
disease No abnormal	_	2 (7%)	5 (17%)	-	1 (3%)
findings	2 (11%)	1 (3%)	5 (17%)	-	2 (6%)

Table 4. Autopsy findings.

CAHD = Coronary Atherosclerotic Heart Disease.

Table 5.	Deaths	and s	ports	16	
----------	--------	-------	-------	----	--

	Number of deaths	Deaths per 100,000 athletes
Soccer	49 (24)*	2.6
Tennis	17 (16)	3.2
Other ball games	28 (14)	1.6
Jogging	27 (20)	4.3
Leisure sport	25 (15)	0.4

* () >35 years.

226

References

- Biersteker-Hubben MWA, Deurenberg P, Kok F, Saris WHM: Enquete naar opvattingen en gebruiken ten aanzien van voeding en lichamelijke activiteiten bij beoefenen van verschillende sporten. Nederlandse Hartstichting, 1983
- 2. Dolmans AJ: Plotse dood bij sport. Proefschrift (Ph D Thesis) Rotterdam, 1983
- 3. Dolmans AJ, Pool J, Erdman-Trip JF, Smit B, Lubsen J: Het risico van overlijden bij sport. Ned T Geneesk 128: 595, 1984
- 4. Haskell WL: Sudden cardiac death during vigorous exercise. Int J Sport Med 3: 45, 1982
- 5. Jackson RT, Beaglehole R, Sharpe N: Sudden death in runners. N Z med J 96: 289, 1983
- Koskenvuo K, Karvonen MJ, Rissanen V: Death from ischemic heart disease in young Finns aged 15 to 24 years. Am J Cardiol 42: 114, 1978
- 7. Maron BJ, Roberts WC, Mc Allister HA, Rosing DR, Epstein SE: Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation 62: 218, 1980
- Morris JN, Everitt G, Pollard R, Chave SPW: Vigorous exercise in leisure time: protection against coronary heart disease. Lancet 2: 1207, 1980
- 9. Munscheck van H: Der akute Sporttod in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland eine statistische Auswertung pathol-anat. Befunde der Jahre 1966–1972. Sportarzt und Sportmedizin 5: 95, 1974
- Munscheck van H: Ursachen des akuten Todes beim Sport in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Sportarzt und Sportmedizin 5: 133, 1977
- Noakes TD, Opie LH, Rose AG, Kleynhans PHT: Autopsy-proved coronary atherosclerosis in marathon runners. N Engl J Med 301: 86, 1979
- 12. Northcote RJ, Evans ADB, Ballantyne D: Sudden death in squash players. Lancet 1: 148, 1984
- 13. Opie LH: Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1: 263, 1975
- Paffenbarger RS Jr, Laughlin ME, Gima AS, Black RA: Work activity of longshoremen as related to death from coronary heart disease and stroke. N Engl J Med 282: 1109, 1970
- Paffenbarger RS Jr, Wing AL, Hyde RT: Physical activity as an index of heart attack risk in college alumni. Am J Epidemiol 108: 161, 1978
- 16. Pool J, Dolmans AJ, Lubsen J: Sudden death during sporting activities (submitted for publication)
- 17. Schnohr P: Longevity and causes of death in male athletic champions. Lancet 2: 1364, 1971
- Siscovick DS, Weiss NS, Fletcher PHR, Lasky T: The incidence of primary cardiac arrest during vigorous exercise. N Engl J Med 311: 874, 1984
- Thompson PD, Stern MP, Williams P, Duncan K, Haskell WL, Wood PD: Death during jogging or running. J Am med Ass 242: 1265, 1979
- Thompson PD, Funk EJ, Carleton RA, Sturner WQ: Incidence of death during jogging in Rhode Island from 1975 through 1980. J Am med Ass 247: 2535, 1982
- Virmani R, Robinowitz M, McAllister HA: Nontraumatic death in joggers. A series of 30 patients at autopsy. Am J Med 72: 874, 1982
- Vuori I: Physiological and medical aspects of strenuous mass sport events. Ann Clin Res 14: 130, 1982
- 23. Waller BF, Robert WC: Sudden death while running in conditioned runners aged 40 years or over. Am J Cardiol 45: 1292, 1980
- 24. World Health Organization. Myocardial Infarction Community Registers. Results of a W.H.O. International Collaborative Study coordinated by the Regional Office for Europe. W.H.O. Copenhagen, 1977.

Sudden death and vigorous exercise

R. NORTHCOTE

Summary

The circumstances surrounding 60 sudden deaths (59 men, one woman) associated with squash playing are described. The subjects had a mean age of 45.6 years with a range of 22–66 years. Necropsy reports were available in 51. The certified cause of death was coronary heart disease (CHD) in 51 cases, valvular heart disease in 4 cases, cardiac arrhythmia in 2 cases, hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy in one case, with only two non-cardiac causes. Forty-five reported prodromal symptoms, the most common of which was chest pain and 22 had at least one medical condition related to the cardiovascular system during life, the most common of which was hypertension (14 subjects). Those dying from CHD had a high frequency of CHD risk factors.

It is possible that some of these deaths may have been detected by prospective medical screening and appropriate counseling which would have detected most of the patients with overt cardiovascular disease and some of those with subclinical CHD.

Introduction

Squash is a sport which has had a global increase in popularity and has become particularly popular in the United Kingdom with middle-aged executive males. It is a game played in an enclosed court similar to raquet ball, which is played in the USA. The Squash Rackets Association have crudely estimated that there may be 2.5 million people in the United Kingdom playing squash once a month or more, and competitions have recently been expanded to include veteran and even vintage groups. Therefore a growing number of high-risk individuals are being exposed to the potential hazards of a physically exhausting sport. Sudden death in sport is a recently recognized phenomenon for which little scientific information exists. Most previous investigation on sudden death in sport has concentrated on running [31–33] and track and field sports [18, 21, 27], and these reports have recently been reviewed by ourselves [24]. We have previously reported also the findings of 30 deaths associated with squash [25]. Following this study we have continued to collate information on sudden death in squash players and this report concerns the results of investigation of 60 such deaths.

Subjects and methods

Sudden death associated with sport or vigorous exercise is normally categorized only according to the medical cause of death. Thus, it is not usually possible to obtain information on such cases from Government Authorities. We were able to collate a series of 89 sudden deaths associated with squash occurring between October 1976 and February 1984 by a retrospective examination of media reports and by a prospective mail survey of sports centres and squash clubs throughout the United Kingdom. The Squash Rackets Association (SRA) assisted us with a number of cases, and a few were notified directly to us by witnesses or by officials of individual squash clubs. In 60 cases we were able to obtain sufficient information to investigate the death in detail. In each of these cases the next of kin (usually the spouse) was interviewed with a standard questionnaire, to establish the circumstances surrounding the sudden death and the presence of premorbid symptoms or CHD risk factors, as defined by Kannel et al. [12]. Prodromal symptoms were defined as any change from usual health status considered important by the subject and reported to relatives or friends within one week of death [1]. Next of kin were invited to provide a crude assessment of the level of fitness and personality characteristics of the deceased subject. Permission was sought to approach witnesses to the event and the family physician. In addition, if the subject had undergone a medical examination for the purposes of employment or life insurance, we asked permission to approach the appropriate authority for the results. Necropsy findings (if available) were reviewed and the results of any Coroners enquiry (England) or Procurator Fiscal investigation (Scotland) were taken into account.

A diagnosis of CHD was made if necropsy evidence of severe or pronounced coronary atherosclerosis was present, as judged by the Pathologist, or when the lumen had narrowed by more than 70%, with or without evidence of fresh thrombus, in the absence of other pathology. Pathological evidence of a healed myocardial infarction supported a diagnosis of CHD.

Results

Sixty cases of sudden death associated with squash were identified. All occurred in the United Kingdom between May 1976 and April 1984. Only one female death was recorded and all subjects were white. Their mean age was 45.6 ± 10.3 (SD) years with an age range of 22–66 years. The distribution of ages is represented in Figure 1. Sudden death has been defined as death occurring within 1–24 hours of the onset of symptons [7, 14]. In this study, all subjects collapsed while playing squash or in the following hour, and with one exception all subjects died within one hour of play. The remaining subject died in hospital six hours later. With the exception of this case the onset of symptoms was rapid, and culminated in



Figure 1. Age distribution of sudden deaths associated with squash (N = 60).

collapse of the subject and unconsciousness. Forty-six subjects collapsed on the squash court – 10 of these in the first 10 min from commencement of activity (mean of 22.6 ± 12 min into play) and 14 collapsed in the first hour after play. Nine of these subjects collapsed in the first 10 min post-exercise. Four subjects collapsed while taking a hot shower. Death was virtually instantaneous in 59 cases – the remaining subject collapsed 60 min after play, while driving, and died 6 hours later in hospital. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) was attempted in 46 cases – usually by onlookers, many of whom were physicians, nurses or first-aid personnel.

All the subjects had been playing squash for at least one year (mean 11.6; range 1–40 years). In 9 subjects, an accurate estimation of the frequency of participation could not be determined. Of the remainder, forty-eight players visited the court on a mean of 2.3 times a week (range 0.25–7) to play squash and the duration of play was usually 40–60 min in each case. One subject had, on medical advice, not played squash for five years until his death, another played only when on vacation and one subject (aged 60 years) had recently started playing with his son after a 10 year break following medical advice to retire from the game. Sixteen subjects began playing squash over the age of 40, while only 17 had been playing before the age of 30 years.

Cause of death

The probable causes of death are summarized in Table 1. Necropsy reports were available in 51 cases. CHD was confirmed as the cause of death in 42 cases, with severe or pronounced stenosis of at least one main coronary artery. In 35 cases dying of CHD a detailed description of the state of the coronary arteries was available from the necropsy report.

Although 18 subjects had pathological evidence of a healed myocardial infarction, this had been diagnosed in only two cases during life. In a further two cases, however, there had been clear symptoms of prolonged anterior chest pain 10 days and four months prior to death respectively. In both of these cases the pathological appearances were compatible with a myocardial infarction at these times.

The most frequently isolated artery affected by atherosclerosis was the left anterior descending coronary artery with severe triple-vessel disease found in 12 cases. Fresh thrombus was found to occlude a coronary artery in 9. In one (aged 22 years) the left main stem coronary artery was completely occluded by fresh thrombus in the absence of significant coronary atheroma.

Valvular heart disease was responsible for death in four cases and had been documented during life in all four, but none had been advised against physically exhausting sporting activity. One subject (aged 26 years) had a congenitally stenotic bicuspid aortic valve which was found to be accompanied by concentric left ventricular hypertrophy and irregular thickening of the valve cusps and distortion of the commissures at necropsy examination. Another subject had congenital prolapse of the mitral valve with atrial fibrillation during life – this abnormality was confirmed at necropsy and was accompanied by pronounced left ventricular hypertrophy (heart weight – 550 g) in the absence of significant CHD. The cause of death was certified as acute heart failure, possibly in association with a cardiac arrhythmia [22]. Mitral stenosis resulting in acute heart failure was found in the third subject in the absence of significant CHD. The fourth subject had a calcified aortic valve, resulting in severe aortic stenosis, and calcified coronary arteries. However, the certifying pathologist judged that the aortic valve lesion was the principal cause of death.

Cause	N	
Coronary heart disease	51	
Valvular heart disease	4	
Cardiac arrhythmia	2	
Non-cardiac	2	
H.O.C.M.*	1	

Table 1. Probable cause of death in squash players (N = 60).

* H.O.C.M.: hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy.

In one subject, hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, a disorder known to be associated with sudden death during strenuous exercise [20], was found in the absence of other pathology. This 37-year old man was not known to his family physician, but his annual medical examinations at work had detected no abnormality. Only two non-cardiac causes of death were found. In one a right intracranial haemorrhage occurred, symptoms developing 60 min after playing squash. This subject died in hospital six hours later without regaining consciousness. The other had played squash very soon after a heavy meal and was found at autopsy to have aspirated stomach contents with resultant collapse of both lungs. There was no evidence of cardiac pathology in either case. In two cases, no pathological abnormality was found at necropsy and in both the certifying pathologist judged that death resulted from a cardiac arrhythmia. This diagnosis should preferably be supported by a thorough histopathological examination of the conduction system of the heart [10]. This was carried out in a specialist centre in one case, but no abnormality was detected. Since both deaths were instantaneous, it seems likely that the certified cause of death was correct.

Of the 9 remaining subjects who did not undergo necropsy examination all were certified to have died as a result of CHD. In five of these cases there were no clearly distinguishable features apart from the sudden collapse to support a diagnosis of CHD. One subject gave a classical history of cardiac pain to his physician in the 30 min prior to his death accompanied by sweating suggesting that CHD was the likely cause of death. Two subjects gave a history of previous myocardial infarction and one of these had also had documented aortic regurgitation in the 10 years prior to death. A further subject gave a history of angina pectoris one year before death and had significant ST segment depression on exercise electrocardiography.

Pre-morbid conditions and symptoms

Forty-five subjects had reported at least one prodromal symptom within one week of their sudden death, sixteen subjects had reported more than one symptom (Table 2). Only 9 were known to have consulted their family physician about these symptoms although a further two had arranged appointments with their practitioner.

Twenty-two subjects were known to have had at least one medical disorder related to the cardiovascular system during life: 14 had hypertension documented on two or more occasions. However, only two subjects had received antihypertensive medication. Excluding hypertension, 14 subjects had medical conditions known to themselves and their family physician, relevant to the cardiovascular system (Table 3).

Of the 51 subjects dying of CHD, 32 had at least one CHD risk factor, 15 had two and 5 had three or more (Table 4).

Perception of physical fitness

Next of kin were requested to assess the physical fitness of the deceased in relation to the general population in five categories ranging from very fit to very unfit. No subject was considered unfit or very unfit, while 32 of the group were considered to be very fit, 22 fit and only 6 were considered to be of average fitness.

Personality and psychological influences

Despite a high prevalence of prodromal symptoms and known medical conditions, these subjects ignored these factors to play squash. Next of kin were asked to describe the deceased's predominant personality characteristics. Twelve subjects were considered to be competitive, ambitious, hard driving and perfectionist individuals, 13 were thought to be very aggressive, two to be very competitive and one to be obsessive about fitness. One subject was described as eccentric and only four were thought to be passive. In 27 no clearly recognizable traits could be identified.

Psychological or emotional stress might have contributed to death in four cases. The most overt instance concerned a man of 26 years with a congenitally stenotic aortic valve who collapsed and died, minutes after assaulting his opponent on the squash court and causing a fractured mandible.

Symptom	N	
Chest pain/angina	15ª	
Increasing fatigue	12	
Indigestion/heartburn/gastrointestinal symptoms	10	
Excessive breathlessness	6ь	
Ear or neck pain	5	
Vague malaise	5	
Upper respiratory tract infection	4	
Dizziness/palpitations	3	
Severe headache	2°	
None	5	

Table 2. Prodromal symptoms.

^a One subject, an international squash player, had recently consulted a physician because of chest pain following squash play.

^b One subject, who ran one mile every morning, had extreme breathlessness on three successive mornings before he died, but was not deterred from further strenuous exertion.

^c Cause of death in one subject was intracranial haemorrhage.

Occupation

There was a high proportion of professional individuals in this sample, including 14 company directors, nine subjects working in higher education (including two University Professors and seven lecturers), four civil servants, one physician, four engineers, and one school teacher. The remainder worked in a variety of other occupations only two of which could be considered non-sedentary.

Subject	Age	Years playing squash	Frequency maches/week	Clinical diagnosis	Symptoms	Risk factors	Cardiac pathology
D.J.	52	5	1	Previous (2×): MODM	Nocturnal angina	D	Healed MI: R + L, CA Occlusions
G.T.	69	35	2	IHD: Previous CABG: Internal pacemaker	General malaise	S	Healed MI: 3-vessel diseases
B.L.	26	3	1	AS	Flu-like symtoms 1 week	-	Bicuspid AV; Concentric LV; Hypertrophy
B.E.	65	35	1st match in 5 years	Previous MI	Fatigue	S/H	N/A
M.W.	44	3	2-4	IHD	Angina pectoris	S/FH	3-Vessel disease: Thrombus occluding RCA
J.B.	51	25	3-4	Atypical chest pain	Chest pain	FH	Healed MI: 3-Vessel disease
I.R.	43	2	2	Gastritis	Dyspepsia; chest pain; malaise	-	MI aged n 10 days; LV hypertrophy; 3-Vessel disease
R.S.B.	62	30	3	AF	Previous collapse at squash; Malaise	-	Healed MI: 3-Vessel disease
P.J.	39	10	7	SAH 17 yrs	-	S	LAD occlusion
.G.	54	2	1–2	IHD	Angina pectoris	S/HL	N/A
.В.	66	Return after 10 years lay-off	1–2	AF: MVP	Dyspnoea	FH/M	MVP; large dilated heart (wt. = 550 gms)
J.M.	32	6	1	Previous MI; AI	-	3	-
R.F.	45	12	3-4	MS	-	FH	LV hypertrophy; severe MS; moderate CHD
D.J.	52	4	3	Previous MI (2×) MODM	-	S/H/D	-

Table 3. Clinical and demographic findings in subjects known to have medical conditions.

Abbreviations: AF = atrial fibrillation: AI = aortic incompetence: <math>AS = aortic stenosis: AV = aortic valve: CA = coronary artery: CABG = coronar artery by-pass graft: <math>D = diabetes; FH = family history: H = hypertension: HL = hyperhipdiaenia: (HD = ischaemic heart disease: L = left: LAD left anterior descending coronary artery: LV = left ventricle: MI = myocardial infarction: MODM = maturity onset diabetes mellitus: MVP = mitr. valve prelapse: MS = mitral stenosis: N/A = not available: R = right: S = smoking: SAH = sub-arachnoid haemorrhage.

234

Risk factor	Ν	
Smoking (>10 cigarettes/day)	25	
Family history of early MI (<55 years)	18	
Hypertension	14	
Angina/previous MI	8	
Hypercholesterolaemia	3	
Diabetes mellitus	2	

Table 4. CHD risk factors in subjects dying of CHD. (N = 51).

CHD = coronary heart disease; MI = myocardial infarction.

Discussion

These data confirm that CHD is responsible for most cases of sudden death associated with vigorous sport. In the age group of subjects concerned the results are in agreement with other studies which have examined sudden death in sport [18, 27, 31-33]. In particular, a recent study of 30 deaths in joggers [32] reported a similar prevalence of CHD and autopsy evidence of healed or acute myocardial infarction (MI). This report also remarked on the high frequency of CHD risk factors in their group. Another study of nine joggers demonstrated a high frequency of pre-morbid cardiovascular conditions [9] (i.e. previous MI, angina, hypertension, diabetes), in keeping with our results, and the authors suggested that the deaths may have been prevented had the subjects participated in less strenuous exercise. In our study 22 subjects had medical conditions relevant to the cardiovascular system, but only two subjects had been advised against further participation in squash by their physician. Valvular heart disease was responsible for four deaths in this study, and may have contributed to one other (certified cause of death CHD), who was also known to have aortic regurgitation. None of these subjects were advised against strenuous sport despite the fact that the lesions were recognized by physicians during life. Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy may be responsible for about half the sudden deaths in a youthful athletic population during sport [19], but we were able to identify only one case (aged 38 years). One of our subjects played squash 30 min after a heavy meal and was found to have aspiration collapse of both lungs from bulky undigested food particles. This would indicate the necessity of undertaking such activity at least two hours after eating to allow for adequate digestion. Less common causes of sudden death during physical activity have been described, including myocarditis [2] and fibromuscular dysplasia of the sinus or atrioventricular node artery [10]. Such abnormalities could conceivably be missed during routine autopsy examination [30]. In two of our cases no gross pathological abnormality was found to explain the sudden death, one of these underwent detailed histopathologic examination at a special centre, with no abnormality discovered. The cause of death in these cases is a matter for speculation, although a cardiac arrhythmia seems the most likely cause of death.

In this study the most frequent pathological lesion was severe stenosis of at least one major coronary artery, with fresh occlusive thrombus present in only 18% of cases. A recent study of 100 sudden cardiac deaths by Davis and Thomas [5], showed that 44% of cases had major fresh thrombus occluding more than 50% of cross-sectional area of the coronary vessels. The descrepancy with our study may be due to the possibility of thrombi going undetected during the Coroners routine autopsy as opposed to a prospective detailed study of coronary vasculature. Alternatively, it is possible that coronary artery occlusion can occur without thrombus formation during vigorous exercise, perhaps by the mechanism of coronary artery spasm.

Essentially, sudden cardiac death is due to ventricular fibrillation or asystole. Such an event may be more likely during vigorous exercise in subjects with CHD, as oxygen demand may outstrip the ability of the coronary arteries to supply it. In addition it is also possible that metabolic influences associated with exercise may precipitate or contribute to an arrhythmia. For example, free fatty acid and catecholamine levels may rise during exercise [11] and can cause arrhythmias [15] and arterial thrombosis [8] especially in the presence of coronary artery stenosis [28]. These changes, together with exercise-induced lactic acidosis [3], and hyperkalaemia [16] may also help to explain the fact that although cardiopulmonary resuscitation was performed in 46 cases no success was recorded. In general, these metabolic changes make resuscitation following cardiac arrest less likely to be successful. In this study we were impressed by the large number of cases in which CPR had been attempted by trained personnel, and it leads us to suspect that there is an underestimation of the frequency of cardiac events during squash, as we have no data on survivors.

It is not possible from these data to determine whether the subjects would have survived had they not exercised. However, we suspect that even if MI were to have occurred, sudden death is more likely during vigorous exercise. This suggestion is supported by the Framingham study [13] and by a British report examining the circumstances of 100 sudden deaths due to CHD [23]. Friedman *et al.* [7] found that individuals dying instantly, as in this study, were significantly more likely to be engaging in severe or moderate exertion just before death and usually had severe CHD, precipitating cardiac arrhythmias. We have previously demonstrated that squash is capable of raising heart rate to 90% of predicted maximum for extended periods of time and to generate significant cardiac arrhythmias in a young normal population [26], this would suggest that it may be an inappropriate sport for those with CHD or other cardiac disease or even those in the coronaryprone age group.

A large number of individuals in this study with known medical conditions continued to play squash. There seems to be a general unwillingness of men in middle-age to admit that they are in poor physical condition and/or health. They

are still tempted to perform feats more appropriate to a younger, fitter individual – often with disastrous consequences. Both ourselves [25] and others [27, 31] have noted that sportsmen tend to deny physical infirmity and prodromal symptoms and this was confirmed in this study with 22 subjects known to suffer a cardio-vascular condition and 75% admitting to at least one prodromal symptom. Apparently, there is reluctance to seek medical advice over such symptoms, which may be regarded as insignificant by some individuals. There is also an apparent inability on the part of these individuals to recognize the gravity of these symptoms and ignorance on the part of physicians who apparently condone vigorous, physically exhausting exercise in the face of cardiovascular disease. An overzealous approach to exercise is potentially dangerous to certain individuals characterized by some of the cases outlined in this report.

At least half of the subjects in this series may have been Type A personalities, which may alone contribute to sudden death and the development of CHD [14, 29], in addition to their tendency to ignore prodromal symptoms and conditions. In four cases acute psychological stress may have been implicated in the sudden death, which both Engel [6] and Lown [17] believe can precipitate lethal cardiac arrhythmias. The mechanism in which type A behaviour contributes to sudden death is unknown – increased secretion of adrenalin and nonadrenalin has been recorded in Type A males carrying out a stressful task [34]. This suggests hyperresponsiveness to environmental stress – such stress may be evident in the enclosed, competitive environment in which squash is played.

It would appear, that although there is a statistically small risk of sudden death during squash, there is an appreciable mortality associated with the game, which is probably not shared by other sports – this might reflect the numbers playing the game, but could equally reflect the strenuous and demanding nature of the game which is clearly unsuitable for those with cardiovascular disease. Likewise, the preponderance of males in this study may reflect the greater number of males/ females playing in the coronary prone age group or could reflect the increased frequency of CHD in the former.

Rather than damaging the game of squash, our objective is to draw attention to areas which will improve its safety and enjoyment of playing, and we would congratulate the SRA for recognizing this problem by forming a medical study group in 1980 to monitor the situation, and for circulating a list of precautions to prospective players in all their affiliated clubs.

We would hope that reports such as this will lead to a greater awareness of the dangers of such exhausting, inappropriate exercise in both the public and in the medical profession.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank the Squash Rackets Association, the Coroners Society (England), and Crown Office (Scotland) for their help in collation of data; and the relatives and general practitioners of the deceased for their co-operation.

The study was supported by a grant from the Chest, Heart and Stroke Association.

References

- Alonzo AA, Simon AB, Feinleib M: Prodromata of myocardial infarction and sudden death. Circulation 52: 1056, 1975
- 2. Barlow JB: Exercise, rugby football and infection. S Afr med J 50: 1351, 1976
- Bouhuys A, Pool J, Binkhorst RA, Van Leeuwen P: Metabolic acidosis of exercise in healthy males. J Appl Physiol 21: 1040, 1966
- Chesney MA, Rosenman RH: Type A behaviour: observations on the past decade. Heart and Lung 11: 12, 1982
- Davies MJ, Thomas A: Thrombosis and acute coronary-artery lesions in sudden cardiac ischemic death. N Engl J Med 310: 1137, 1984
- Engel GL: Sudden death and rapid death during psychological stress. Folklore or Folk wisdom? Ann Intern Med 74: 771, 1971
- Friedman M, Manwaring JH, Rosenman RH, Donlon G, Ortega P, Grube SM: Instanteneous and sudden deaths: clinical and pathological differentiation in coronary artery disease. J Am Med Ass 225: 1319, 1973
- Hoak JC, Poole JCF, Robinson DS: Thrombosis associated with mobilisation of fatty acids. Am J Pathol 43: 987, 1963
- 9. Jackson RT, Beaglehole R, Sharpe N: Sudden death in runners. N Z Med J 96: 289, 1983
- James TN, Froggatt P, Marshall TK: Sudden death in young athletes. Ann Intern Med 67: 1013, 1967
- 11. Johnson RH, Walton JL, Krebs HA, Williamson DM: Metabolic fuels during and after severe exercise in athletes and non-athletes. Lancet 2: 452, 1969
- 12. Kannel WB, Doyle JT, McNamara PM, Quickenton P, Gordon T: Precursors of sudden coronary death. Factors related to the incidence of sudden death. Circulation 51: 606, 1975
- Kannel WB, Thomas HE Jr: Sudden coronary death: the Framingham study. Ann NY Acad Sci 382: 3, 1982
- Kuller L, Lillienfeld A, Fisher R: An epidemiological study of sudden death and unexpected deaths in adults. Medicine 46: 341, 1967
- Kurien VA, Yates PA, Oliver MF: The role of free fatty acids in the production of ventricular arrhythmias after acute coronary artery occlusion. Eur J Clin Invest 1: 225, 1971
- Linton RA, Lim M, Wolff CB, Wilmshurst P, Band DM: Arterial plasma potassium measured continuously during exercise in man. Clin Sci 67: 427, 1984
- 17. Lown B: Mental stress, arrhythmias and sudden death. Am J Med 72: 177, 1982
- 18. Lynch P: Soldiers, sport, and sudden death. Lancet 1: 1235, 1980
- Maron BJ, Epstein SE, Roberts WC: Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a common cause of sudden death in the young competitive athlete. Eur Heart J 4 (suppl F): 135, 1983
- Maron BJ, Roberts WC, Edwards JE, McAllister HA, Foley DD, Epstein SE: Sudden death in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: characterization of 26 patients without previous functional limitation. Am J Cardiol 41: 803, 1978

238

- 21. Maron BJ, Roberts WC, McAllister HA, Rosing DR, Epstein SE: Sudden death in young athletes. Circulation 62: 218, 1980
- Mills P, Rose J, Hollingsworth J, Amara I, Craige E: Long-tern prognosis of mitral-valve prolapse. N Engl J Med 297: 13, 1977
- Myers A, Dewar HA: Circumstances attending 100 sudden deaths from coronary artery disease with coroner's necropsies. Brit Heart J 37: 1133, 1975
- 24. Northcote RJ, Ballantyne D: Sudden cardiac death in sport. Brit Med J 287: 1357, 1983
- 25. Northcote RJ, Evans ADB, Ballantyne D: Sudden death in squash players. Lancet 1: 148, 1984
- Northcote RJ, MacFarlane P, Ballantyne D: Ambulatory electrocardiography in squash players. Brit Heart J 50: 372, 1983
- 27. Opie LH: Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1: 263, 1975
- 28. Raab W, Van Lith P, Lepeschkin E, Herrlich HC: Catecholamine induced myocardial hypoxia in the presence of impaired coronary dilatability independent of external cardiac work. Am J Cardiol 9: 455, 1962
- 29. Review Panel on Coronary-Prone Behavior and Coronary Heart Disease. Coronary-prone behavior and coronary heart disease: a critical review. Circulation 63: 1199, 1981
- Rossi L, Thiene G: Recent advances in clinicohistopathologic correlates of sudden cardiac death. Am Heart J 102: 478, 1981
- Thompson PD, Stern MP, Williams P, Duncan K, Haskell W, Wood P: Death during jogging or running: a study of 18 cases. J Am Med Ass 242: 1265, 1979
- 32. Virmani R, Robinowitz M, McAllister HA Jr: Nontraumatic death in joggers. A series of 30 patients at autopsy. Am J Med 72: 874, 1982
- Waller BF, Roberts WC: Sudden death while running in conditioned runners aged 40 years or over. Am J Cardiol 45: 1292, 1980
- 34. Williams RB Jr, Lane JB, Kuhn CM, Melosh K, White AD, Schanberg SM: Type of behavior and elevated physiological and neuroendocrine responses to cognitive tasks. Science 218: 483, 1982

Index

Adenylate cyclase 139 Aerobic exercise (see Endurance sports) Afterload 72, 74, 79 Ajmaline test 189, 191, 192 Angiography, coronary 42, 44, 117, 151, 154-155, 181, 186 Antihypertensive agents 202-203, 232 Aortic -insufficiency 61, 75, 208, 211, 232, 235 -stenosis 8, 42, 61, 65, 74-76, 206-211, 231 Arrhythmias 4, 23-30, 33-39, 51, 173, 178, 225 -and congenital heart disease 207-208, 214, 217-218 -and sudden death 30, 39, 188, 228, 231-232. 236-237 -and Wolff-Parkinson-White 188 -bradycardia (see Bradycardia, Sinus bradycardia) -coronary sinus rhythm 55 -escape rhythm 4, 23, 27, 55 -sinus arrest 4, 33, 37, 54-55 -sinus arrhythmia, non-phasic 54 -sinus pauses 24-26, 28, 33-38, 52, 54-55 -supraventricular (see Atrial, Atrioventricular, Supraventricular) -ventricular (see Ventricular) -wandering pacemaker 56 Athlete's heart 3-9, 12-19, 78-81, 97 -genetic factors 16, 68, 90 -'syndrome' 13, 53, 136 ATPase activity 75, 79 Atrial -escape beat 54, 55 -escape rhythm 55 -fibrillation 117, 153, 188, 191-192, 231 -septal defect 75, 189, 205, 208-210, 212, 215-218

Atrioventricular -block (see Block, atrioventricular) -canal 205 -dissociation 24-28, 56 -junctional escape beat 52, 55 Atrium, left 50, 64 Baroreceptor-reflex 129-135 Beta-adrenergic activity 136 Beta-adrenoceptors 136-140 -and exercise 137-138 -lymphocyte 138-140 Block -atrioventricular 18, 136 -first-degree 4, 24-26, 28, 34-36, 38, 52, 55 -second-degree 4, 15, 23, 24-28, 33-38, 52, 56.153 -complete 4, 15, 24-28, 38, 153, 206-207 -bundle branch 4, 5, 27, 29-30, 117, 153 Blocked P wave 37, 56 Blood pressure (see also Hypertension) -and baroreceptor-reflex 134 -and cardiac rehabilitation 170, 179 -and congenital heart disease 215, 217 - and training 195-199 -during exercise 61, 65, 153, 199 -in athletes 64, 86, 93 -pressure-rate product 161, 183-186 -risk factor 146 Blood volume 108 Body mass 78, 90, 97, 99 Bradycardia (see also Sinus bradycardia) -in athletes 3-4, 15, 23, 33-34, 38, 88, 127, 129, 134, 136, 140 Calcium 72, 75, 80 Canoe 98-99

Cardiac (see also Heart, Ventricular) -function (see Ventricular function) -hypertrophy (see Hypertrophy) -output 3, 23, 26, 78, 80, 88, 90, 105-108 -rehabilitation -and beta-adrenoceptors 140 -cardiac function 107, 162-163, 178 -contra indications 168 -coronary collaterals 181-186 -effects 161-165, 175-180 -limiting factors 179 -organization 167-173, 176 -secondary prevention 164-165 Cardiomyopathy 4, 42-43, 225-226 -congestive 13, 112, 115, 117 -hypertrophic 7, 12, 19, 42-43, 51-53, 189 -obstructive 154, 209, 212, 228, 231-232, 235 Catecholamines 74, 136-137, 140, 236 Chest X-ray (see Radiologic) Children (see Sports in children, Congenital heart disease) Cholesterol 146, 148 (see also Hyperlipidaemia) Coarctation of the aorta 74, 205, 214-218 Community exercise training 172 Concentric hypertrophy (see Hypertrophy) Conduction disturbances 4, 15, 23-30, 34-39, 51, 57, 112, 192, 225 (see also Block, WPW) Congenital heart diseases (see also Specific lesions) -and sports 205-212 -general guidelines 206 -restrictions 208 -and sports, after surgical correction 214-218 -exercise testing 208, 218 -restrictions 205, 218 -and sudden death 211-212, 218 Contractility 70, 80 (see also Ventricular function) Contractile proteins 75, 79 Coronary -artery bypass surgery 140, 151, 175, 180, 186 -collaterals 162, 181-186 -filling 74, 79 -heart disease 107, 109, 112-113, 115, 151, 181, 202 (see also Myocardial)

-and physical activity 145–149, 161–165 (see also Cardiac rehabilitation) -and sudden death 199–201, 225–226, 228– 232, 235–237 (see also Sudden death)

-primary prevention 145-149, 151, 156 -secondary prevention 161, 164-165 -risk factors 113, 145-146, 149, 151-156, 202, 225, 228-229 -sinus rhythm 55 Correlations -chest X-ray, electrocardiography and echocardiography 99-100 -coronary heart disease and physical activity 146, 148 -heart size vs. physical work capacity 7 -left ventricular dimensions vs. maximal oxygen consumption 7, 9 -total heart volume vs. maximal aerobic performance 7, 15 Creatine kinase 119-124, 175 Cycling -baroreceptor control of heart rate 129-135 -cardiac function 78-79 -echocardiography 7, 9, 62, 65-68, 95, 99 -electrocardiography 5, 29, 33, 98 -endurance sport 3, 6 -exercise 138, 208, 212 -exercise testing 4, 176, 182, 189, 207 -heart volume 98 -training 181-182, 196, 199, 201

Detraining 67–68, 196–199 Diastolic filling 70, 72–73, 76, 80–81, 105, 109 Doppler echocardiography 80, 109, 206, 211 Ductus arteriosus 205, 212, 215–218

Eccentric hypertropy (see Hypertrophy) Echocardiography -and congenital heart disease 206 -and training 46-47, 50, 52, 67-68 -cardiac dimensions -atrial dimensions 50, 64 -ventricular dimensions (see Ventricular) -ventricular mass (see Ventricular) -wall thickness (see Wall thickness) -in athletes 3, 7, 12, 15-16, 41-42, 59-101, 105-106, 112, 188 -in cyclists 65-67, 79 -in strength-trained athletes 7, 64-65, 78 -in runners 7, 63-64, 85-90 -in windsurfers 92-96 Eisenmenger's syndrome 206, 212 Ejection fraction 72, 76, 210 -and cardiac rehabilitation 162, 178-179, 182-183

-in athletes 65-67, 90, 105-108, 115 Elderly (see Sports in elderly) Electrocardiography -and training 47-51, 67 -in athletes 4, 15, 21-58, 97-101, 112-117, 120, 129 -exercise ECG 41-44, 48, 85, 112-117, 151-152. 168. 189 Electrovectorcardiography 47-51 End-diastolic volumes 3, 105-108 End-systolic volumes 105-108, 163 Endurance sports -and blood pressure 196, 201 -and congenital heart disease 206 -baroreceptor control of heart rate 129-135 -cardiac function 65-67, 78-81, 107-109 -echocardiography 7, 46-47, 50, 52, 61-65, 67-68, 85-90, 97-101 -electrocardiography 4, 33, 47-51, 54-57, 97 - 101-heart volume 97-101 -radionuclide angiography 105-109 -training 46-53, 67 Escape rhythm 4, 23, 27, 55 Exercise -and beta-adrenoceptors 136-140 -and sudden death (see Sudden death) -and Wolff-Parkinson-White 188-194 -in cardiovascular disease 159-219 -in congenital heart disease 205-219 -in coronary heart disease 161-186 -in healthy subjects 143-156 -in hypertension 195-203 Exercise stress-testing -in athletes 4, 41-42, 46, 50, 52, 107-109, 112-113, 131, 189 -in congenital heart disease 207, 214-218 -in coronary heart disease 176, 182 -in healthy subjects 147, 151-156 Exertional risk factors 151-156 Fibrillation (see Atrial, Ventricular) Fractional shortening (see Ventricular) Functional murmur 208 Filling pressure (see Pressure)

Genetics 12, 16, 18, 68, 90 Glycoproteins -alpha-acid 119 Heart (see also Cardiac) -athlete's 3-9, 12-19, 78-81, 97 -murmurs 4, 208 -failure 13, 75-76, 168, 202, 231 -rate (see also Bradycardia, Sinus bradycardia) -and congenital heart disease 217 -and training 50-51 -baroreceptor-reflex control 129-135 -in athletes 23-26, 28, 33-37, 46, 54-56, 65, 78, 85-86, 89, 93 -intrinsic 134, 136 -peak 26, 30, 51-52, 80, 105, 107-108, 132, 179 -sounds 4, 81 -volume 6-7, 15, 97-101 Holter monitoring 12, 15, 23-30, 33-39, 46, 48, 50-52, 56, 188-191 Hyperlipidaemia 151-153, 156, 235 Hypertension -and cardiac hypertrophy 61, 65, 74 -and contractile proteins 80 -and sports 195-203, 206 -and sudden death 199, 201, 224, 228, 232, 235 -in athletes 202-203 -pulmonary 205-206, 209, 212 -risk factor 145, 151-153, 156, 168 -screening investigation 202 Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (see Cardiomyopathy) Hypertrophy -cardiac 109 -mechanisms 70 -pathological 7, 12, 18 -physiological 7, 12, 14-18, 78, 92, 97, 100 -septal 63 -asymmetric 7, 42, 65, 99 (see also Cardiomyopathy) -ventricular (see also Ventricular dimensions) -left 7, 53, 70, 231 -concentric 3, 16, 61-62, 65, 77, 92, 95 -eccentric 3, 16, 61-62, 64, 92, 95 -electrocardiography 4, 23, 27, 29 -right 4, 14, 53, 64 Hypoxia 42, 76, 80

Isometric sports (see Strength sports) Isotonic sports (see Endurance sports) Jogging 139, 181-182, 196, 199, 201 -and sudden death 223, 225-226, 235 Judoka 64 Loading conditions 72 -afterload 72, 74, 79 -contraction loading 72 -preload 72, 74, 79 -pressure load 61, 75, 78, 80 -relaxation loading 72, 74 -volume load 61, 75, 78 adrenoceptors) Marathon running 17, 29, 46-53, 85-90, 119-124, 140 Maximal oxygen -pulse 177, 179 135, 138, 152-153, 161, 175-177, 179, 196-198 Mitral valve prolapse 4, 8, 42, 117, 208, 231 Mortality (see also Sudden death) -and exercise 8, 13, 39, 145-149, 164-165 Myocardial heart disease) -and physical activity 140, 161-186 -and adaptation to exercise 105, 109 Myocardial scintigraphy (see Radionuclide scintigraphy) Myocarditis 7, 42, 225, 235 Myosin 75, 80 Node -sinoatrial 54, 56, 134, 235 Obesity 151-153, 156 Orthostatic tolerance 135 Overtraining 41, 43, 52, 85 Pacemaker -artificial 18, 30, 38 -wandering 56 Parasympathetic output (see Vagal)

Lymphocyte beta-adrenoceptors (see Beta-

-uptake 3-4, 7, 9, 15, 46, 48, 52, 67, 80, 131--infarction 119, 188, 231 (see also Coronary -ischaemia 42, 76, 112-113, 116, 182-183, 186

Pauses 56 (see also Sinus pauses) Personality and sudden death 229, 233, 237 Physical -activity -in post-infarct patients 161-165, 167-173 -primary prevention 145-149, 151, 156 -examination 4, 33, 120 -fitness 129, 139, 145 -inactivity 145-146, 151-153, 156 -work capacity 4-5, 48, 52, 161, 196, 207 PQ interval 48, 51, 189 (see also Block, atrioventricular, first-degree) Pre-excitation 188, 192 Preload 72, 74, 79 Premature beat (see Supraventricular, Ventricular) Pressure -load (see Loading conditions) -ventricular -filling 70, 74 -peak 210, 211 Prevention -primary 145-149, 151, 156 -secondary 161, 164-165 Pulmonary -hypertension 205-206, 209, 212 -stenosis 205-206, 208-210, 215-218 QRS duration 48, 51, 189 ORS pattern 57, 112, 191 ORS vector 49, 51 QT interval 42, 48, 51 Radiologic -examination 6-7, 46, 97-101 -heart volume (see Heart volume) Radionuclide scintigraphy -cardiac function 105-109 -coronary artery disease 109, 162 -creatine kinase 119-124 -in athletes 12, 41-42, 80, 103-124 -left ventricular volume 107-108

-positive exercise ECG 112-117 -techniques 106, 113-114, 123 Rehabilitation (see Cardiac rehabilitation) Relaxation (see Ventricular relaxation) Repolarization abnormalities -classification 41 -in athletes 4, 41-44, 52, 57, 112-117, 136 -pharmacological tests 43, 113, 117 -pseudo-ischaemic 41, 112, 116 -ST segment depression, exercise 41-42, 112-117, 151, 153-154, 232

Rhythm disturbances (see Arrhythmias) Rowing 67, 98-99 Running -and blood pressure 196-199 -and sudden death 223, 228 -baroreceptor control of heart rate 129-135 -beta-adrenoceptors 138 -cardiac function 65-67 -creatine kinase 119-124 -echocardiography 7, 46-47, 61-68, 95, 98-99 -electrocardiography 29, 33-39, 47-51, 98-99 -exercise testing 4, 132, 139, 152, 189, 207, 215 -heart volume 98-99 -oxygen uptake 6, 80 Sarcoplasmatic reticulum 73, 75, 80 Scintigraphy (see Radionuclide scintigraphy) Screening, medical 151, 156, 202, 228 Shot-putting 3, 7, 64-67 Sick sinus syndrome 18 Sinus -arrest 4, 33, 37, 54-55 -arrhythmia, non-phasic 54 -bradycardia 4, 34, 52, 54, 112 -coronary rhythm 55 -pauses 24-26, 28, 33-38, 52, 54-55 Skiing, cross-country 6, 46-53, 67-68, 201, 226 Smoking 145, 148, 151-153, 156, 224, 235 Sports (see also Specific sports) -classification 206-207 -in children 12, 17-18, 205, 214 (see also Congenital heart disease) -in elderly 12, 17-18, 113, 180 Squash 155, 225, 228-238 Stenosis (see Aortic, Pulmonary) Stokes-Adams attack 38 Strength sports -and blood pressure 201 -and congenital heart disease 206-208, 212 -cardiac function 65-67 -echocardiography 16, 61-62, 64-65, 92, 95, 97-99 -oxygen uptake 6-7 Stroke volume 3, 23, 26, 46, 70, 74, 78, 80, 88, 90, 105-107, 134, 171 ST-T abnormalities (see Repolarization abnormalities) Sudden death -and congenital heart disease 211-212, 214, 217-218

-and hypertension 199, 201, 202, 224, 235 -and jogging 223, 225-226, 235 -and sports 13-15, 30, 42, 223-226, 228-237 -and squash 228-237 -and Wolff-Parkinson-White 188 -autopsy findings 225, 228, 231-232, 235 -causes 7-8, 226, 231-232 -determinants 224-226, 232-235 -in cardiac rehabilitation 164-165, 167, 173 -incidence 223-225 -prevention 7, 151, 156 -prodromal symptoms 225, 232, 236 Supraventricular -beats, premature 35-37, 52, 56, 191-192, 217 -tachycardia 191-192 Swimming 18, 67, 80, 98-99, 107, 138, 201, 208 Sympathetic -nervous system 136-137, 140 -tone 3-4, 78, 129, 134 Syncope 38, 190 Systolic time intervals 73 Tennis 208, 226 Tetralogy of Fallot 205-206, 214-218 Training (see also Cardiac rehabilitation) -and beta-blockers 180 -and coronary collaterals 181-186 -and detraining effects 46-53, 61, 67-68, 107-108, 138-140 -and digitalis 180 -and hypertension 195-199 Transposition of the great arteries 205, 212, 214-218 Triathletes 80 Vagal, tone 3-4, 15, 23, 30, 38, 78, 129, 134, 136-137 Valvular heart disease 8, 228, 231, 235 (see also Specific lesions) Vascularisation, myocardial 79 Vectorcardiography (see Electrovectorcardiography) Ventricular -arrhythmias 27, 217-218 -beats, premature 4, 15, 23-25, 27-28, 35-38, 52-53, 114, 153, 168, 191-192, 217 -contraction velocity, left 75-76 -dimensions

-dimensions -left 3, 7, 46, 50, 52, 61–68, 78, 87–90, 92–95, 97, 105–108, 163 -right 64

246

-fibrillation 153, 167, 173, 212 -fractional shortening 50, 65-68, 93 -function 3, 7, 46, 52, 61, 65-68, 70, 76, 80, 105, 163, 175, 179 -in endurance sports 65-67, 78-81, 107-109 -in strength sports 65-67 -hypertrophy (see Hypertrophy) -mass, left 46, 50, 52, 67, 76, 78-79, 92-96 -pauses and sports 33 (see also Sinus pauses) -relaxation 70 -of athlete's heart 78-81 -of hypertrophied left ventricle 74-76 -of intact left ventricle 70-73 -rate 73 -septal defect 205, 208-210, 212, 215-218 -stiffness 79 -tachycardia 23-25, 27-28, 37-38, 153 -wall stress, left 61, 64, 72, 74, 78-79 Volume load (see Loading condition)

Wall thickness 3, 7, 50–52, 61–68, 74, 78, 87–90, 92–96, 97
Wandering pacemaker 56
Weight lifting 64–65, 78, 80, 95, 201, 206, 208
Wenckebach (see Block, atrioventricular, second-degree)
Windsurfer's heart 92–96
Wolff-Parkinson-White 188–194

-ajmaline test 189, 191–192
-arrhythmia 188–192
-exercise test 189–192
-follow-up in athletes 188
-refractory period of accessory pathway 192
-sudden death 188

Wrestling 7, 64–65, 78, 201, 206, 208